

Herrera-Varela, M (2015) Larval habitat discrimination by the African malaria vector Anopheles gambiae sensu lato: Observations from standardized experiments and field studies. PhD thesis, London School of Hygiene & Tropical Medicine. DOI: https://doi.org/10.17037/PUBS.02222109

Downloaded from: http://researchonline.lshtm.ac.uk/2222109/

DOI: 10.17037/PUBS.02222109

Usage Guidelines

 $Please \ refer \ to \ usage \ guidelines \ at \ http://researchonline.lshtm.ac.uk/policies.html \ or \ alternatively \ contact \ researchonline@lshtm.ac.uk.$

Available under license: http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/2.5/



Larval habitat discrimination by the African malaria vector *Anopheles gambiae sensu lato*: Observations from standardized experiments and field studies

MANUELA HERRERA-VARELA

2015

Department of Disease Control

Faculty of Infectious Diseases

LONDON SCHOOL OF HYGIENE & TROPICAL MEDICINE

Thesis submitted in accordance with the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy of the University of London

> Funded by National Institute of Health (NIH), USA

London School of Hygiene & Tropical Medicine Keppel Street, London WC1E 7HT www.ishtm.ac.uk LONDON SCHOOLØ HYGIENE &TROPICAL MEDICINE

Registry T: +44(0)20 7299 4646 F: +44(0)20 7299 4656 E: registry@lshtm.ac.uk

DECLARATION OF OWN WORK

All students are required to complete the following declaration when submitting their thesis. A shortened version of the School's definition of Plagiarism and Cheating is as follows (the full definition is given in the <u>Research Degrees Handbook</u>):

"Plagiarism is the act of presenting the ideas or discoveries of another as one's own. To copy sentences, phrases or even striking expressions without acknowledgement in a manner which may deceive the reader as to the source is plagiarism. Where such copying or close paraphrase has occurred the mere mention of the source in a biography will not be deemed sufficient acknowledgement; in each instance, it must be referred specifically to its source. Verbatim quotations must be directly acknowledged, either in inverted commas or by indenting" (University of Kent).

Plagiarism may include collusion with another student, or the unacknowledged use of a fellow student's work with or without their knowledge and consent. Similarly, the direct copying by students of their own original writings qualifies as plagiarism if the fact that the work has been or is to be presented elsewhere is not clearly stated.

Cheating is similar to plagiarism, but more serious. Cheating means submitting another student's work, knowledge or ideas, while pretending that they are your own, for formal assessment or evaluation.

Supervisors should be consulted if there are any doubts about what is permissible.

DECLARATION BY CANDIDATE

I have read and understood the School's definition of plagiarism and cheating given in the <u>Research</u> <u>Degrees Handbook</u>. I declare that this thesis is my own work, and that I have acknowledged all results and quotations from the published or unpublished work of other people.

I have read and understood the School's definition and policy on the use of third parties (either paid or unpaid) who have contributed to the preparation of this thesis by providing copy editing and, or, proof reading services. I declare that no changes to the intellectual content or substance of this thesis were made as a result of this advice, and, that I have fully acknowledged all such contributions.

I have exercised reasonable care to ensure that the work is original and does not to the best of my knowledge break any UK law or infringe any third party's copyright or other intellectual property right.

To be completed by the candidate

NAME IN FULL (Block Canitals)	MANUELA HERRERA VARELA
INCIDE IN FOLL IDIOLA COUNDIN	

4

STUDENT ID NO: LSH 272702

Mar

SIGNED:

Registry Last updated – 04/07/13

Improving health worldwide

www.lshtm.ac.uk

Abstract

Current malaria vector control strategies in Africa target indoor resting and biting mosquitoes and rely heavily on a small number of insecticides. These interventions have lead to the selection of insecticide resistance, behavioural adaptations of the vectors and leave naturally exophilic species nearly untouched. Gravid *Anopheles gambiae s.l.* female searching for an oviposition site would be a novel target for vector control. However, little is known about the oviposition-site selection behaviour (criteria) of this mosquito.

The major aim of the presented research was to investigate if gravid *An. gambiae s.l* make informed choices when selecting an oviposition site and to identify physical, chemical and biological parameters associated with these choices under standardized experimental and natural field conditions.

Standardized field tests and dual-choice oviposition bioassays were used to evaluate responses to soil and rabbit food pellets infusions and habitat water and also to test if bacteria and the volatile chemicals that bacteria produce are relevant to habitat selection. A case–control approach was used to study natural aquatic habitats on Rusinga Island in Lake Victoria during the long rainy season in 2012 to compare the characteristics of habitats colonized (cases) and not colonized (controls) by early instar *Anopheles* larvae. Factors evaluated included biological characteristics of the sites, zooplankton, invertebrate fauna, physical parameters, nutrients, bacteria communities and volatile chemicals released from the water. Multivariate analyses were used to investigate associations between oviposition site characteristics and habitat selection by *Anopheles*.

The experimental work illustrated that wild and caged *An. gambiae s.l.* females discriminate between potential aquatic habitats for oviposition and gravid *An. gambiae s.l.* female select suitable habitats using preferred and avoided chemical cues from water bodies. It furthermore emphasizes that natural infusions can be used to manipulate the oviposition behaviour of *An. gambiae s.l.* In the field no evidence was found that bacteria from natural habitat water were involved in habitat selection. Although chemical cues were highly diverse analysis suggests that cases and control habitats differ in the headspace volatile profile of the water. High turbidity >200 nephelometric turbidity units (NTU) was the only environmental factor strongly associated with cases. Other risk factors were higher grass coverage (positive association), and the abundance of creeping water bugs of the family *Naucoridae* and fish (negative associations).

This study demonstrates that gravid *An. gambiae* females choose suitable habitats for oviposition using a complex system of chemical and visual cues from water bodies. Habitats preferred by *An. gambiae* exhibited distinct and measurable characteristics that can be potentially exploited to attract and kill gravid females to improve malaria vector monitoring and control.

Acknowledgements

Four years ago I started the most important journey of my life. I left my family, friends and natal country, Colombia with the idea of becoming a doctor in Philosophy, or as my friends used to call, a world-wide mosquito catcher. After crossing two oceans, I arrived in Mbita, Kenya. This place at the shores of Lake Victoria would be the landscape of intense academic learning. More importantly it would become a place where I would meet with wonderful people that made it possible for me to write these pages.

I am most grateful to my supervisor Dr. Ulrike Fillinger. You are one of the brightest person that I know and also one of the kindest. You shared your knowledge with me without reservation and with a lot patience understood my Colombian temperament. As a female scientist, you have shown me, the perfect example towards excellence both as a scientist and as a woman. I look forward to pursuing this path.

Professor Steve W. Lindsay, thank you sincerely for giving me the opportunity to be part of OviART and for all the confidence, encouragement and challenging discussions we had throughout these years. Thank you for that unforgettable football match that we spectated -I still have the ticket as a souvenir.

To Dr. Jenny Lindh, thanks for your supervision and support in the chemical analyses from Royal Institute of Technology, KTH, Sweden. I will always admire your insatiable curiosity and enthusiasm to look for the hidden answers.

To my friends and fellow PhD students Michael Okal, Sisay Dugassa, Oscar Mbare and Lynda Eneh; immense thanks for all the time and discussions that enriched my knowledge about mosquitoes and Africa and for strengthening my way of thinking as a researcher. Mike thanks for always being there as my editor and for sharing your family, culture and ideas. I will keep our conversations as one my biggest treasures.

Thanks to my field companion and friend Paul "Puma" Ouma for his enthusiasm and tireless work while sweeping larval habitats and learning about science and real world while walking in Rusinga Island, Lwanda Nyamasare and Mbita.

I am grateful to the members of the Rusinga malaria surveillance team for their constant support and helpful insights during the field work in the Island.

I am also very grateful with the members of the OviART project, Gregory Masinde, Elizabeth Masinde, Rose Ongole, Bernard Oyembe and Joel Odero for their technical assistance and friendship. I will never forget our constant dates with 600 hungry mosquito females.

Thank you David Alila and Elisha Obudho at the ICIPE insectary for your rare rearing skills.

Maria Ulbrich and Dr. Saskia Knillman from the Helmholtz Centre of Environmental Research, thank you. Your expertise and knowledge in fresh water ecology greatly enriched my studies.

Professor Baldwyin Torto and Xavier Cheseto from the Behaviour and Chemical Ecology Department in, ICIPE, Nairobi; thank you for your advice and unwavering support.

To my students, Benjamin Francis and Martijn Disco. Thank you for your zeal in all you did. Both of you are destined for great things and I wish you well. Life in Mbita would not be so enjoyable without sharing hundreds of stunning sunsets and tuskers baridi with all the friends that I made along the way; my fellow mbitarians, Caroline Moseti, Margaret Njoroge, Evelyn Olanga, Daniel Achinko (My friend), Caroline Kungu, Roselyn Sumba, Pauline Awuori, Fred Orwa, Chris Momanyi, Patrick Sawa and Sabina Hamisi; my wazungu Sonia Deng Chan, Cristin Zeitz, Janis Thailayil, Tobias Homan, Alexandra Hiscox, Aurelio Di Pasquale, Joelle Rosser, Will Stone, Caitlin Moe, Wietske Bouwman, Ailie Robinson, Frank Loggen, Karlijn Wouters, Marie Hermy, Elke Van Veen and Tamzin Byrne. Thank you for being my family away from home.

I cannot forget Teresa Wasonga, my house manager, for your dedication in keeping my house neat and conducive for studying.

To the Colombian Department of Science, Technology and Innovation (COLCIENCIAS) for its financial support through the Scholarship programme "Francisco Jose de Caldas".

To my Colombian friends and family that were always present in the distance especially during the difficult times; Libertad Ochoa, Patricia Fernandez, Mauricio Rodriguez, Fabián Perez, Karina Mondragon-Shem, Natali Ortiz, Alejandro Valencia, Adriana Velez, Sara Morales, Julian Thornton, Margarita Herrera, Elpi Herrera, Gustavo Herrera, Gustavo Varela, Carlos Varela y mi segunda madre, Josefina Montoya. ¡Gracias!

A mi maravillosa hermana Claudia Marcela Herrera y a mis inigualables padres Pablo y Aracelly. Gracias por ser mis alas y mis corrientes de aire y nunca dejarme caer. Esta tesis es la prueba de un sueño vivido con amor e intensidad y está dedicada especialmente a ustedes.



OviART team and families. Wayando, Rusinga Island, Western Kenya. December 2013

Table of contents

Abstract
Acknowledgements
Table of contents
List of Tables
List of Figures
Chapter 1 Introduction
1.1 Malaria
1.2 Vector control
1.2.1. The history of vector control15
1.2.2. Current vector control in sub-Saharan Africa relies on strategies targeting <i>Anopheles</i> vectors indoors
1.2.3 The importance of the development and use outdoor vector control strategies17
1.2.4 Renewed interest in larval source management and selection of aquatic habitats by Anopheles gambiae s.l
1.3 Oviposition behaviour in mosquitoes
1.3.1 The potential role of semiochemicals in oviposition site selection
1.3.2. Microbial organisms as a source of volatile chemicals released from aquatic habitats
1.4 Rationale
1.5 Overall aim and hypotheses
Chapter 2 Habitat discrimination by gravid <i>Anopheles gambiae sensu lato</i> – a push-pull system
2.1 Abstract
2.2 Background
2.3. Methods
2.3.2. Mosquitoes
2.3.4. Sample size considerations
2.3.5 Statistical analyses
2.4 Results
2.4.1. Gravid <i>An. gambiae s.l.</i> females discriminate between habitats when searching for an oviposition site
2.4.2. The female's choice of oviposition site benefits the survival of her offspring46
2.4.3. Gravid female <i>An. gambiae s.s.</i> show avoidances and preferences when selecting an oviposition site

2.4.4. Chemical cues from the infusions are responsible for the oviposition choice in cage bioassays
2.4.4. The oviposition choice of the gravid female is not influenced by her olfactory memory of her larval habitat
2.5 Discussion
2.6 Conclusion
Chapter 3 Do volatile chemicals of microbial origin from natural <i>Anopheles gambiae s.s.</i> breeding site increase oviposition responses?
3.1 Abstract
3.2 Background
3.3 Materials and methods
3.3.1 Study site
3.3.2. Preparation of soil samples
3.3.3. Preparation of water samples
3.3.4 Two choice egg-count bioassays
3.3.5 Analysis of volatile organic chemicals released from oviposition substrates67
3.3.6 Data analysis
3.4 Results70
3.4.1. <i>Anopheles gambiae s.s.</i> females do not show a preference for oviposition substrates containing microorganisms from habitat derived soil when compared with sterile substrates
3.4.2. Anopheles gambiae s.s. females do not show a preference for larval habitat water containg microorganisms as compared with sterile water
3.4.3. The absence of volatile chemicals in the headspace of soil samples autoclaved in PE bags is associated with the avoidance of this substrate for oviposition
4.3.4. Headspace analysis of water substrates
3.5 Discussion
3.6 Conclusion
Chapter 4 Oviposition site selection of <i>Anopheles gambiae sensu lato</i> in Rusinga Island, Western Kenya: A case-control approach
4.1 Abstract
4.2 Background
4.3 Material and Methods
4.3.1. Study area
4.3.2. Larval habitat mapping91
4.3.3. Sweep-net method for habitat sampling
4.3.4. Selection of cases and controls

4.3.5. Characterization of cases and control habitats
4.3.6 Bacteria community analysis
4.3.7. Chemical headspace analysis97
4.3.8 Data analyses
4.4 Results
4.4.1 Differences in environmental and biological factors between control and case habitats
4.4.2 Differences between clear and turbid case habitats
4.4.3 Differences between clear control and clear case habitats
4.4.4 Bacteria community analyses105
4.4.5 Chemical headspace analyses106
4.5 Discussion
Chapter 5 Synthesis
5.1 Key findings117
5.1.1. Gravid <i>An. gambiae s.l.</i> females select sites to oviposit using volatile organic compounds and turbidity
5.1.2. The oviposition choices of gravid <i>An. gambiae s.l.</i> are not associated with the microbial community of oviposition substrates from vibrant breeding sites
5.1.3. Conspecific late instar larvae, competitors and predators in natural aquatic habitats do not prevent gravid <i>An. gambiae s.l.</i> from laying eggs in these habitats
5.2 Limitation of the study
5.3. Future work
5.4 General conclusions
6. References
7 Appendices
Appendix A137
Appendix B
Appendix C160
Appendix D175

List of Tables

Table 1.1 Infusions, bacteria and semiochemicals that mediate oviposition response in
mosquitoes
Table 2.1. Summary details of dual choice egg-count bioassays to evaluate oviposition
choices in <i>An. gambiae s.s.</i>
Table 2.2. Physical and chemical properties of pellet and soil infusions 50
Table 3.1. Experiments carried out with sterile and non-sterile substrates in two choice cage
bioassays
Table 4.1 Differences of biological and environmental factors between control and case
habitats
Table 4.2 Comparison of higherical and anvironmental factors between clear (<200 NTU)
Table 4.2 Comparison of biological and environmental factors between clear (<200 NTO)
control habitats, clear (<200 NTU) case habitats and turbid (>200 NTU) case habitats103
Table 4.3 Detailed analysis of banding patterns in 168 rDNA DCCE profiles. Diversity and
Table. 4.5. Detailed analysis of banding patterns in ToS IDNA-DOGE promes, Diversity and
Evenness indexes
Table 4.4 Tentative compound identifications based on NIST library hits 111

List of Figures

Figure 1.2. Life cycle of malaria vector mosquitoes showing different behaviours that enable them to avoid conventional control strategies and targets for novel intervention strategies18 Figure 2.1. Location of egg-count bioassays. A. Sheds (10 m long × 5 m wide × 2.8 m high) with walls made of reed mats and a roof made of translucent corrugated polycarbonate sheets. B. Interior of a shed. In each shed two tables hold up to 25 standard cages each, allowing 40 cm of space between adjacent cages. 41 Figure 2.2. Natural colonization of artificial habitats. Daily average of early instar larvae in (A) Pellet infusions (B) Soil infusions. 45 Figure 2.3. Survival of <i>An. gambiae s.s.</i> larvae to the pupal stage kept in different infusions or tap water. Error bars show 95% confidence intervals. 46 Figure 2.4. Proportion of gravid <i>An. gambiae s.s.</i> laying eggs in infusions of different ages compared with control water. (A) Pellet infusion experiment (B) Soil infusion experiment. 47 Figure 2.5. Oviposition response of caged <i>An. gambiae s.s.</i> to pellet and soil infusions of different incubation times and non-autoclaved and autoclaved 6 day soil infusion. Multiple comparison of treatments: Treatments denoted with the same letter are not significantly different 48 Figure 2.6. Egg laying responses of <i>An. gambiae s.s.</i> reared i
 Figure 2.1. Location of egg-count bioassays. A. Sheds (10 m long × 5 m wide × 2.8 m high) with walls made of reed mats and a roof made of translucent corrugated polycarbonate sheets. B. Interior of a shed. In each shed two tables hold up to 25 standard cages each, allowing 40 cm of space between adjacent cages
Figure 2.2. Natural colonization of artificial habitats. Daily average of early instar larvae in (A) Pellet infusions (B) Soil infusions
Figure 2.3. Survival of An. gambiae s.s. larvae to the pupal stage kept in different infusions or tap water. Error bars show 95% confidence intervals
Figure 2.4. Proportion of gravid <i>An. gambiae s.s.</i> laying eggs in infusions of different ages compared with control water. (A) Pellet infusion experiment (B) Soil infusion experiment. 47 Figure 2.5. Oviposition response of caged <i>An. gambiae s.s.</i> to pellet and soil infusions of different incubation times and non-autoclaved and autoclaved 6 day soil infusion. Multiple comparison of treatments: Treatments denoted with the same letter are not significantly different
Figure 2.5. Oviposition response of caged An. gambiae s.s. to pellet and soil infusions of different incubation times and non-autoclaved and autoclaved 6 day soil infusion. Multiple comparison of treatments: Treatments denoted with the same letter are not significantly different
Figure 2.6. Egg laying responses of <i>An. gambiae s.s.</i> reared in tap water or in pellet infusion to tap water and pellet infusion
Figure 3.1. Water and soil collection and preparation of two choice tests
Figure 3.2. Air-entrainment system used to collect volatile compounds from oviposition substrates
Figure 3.3. Box-and-Whisker plot showing the median proportion of females laying eggs in the test substrates in two choice bioassays (control vs. test). Baseline (Lake water as control and test), experiments including autoclaved soil in polystyrene bags and soil autoclaved in Erlenmeyer flasks. Substrates in test cup are indicated in bold. Colours (blue=lake water, brown=fresh soil, light blue=distilled water) also present the substrate in test cup. Red line

Chapter 1 Introduction

1.1 Malaria

Malaria is among all parasitic diseases in humans the one with the greatest impact on populations worldwide in terms of lives lost and social and economic burden (Witty 2004; Warburg *et al.* 2011). It is widespread in tropical and subtropical regions, including parts of America, Asia, and Africa. The World Health Organization reported 198 million cases globally in 2014 resulting in 584,000 deaths. The biggest burden of malaria is found in sub-Saharan Africa, where an estimated 90% of malaria deaths occur in children under the age of 5, who accounted for 78% of the deaths reported (WHO 2014).

Malaria is caused by *Plasmodium* (Haemosporida: Plasmodiidae) parasites and transmitted by *Anopheles* (Diptera: Culicidae) mosquitoes. Five species of the genus *Plasmodium* cause all malaria infections in human beings. Most cases are caused by either *P. falciparum* or *P. vivax*, but infections can also be caused by *P. ovale*, *P. malariae*, and, in parts of Southeast Asia, by the monkey malaria *P. knowlesi* (Kantele & Jokiranta 2011; White *et al.* 2014). Only around 41 of more than 400 *Anopheles* species are able to transmit malaria between humans at a level of major concern to public health (Harbach 2013).

The most competent malaria vector mosquitoes are found in sub-Saharan Africa and belong to the *Anopheles gambiae* species complex which consists of nine species (Edmondson 1959; Gillies & Coetzee 1987) and the *Anopheles funestus* species complex which also consists of 9 species. Members of a species complex have different behaviour, larval habitat requirements and vectorial capacity to transmit the disease (Gillies & De Meillon 1968; Gillies & Coetzee 1987). *Anopheles gambiae sensu stricto* (*s.s.*) and *An. arabiensis* of the *An. gambiae* complex (*An. gambiae sensu lato* (*s.l.*) and *An. funestus s.s.* of the *An. funestus* complex are the most effective malaria vectors worldwide because they are long lived and robust to environmental change, occur in high densities in tropical climates, breed readily in a large variety of available larval habitats and have a strong preference for biting humans when no control measures stop them from doing so (Gillies & De Meillon 1968; Gillies & Coetzee 1987; Sinka *et al.* 2012). To transmit malaria, a female *Anopheles* must bite a person carrying *Plasmodium* gametocytes and live long enough to allow the parasite to complete its sexual development which ends as sporozoites in the mosquito salivary glands; this sporogonic cycle

takes 10-12 days in *An. gambiae s.l.*. Consequent bites can then infect a healthy person with *Plasmodium* (Figure 1.1).



Source: NIH/NIAID (http://www.niaid.nih.gov/topics/Malaria/Pages/lifecycle.aspx)

Figure 1.1. Life cycle of malaria parasite:

(1) A female *Anopheles* mosquito carrying malaria-causing parasites feeds on a human and injects the parasites in the form of sporozoites into the bloodstream. The sporozoites invade liver cells. (2) The sporozoites grow, divide, and produce thousands of haploid merozoites, per liver cell. (3) The merozoites exit the liver cells and re-enter the bloodstream, beginning a cycle of invasion of red blood cells, asexual replication, and release of newly formed merozoites. This multiplication results in illness and complications of malaria. (4) Some of the merozoite-infected blood cells leave the cycle of asexual multiplication and develop into sexual forms, called gametocytes that circulate in the bloodstream. (5) When a mosquito bites an infected human, it ingests the gametocytes. In the mosquito gut, the infected human blood cells burst, releasing the gametocytes, which develop further into mature sex cells called gametes. Male and female gametes fuse to form diploid zygotes, which develop into actively moving ookinetes that burrow into the mosquito midgut wall and form oocysts. (6) Growth

and division of each oocyst produces thousands of active haploid sporozoites. After 10-12 days (for *Plasmodium falciparum*), the oocyst bursts, releasing sporozoites into the body cavity from which they travel to and invade the mosquito salivary glands. The cycle of human infection re-starts when the mosquito takes a blood meal, injecting the sporozoites from its salivary glands into the human bloodstream (taken from (WHO 1957))

Malaria control measures aim to prevent morbidity and mortality and to reduce the socioeconomic loss due to the disease. Control measures currently used, target either the malaria parasites through early diagnosis and treatment of malaria with effective medicines or they target the mosquito vector with the aim to prevent transmission (WHO 2014).

1.2 Vector control

1.2.1. The history of vector control

Since the discovery of the malaria parasite in human blood by Alphonse Laveran and later the establishment of the role of mosquitoes in malaria transmission by Sir Ronald Ross at the end of the 19th century, numerous regional and global efforts have been carried out in order to control, eliminate and eventually eradicate this disease (Najera 2001). In 1913 Malcom Watson, studying a malaria outbreak in the lowland areas of Malaysia, noticed that not all Anopheles mosquitoes were able to carry the parasite and thus to transmit the disease. In particular, he demonstrated that in Malaysia the main carrier of the parasite was An. umbrosus which bred in pools of stagnant water in the jungle; he then proved that the abolition of these pools by drainage and cultivation of the land reduced malaria incidence significantly. Furthermore he demonstrated that malaria could be eradicated guided by the study of the ecology of Anopheles mosquitoes (Watson 1913). This strategy focused on the mosquito vector and malaria epidemiology was later known as "species sanitation" and was effectively implemented in Indonesia and North Holland (Najera 2001). Early in the 1900's malaria control was carried out on a regional scale and often as part of larger programs targeting other vector borne diseases. Integrated vector management was frequently practiced in these early programs including draining of swamps, treating standing water with petroleum oils or Paris Green, screening of windows and doors and spraying with pyrethrum extracts (Imbahale et al. 2012; WHO 2014).

Early successes and tools were rapidly forgotten after the discovery of dichloro-diphenyltrichloroethane (DDT) during the second war world (Johannesen, Dunn & Morrell 2014). DDT was the first insecticide with a long lasting residual effect used to kill mosquitoes resting on house walls. It could be applied every six months overcoming the problem faced with pyrethrum extracts that needed weekly application. This attribute allowed malaria control programs to be cost-effective and to be extended to many rural areas (Najera, Gonzalez-Silva & Alonso 2011). The enormous success in combating vector borne diseases with this insecticide however, led to a decline in the interest for funding studies focusing on mosquito biology and to an increase in supporters of the idea that malaria could be wiped out from every place using a single tool; in this case the spraying of houses with the residual insecticide DDT (Johannesen, Dunn & Morrell 2014).

The World Health Organization (WHO) launched the Global Malaria Eradication Program in 1955. This program relyed on the use of DDT for vector control and the use of Chloroquine for the treatment of infected individuals (WHO 1957). These new tools yielded extraordinary results in countries with temperate climates and stable economies where malaria was eradicated but failed in most of the tropical countries that were included in the program i.e. Haiti and Nicaragua. In addition, in countries like India and Sri Lanka the campaign interrupted outbreaks for as long as the program was implemented but once the interventions stopped malaria cases went back to normal and often a recrudescence effect was observed (WHO 1959). Furthermore, this global campaign excluded most of the countries from sub-Saharan Africa. Failure to eradicate malaria in some of the areas where it was attempted was attributed to the emergence of drug resistance in humans, mosquito resistance to DDT and lack of community participation (WHO 1978). In 1977 the goal of eradication was officially abandoned and replaced by the aim of malaria control. It was recognized that one single approach was not advantageous in decreasing transmission and that a profound knowledge of malaria epidemiology (i.e. parasite, human, vector) is required at local levels for tailored attacks of the disease (Sharma 2012).

1.2.2. Current vector control in sub-Saharan Africa relies on strategies targeting *Anopheles* vectors indoors

After the eradication campaign the international community was slow to respond and the number of cases of malaria increased worldwide. New research foci were the development of drugs and vaccines and the improvement of health systems. For vector control only insecticide-treated nets (ITNs) were intensively investigated (Lengeler 2004). In 1998 WHO launched The Roll Back Malaria initiative that was further supported by the Millennium

Development Goals with the aim to reduce global malaria cases from 2000 levels by 50% in 2010 and by 75% in 2015 (WHO 1999). This initiative was funded by the Global Fund to Fight AIDS, Tuberculosis and Malaria, the World Bank, and the US President's Malaria Initiative (WHO 2000). The strategy of Roll Back Malaria was based on prompt diagnosis and treatment with artemisinin combination therapies (ACTs) and vector control. Two approaches were recommended for attacking the mosquitoes; insecticide treated nets (ITNs) and indoor residual spraying (IRS) (GMAP 2008). These vector control interventions target exclusively mosquitoes that feed and rest inside human dwellings as is the case with the major African malaria vectors; *An. gambiae s.s.* and *An. funestus s.s.* (Gillies & De Meillon 1968). The result of these interventions has been remarkable in reducing the number of cases and deaths caused by malaria in various parts of the world including a number of countries in Africa (Lengeler 2004; Okiro *et al.* 2007; Protopopoff *et al.* 2007; Pluess *et al.* 2010). As a consequence of this success the enthusiasm for malaria elimination and eradication has reappeared once again on the global agenda (Tanner & de Savigny 2008).

1.2.3 The importance of the development and use outdoor vector control strategies

The current vector control strategies (IRS, ITNs) have shown to be effective in saving lives worldwide however, the same strategies are facing challenges that need to be overcome if malaria elimination is to be achieved. These obstacles include the development of pyrethroid resistance in the major Anopheles vectors (Ranson et al. 2009; Ranson et al. 2011). This is particularly worrying given that this is the only type of insecticide approved for ITNs so far. Behavioural avoidance of the house environment where insecticides are present is another serious concern. Furthermore, vectors show a considerable plasticity in their behaviour which allows them to respond with some flexibility to the vector control measures. It has been shown that historically anthropophagic vectors accept other blood-meal hosts when given no choice, that more outdoor feeding and early evening feeding takes place when people are not protected (Sharma et al. 2008; Ferguson et al. 2010; Reddy et al. 2011; Riehle et al. 2011) and that current vector control interventions leave the more exophilic vectors like An. arabiensis (Tirados et al. 2006; Oyewole et al. 2007; Bayoh et al. 2010) and secondary vectors like An. coustani and An. rivulorum less affected by indoor interventions (Ikeshoji 1966; Najera 2001) maintaining low but stable malaria transmission in many areas (Killeen 2014).

Malaria elimination will require the addition of new vector control tools that target the mosquito outside the house (Figure 1.2). To develop these tools however, extensive research

is required to understand the behaviour of adult vectors in the outdoor environment. It is surprising that apart from the blood feeding behaviour little is known about how sub-Saharan *Anopheles* mosquitoes select and exploit other resources like aquatic habitats, mates, sugar sources and resting sites (Ferguson *et al.* 2010). A series of potential new and improved vector control tools tackling multiple points in the mosquito life cycle have been summarized recently by (Killeen 2014). These include spatial repellents, house screening, repellent clothing, insecticide-treated cattle, toxic sugar baits and improved larval source management practices (Figure 1.2).



Source Killeen 2014 (http://www.malariajournal.com/content/13/1/330)

Figure 1.2. Life cycle of malaria vector mosquitoes showing different behaviours that enable them to avoid conventional control strategies and targets for novel intervention strategies

1.2.4 Renewed interest in larval source management and selection of aquatic habitats by *Anopheles gambiae s.l.*

Recent field evaluations of larval source management using larvicides under various ecoepidemiological conditions in Africa showed that hand-applied larviciding reduced transmission by 70-90% where the majority of aquatic mosquito larval habitats were defined and aquatic surface areas not too extensive (Fillinger *et al.* 2008; Fillinger *et al.* 2009b) and that the addition of larviciding to ITNs has a significant added benefit in reducing malaria incidence (Trexler *et al.* 2003b; Fillinger *et al.* 2009a). However, it has also been recognized that larval control programs using larvicides require well established and managed programs, a large and trained labour force and a frequent re-application of larvicides to all aquatic habitats in the target area (Tusting *et al.* 2013).

Field studies have demonstrated that the colonization of aquatic habitats by *An. gambiae s.l.* larvae differ over space and time (Fillinger *et al.* 2009b; Ndenga *et al.* 2011; Imbahale *et al.* 2012). Since not all aquatic habitats have the same chance of being chosen by female vectors for oviposition, individual habitats differ in their capacity for generating adult mosquitoes (Muirhead-Thomson 1945; Muirhead-Thomson 1951; Fillinger *et al.* 2004; Mutuku *et al.* 2006). As a result, researchers have been advocating a more selective approach by targeting anti-larval interventions at larval habitats favoured by *An. gambiae s.l.* to make this intervention more cost-effective (Gu & Novak 2005; Gu *et al.* 2006; Gu, Utzinger & Novak 2008).

At present, however, it is not possible to identify the most productive *Anopheles* larval habitats. Although studies show that clear heterogeneities of productivity exist, the data are not adequate to provide the basis for rational targeting (Killeen *et al.* 2006). We do not know precisely what factors are responsible for these differences nor whether these factors, once identified, would be suitable for directing control activities.

Large-scale longitudinal studies in the floodplains of the Gambia River, rural lowland and highland areas in Kenya and in urban Dar es Salaam in Tanzania (Fillinger *et al.* 2008; Majambere *et al.* 2008; Ndenga *et al.* 2011) have shown that on any given sampling date only 20-50% of aquatic habitats contained anopheline larvae. In these scenarios it is common to find a large number of similar habitats close to human hosts that would seem suitable breeding sites, yet some of them are either consistently free of larvae or their colonization changes over space and time leaving only a small fraction with larvae (Muirhead-Thomson 1945; Muirhead Thomson 1951; Majambere *et al.* 2008).

Risk factor analyses of habitat characteristics identifiable under operational conditions (e.g. habitat type, habitat size, vegetation cover) failed to reveal any factors that could consistently predict sites preferred by *An. gambiae s.l.* (Majambere *et al.* 2008). Nevertheless, site

selection is unlikely to occur at random since laboratory studies indicate that there are several cues which are used by gravid female for oviposition (Bates 1940; McCrae 1984; Bentley & Day 1989; Sumba *et al.* 2004; Sumba *et al.* 2008).

1.3 Oviposition behaviour in mosquitoes

The heterogeneous distribution of larvae is likely to result from a combination of two factors; selection of oviposition site by the female mosquito and the survival of larvae in the aquatic habitat. Whilst a number of studies have investigated risk factors for indoor-biting mosquitoes (Watson 1913; Pinault & Hunter 2012), there are few that have specifically investigated the reverse journey that a gravid female makes from a dwelling to a breeding site.

Oviposition behaviour is associated with a complex interaction of physical and chemical cues emanating from a potential oviposition site that is perceived by gravid mosquitoes when looking for a water body to lay their eggs. This behaviour might be mediated by long-range cues that help the mosquito to identify different habitats; some of these cues (vegetation, shade, light reflection) are probably evaluated visually before the mosquito makes contact with water (Bentley & Day 1989). Short distance cues are probably based on chemicals released from water bodies (attractants and repellents), which guide mosquitoes to locate suitable habitats and make oviposition choices (Takken & Knols 1999).

Early laboratory studies demonstrated that gravid anophelines responded to different light and dark contrasts and brightness (Bates 1940; McCrae 1984). *Anopheles atroparvus, An. arabiensis* and *An. gambiae s.s.* were shown to prefer laying eggs on dark backgrounds rather than pale ones (Bates 1940; McCrae 1984; Huang *et al.* 2005; Balestrino *et al.* 2010).

The physical conditions and composition of the substrate are also important. It was shown that *Anopheles gambiae s.s.* preferred to lay eggs in oviposition sites containing calcium (Bates 1940), mud and turbid water (McCrae 1984) and some studies have shown that more eggs were laid in water from a natural breeding site than tap or distilled water (McCrae 1984; Sumba *et al.* 2004). These data suggest that soil factors can also mediate olfactory oviposition behaviour in anophelines, however the evidence is sketchy (Takken & Knols 1999).

1.3.1 The potential role of semiochemicals in oviposition site selection

Olfactory cues are involved in important behaviours of female mosquitoes and there is good

evidence that oviposition is also governed by semiochemicals (Takken & Knols 1999). From all the external signals that a mosquito can perceive, chemicals provide important information about the location, suitability or physiological state of conspecifics, hosts or breeding sites (Logan & Birkett 2007).

Semiochemicals are chemicals that influence the behaviour and physiology of insects (Dicke & Sabelis 1988). Mosquitoes chemosensory organs primarily consist of diverse cuticular extensions called sensillae located primarily on the antennae and maxillary pulps (Mclver 1982). Sensillae have porous surfaces that open to an array of olfactory receptor neurons (ORNs), each with unbranched and multi-branched sensory dendrites. The dendrites are suspended in lymph within the sensilla lumen containing odour binding proteins (OBPs). Olfactory molecules that move into the sensilla through the pores bind to OBPs and are carried through to dendrites of ORNs. The ORNs then convey signals to the insects central nervous system (CNS) causing changes in behaviour or physiology of the mosquito (Su, Menuz & Carlson 2009). Olfactory receptor neurons can be sensitive to a few chemicals or to a wider range of compounds (Carey *et al.* 2010).

In oviposition, it is hypothesized that the chemicals emanating from a water body guide the female to the breeding site and upon landing and contact with the water surface stimulates the female to lay her eggs (Bentley & Day 1989). Such chemicals can be divided into two broad groups: those that attract or repel mosquitoes from a distance, and those that mediate the actual act of oviposition. Attractants and repellents are volatile compounds acting over a distance whilst those involved in the initiation of oviposition may be non-volatile chemicals. The process of oviposition can be briefly summarized as a pathway of behaviours where the mosquito receives stimulation to take flight, orientates the flight upwind in response to attractants, arrestment and sampling of a site, and finally, oviposition stimulation (Isoe, Millar & Beehler 1995).

Chemical cues can originate from natural water bodies as breakdown products of bacterial or algae origin, from the eggs themselves as an oviposition pheromone or released by other organisms like predators (Laurence & Pickett 1982; Ponnusamy *et al.* 2008a; Silberbush *et al.* 2010). These sources of stimuli might result in the aggregation of eggs in sites suitable for larval development (McCall & Cameron 1995). Until now the evidence for the involvement of semiochemicals in oviposition site selection is limited to very few mosquito species. Numerous compounds have been described as being involved in the oviposition behaviour in

few species of the genera *Culex* and *Aedes* although just a few of them have been confirmed as oviposition attractants (Table 1).

The first and most studied oviposition pheromone was identified in mosquitoes of the genus *Culex*. Initially observations showed the egg rafts attracted gravid females of *Cx. tarsalis*, *Cx. molestus* and *Cx. quinquefasciatus* to lay eggs at the same oviposition sites, later it was found that the increment observed in the oviposition of *Culex* spp. occured due to droplets present on the egg's apex (McCall & Cameron 1995). Gas chromatography coupled to mass spectrometry revealed that the active compound in the droplets was erythro-6-acetoxy-5-hexadecanolide (AHD) (Laurence & Pickett 1982). The pheromone was synthesized and its efficacy tested in a field site in Tanzania. Pheromone alone caught as many gravid mosquitoes as a standard grass infusion and was active for 9 days (Mboera *et al.* 2000).

In contrast chemical mediation of oviposition site selection in *An. gambiae s.l.* is poorly understood. Gravid female mosquitoes have been shown to detect 3-methyl-indole, indole, p-cresol, o-cresol, phenol, m-cresol 4-methylcyclohexanol and 2-propyl phenol in electrophysiological studies (Blackwell & Johnson 2000). These compounds are therefore thought to be important cues for gravid *An. gambiae s.l.* and are frequently referred as putative attractants. There is however, a huge gap in evidence showing that these chemicals actually elicit a behavioural response and more importantly the type of response they might elicit. Nevertheless, if a better understanding of the chemical cues used by gravid females is gained this would increase the possibilities to implement novel strategies for vector control.

Perhaps the better examples of how the identification of semiochemicals can improve dramatically control of an insect target comes from agriculture. When it became clear that insects used their chemical senses to communicate with conspecific and other species of animals or plants it was possible to develop semiochemical-based pest management that were environmentally and human friendly (El-Sayed *et al.* 2006). These methods have shown to be advantageous because many if not most semiochemicals are relatively nontoxic to vertebrates as well as beneficial insects and also its high selectivity to the targets species. The most successful semiochemical-based-pest management approaches include mass trapping, attractant (lure) & Kill and Push-Pull strategies (de França *et al.* 2013).

Mass trapping uses species-specific synthetic chemical lures (pheromones and host/food attractants), to attract insects to a trap where they would be confined and die. Mass trapping using odour-baited traps is one of the older approaches to direct control of insects for population control and eradication (Steiner 1952; El-Sayed *et al.* 2006). As an extension of the mass trapping strategy, "Attract and Kill" approaches have been created by using sex pheromones or food attractant in combination with a killing agent (insecticide). This is a very efficient system, given that the insect can be directed to a selected point where it will get in contact with the insecticide allowing reducing of amount of insecticide applied i.e. there is no need to cover the whole crop (Charmillot, Hofer & Pasquier 2000). These systems have been successfully used against several pests like the boll weevil, *Anthonomus grandis*; apple maggot, *Rhagoletis pomonella* and the codling moth, *Cydia pomonella* among others (Bostanian & Racette 2001).

One of the major developments in chemical ecology is the understanding that semiochemicals should not be used alone, but in combination with biological control agents. Probably the best example is the Push-Pull strategy, which involves "pushing" the insect away from the economic crops, and "pulling" them onto a trap crop where their population is reduced by a natural enemy (Foster & Harris 1997). This strategy is based in a profound understanding of chemical ecology, agrobiodiversity, plant-plant and plant-insect interactions (El-Sayed *et al.* 2006). In Eastern Africa Push-Pull is effectively used to control pests (Stemborers) and weeds affecting maize and sorghum crops. This strategy is based in the intercropping of the cereal crop with a repellent intercrop such as Demodium (Push), and with an attractive trap plant such as Nepier grass (Pull) planted as a border crop and this intercrop (Cook, Khan & Pickett 2007; Hassanali *et al.* 2008). Beside this, push-pull strategy has been applied in the control of *Helicoverpa sp.* in cotton, thrips on chrysanthemums and the Colorado potato beetle *Sitona lineatus* (de França *et al.* 2013).

In mosquitoes, preliminary "push-pull" studies have been done in semi-field systems or in small scale trials with promising results (Barbosa *et al.* 2010; Obermayr *et al.* 2012; Salazar *et al.* 2012), however, the knowledge about the semiochemicals and its role in oviposition behaviour remain incipient.

Table 1.1 Infusions, bacteria and semiochemicals that mediate oviposition response in mosquitoes

Source	Bacteria identified	Chemicals identified	Mosquito species	Response	Authors
Manure infusion			Ae. aegypti var. queenslandis	Attraction	(O'Gower 1963)
Log pond infusion Grass infusion		0-cresol <i>alpha</i> -Ethyl-p-methoxybenzyl alcohol Ethyl methylcarbamate Phenethyl methylcarbamate <i>alpha</i> -conidendrol tetraacetate N-Ethyl-o-veratrylamine 2,6 Dimethoxyphenol-ethylene oxide	Cx. quinquefasciatus Cx. tarsalis	Attraction No effect	(Gjullin, Johnson & Plapp 1965)
Hay infusion	Aerobacter aerogenes	No identified	Cx. pipiens quinquefasciatus	Attraction	(Hazard, Mayer & Savage 1967)
	Pseudomonacea	Capric acid	Culex restuans Culex pipiens Culex tarsalis Aedes aegypti	Attraction	(Maw 1970)
Breeding site water	Pseudomonas aeroginosa	Intermediate metabolites of Capric and pelargonic acids	Culex pipiens fatigans Culex molestus Aedes aegypti	Attraction	(Ikeshoji 1966) (Ikeshoji, Saito & Yano 1975)
Betula papyrifera infusion		P-cresol	Aedes triseriatus	Attraction	(Bentley et al. 1979)
Purina [®] Laboratory chow infusion		Acetic acid Propionic acid Isobutyric acid Butyric acid Isovaleric acid Caproic acid	<i>Cx. quinquefasciatus</i> <i>Cx. tarsalis</i>	Repellence	(Hwang, Kramer & Mulla 1980)
		Fatty acids from C ₅ to C ₁₃ Nonanoic acid*	Cx. quinquefasciatus Cx. tarsalis Ae. Aegypti	Repellence	(Hwang <i>et al.</i> 1982)
Egg rafts		Erythro-6-acetoxy-5- hexadecanolide (AHD)	Cx. quinquefasciatus	Oviposition pheromone	(Laurence & Pickett 1982)
	Bacillus cereus Pseudomonas aeruginosa		Ae. aegypti	Stimulation/Attraction	(Hasselschwert & Rockett 1988)
Bermuda grass infusion		phenol 4 Methylphenol 4 Ethylphenol	Cx. quinquefasciatus	Stimulation/Attraction	(Millar, Chaney & Mulla 1992)

		indole			
		3 Methyl indole (skatole)			
Hay infusion Larval rearing water Field collected larval water		3 Methyl indole 4 Methylphenol 4 Ethylphenol indole phenol	Ae. aegypti Ae. albopictus	Moderate responses to infusions and chemicals	(Allan & Kline 1995)
Bermuda grass infusion			<i>Cx. quinquefasciatus</i> <i>Cx. tarsalis</i>	Attraction	(Isoe <i>et al.</i> 1995; Isoe & Millar 1995)
Oak leafs infusion			Ae. albopictus Ae. triseriatus	Stimulation/Attraction	(Trexler, Apperson & Schal 1998)
	Bacillus cereus Pseudomonas aeruginosa		Ae. albopictus	Stimulation/Attraction	(Pavlovich & Rockett 2000)
Larval conditioned water		Heneicosaene	Ae. aegypti	Oviposition attractant pheromone	(Mendki et al. 2000)
Bacteria filtrates	Bacillus cereus Pseudomonas fluorescens Bacillus thuringiensis Bacillus sphaericus Bacillus megaterium Azospirillum brasilense		Cx. quinquefasciatus	Attraction/No effect	(Poonam, Paily & Balaraman 2002)
Larval rearing water Soil contaminated cotton towels Oak leaf infusion	Psychrobacter immobilis Sphingobacterium multivorum Bacillus species		Ae. albopictus	Attraction	(Trexler <i>et al</i> . 2003b)
		4 Methylphenol 3 Methyl indole	Ae. albopictus	Repellence	(Trexler et al. 2003a)
Grass (Panicum maximun) infusion			Ae. aegypti Ae. albopictus	Stimulation/Attraction	(Santana, Roque & Eiras 2006)
Breeding site	Stenotrophomonas maltophilia		An. gambiae s.s.	Repellence	(Huang <i>et al.</i> 2006a)
Long chain fatty acids		Hexadecyl pentanoate, Tetradecyl heptanoate Tridecyl octanoate	Ae. aegypti Ae. albopictus	Repellence	(Sharma <i>et al.</i> 2008)
Bamboo leaf infusion White-oak leaf infusion	14 spp most of them Gammaproteobacteria 18 spp most of them Gammaproteobacteria	Nonanoic acid Decanoic acid Dodecanoic acid Tetradecanoic acid Tetradecanoic acid, methyl ester Hexadecanoic acid Hexadecanoic acid, methyl ester	Ae. aegypti	Attraction	(Ponnusamy <i>et al.</i> 2008a)

		Octadecanoic acid			
Midguts and breeding sites	Vibrio metschnikovii		An. gambiae s.s,	Attraction	(Lindh et al. 2008)
	Proteus sp.				
	Micrococcus sp.				
	Bacillus sp.				
	Exiguobacterium sp.				
	Comamonas sp.				
Long chain fatty acids		Octadecyl propanoate,	Anopheles stephensi	Repellence	(Sharma <i>et al.</i> 2009)
		Heptadecyl butanoate,			
		Hexadecyl pentanoate,			
		Tetradecyl heptanoate			
Conditioned water with Notonecta		n-heneicosane	Culiseta longiareolata	Repellence	(Silberbush et al. 2010)
maculate		n-tricosane			
Synthetic analyses - Antennal		2-propyl phenol	An. gambiae s.s	Attraction	(Rinker et al. 2013)
transcriptome profiles		4-methylcyclohexanol		Repellence	

Substrates in bold are recognized as oviposition attractants

1.3.2. Microbial organisms as a source of volatile chemicals released from aquatic habitats

It has long been known that infusions made of manure, grass and food pellets attract gravid females of *Cx. quinquefasciatus* and *Ae. aegypti* to oviposition sites (O'Gower 1963; Hazard, Mayer & Savage 1967; Hwang, Kramer & Mulla 1980). In addition is has been shown that the attraction is mediated by bacteria communities present in the infusion (Hazard, Mayer & Savage 1967). In 1975 Ikeshoji and co-workers discovered that bacteria of Pseudomonaceae family were responsible for production of oviposition attractants for *Ae. aegypti* and *Cx. molestus* through metabolism of capric and pelargonic acid previously added to the water (Maw 1970; Ikeshoji, Saito & Yano 1975).

The importance of bacteria and their volatiles in the egg laying behaviour of some mosquito species has been corroborated in studies investigating the responses of gravid females to odours from bacterial cultures or filtrates. For instance, *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* and *Bacillus cereus* attracted gravid *Ae. aegypti* (Hasselschwert & Rockett 1988), whilst *P. fluorescens* and several different *Bacillus* species were attractive to *Cx. quinquefasciatus*, *Ae. aegypti* and *Ae. albopictus* (Pavlovich & Rockett 2000; Poonam, Paily & Balaraman 2002; Trexler *et al.* 2003a). In addition, indirect evidence for microbial involvement in production of oviposition attractants has been observed by reduction or elimination of the bacteria from test solutions (Benzon, Apperson & Clay 1988).

Again, for *An. gambiae s.l.* our knowledge on the involvement of microbial organisms in the oviposition site selection is extremely poor, limited to a hand full of papers of a restricted number of researchers implemented under artificial laboratory conditions without sufficient replication. Sumba and co-workers showed that gravid females laid 60% more eggs on wet papers above soil and water from natural habitats (containing bacteria and other microbes) than on wet paper above the same substrate that had been heat sterilized (Sumba *et al.* 2004). Otienoburu demonstrated that Lake Victoria water, which is one of the major sources of water in *An. gambiae s.l.* habitats around the shores of Lake Victoria, increased egg numbers compared with distilled water (Otienoburu *et al.* 2007). These studies two support the theory that microbials are involved in the oviposition choice of gravid females. The specific volatiles that mediate the responses have, in most studies, not been determined. Recently, positive responses from *An. gambiae s.s.* breeding sites or their midguts. Six bacterial species stimulated a positive oviposition response (Lindh

et al. 2008). In contrast, Huang and collaborators tested a mixture of cultured bacteria also isolated from a natural larval habitat against bacteria-free nutrient agar and against expectations, gravid *An. gambiae s.s.* females avoided the bacteria and laid eight times more eggs in bacteria free nutrient agar than in mixed cultures of bacteria. Four bacteria species were presented in the mixture and when tested individually, only one species, *Stenotrophomonas maltophilia*, had a significant impact on the oviposition response by significantly lowering the number of eggs laid in the presence of the bacteria compared with bacteria-free controls (Huang *et al.* 2006a).

In order to test if microbial communities present in soil and water from a vibrant *Anopheles* breeding site produce volatiles chemicals that mediate oviposition behaviour in *An. gambiae s.s.* it is necessary to elucidate the role of microorganisms under standardized laboratory conditions to confirm if previous results can be replicated and under field conditions where it is expected that microbial communities are complex and affected by a large number of water quality parameters.

1.4 Rationale

Current vector control interventions in sub-Saharan Africa are insufficient to achieve malaria elimination in most areas due to residual transmission maintained by vectors with a more exophilic behaviour as well as due to the increasing threat of insecticide resistance (Ranson *et al.* 2011; Killeen 2014). Interventions that target outdoor vector populations without insecticides or with insecticides not used in the indoor environment are urgently needed to complement front-line interventions (Ferguson *et al.* 2010). Understanding the oviposition site selection of the major sub-Saharan malaria vectors of the *Anopheles gambiae* species complex could contribute significantly to the development of new and improved interventions by targeting the gravid females in search of an oviposition site and by targeting the most productive breeding sites rationalizing larval control interventions.

In addition, the identification of oviposition cues opens the possibility of exploring new perspectives to the control of *Anopheles* mosquitoes. The combination of oviposition attractants and larvicides might also be useful for the surveillance and control of vectors that feed outdoor. In this case gravid females would be directed to breeding sites previously treated with a larvicide that will kill the offspring of the egg-laying female. This "Attract and Kill" strategy provides a method of control that avoids traps becoming breeding sites. "Push–pull" schemes could also be implemented that use repellent

compounds to push vectors away from oviposition sites close to their hosts and attractive compounds that would guide them to specific traps for their capture.

To date the understanding of oviposition site selection in *An. gambiae s.l.* is very limited and restricted to experimental work implemented in the laboratory, mostly in small confined cages. Whether the behaviour in the laboratory can be extrapolated to their natural behaviour remains to be proven. In the natural environment of mosquitoes many cues interact. For example visual and chemical stimuli are likely to interact in a way that is unknown in the uncontrolled system. Factors like cage or cup size, different ways of presenting the substrate and the use of different strains of colony mosquitoes may all influence the oviposition response.

The evidence collected previously support the hypothesis that bacteria play a role in the oviposition choice of gravid *An. gambiae s.l.* females. There have been however, very few studies investigating the effect of bacteria and their volatiles on *An. gambiae s.l.* oviposition responses. To date all of the studies have been performed solely on bacteria collected from aquatic habitats containing larvae but no attempt has been made to compare the bacterial community of aquatic habitats that contain *An. gambiae s.l.* larvae with those that do not have larvae present in the water. There is no published work on the chemical headspace emitted from habitat water versus sterilized water or even from natural habitats that could provide evidence that chemical cues (from bacteria or in general) are involved in the habitat selection. Therefore, the study of oviposition behaviour in *An. gambiae s.l.* is fundamental to gain understanding on the ecology of this primary malaria vector and required to understand larvae distribution and survival in the field.

1.5 Overall aim and hypotheses

The aim of this thesis was to investigate the oviposition site selection in *Anopheles* gambiae sensu lato, the major malaria vectors in sub-Saharan Africa under controlled conditions and in field settings in Western Kenya.

The research was driven by the following hypotheses:

Hypothesis 1: Gravid *An. gambiae s.l.* females make choices when looking for a site to oviposit in. Females evaluate the suitability of a habitat using chemical cues from water bodies; these oviposition choices made by a gravid female benefit the offspring and cannot be modified by experience in one generation.

Hypothesis 2: Microbial communities present in soil and water from a vibrant *Anopheles* breeding site produce volatiles chemicals that mediate oviposition behaviour in *An.* gambiae s.s..

Hypothesis 3: Natural aquatic habitats without *Anopheles gambiae s.l.* larvae (controls) differ significantly from habitats that are well colonized by early instar larvae (cases) in their bacteria communities and in their profile of volatile chemicals released from the water.

Hypothesis 4: Specific physical, chemical and biological characteristics of natural aquatic habitats colonised by *Anopheles* larvae can be associated with the bacteria and chemical profiles and can assist in predicting habitat selection by gravid females in natural settings.

Chapter 2 Habitat discrimination by gravid *Anopheles gambiae sensu lato* – a push-pull system



This paper has been published in Malaria Journal 2014,13:133 Manuela Herrera-Varela, Jenny Lindh, Steve W. Lindsay,

Ulrike Fillinger

London School of Hygiene & Tropical Medicine Keppel Street, London WC1E 7HT www.lshtm.ac.uk



Registry
T: +44(0)20 7299 4646
F: +44(0)20 7299 4656
E: registry@lshtm.ac.uk

COVER SHEET FOR EACH 'RESEARCH PAPER' INCLUDED IN A RESEARCH THESIS

Ple the	ase be aware that one cover sheet must be completed <u>for each</u> 'Research Paper' included in a sis.
1.	For a 'research paper' already published
	1.1. Where was the work published? Malaria Journal
	1.2. When was the work published? April 2014
	1.2.1. If the work was published prior to registration for your research degree, give a brief rationale for its inclusion
	1.3. Was the work subject to academic peer review? Yes
	1.4. Have you retained the copyright for the work? Yes / No.
	ir yes, please attach evidence of retention.
	from contribut holder (whiches as other author) to include work
	from copyright holder (publisher of other adulor) to include work
2.	For a 'research paper' prepared for publication but not yet published
	2.1. Where is the work intended to be published?
	2.2. Please list the paper's authors in the intended authorship order
	 Stage of publication – Not yet submitted / Submitted / Undergoing revision from peer reviewers' comments / In press
3.	For multi-authored work, give full details of your role in the research included in the paper and in the preparation of the paper. (Attach a further sheet if necessary) I contributed significantly in the conception of the idea and
	experimental design. I developed all protocols and implemented the
	experimenta engly and the data and wrote first draft of the manuagrint
	experiments, analysed the data and wrote first draft of the manuscript.
NA	ME IN FULL (Block Capitals) MANUELA HERRERA VARELA
ST	UDENT ID NO: 272702
CA	NDIDATE'S SIGNATURE
su	PERVISOR/SENIOR AUTHOR'S SIGNATURE (3 above)

Improving health worldwide

www.lshtm.ac.uk

2.1 Abstract

Background: The non-random distribution of *Anopheles* larvae in natural habitats suggests that gravid females discriminate between habitats of different quality. Whilst physical and chemical cues used by *Culex* and *Aedes* vector mosquitoes for selecting an oviposition site have been extensively studied, those for Anopheles remain poorly explored. Here the habitat selection by *Anopheles gambiae sensu lato* (*s.l.*), the principal African malaria vector, was investigated when presented with a choice of two infusions made from rabbit food pellets, or soil.

Methods: Natural colonization and larval survival was evaluated in artificial ponds filled randomly with either infusion. Dual-choice, egg-count bioassays evaluated the responses of caged gravid females to (1) two- to six-day old infusions versus lake water; (2) autoclaved versus non-autoclaved soil infusions; and assessed (3) the olfactory memory of gravid females conditioned in pellet infusion as larvae.

Results: Wild *Anopheles* exclusively colonized ponds with soil infusion and avoided those with pellet infusion. When the individual infusions were tested in comparison with lake water, caged *An. gambiae sensu stricto* (*s.s.*) showed a dose response: females increasingly avoided the pellet infusion with increasing infusion age (six-day versus lake water: odds ratio (OR) 0.22; 95% confidence interval (CI) 0.1-0.5) and showed increasing preference to lay eggs as soil infusion age increased (six-day versus lake water: OR 2.1; 95% CI 1.4-3.3). Larvae survived in soil infusions equally well as in lake water but died in pellet infusions. *Anopheles gambiae s.s.* preferred to lay eggs in the non-autoclaved soil (OR 2.6; 95% CI 1.8-3.7) compared with autoclaved soil. There was no change in the avoidance of pellet infusion by individuals reared in the infusion compared with those reared in lake water.

Conclusion: Wild and caged *An. gambiae s.l.* females discriminate between potential aquatic habitats for oviposition. These choices benefit the survival of the offspring. It could be demonstrated that the choice of habitat is mediated by chemical cues based on both preference and avoidance. These cues, if identified, might be developed for 'push-pull' strategies to improve malaria vector monitoring and control.

2.2 Background

Selection of suitable oviposition sites is a critical step in the life history of mosquitoes (Refsnider & Janzen 2010). This is a process whereby individuals select and occupy a non-random set of aquatic habitats. Habitat selection is of major importance for the interpretation of spatial and temporal distributions of populations, and for understanding intra and inter-specific relations that influence the abundance of individuals (Morris 2003; Rejmankova *et al.* 2005). Organisms without any parental care are likely to choose habitats based on a set of innate or learned cues in order to maximize the survival and fitness of their offspring (McCall & Eaton 2001; Rejmankova *et al.* 2005).

Mosquitoes utilize a wide range of aquatic niches for oviposition, including natural ponds, puddles, stream fringes, marshes, tree-holes and plant axils, man-made pits, drains, rice fields and containers (Laird 1988). Field studies have shown that mosquitoes are discriminating in selecting sites for egg deposition (Muirhead-Thomson 1945; Macan 1961) and that oviposition choices made by gravid females are a key factor in determining larval distribution (Bates 1940; Muirhead-Thomson 1940a; Muirhead-Thomson 1940b; Wallis 1954). Although different species are found in the same type of habitat, oviposition site selectivity is considerably species specific (Bentley & Day 1989). Immature stages of Anopheles gambiae sensu lato, the major malaria vectors in sub-Saharan Africa, are typically described as inhabiting very small, temporary sunlit pools and puddles without vegetation (Muirhead Thomson 1951; Gillies & De Meillon 1968; Gimnig et al. 2001; Minakawa, Sonye & Yan 2005). Reviews of the literature and recent research on larval ecology have however, shown that this is a gross oversimplification of the wide range of habitats colonised by this species (Holstein 1954; Fillinger et al. 2004; Fillinger & Lindsay 2011), a fact recognised over half a century ago by Holstein who reviewed the 'extraordinary diversity of the breeding-places' of An. gambiae s.l. (Holstein 1954). Numerous studies have described how the presence of An. gambiae s.l. larvae (Fillinger et al. 2004; Majambere et al. 2008; Fillinger et al. 2009b; Munga et al. 2009; Ndenga et al. 2011) and the capacity of individual habitats for generating adult mosquitoes (Bates 1940; Muirhead-Thomson 1945; Muirhead-Thomson 1951; Fillinger et al. 2004; Mutuku et al. 2006) differs markedly over space and time, yet statistical analyses of these surveys failed to reveal any risk factors that could consistently predict sites preferred by An. gambiae s.l. (Fillinger et al. 2004; Majambere et al. 2008; Fillinger et al. 2009b; Munga et al. 2009; Ndenga et al. 2011). This might lead to the conclusion that this species randomly deposits its eggs in a large range of habitats and that the heterogeneous distribution of larvae results from the survival of larvae in the aquatic habitat (Muirhead-Thomson 1940a; Muirhead-Thomson 1940b) rather than the adults' choice.

Surprisingly, fully gravid malaria vectors looking for suitable larval habitats have been grossly understudied (Ferguson et al. 2010). Compared with the wealth of knowledge of the physical and chemical factors used by gravid culicines for selecting an oviposition site (Bentley et al. 1979; Hwang et al. 1982; Laurence & Pickett 1982; Beehler, Millar & Mulla 1992; Millar, Chaney & Mulla 1992; Beehler, Millar & Mulla 1994; Millar et al. 1994; Isoe et al. 1995; Isoe & Millar 1995; Mendki et al. 2000; Ganesan et al. 2006; Ponnusamy et al. 2008a; Seenivasagan et al. 2009; Ponnusamy et al. 2010a) those potentially used by the world's most deadly malaria vector remain almost unexplored. Whereas many publications recognize that the distribution of larvae between seemingly suitable aquatic habitats is probably due to the choice of the gravid female (Bates 1940; Kennedy 1942; Muirhead-Thomson 1945; Muirhead-Thomson 1951; McCrae 1984; Gu et al. 2006) and that this choice probably impacts on the fitness of her offspring there is little empirical evidence to support these assertions. Most recent research has evaluated the characteristics of aquatic habitats associated with the presence and absence of larvae (Gimnig et al. 2001; Fillinger et al. 2009b; Gouagna et al. 2012; Kweka et al. 2012; Munga, Vulule & Kweka 2013) but the understanding of the behaviour of gravid female An. gambiae s.l. when searching for an oviposition site remains, at best, sketchy (Bates 1940; McCrae 1984; Sumba et al. 2004; Huang et al. 2005; Huang et al. 2006b; Huang et al. 2007; Lindh et al. 2008; Sumba et al. 2008; Kweka et al. 2011).

Laboratory studies demonstrated that physical conditions of the aquatic habitats influence oviposition site selection in *An. gambiae s.l.* with females preferring dark backgrounds to pale ones, muddy water to clear water and fully hydrated substrates (Bates 1940; McCrae 1984; Huang *et al.* 2005; Balestrino *et al.* 2010). Turbidity has been suggested as an important physical cue for oviposition behaviour in *An. gambiae s.l.* although the evidence for this is contradictory (Ye-Ebiyo *et al.* 2003; Paaijmans *et al.* 2008).

Even less is known about the chemical cues and their interaction with physical factors. Water vapour is itself an attractant to gravid mosquitoes (Okal *et al.* 2013). It has been shown that gravid *An. gambiae s.l.* are sensitive to bacteria-derived odours (Sumba *et al.* 2004; Huang *et al.* 2006a; Lindh *et al.* 2008) which have been associated with increased (Sumba *et al.* 2004; Lindh *et al.* 2008) and reduced (Huang *et al.* 2006a) egg numbers
compared to sterile media in cage bioassays. Whilst over 20 putative oviposition semiochemicals have been suggested in the literature based on the analyses of bacteriaor habitat-derived volatile chemicals and electro-antennogram studies (Blackwell & Johnson 2000; Lindh *et al.* 2008) there is no report of any inducing a behavioural response in gravid females (increasing or decreasing the oviposition response) except for water vapour (Okal *et al.* 2013).

Here the oviposition behaviour of *An. gambiae s.l.* was explored to test the hypotheses that a gravid *An. gambiae s.l.* female evaluates the suitability of a habitat using chemical cues from water bodies, that oviposition choices made by a gravid female benefit the offspring and that this choice cannot be modified by experience in one generation.

Habitat selection by gravid *An. gambiae s.l.* was tested by presenting a choice of two infusions; one made with soil from an area where natural habitats occur frequently, and one made with rabbit food pellets. Rabbit food pellets are frequently used as diet for mosquito larvae in insectaries (Haeger & Provost 1964; Rasgon 2012) and infusions made of grass, hay and other plant material, including rabbit food pellets have shown to be attractive to a range of mosquito species and have been used in gravid traps (Nguyen, Su & Mulla 1999; Jackson *et al.* 2005a; Silver 2008; McPhatter & Debboun 2009). It was aimed to explore whether *Anopheles gambiae s.l.* might also be drawn to rabbit pellets infusion.

Natural colonization and larval survival was evaluated in artificial ponds filled randomly with either infusion. As a consequence of field observations, two choice egg count bioassays were used to explore the pattern of oviposition seen in the field. Experiments were designed to address the following questions: 1) Do gravid *An. gambiae s.l.* females discriminate between different habitats when searching for an oviposition site?, 2) Does the oviposition choice benefit the survival of their offspring?, 3) Are gravid females guided by preference and/or avoidance? 4) Are oviposition choices likely to be based on chemical and/or physical cues? and 5) Is the choice made by a gravid female influenced by her olfactory memory of her larval habitat?

2.3. Methods

2.3.1. Study site

Experiments were carried out at the International Centre for Insect Physiology and Ecology (ICIPE), Mbita, on the shores of Lake Victoria, Western Kenya (geographic coordinates 0° 26' 06.19" South; 34° 12' 53.13" East; altitude 1,137 meters above sea level). Mbita has a typical tropical climate; temperatures oscillate between 18-28 °C and there is an annual rainfall of 1,436 mm (based on data from ICIPE meteorological station for 2010-2012). Two rainy seasons occur annually, the long rainy season between March and June and the short rainy season between October and December. Malaria is endemic in the area and transmitted by three vectors, which are in order of their abundance: *An. arabiensis, An. gambiae s.s.*, and *An. funestus* (Minakawa *et al.* 2012).

2.3.2. Mosquitoes

Open-field trials were conducted with wild anopheline and culicine females that oviposited in tubs of water sunk into the ground. These were colonized within three days. Laboratory experiments were carried out with insectary-reared An. gambiae s.s. (Mbita strain) supplied by ICIPE's insectary and reared following standard operating procedures. Briefly, larvae were reared in round plastic tubs (diameter 0.6 m) filled with water from Lake Victoria and fed Tetramin® fish food twice daily. Larvae were collected randomly from several tubs on the day of experiment. Gravid mosquitoes were prepared by selecting 300 female and 300 male mosquitoes, two to three days old, from their rearing cages at 12.00 h and keeping them in 30×30×30 cm netting cages at 25-28°C and 68-75% relative humidity. To avoid mosquito desiccation, cotton towels (folded to 25x12 cm) were saturated with tap water and placed over the cages. Mosquitoes were starved of sugar for seven hours before blood feeding and allowed to feed on a human arm for 15 minutes at 19.00 h on the same day. Ethical approval from this procedure was obtained from the Observational/Interventions Research Ethics Committee of the London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine (LSHTM Ethics Ref: 8557). After feeding mosquitoes were provided with 6% glucose solution ad *libitum.* A plastic vial (25 ml) with a piece of paper towel folded into a wick was used to provide 10 ml of 6% glucose. The whole procedure was repeated 24 hours later to ensure a high proportion of mosquitoes fully gravid. After the first blood meal unfed female mosquitoes were removed from the cages. Fed female mosquitoes were kept together with males for two days after the second blood meal before using them in an experiment (i.e. females 4 - 5 days after first blood meal). In the afternoon (16.30 h) of the day of an experiment 45-100 (depending on experiment and availability) visually presumed gravid females, that is with an enlarged, pale white abdomen, were selected from the holding cage. A small proportion of these mosquitoes were probably not gravid because most females needed two blood meals to be fully gravid and some are never gravid even after three feeds (Gillies 1958; Lyimo & Takken 1993). Whilst two meals were provided it could not be guaranteed that two meals were taken by all females. This might be the reason that not all mosquitoes exposed to oviposition medium in experiments laid eggs (responded), therefore the number of responders was smaller than the number tested. Non-responders were excluded from the analyses.

2.3.3. Experimental procedures

2.3.3.1. Do gravid An. gambiae s.l. females discriminate between different habitats when searching for an oviposition site?

To explore natural colonization of habitats by wild mosquitoes 20 artificial habitats were created by implanting 20 plastic tubs (40 cm diameter 20 cm deep) into an open-sunlit field during the long rainy season in May 2011. The tubs were placed in four lines of five tubs each 4 m apart (Fillinger, Knols & Becker 2003). Two different substrates were randomly offered in the artificial habitats. Half of the tubs (10) received 30 g of rabbit food pellets (Scooby® rabbit and rodent food, Nairobi) containing hay and grains from maize, wheat, barley, cotton, sunflower, soya bean meal, and traces of molasses, vitamins and minerals. The remaining half of the tubs (10) received 2 kg of dry soil taken from a field at ICIPE. Soil texture was characterized as a silty clay loam according to the United States Department of Agriculture (USDA) texture triangle (Brown) using the detergent method (Whiting *et al.*) to separate and quantify soil mineral particles of different size. A volume of 15 L of non-chlorinated tap water pumped from Lake Victoria, henceforth referred to as tap water, was added to each tub. The two treatments are henceforth referred to as pellet and soil infusion. To study the oviposition response of wild mosquitoes the tubs were monitored daily between 8.00 and 10.00 h by dipping five times per tub with a standard dipper (350 ml). Two different dippers were used for the two treatments to avoid contamination. Four dips were taken from the edge of the tubs and one from the middle. The content of each dip was emptied into a white plastic bowl and all early instars (1st and 2nd stage larvae) counted and recorded for both culicine and anopheline mosquitoes. All larvae and the water were returned to the respective tub. The tubs were followed for 16 days. Artificial habitats were searched for pupae and collected daily to prevent any emergence of potential disease vectors. Pupae were allowed to emerge in cages in the laboratory and any anophelines emerging identified to species using morphological keys (Gillies & De Meillon 1968; Gillies & Coetzee 1987) and for specimens of the *An. gambiae* complex using the ribosomal DNA-polymerase chain reaction (PCR) method (Scott, Brogdon & Collins 1993).

Table 2.1. Summary details of dual choice egg-count bioassays to evaluate oviposition choices in An. gambiae s.s.

Dual choice cage egg-count bioassays sets		No. of rounds (replicat	Total no. of females that laid eggs for all			
	Control	Test	es)	rounds (total number mosquitoes set up)		
Set 1:	tap water	tap water		66 (75)		
Pellet infusions	tap water	2 day old pellet infusion	2	64 (75)		
	tap water	4 day old pellet infusion	5	67 (75)		
	tap water	6 day old pellet infusion		68 (75)		
Set 2:	tap water	tap water		153 (225)		
Soil infusions	tap water	2 day old soil infusion	0	161 (225)		
	tap water	4 day old soil infusion	9	160 (225)		
	tap water	6 day old soil infusion		171 (225)		
Set 3:	tap water	tap water		186 (220)		
Vision versus	tap water 6 day old soil infusion			150 (220)		
olfaction in soil infusions	tap water	autoclaved 6 day old soil	12	157 (220)		
	autoclaved 6 day old	infusion		169 (220)		
	soil infusion	6 day old soil infusion				
Set 4:	Tap water reared An. gambiae females					
Olfactory	tap water	6 day old pellet infusion	1	31 (45)		
infusions	Pellet infusion reared An. gambiae females					
	tap water	6 day old pellet infusion	1	37 (45)		

2.3.3.2. Does the oviposition choice benefit the survival of their offspring?

Larval survival was assessed by introducing individual insectary-reared first instar *An. gambiae s.s.* larvae in infusions collected from the tubs set up in the field. Infusion samples were taken after 1, 6, 11 and 16 days. One hundred ml of infusion was collected from each of the 10 tubs per treatment and pooled per treatment in a plastic bottle. Tap water was used as a control. First instars were introduced in 100 ml plastic cups containing 50 ml of pellet infusion, soil infusion or tap water. Twenty larvae were exposed individually per treatment per day. Larvae were fed every second day with finely ground Tetramin ® Baby fish food. Food was provided with a blunt toothpick that was first wetted in tap water and then dipped quickly, not more than 1 mm deep into the ground food, and then dipped onto the surface of the test water. Larval development was monitored daily and the time of death or time to pupation and emergence recorded. This experiment was implemented under ambient conditions in a semi-field system ($80m^2$) with screened walls and a glass roof (Knols *et al.* 2002).

2.3.3.3. Are gravid females guided by preferences or avoidance?

Based on the analysis of the field data a series of two-choice egg-count bioassays were designed to investigate if the response of wild gravid females observed in the field was based on avoidance or preference of an infusion or both.

Gravid females were selected from insectary cages and transferred individually to 30x30x30 cm cages. In each cage two glass cups (Pyrex®, 100 ml, 70 mm diameter), surrounded by tightly fitting aluminium cylinders, so that mosquitoes could see only the water surface, were filled with 100 ml of either the control or test medium and placed in diagonal corners of the cage. Prior to use cups and cylinders were cleaned with detergent, then autoclaved and kept in an oven at 200°C for at least two hours. The position of oviposition cups containing the test medium was alternated between adjacent cages to control for possible position effect. The placement of the first test cup was randomly allocated for one of the four cage corners in the first cage. Subsequent test cups were rotated in the next possible corners in a clockwise direction relative to the position of the preceding cup. One control cup was added in each cage diagonal to the test cup to complete a two choice set up. The experiments were carried out in makeshift sheds (Figure 2.1) that exposed the mosquitoes to ambient light, temperature and relative humidity but protected the cages from rain.



Figure 2.1. Location of egg-count bioassays. A. Sheds (10 m long \times 5 m wide \times 2.8 m high) with walls made of reed mats and a roof made of translucent corrugated polycarbonate sheets. B. Interior of a shed. In each shed two tables hold up to 25 standard cages each, allowing 40 cm of space between adjacent cages.

Two sets of experiments were carried out consecutively (Table 2.1, Set 1 and 2). In the first set oviposition choice was evaluated for 2, 4 and 6 day old pellet infusions compared with tap water. In the second set the oviposition choice was evaluated for 2, 4 and 6 day old soil infusions compared with tap water. In both sets of experiments internal controls were used to validate the two choice experiment. Here equal numbers of cages were set up where both cups in a cage contained tap water and were labelled randomly as control and test cup, assuming that gravid females lay eggs in both cups in an equal proportion.

Infusions were prepared in a similar way as for the field tests. Fifteen litres of tap water were either incubated with 30 g of pellets to prepare a pellet infusion or incubated with 2 kg of soil to prepare a soil infusion. Infusions were prepared in a plastic tub (40 cm diameter 20 cm depth) 6 days, 4 days and 2 days before the day of experiment in order to test all ages in parallel. Tubs were covered with mosquito proof netting and kept in makeshift sheds at ambient conditions but protected from rain. Experiments were implemented over 3-9 rounds depending on the availability of gravid females and the response rate per round (Table 1) with fresh batches of infusions and different batches of mosquitoes for every round. On the day of experiment infusions were sieved through a clean piece of cotton cloth to remove large debris remaining from the pellets or soil.

Fifteen to 25 replicate cages per treatment were set up per round. A single gravid female was introduced per cage at 17.30 h. The next morning between 8.00- 9.00 h the absence or presence and the number of eggs was recorded for the control and test cup in each cage.

Turbidity, conductivity, dissolved oxygen and pH were measured in five cups per treatment in four different batches of pellet, soil infusions, and tap water using a turbidity meter (TURB 355IR, WTW Germany) and a multimeter (Multi 340i, WTW, Germany). In addition one batch of pellet, soil infusion and tap water was tested for Ammonium (NH₄+), carbonate hardness, total hardness, nitrate (NO₃⁻), nitrite (NO₂⁻) and phosphate (PO₄³⁻) content using Aquamerck® test kits from the compact laboratory for water testing (Aquamerck® No.111151, Germany).

2.3.3.4 Are oviposition choices likely to be based on chemical cues?

Soil infusions differed strongly in colour and turbidity from tap water. To assess if the oviposition response observed was based on visual or chemical cues a third set of dual choice egg-count bioassays were implemented with six day old soil infusions (Table 2.1, Set 3) comparing the relative attractiveness of autoclaved and non-autoclaved infusion (Sumba *et al.* 2004; Ponnusamy *et al.* 2011). The experiment followed the same experimental procedures as described above. After filtering the infusion through a cloth on the day of experiment, the infusion was split in two equal volumes and half autoclaved at 120°C for 20 minutes to kill bacteria potentially involved in releasing oviposition semiochemicals (Sumba *et al.* 2004; Ponnusamy *et al.* 2004; Ponnusamy *et al.* 2010b) and to reduce the amount of volatile chemicals from the solution whilst maintaining the colour and turbidity of the infusion. After autoclaving the infusion versus tap water, autoclaved six day old soil infusion versus tap water and for autoclaved versus non-autoclaved six days old infusion.

In order to confirm that autoclaving sterilized the infusion, samples (1 ml) of both infusions were taken for bacterial cultures. Samples were serially diluted (tenfold) two times in distilled water. After dilution, 100 μ l of each of the x1 (undiluted), x10⁻¹ and x10⁻² dilutions was spread separately onto the surface of duplicate Lysogeny Broth (LB) agar-plates (LB Lennox-Fisher Scientific) (Bertani 2004). Plates were incubated overnight at 30°C and the presence of colonies recorded.

The same physical and chemical parameters were measured for the autoclaved infusion as described above for the non-autoclaved pellet and soil infusions.

2.3.3.5. Is the choice made by the gravid female influenced by her olfactory memory of her larval habitat?

A fourth set of experiments (Table 2. 1, Set 4) was designed to assess the possibility that a gravid female's choice for an oviposition site might be influenced by her olfactory memory of her larval habitat, as has been suggested for culicine species (McCall & Eaton 2001; Kaur, Lai & Giger 2003).

To test this, approximately 2000 *An. gambiae s.s.* eggs were dispensed in 1.5 L of twoday old pellet infusion and another 2000 eggs in tap water and reared under the same conditions to the adult stage. The infusion and tap water in the rearing pans was replaced every two days with fresh two-day-old infusion or tap water until all surviving larvae pupated. Larvae were fed with Tetramin® fish food twice daily following routine insectary procedures. Pupae were collected in a cup with 100 ml of rearing water and placed in 30x30x30 cm cages for emergence. Gravid females for cage bioassays were obtained as described above.

Dual choice cage bioassays were carried out in parallel with gravid *An. gambiae s.s.* reared in the infusion and gravid *An. gambiae s.s.* reared in tap water. A single mosquito was offered a choice between six-day-old pellet infusion or tap water. Forty-five replicates were set up in parallel for both treatment groups as described above.

2.3.4. Sample size considerations

The sample size (number of responders) in the four sets of cage experiments differed for a number of reasons. Due to adverse climate conditions affecting the mosquito supply during the pellet infusion bioassays the production of colony-reared mosquitoes was low. Nevertheless, two-sample comparison of proportions power calculation showed that 66 responders in each arm in the pellet infusion bioassays (Table 2.1, set 1) was sufficient to detect a 23% increase or decrease in the proportion of eggs laid in the treatment compared with the tap water only experiment with 80% power at the 5% level of significance. The effect of the pellet infusion observed on oviposition response was much stronger than 23%. In the soil infusion experiments (Table 2.1, Set 2 and Set 3), a minimum of 150 responders in each arm were analysed. This was sufficient to detect a 15% increase or decrease in the proportion of eggs laid in the treatment as compared to the tap water only experiment at the same power and significance level. This level of accuracy was deemed appropriate for investigating significant behavioural cues affecting the oviposition choice. The evaluation of olfactory memory required the mosquitoes to be reared in pellet infusion where larval mortality was nearly 98%. Therefore, only 45 females could be tested, out of which only 31 and 37 responded in the two treatments. (table 2.1, Set 4). The hypothesis for this experiment was that the preference of gravid females could be changed and therefore at least double the proportion of eggs laid in pellet infusion by infusion reared females as compared to the tap water reared females. With 31 responders in each arm the experiment was powered (80%) to detect a change in the proportion of 35%.

2.3.5 Statistical analyses

All data were analysed in R statistical software version 2.13.1 (R Development Core Team 2011). The one sample proportion test function was used to estimate the 95% confidence intervals (CI) for the proportion of larvae surviving in pellet infusion, soil infusion and tap water. Pupation time of larvae exposed to different treatments was calculated using the following formula: (Ax1)+(Bx2)+(Cx3)...(Gx10)/Total number of pupae collected, where A, B, C...G are the number of pupae collected on day 1,2,3 to 10. Dual choice egg-count bioassays were analysed using generalized linear models (glmfunction) with a quasibinomial distribution fitted to account for the overdispersion. In the first three sets of experiments the proportion of eggs laid in test cups in the cages with equal treatments (tap water in both cups) were compared with the proportion of eggs laid in test cups in cages with two different treatments. It was hypothesised that gravid females presented with an identical treatment would lay in both cups in an approximately equal proportion (p=0.5). The statistical analysis aimed to reveal if the test treatment of interest (e.g. infusions of different age) received an increased or decreased proportion of the total number of eggs laid when compared to the tap water only treatment. Therefore, the treatment choice (e g. tap water only cages, cages with infusion versus tap water) and the round of experiment were included as fixed factors to analyse their impact on the outcome (proportion of eggs laid in test cup). A similar analysis was used for the fourth set of experiments to compare the proportion of eggs laid in test cups (pellet infusion) by gravid females that were reared in hay infusion during their larval development compared to the proportion of eggs laid in test cups by gravid females that were reared in tap water. The mean proportion of eggs laid in test cups in different treatments and their 95% CIs were calculated as the exponential of the parameter estimates for models with no intercept included. Similarly, multiple comparisons of treatments were calculated based on the model parameter estimates.

2.4 Results

2.4.1. Gravid *An. gambiae s.l.* females discriminate between habitats when searching for an oviposition site

Mosquitoes oviposited in the artificial ponds shortly after they had been set up since early instar larvae were found from day three and larvae hatch approximately 24-48 hours after eggs are laid. Ponds with pellet infusion were colonized exclusively and in high densities by culicine mosquitoes. No anopheline larvae were detected over the 16 day observation period. In sharp contrast, early instar anophelines were consistently found from day 3 to day 16 in the soil infusion ponds (Figure 2.2). Based on the pattern of larval abundance, peak oviposition occurred 6-10 days after setting up the ponds. Anophelines nearly always occurred in higher densities than culicines. Anopheline larval densities are naturally relatively low, with approximately 1-3 larvae/dip in natural habitats in the study area (Fillinger *et al.* 2004). In the present study an average of 10 (95% CI 5-18) early instar larvae/dip was recorded, indicating that the soil infusion ponds were a highly favourable habitat.

All pupae collected from the artificial habitats belonged to the *Anopheles gambiae* complex. PCR-based species analysis revealed that nearly all the wild *An. gambiae s.l.* were *An. arabiensis* (98%, 49/50).



Figure 2.2. Natural colonization of artificial habitats. Daily average of early instar larvae in (A) Pellet infusions (B) Soil infusions.

2.4.2. The female's choice of oviposition site benefits the survival of her offspring

Anopheles gambiae s.s. larvae survived equally well in soil infusion and tap water irrespective of the age of the infusion. In contrast, larvae placed in pellet infusion only survived in the one day old infusion in similar numbers but survival was reduced by over 60% (P<0.001) in pellet infusions six days and older compared with tap water or soil infusions of the same age (Figure 2.3). Mean pupation time for survivors did not significantly differ between treatments or ages of the infusion and was on average 7.5 days (95% CI 6.6-8.3).



Figure 2.3. Survival of *An. gambiae s.s.* larvae to the pupal stage kept in different infusions or tap water. Error bars show 95% confidence intervals.

2.4.3. Gravid female *An. gambiae s.s.* show avoidances and preferences when selecting an oviposition site

An approximately equal proportion of females laid eggs in test and control cups when a choice of tap water in two separate cups was provided. Fewer females laid their eggs in pellet infusion as it aged, whilst for soil infusion the opposite was the case with an increasing proportion of females laying eggs in soil infusion as it aged.

Similar results were seen for the proportions of eggs laid. The distribution of eggs between tap water and two day old pellet infusion did not significantly differ from the distribution between the two cups with tap water only. Pellet water however became unattractive from day 4 (Figure 2.4). It was 85% less likely for an egg to be laid in the test cup in the treatments that contained six-day-old pellet infusion versus tap water than it was when both cups contained tap water. In contrast to the pellet infusion, larger proportions of eggs were laid in the test cups with increasing age of the soil infusion. An egg was more than twice as likely to be laid in the test cup in the treatments that contained six-day-old soil infusions compared with tap water than it was when both cups contained tap water (Figure 2.4).



Figure 2.4. Proportion of gravid *An. gambiae s.s.* laying eggs in infusions of different ages compared with control water. (A) Pellet infusion experiment (B) Soil infusion experiment. Dark line in the middle of the boxes represents the median response rate of the gravid females to the test cup.

On average, individual females laid 63 eggs (95% CI 60-65) (Figure 2.5) irrespective of the experiment and treatment. Notably, 18% (95% CI 11-26%) of gravid females laid eggs in both cups provided in a cage, a behaviour known as skip oviposition in other mosquito species (Colton, Chadee & Severson 2003) but rarely reported for *An. gambiae s.s.* (Chen, Fillinger & Yan 2006). The average number of eggs laid by skip-ovipositing females and by females that chose only a single cup was similar. Whilst the percentage of skip-ovipositing females was similar in all treatments with two equal tap water

choices and in all soil infusion treatments this behaviour was affected by the pellet infusion. Only a few An. gambiae s.s. females skip-oviposited in the four and six day old pellet infusion treatments (6%, 95% CI 3-9%).

Treatments	Lake water	Infusion	Odds ratio (95 %CI)	p-value	Eggs per female (95%CI)
Lake water			1 ^a	-	67 (61-73)
2 day pellet infusion			0.97 (0.50-1.90) ^a	0.934	66 (60-72)
4 day pellet infusion	-	F	0.42 (0.21-0.82) ^b	0.012	67 (62-74)
6 day pellet infusion			0.15 (0.06-0.32) ^c	< 0.001	67 (61-73)
Lake water			1 a	-	59 (54-65)
2 day soil infusion			1.31 (0.86-2.01) ^{al}	0.208	61 (57-67)
4 day soil infusion			1.55 (1.01-2.37) ^b	° 0.046	63 (58-69)
6 day soil infusion			2.21 (1.43-3.43) ^c	< 0.001	61 (56-66)
		1			
Lake water			1 a	-	60 (57-63)
Autoclaved 6 day soil infusion			0.68 (0.47-0.98) ^b	0.037	65 (59-70)
6 day soil infusion			2.24 (1.53-3.28) ^c	< 0.001	66 (61-72)
Autoclaved 6 day soil infusion/			2.60 (1.75-3.86) ^c	< 0.001	66 (61-72)
6 day soil infusion $1.0 0.8 ($	0.6 0.4 0.2	0 0.2 0.4 0.6	0.8 1.0		
	Proportion	of one laid			

Proportion of eggs laid

Figure 2.5. Oviposition response of caged An. gambiae s.s. to pellet and soil infusions of different incubation times and non-autoclaved and autoclaved 6 day soil infusion. P values are given for comparisons between treatments containing lake water in both cups with treatments that contained infusion in the test cup. Multiple comparison of treatments for each set of experiments: Treatments denoted with the same letter are not significantly different.

Pellet and soil infusions differed in key physical and chemical parameters. All pellet infusions had a strong smell to the human nose, were low in turbidity and had a slightly green colour but differed little in appearance compared with tap water in the oviposition cups. In contrast, soil infusions did not have any smell to the human nose, were light brown in colour and turbid, providing a strong visual contrast to the tap water. Pellet infusions were also characterized by relatively high conductivity, low pH and oxygen deprivation. In contrast conductivity of soil infusions was approximately half that of pellet infusions, was saturated with dissolved oxygen and had a higher pH (Table 2.2). The variability of these measures between infusions of different incubation times within a treatment group was relatively low and does not appear to explain the differences in the behavioural responses. The only factor that changed over time was turbidity in the soil infusion and notably the most preferred six day old infusion was less turbid than the others.

The increased carbon and total hardness of the pellet infusion corresponded with the increased conductivity levels and the high ammonium and phosphate levels compared with the soil infusion (Table 2.2).

2.4.4. Chemical cues from the infusions are responsible for the oviposition choice in cage bioassays

Since soil infusions differed in appearance from the tap water, an additional set of experiments was carried out to evaluate whether the attractiveness of this infusion was due to visual cues. Cage experiments with two equal choices of tap water confirmed an equal distribution of eggs between control and test cup. Notably, when gravid females had a choice between tap water and autoclaved soil infusion a slight avoidance of the autoclaved infusion was observed (Figure 2.4). The autoclaving may have altered some chemical properties of the infusion accounting for this slight repellent effect.

The oviposition preference for six day old soil infusion compared with tap water was also confirmed in this set of experiments with nearly identical odds ratios as before of 2.2. The preference for the six day old infusion was confirmed when given a choice between autoclaved and non-autoclaved infusions of similar colour and turbidity. The odds of an egg being laid in the six day old infusion when provided with autoclaved infusion of the same age as an alternative choice was approximately 40% higher (2.6) than it was when the alternative was tap water (2.2). This increase can be explained by the repellent effect of the autoclaved infusion which in addition to the pulling effect of the soil infusion now adds a pushing effect of the autoclaved infusion. Nevertheless, the difference in the two odds ratios was not significant.

	Oviposition substrates in choice experiments							
		Pellet infusions			Soil infusions			
Parameter	Tap water	2 days	4 days	6 days	2 days	4 days	6 days	Auto- claved
Turbidity	1	22	17	25	222	97	73	137 (108-
(NTU)	(0.6-1.4)	(20-23)	(14-19)	(20-29)	(197-248)	(92-102)	(61-84)	166)
Conductivity (uS/cm)	107 (105- 110)	477 (462- 491)	553 (547- 559)	543 (532- 555)	173 (171-176)	207 (203- 212)	237 (233- 242)	266 (258- 274)
Dissolved	4	0.3 (0.21-	0.7	0.3	5.3	6	6.3	4.8
oxygen (mg/1)	(2.7-3.3)	1.4)	(0.9-1.4)	(0.2-0.4)	(3.0-3.6)	(3.7-0.3)	(0.0-0.0)	(4.0-3.1)
	8.1	6.3	6.7	7.4	7.7	7.9	8	8.9
pH	(7.9-8.1)	(6.2-6.3)	(6.5-6.9)	(7.3-7.5)	(7.6-7.7)	(7.8-7.9)	(7.9-8.0)	(8.8-8.9)
Ammonium (mg/l)	0			5			0	0
Nitrate (mg/l)	10			10			10	10
Nitrite (mg/l)	0			0			0.025	0.025
Phosphate (mg/l)	0			3			1.5	1.5
Carbonate hardness (mmol/l)	0.1			3.9			2.7	2.5
Total hardness	0.1			1.5			0.7	0.7

Results from this set of experiments suggest that chemical cues are involved in the oviposition responses observed. If the preference for the 6 day old soil infusion over tap water was based on turbidity and/or colour of the infusion alone a similar response in the choice tests with autoclaved versus non-autoclaved infusion should have been seen as in the choice tests with tap water versus autoclaved infusion. Due to the slight repellence of the autoclaved infusion the odds of finding an egg in the non-autoclaved six day old infusion should have been approximately 1.3 (decreased choice for autoclaved infusion by 30% or increased choice of fresh infusion by 30%). Nevertheless, the remaining odds of 2.2 can only be explained by chemical cues being either involved in attracting the female from a short distance or stimulating the female to lay eggs on contact with water. Physical and chemical water parameters were similar for autoclaved and non-autoclaved soil infusions. Bacteria cultures from autoclaved infusions confirmed that samples did

not contain any bacteria that could grow on LA plates as opposed to the non-autoclaved infusion where colonies of at least 3 different morphologies were observed.

2.4.4. The oviposition choice of the gravid female is not influenced by her olfactory memory of her larval habitat

Rearing *An. gambiae s.s.* in two to four day old pellet infusion did not alter their oviposition response towards the infusion (P=0.392). Gravid females reared in tap water and gravid females reared in pellet infusion show an equally strong avoidance of the six day old pellet infusion provided in choice experiments.



Figure 2.6. Egg laying responses of *An. gambiae s.s.* reared in tap water or in pellet infusion to tap water and pellet infusion.

2.5 Discussion

The results confirm that wild and caged *An. gambiae s.l.* females can discriminate between potential aquatic habitats for oviposition and make clear choices when presented with contrasting oviposition media. These choices benefit the survival of the offspring. Although the experimental design does not allow to conclude whether the stimuli acted over a distance (attractants and repellents (Dethier, Barton & Smith 1960)) or on contact with the oviposition medium (stimulants and deterrents (Isoe, Millar & Beehler 1995)) it could be demonstrated that the choice of breeding site is guided by both avoidance and preference. The exclusive way however, in which the artificial ponds were chosen in the field, where they were set up relatively close to each other, suggest

that these characteristics were detected by both culicines and anophelines from a distance rather than on contact.

Muddy water has previously been suggested to increase oviposition response of gravid An. gambiae s.s. in cages when offered together with clear water (McCrae 1984), however here presented cage experiments could not confirm this observation. The difference in turbidity between tap water and infusions cannot explain the avoidance and preference observed at short range in the cages. Two day and 6 day old pellet infusions did not differ in their turbidity but significantly differed in the oviposition response they elicited. Similarly, all soil infusions should have elicited equally strong responses from gravid females if turbidity was an important oviposition cue at short range. On the contrary, the six day old soil infusion remained equally preferred for oviposition when tested against a turbid and autoclaved infusion than when tested against clear tap water. The results suggest that chemical and not visual cues were responsible for the responses observed in the cage experiments. The previously published preference of muddy water (McCrae 1984) may have been based on chemical cues associated with the muddy water which was taken from a natural habitat. The possibility however, that visual cues played a role in the selection of oviposition sites by wild mosquitoes in field experiments especially when searching for water bodies from a distance cannot be entirely excluded.

It is likely that the chemical cues used by mosquitoes to avoid pellet infusions and to prefer soil infusions were of microbial origin, which is supported by the lack of attraction of the autoclaved soil infusion compared to clear tap water. It is most likely that the observed oviposition choices were rooted in the water quality of the habitat and consequently the associated microorganisms and chemicals in the water. The physical and chemical water parameters measured for the two infusions suggest that they represented aquatic habitats in different stages of decay. Contrary to the expectation at the onset of the experiment, pellet infusions created a habitat type in a severe state of decomposition. High ammonia and phosphate levels are characteristic of recently inundated organic material (Palmer 2002). The odour of the pellet infusion is associated with fermentation of organic material by facultative and anaerobic bacteria. This leads to depletion of the oxygen supply and a decrease in pH as a result of accumulation of organic acids in the water (Gerhardt 1959; Sigee 2005; Cunha et al. 2010). The soil infusion had the characteristics of a less nutrient rich habitat containing relatively little organic matter. This limits the removal of oxygen by aerobic heterotrophic microorganisms and hence the water column will stay aerobic (Sigee 2005).

Anaerobic fermentation products of organic matter have been previously shown to be highly attractive to a number of gravid culicine species such as *Culex stigmatosoma* (formerly *peus*) (Gerhardt 1959), *Culex quinqefasciatus* (Kramer & Mulla 1979; Millar, Chaney & Mulla 1992; Mboera *et al.* 1999; Burkett-Cadena & Mullen 2007; McPhatter & Debboun 2009), *Culex pipiens* (Jackson *et al.* 2005a), *Aedes agypti* (Santana, Roque & Eiras 2006; Ponnusamy *et al.* 2010b) and *Aedes albopictus* (Trexler, Apperson & Schal 1998; Zhang & Lei 2008). These infusions have been associated with a range of bacteria such as *Aerobacter aerogenes, Pseudomona aeruginosa, Bacillus cereus* (Hazard, Mayer & Savage 1967; Ikeshoji, Saito & Yano 1975; Hasselschwert & Rockett 1988) and volatile chemicals produced by them including 4-methylphenol, 3-methylindole, carboxylic acids and their methyl esters (Millar, Chaney & Mulla 1992; Allan & Kline 1995; Trexler *et al.* 2003a; Ponnusamy *et al.* 2008a). It is likely that similar factors were responsible for the strong repellent/deterrent effect on gravid *An. gambiae s.l.* females.

Most stagnant water bodies will show increasing signs of decomposition over time but the speed and extent of this will depend largely on habitat quality (Ruppel, Setty & Wu 2004). Therefore, it is argued that habitat age or permanence alone is not a good predictor for the oviposition response of An. gambiae s.l. as has been suggested (Munga, Vulule & Kweka 2013). For example the content and input of organic matter, source of water and frequency of fresh water inflow will affect the composition of the biotic community and chemical and physical characteristics of an aquatic habitat (Palmer 2002; Ruppel, Setty & Wu 2004; Sigee 2005). This might explain why in some environments semi-permanent and permanent habitats are just as well colonised as temporary habitats traditionally thought to be the preferred An. gambiae s.l. habitats (Gillies & De Meillon 1968; Fillinger et al. 2004; Minakawa et al. 2012). Habitats made of pellet infusion were avoided by anophelines from an early habitat age, whilst interestingly, the highest preference of the soil infusion was recorded on day six in the laboratory and between day six and 10 in the field after the habitats were well established, contradicting the idea that An. gambiae s.l. is a pioneer species colonizing temporary habitats immediately after their occurrence (Gillies & De Meillon 1968).

Typically, it is reported that *An. gambiae s.l.*, although largely a generalist, is not found in heavily polluted waters (Symes 1940; Holstein 1954). Hancock (Hancock 1930) further observed that *An. gambiae s.l.* avoided water with a low pH when it was also

accompanied with high organic matter content. Addition of freshly cut vegetation (i.e. grass cuttings) to aquatic habitats has also been shown to prevent the larval development of *An. gambiae s.l.* [16]. The results from the experiments with pellet infusions support these observations. On the other hand, there have been recent reports of *An. gambiae s.l.* colonizing polluted habitats especially in urban areas (Awolola *et al.* 2007; Castro *et al.* 2010; Kudom, Mensah & Agyemang 2012). Clearly, the degree of avoidance or acceptance of a polluted habitat by *An. gambiae s.l.* depends on the extent and nature of pollution (Holstein 1954). Results show that two-day-old pellet infusions were not rejected by anophelines and even four-day-old infusions still received a considerable proportion of the oviposition responses despite their adverse water characteristics. This supports the idea that *An. gambiae s.l.* has a very high tolerance level of what they accept as oviposition sites, especially in the absence of better alternatives in close vicinity as is often the case in urban environments and in contrast to the here presented field experiment where good habitats were offered right next to the unfavoured ones.

Importantly, *An. gambiae s.l.* appears to have an innate propensity to avoid specific chemical cues that were emitted from the pellet infusion. Rearing *An. gambiae s.s.* from egg to pupae in this infusion did not alter this behaviour. Gravid females that had experienced the pellet infusion during larval development avoided the infusion for oviposition as much as the females that had no prior experience of it. This suggests that the environment in which *An. gambiae s.s.* develop as larvae does not determine the preferred oviposition site when they return to lay eggs. This is in contrast to published work on *Cx. quinquefasciatus* where it was demonstrated that rearing the larvae in an infusion made from guinea-pig faeces cancelled their innate preference for a hay infusion (McCall & Eaton 2001).

The cage bioassays with individual gravid females allowed a number of interesting observations that are rarely reported since the majority of studies with *An. gambiae s.s.* have been done with groups of mosquitoes where the actual number of females laying per cage is unknown (McCrae 1984). The occurrence of skip oviposition in gravid *An. gambiae s.s.* and how this is affected by chemical cues was demonstrated. Furthermore, the design revealed that the mean number of eggs laid per female in a cage was similar irrespective of the experiment and treatment; only the distribution between cups differed when two different choices were presented. This indicates that gravid females did not retain their eggs in the presence of an unfavoured substrate when they were offered a suitable alternative choice. It also shows that the preferred soil infusion did not stimulate

individual females to lay more eggs than they would do in tap water. Testing individual females also excludes potential aggregation effects. Whilst from the field experiments it might have been possible that gravid females selected habitats that already received eggs from conspecific females, cage bioassays with individual females showed the same avoidance and preference behaviour than observed in the field confirming that conspecifics alone cannot explain the observed choice.

The potential involvement of microbial activity in breaking down organic matter and producing semiochemicals that impact on the oviposition responses of gravid *An.* gambiae s.s. was deduced partly by the lack of attraction of *An. gambiae s.s.* to a sterile soil infusion. This must however be interpreted with caution since autoclaving the infusion might not only have killed the microbes but affected the chemistry of the resulting infusion, possibly altering the response of gravid mosquitoes by chemical changes rather than biological changes (Ponnusamy *et al.* 2010b).

Batch-to-batch variations were recorded in the response of gravid mosquitoes to the infusions, resulting for example in some rounds showing a high preference and other rounds only a moderate preference for the soil infusion. This variation can be attributed to differences in the quality and amounts of odorants released from the infusions and stochastic events. Fresh infusions were prepared for every test round with different batches of pellets and soil. Especially, for the soil it is highly likely that there were differences in the soil condition as well as differences in the species composition of the microbial community associated with the natural materials over time. It has been previously shown that natural infusions can be an inconsistent source of odorants for oviposition site seeking mosquitoes and therefore every batch needs to be verified to be behaviourally active before it can be used for subsequent experiments (Ponnusamy et al. 2010b). Ideally, if semiochemicals were to be used for monitoring and/or controlling gravid malaria vectors specific chemically defined oviposition cues would be preferred over natural infusions to ensure a consistent response in gravid females either pushing them away from human population (Seenivasagan et al. 2010; Siriporn & Mayura 2012) or pulling them towards a gravid trap (Seenivasagan et al. 2009; Seenivasagan, Sharma & Prakash 2012).

Whilst the observed avoidance behaviour towards the organically rich pellet infusion was strong and in the same range as reported for other species in response to unfavourable chemical cues (Seenivasagan *et al.* 2010; Siriporn & Mayura 2012;

Tennyson *et al.* 2012), the observed preference in the cages for the soil infusion was relatively weak and it is questionable whether it could compete with other suitable habitats from a larger distance. Nevertheless, consistent response derived from over 150 replicates in two experiments represents likely a genuine effect. Further investigations are in progress to characterize the bacteria communities associated with the infusions and the volatile chemicals emitted from the infusions and detected by gravid *An. gambiae s.s.* using gas-chromatography coupled to mass-spectrometry and coupled gas chromatography-electroantennogram detection.

It must be cautioned that not all soils and all rabbit food pellets will lead to the same physical and chemical parameters than the here presented infusions. Therefore the two infusions of this study only serve as specific examples for two highly contrasting media. Further work is needed to screen other soil samples to see if the observed response is a response common for all soil infusions prepared under standard conditions and if the same bacteria and chemical profiles can be detected, or, which is more likely, that there are significant differences depending on the source of the soil.

2.6 Conclusion

This work illustrates that a gravid *An. gambiae s.l.* female selects a suitable habitat for oviposition using chemical cues from water bodies. It furthermore emphasises that natural infusions can be used to manipulate the oviposition behaviour of *An. gambiae s.l.*. Soil infusions have the potential to be used to bait gravid traps for the collection of *An. gambiae s.l.*, although further work must be carried out to determine whether the observed preference was based on the specific soil type tested or whether similar responses can be achieved with any soil. The low *An. gambiae s.l.* catching efficacy reported for gravid traps operationally used for *Culex* and *Aedes* monitoring might partly be explained by the infusions routinely used in these traps i.e. fermented hay infusions, rabbit food pellet and cow manure infusions (Lewis 1974; Lampman & Novak 1996; Jackson *et al.* 2005b). The identification of the chemicals responsible for the preference of the soil infusion might be exploited to bait gravid traps specifically for the collection *An. gambiae s.l.*.

Chapter 3 Do volatile chemicals of microbial origin from natural *Anopheles gambiae s.s.* breeding site increase oviposition responses?



Manuela Herrera-Varela, Jenny Lindh, Steve W. Lindsay,

Ulrike Fillinger

London School of Hygiene & Tropical Medicine Keppel Street, London WC1E 7HT www.lshtm.ac.uk



Registry T: +44(0)20 7299 4646 F: +44(0)20 7299 4656 E: registry@lshtm.ac.uk

COVER SHEET FOR EACH 'RESEARCH PAPER' INCLUDED IN A RESEARCH THESIS

Please be aware	that one co	ver sheet m	ust be comple	ted for each	'Research Paper'	included in a
thesis.						

1. For a 'research paper' already published

	1.1.	Where was the work published?
	1.2.	When was the work published?
		1.2.1. If the work was published prior to registration for your research degree, give a brief rationale for its inclusion
	1.3.	Was the work subject to academic peer review?
	1.4.	Have you retained the copyright for the work? Yes / No If yes, please attach evidence of retention. If no, or if the work is being included in its published format, please attach evidence of permission from copyright holder (publisher or other author) to include work
2.	For	a 'research paper' prepared for publication but not yet published
	2.1.	Where is the work intended to be published?
	2.2.	Please list the paper's authors in the intended authorship order
	<u>Ma</u> 2.3.	nuela Herrera-Varela, Jenny Lindh, Steven Lindsay, Ulrike Fillinger Stage of publication – <u>Not yet submitted</u> / Submitted / Undergoing revision from peer reviewers' comments / In press
3.	For the I	multi-authored work, give full details of your role in the research included in the paper and in preparation of the paper. (Attach a further sheet if necessary) contributed significantly in the conception and experimental design.
	I	developed all protocols and implemented the experiments, analysed the
	ua	MANUFERE MANUELA HERERERA VARELA
ST		
CA	NUIL	Date 05/01/2015

U. At Muije SUPERVISOR/SENIOR AUTHOR'S SIGNATURE (3 above) ...

Improving health worldwide

www.lshtm.ac.uk

....

the

3.1 Abstract

Background: Metabolites of bacterial origin serve as chemical cues for some *Aedes* and *Culex* species in their selection of aquatic habitat as oviposition site. Consequently, it has been suggested that similar cues are used by Afro-tropical malaria vectors however the empirical evidence is limited. Here we sought to test the hypothesis that the presence of microbial organisms in a larval habitat and the volatile chemicals they produce are used by gravid *Anopheles gambiae sensu stricto* (*s.s.*) for habitat selection.

Methods: Egg-laying response of gravid females was compared in two choice egg-count bioassays to (i) substrates made of distilled water and fresh soil versus distilled water and versus sterilized soil and distilled water (sterilization was done by autoclaving in polyethylene (PE) bags and in glass for comparison) and (ii) to fresh and sterilized water from a natural *Anopheles* breeding site. Dynamic headspace collection and solid phase micro extraction were carried out to trap volatile chemicals released from test substrates. Gas-chromatography coupled with mass-spectrometry was used to identify volatile compounds and to analyse any association between behavioural observations and chemicals released from the oviposition substrates.

Results: Eight times more *Anopheles gambiae s.s.* females laid eggs in substrates prepared from fresh soil when given a choice to lay in soil autoclaved in PE bags (P<0.001). No preference was however, shown when infusions from fresh soil and soil sterilized in glass were offered as oviposition choices (p=0.496). When offered a choice between soil sterilized in PE bags and distilled water, seven times more females laid eggs in distilled water (p<0.001), while the females did not show any preference for either distilled water or infusion with soil autoclaved in glass flasks (p = 0.057). Gravid females did not show any preference for fresh habitat water and laid equally in fresh and sterilized water (p=0.379). Headspace analyses showed that autoclaving soil in PE bags added a large number of volatiles from the headspace, whilst autoclaving in glass added a large number of volatiles compared to the fresh sample. Similarly, micro-filtered water sample. Comparison of the chromatograms did not suggest that key chemicals were removed from the sample by removing micro-organisms.

Conclusions: Whilst the volatile headspaces of oviposition substrates were modified by the sterilization method, no evidence was found that the removal of microorganisms changed the volatiles released from the substrates and consequently the oviposition

response. Elimination of microorganisms from soil and water collected from a natural *Anopheles* larval habitat did not affect the oviposition choice of gravid *An. gambiae s.s.*. However, soil substrates prepared from soil autoclaved in PE bags were avoided for oviposition possibly due to the absence of any chemical cue released from this substrate.

3.2 Background

Knowledge of the oviposition behaviour of mosquitoes is restricted to a few species of the genera *Culex* and *Aedes* that have been extensively studied due their important role in arbovirus transmission (Sardelis *et al.* 2001; Turell *et al.* 2001; Goddard *et al.* 2002). Gravid traps have been successfully developed for surveillance of these species that are particularly attracted to oviposition sites with high organic matter content (Reiter 1983; Reiter 1986; Allan & Kline 2004). Consequently, a range of fermented infusions made from various plants were identified to attract gravid females (Gjullin, Johnson & Plapp 1965; Millar, Chaney & Mulla 1992; Allan & Kline 1995; Isoe *et al.* 1995; Santana, Roque & Eiras 2006). Evidence has been provided that volatile microbial metabolites are the cues responsible for the attraction (Hazard, Mayer & Savage 1967; Bentley *et al.* 1979; Hwang, Kramer & Mulla 1980; Ponnusamy *et al.* 2010a).

Subsequently, it has been hypothesized that the African malaria vector *Anopheles gambiae s.l.* also selects oviposition sites based on metabolites produced by microbes living in the water or soil of a potential larval habitat. However, little data exists to support this hypothesis (Sumba *et al.* 2004; Huang *et al.* 2006a; Lindh *et al.* 2008).

The first study investigating this question (Sumba *et al.* 2004) compared the oviposition response in two choice cage bioassays of gravid *An. gambiae s.s.* females to sterile and non-sterile substrates made from soil and water collected from a semi-permanent *Anopheles* breeding site on the shores of Lake Victoria in Western Kenya. On average mosquitoes laid 3 times more eggs in unmodified substrates than in sterilized ones. The authors conclude "that microbial populations in breeding sites produce volatiles that serve as semiochemicals for gravid *An. gambiae*" (Sumba *et al.* 2004). The authors however could not restore the attractiveness towards a sterile substrate after inoculation with bacterial suspensions isolated from the water and soil. Later, nine species of bacteria isolated from the soil and water used in the previous study were identified (Lindh *et al.* 2008). These bacterial isolates were tested individually in two choice cage bioassays to assess the oviposition preferences of *An. gambiae s.s.* In these assays higher egg numbers were reported in response to five of the nine isolates (Lindh *et al.* 2008).

These two studies are to date the only published evidence that bacteria derived volatile chemicals are involved in attracting gravid females or stimulating egg-laying in *Anopheles gambiae s.s.*.

When however the previous isolates from Lindh (Lindh *et al.* 2008) stored in glycerine were tested recently, the original response could not be replicated, conversely some of those previously described to induce increased egg-laying were now avoided (Lindh, personal communication). A third study, also conducted in western Kenya (Huang *et al.* 2006a), tested a mixture of cultured bacteria also isolated from a natural larval habitat against bacteria-free nutrient agar to quantify the oviposition response of *An. gambiae s.s.*. Against expectation, gravid females avoided the bacteria and laid eight times more eggs in bacteria free nutrient agar than in mixed cultures of bacteria. Four bacteria species were presented in the mixture and when tested individually, only one species, *Stenotrophomonas maltophilia*, had a significant impact on the oviposition response by significantly lowering the number of eggs laid in the presence of the bacteria compared with bacteria-free controls. Whilst these results support the proposition that gravid *An. gambiae s.s.* females are receptive to bacteria derived volatile chemicals, it does not provide evidence that the site selection is mediated by bacteria present in this habitat.

Based on the limited and inconsistent data available, it was sought to closely replicate previous work to accept or reject the hypothesis that microbial communities present in soil and water from a vibrant *Anopheles* breeding site produce volatiles chemicals that mediate oviposition behaviour in *An. gambiae s.s.*.

Two-choice cage bioassays were used to quantify the oviposition response of gravid *An*. *gambiae s.s.* females to non-sterile and sterile substrates from a natural habitat that contained early instar *Anopheles* larvae at the time of substrate collection. In addition, substrates were tested in comparison to a control solution, distilled water. The volatile chemical headspace was collected from all oviposition media to identify any association between behavioural observations and chemicals released from the substrates.

Experiments were carried out to address the following questions:

1. Do gravid *An. gambiae s.s.* females prefer to lay eggs in substrates made from fresh soil from a natural breeding site (containing microorganisms) compared with substrates made from autoclaved soil or distilled water only (sterile)?

2. Do gravid *An. gambiae s.s.* females prefer to lay eggs in habitat water from a natural breeding site (non-sterile) as compared with micro-filtered water or distilled water (sterile)?

3. Do sterile and non-sterile test substrates differ in their chemical profile of their headspace, therefore suggesting that the removal of microbes removes oviposition cues?

4. Are the volatile chemicals released from the test substrates associated with the oviposition response of gravid *An. gambiae s.s.*?

3.3 Materials and methods

3.3.1 Study site

All experiments were done at the International Centre for Insect Physiology and Ecology (ICIPE), Mbita, on the shores of Lake Victoria, Western Kenya (geographic coordinates 0° 26' 06.19" South; 34° 12' 53.13" East; 1,137 meters above sea level).

Soil and water for the experiments were collected from a semi-permanent water body, 380 m from the shores of Lake Victoria in Lwanda Nyamasare village (0°29'089"South, 34°17'848" East) 10 km northeast of ICIPE-Mbita (Figure 3.1.A.), approximately at the same location where samples were taken for the study by Sumba (Sumba *et al.* 2004; U. Fillinger, personal communication). Prior to the experiment and on every day of sample collection it was confirmed by dipping 10 times (Standard 350 ml dipper, Clarke Mosquito Control Products, USA) that the aquatic habitat was colonized by early instar *Anopheles* larvae (>5 larvae/dip), as a proxy indicator for oviposition.

3.3.2. Preparation of soil samples

Approximately 20 kg of soil was dug up from the damp but not immersed edge of the breeding site. The vegetation was carefully removed with a shovel and then the bare soil layer dug up not deeper than 10 cm. The soil was then transported to ICIPE-Mbita where it was spread on a cement floor and dried in the sun for one hour (Figure 3.1.B.). The soil was then divided in two equal parts: 10 kg was kept in a cool and dry place (fresh habitat soil) and the remaining 10 kg sterilized by autoclaving as described below. Fresh soil samples were collected for every round of cage bioassays.



Figure 3.1. Water and soil collection and preparation of two choice tests. A. *Anopheles* spp. breeding site in Lwanda Nyamasare, western Kenya. **B.** Drying of soil after collection at ICIPE-Mbita **C.** Two autoclaving methods: lumpy soil in polyethylene (PE) bag and macerated soil in glass flask. **D.** Two-choice experimental cage, oviposition cup with filter paper to minimize the visual difference of the oviposition substrates.

The procedures of autoclaving soil are rarely described in detail in experimental papers, including that of Sumba et al 2004. Searching the world wide web for standard operating procedures, most used plastic biohazard bags to autoclave soil (Razavi-darbar & Lakzian 2007). Some microbiology and phytology research papers however, reported autoclaving soil in a thin layer spread in a glass container (Balkwill & Casida 1979; Paolillo 1984). Both methods were used here for comparison in two sets of experiments (Figure 3.1.C.).

Method 1: Soil samples were autoclaved in FisherbrandTM polyethylene biohazard autoclave bags (10 kg of soil per bag) at 121°C and 1.4kg/cm² pressure for 20 minutes (Vertical autoclave C 120L, Webeco, Germany). After sterilization, samples were allowed to cool without opening the bag before being used to prepare oviposition media.

Method 2: Soil samples were macerated and passed through a net (mesh 2 mm) to achieve a homogeneous size of soil particles. Soil samples were then divided in three equal parts and placed in three conical glass flasks of 5 L (Figure 3.1.C.). The soil was then autoclaved in the flasks as described above.

3.3.3. Preparation of water samples

Ten litres of habitat water was collected from the surface of the habitat using a clean plastic jar. Water was passed through a cotton cloth to remove water organisms including mosquito larvae and poured into 5 L jerry cans before transportation to the laboratory. Half of the sample (5 L) was used unmodified for the experiment and the other half (5 L) sterilized by micro-filtration. Large particles were first removed by passing the habitat water through a filter paper (Whatman no.1) with the help of a vacuum suction pump and supernatant water was then filtered through a cellulose nitrate membrane pore size 0.20 μ m (NalgeneTM) filter in a sterile disposable filter unit.

In order to confirm that autoclaving and micro-filtration sterilized the media, samples of both substrates were taken for bacterial cultures. Soil samples were moisturized with sterile distilled water (1g in 5 ml). After homogenization, 100 μ l of each substrate was spread separately onto the surface of duplicate Lysogeny Broth (LB) agar-plates (LB Lennox-Fisher Scientific; Bertani 2004). Additionally, 100 μ l of distilled water was spread as a control. Plates were incubated overnight at 30°C and the presence of colonies recorded. Bacteria cultures from autoclaved soil, micro-filtered water and distilled water confirmed that samples did not contain any bacteria that could grow on LB plates as opposed to fresh soil where colonies of at least seven different morphologies were observed.

Distilled water was prepared daily at the ICIPE-Mbita laboratories in the morning of the experiments with a GFL glass water distiller (GFL Glass Mono Distiller 2208, Germany). The raw water used for distillation was chlorinated tap water. Tap water at ICIPE-Mbita is pumped from Lake Victoria approximately 50 m from the shore and approximately 10 m deep into a settlement tank. From there, water goes to a treatment tank to be chlorinated before it is pumped into a water tower for domestic and laboratory use.

3.3.4 Two choice egg-count bioassays

Cage bioassays were carried out under semi-field conditions in make-shift sheds (10 m $long \times 5$ m wide $\times 2.8$ m high) as previously described (Herrera-Varela *et al.* 2014). The cages were protected from rain but otherwise exposed to natural fluctuations of temperature, relative humidity, wind and light.

Experiments were carried out with insectary-reared An. gambiae s.s. (Mbita strain) supplied by ICIPE's insectary and reared following standard operating procedures. Gravid mosquitoes were prepared by selecting 300 female and 300 male mosquitoes, two to three days old, from their rearing cages at 12.00 h and keeping them in $30 \times 30 \times 30$ cm netting cages at 25-28°C and 68-75% relative humidity. To avoid mosquito desiccation, cotton towels (folded to 25x12 cm) were saturated with unchlorinated tap water and placed over the cages. Mosquitoes starved of sugar for seven hours were allowed to feed on a human arm for 15 minutes at 19.00 h on the same day. After feeding mosquitoes were provided with 6% glucose solution ad libitum. A plastic vial (25 ml) with a piece of paper towel folded into a wick was used to provide 10 ml of 6% glucose. This procedure was repeated the following day. After the first blood meal unfed females were removed from the cages while fed females were kept together with an equal number of males for 72 hours before using them in an experiment. On the day of an experiment 150 visually presumed gravid females (enlarged, pale white abdomen) were selected at 16.30 h from the holding cage. It has been shown (Gillies 1958; Lyimo & Takken 1993) that most females need two blood meals to reach full gravidity and some do not reach gravidity even after three feeds.

Females were transferred individually to 30x30x30 cm cages. In each cage two glass cups (Pyrex®, 100 ml, 70 mm diameter), surrounded by tightly fitting aluminium cylinders, were filled with 100 ml or 100 g of either the control or test medium and placed in diagonal corners of the cage. A round filter paper (Whatman No. 1) was placed on top of each cup allowing contact with the oviposition substrate. The purpose of the aluminium collars and filter paper were to exclude visual differences between the two test substrates (Figure 3.1. D.). Position of oviposition cups containing the test medium was alternated between adjacent cages to control for any position effect. The placement of the first test cup was randomly allocated for one of the four cage corners in the first cage. Subsequent test cups were rotated in the next possible corners in a clockwise direction relative to the position of the preceding cup. One control cup was added in each cage diagonal to the test cup to complete a two choice set up. Each cup contained

either 100 g of fresh habitat soil or 100 g autoclaved habitat soil or 100 ml of habitat water or 100 ml micro-filtered habitat water, or 100 ml distilled water. Soil substrates were moistened with 50 ml of distilled water so that a thin layer of water covered the soil. All glassware used in the bioassays was cleaned with detergent, autoclaved at 121°C for 20 minutes and afterwards kept in a drying oven (Heraeus T5050 EK, Atlanta-Georgia) at 200°C for at least two hours before use in an experiment.

In order to validate the two choice bioassays, cages were set up with both oviposition cups containing equal treatments following a previously described approach (Herrera-Varela *et al.* 2014). Both cups were filled with 100 ml unchlorinated-tap water. The underlying assumption is that gravid females presented with an identical substrate in both cups are equally likely to lay in either cup (p=0.5) but stochastic events will lead to a certain variability of the 1:1 outcome. This is considered the baseline or reference. If one treatment is preferred over the other treatment in the same cage, a significant diversion from the 1:1 distribution is expected. Table 3.1 summarizes the experiments implemented and the comparisons made in two choice bioassays.

Experiments	Experime	ntal cages	Rounds	Number of				
	Control cup	Test cup	(Replicates)	females that laid				
				eggs (Total of				
				mosquitoes				
				exposed)				
Baseline/Reference	tap water	tap water	4	153 (225)				
Ov	Oviposition bioassays with soil from breeding site							
Soil sterilization by	sterile soil	fresh soil	5	102(150)				
autoclaving in PE bags	sterile soil	distilled water	5	101(150)				
Soil sterilization by	sterile soil	fresh soil	4	61(120)				
autoclaving in glass	sterile soil	distilled water	4	88(120)				
Habitat soil vs. distilled	distilled water	fresh soil	6	136(180)				
water								
Oviposition assays with water from breeding site								
Habitat water vs. micro-	sterile water	Fresh water	4	69(100)				
filtered habitat water	distilled water	Fresh water	4	75(100)				
and distilled water	distilled water	sterile water	4	70(100)				

 Table 3.1. Experiments carried out with sterile and non-sterile substrates in two

 choice cage bioassays

3.3.5 Analysis of volatile organic chemicals released from oviposition substrates

Volatile organic chemicals released from the oviposition substrates were trapped by dynamic headspace collection also referred to as air-entrainment (Agelopoulos & Pickett 1998) for aqueous and soil samples. In addition, solid phase micro extraction (SPME) was carried out for selected soil samples. All glassware used during volatile collections was first washed with an odourless detergent (Teepol, general purpose detergent, Teepol, United Kingdom rinsed in water and acetone and then placed in an oven kept at 200°C for at least two hours before use.

3.3.5.1 Dynamic headspace collections

Dynamic headspace collections were used to collect volatiles from 300 ml samples of habitat water, sterile-filtered habitat water and distilled water. Additionally, 45 g of sodium chloride (NaCl) were added to the samples to improve the release of volatiles chemicals (Mozuraitis, Buda & Borg-Karlson 2010). Each sample was entrained in duplicate. Test substrates were placed in 500 ml gas wash bottles (MF 29/3/500, Scilabware Ltd. UK) which were tightly closed with a quick fit head (MF 27/3/13, Scilabware Ltd. UK; Figure 4.2). Flexible polytetrafluoroethylene (PTFE) tubing (1/8" O.D.) was connected on each of the two glass tubes; one served as inlet for purified air and the other as outlet where the chemicals were trapped. Air was purified by passage through an activated charcoal filter pumped at a flow rate just above 0.1 L/min. Air was removed at 0.1 L/min through a Tenax trap. The Tenax traps were made out of 25 mg of Tenax® TA (mesh size 60-80, SupelcoTM, Bellefonte, PA, USA) packed with small amounts of glass wool (SupelcoTM, Bellefonte, PA, USA) to keep the Tenax in place in a GERSTEL-Twister desorption glass liners (GERSTEL, Muelheim an der Ruhr, Germany).

Tenax traps were conditioned before use by washing with 3-5 ml methyl tert-butyl ether (MTBE) and placed in an oven at 50°C for >2 h for the solvent to evaporate. Volatiles were entrained for 20 hours from each sample. Once the entrainment was completed, the filters were sealed with PTFE tape, wrapped in aluminium foil, packed in a Teflon bag and stored at -70°C until they were sent to the Royal Institute of Technology (KTH), Sweden, for analysis by gas chromatography coupled to mass spectrometry (GC-MS).



Figure 3.2. Air-entrainment system used to collect volatile compounds from oviposition substrates. Gas-wash bottles were tilted to increase the surface area of the aqueous substrates.

3.3.5.2 SPME-collections

In addition to the dynamic headspace collection, SPME was used to collect volatiles from a single round of soil experiments. Duplicate collections were made from fresh habitat soil, soil autoclaved in PE bags, soil autoclaved in glass flasks and from distilled water. Soil samples were prepared by adding 100 g of fresh soil, or sterile soil to 200 ml of distilled water. These samples were then transported to the Chemical Ecology Laboratory at ICIPE, Nairobi, Kenya. Test substrates were added to 500 ml conical flasks (Quickfit, England) which were sealed with a double piece of aluminum foil. The aluminum foil cover was pierced with the needle of the SPME holder and the 65µm polydimethyl siloxane-divinyl benzene (PDMS-DVB) fibre (Supelco[™], Bellefonte, PA, USA) exposed to the headspace above the sample. The SPME fibers were conditioned in the GC-injection port at 220°C for 5 min just before sampling. Volatiles were collected for 16 hours after which they were immediately analyzed by GC-MS.

3.3.5.3 Gas chromatography coupled to mass spectrometry (GC-MS) analysis

The GC-MS system used consisted of a 7890A GC (Agilent Technologies, Santa Clara, CA) fitted with a 30 m long HP-5MS column (Agilent Technologies) with an inner diameter of 0.25 mm and 0.25 μ m film thickness. The GC was coupled to a 5975C MS

(Agilent Technologies) with electronic ionization at 70 eV and the ion source kept at 230 °C and the quadropole at 150 °C. Masses were scanned from 30-400.

Tenax traps were thermally desorbed in a thermal desorption unit (TDU, GERSTEL, Muelheim and der Ruhr, Germany) initially held at 20 °C and then increased at 120 °C /min to 250 °C, the end temperature was held for 5 minutes. The volatiles were then transferred in splitless mode to a cooled injection system (CIS) injector fitted with a Tenax trap (GERSTEL). The CIS injector was held at 10 °C during the TDU program and was then heated at a rate of 12 °C/sec to 260 °C during which the volatiles were transferred to the column. Helium was used as carrier gas with a flow of 1.2 ml/min at a pressure of 34 psi. The temperature of the GC oven was held at 40 °C for 1 min and then increased by 4°C/min to 260 °C and kept there for 3 minutes. Heptyl acetate (35 ng, SAFC, Sigma-Aldrich, Steinheim, Germany) was injected as external standard with each sample.

For SPME analysis masses were scanned from 38-550. The GC injector was kept at 250°C in a splitless mode, helium with a flow of 1.2 ml/min was used as carrier gas. The oven temperature was held at 40 °C for 3 minutes, then programmed to increase at 5°C/min to 260°C and maintained at this temperature for 3 minutes for a total running time of 50 minutes.

3.3.6 Data analysis

Bioassay data were analysed in R statistical software version 3.0.2 (R Development Core Team 2011). Two choice egg-count bioassays were analysed using generalized linear models with a quasibinomial distribution fitted to account for overdispersion. The distribution of eggs in the baseline cages (equal substrates) representing the natural variability in the system was compared with the distribution of eggs in experimental cages (control-test substrates). Experiment (e g. baseline cages, habitat soil vs. distilled water cages) and the round of assay were included as fixed factors in the model to examine their impact on the outcome (proportion of eggs laid in the test cup).

The mean proportion of females and eggs laid in test cups in different experiments and their 95% confidence intervals (CI) were calculated as the exponential of the parameter estimates for models with no intercept included. Multiple comparisons of experiments were calculated based on the model parameter estimates.

Since non-parametric tests have been used for analysis of egg-laying preferences in previously published work (Sumba *et al.* 2004; Lindh *et al.* 2008) data were also

analyzed using Wilcoxon signed rank test for paired samples (i.e. control cup versus test cup from each experimental cage) for comparison and discussion of outputs.

For the comparison of volatile chemical profiles from the headspaces of substrates, the retention parameters from the chromatograms were integrated using the Chem station integrator and auto-integration function in Chem Station software (MSD ChemStation E.02.01.1177). Mass spectra fragments were recorded manually for each compound integrated. Compounds were grouped according to retention time, MS fragments, and given a unique volatile identification number (ID). Initially, duplicate samples were compared with each other and a volatile profile created for each sample only if compounds were present in both duplicates. A database was created with information about the abundance of each volatile (area of the peak) in the samples and used for analyses. Two databases were created one for Tenax samples and one for SPME samples.

Principal component analysis (PCA) was used to examine the relationships between volatile chemicals and liquid oviposition substrates. PCA was performed in CANOCO5 for windows version 5 (Ter Braak & Šmilauer 2012). PCA was chosen as exploratory ordination method since data was compositional (i.e. same measurement units) and all volatile gradients were 1.9 standard deviation units long assuming a linear response model.

3.4 Results

3.4.1. Anopheles gambiae s.s. females do not show a preference for oviposition substrates containing microorganisms from habitat derived soil when compared with sterile substrates

3.4.1.1 Proportion of females responding to the soil samples

When females were presented with a choice between two identical substrates, an equal proportion of females laid in either cup. In comparison, eight fold more *Anopheles gambiae s.s.* females laid eggs in fresh soil infusion when the second choice was to lay in sterile soil infusion that was autoclaved in PE bags (p<0.001). Importantly however, this preference was not observed when fresh soil and soil sterilized in glass were offered in choice tests (p=0.496) suggesting that the autoclaving method altered the substrates differently in addition to sterilizing it.



Figure 3.3. Box-and-Whisker plot showing the median proportion of females laying eggs in the test substrates in two choice bioassays (control vs. test). Baseline (Lake water as control and test), experiments including autoclaved soil in polystyrene bags and soil autoclaved in Erlenmeyer flasks. Substrates in test cup are indicated in bold. Colours (blue=lake water, brown=fresh soil, light blue=distilled water) also present the substrate in test cup. Red line indicates no preference for either solution.

Preferred egg laying in fresh substrates could be for two reasons, the preferred substrate attracts or stimulates the egg-laying or the avoided substrate actually repels or deters the female. In order to investigate this, fresh soil was tested in comparison to distilled water and the two sterile soil media were also tested in comparison to distilled water. Tests offering a choice between fresh habitat soil and distilled water were done twice, first in parallel to bioassays with soil sterilized in PE bags and second in parallel to bioassays with soil sterilized in glass. The results from both were very similar, showing unexpectedly a preference of gravid females for the distilled water over the fresh habitat
soil (p= 0.0178, Figure 3.3). When a choice of two sterile substrates was presented (sterilized soil versus distilled water) females strongly preferred laying in distilled water over laying in soil sterilized in PE bags (p<0.001) whilst they showed only a weak preference for distilled water when presented with soil sterilized in glass (p=0.057, Figure 3.3).

3.4.1.2 Proportion of eggs laid in soil substrates

Most published work on mosquito oviposition does not analyse individual mosquitoes' choices but rather count eggs of groups of mosquitoes as a proxy of oviposition preference. For comparison, egg counts were also analysed here. Similar results were found when analysing the proportion of eggs laid in test over control substrates. Mosquitoes offered a choice of equal substrates exhibited a balance distribution of eggs between cups. This distribution differed significantly from the distribution of eggs in tests where a choice was given between distilled water and fresh habitat soil with a higher proportion of eggs laid in distilled water (Figure 3.4). Significant differences in egg distribution to the reference were also found when the choice tests include soil that was autoclaved in PE bags. Females preferred to lay in the alternative substrate offered, either fresh habitat soil or distilled water, with more than three quarters of the eggs laid in those substrates (Figure 3.4). When however, the habitat soil was sterilized in glass, only a slight preference for distilled water was detected (p=0.027). The distribution of eggs in cages comparing autoclaved soil in glass against fresh soil did not differ from the distribution of eggs in the reference with equal treatments. Inferences were the same whether the data were analysed with a generalized linear model or with the nonparametric Wilcoxon test for paired samples (Figure 3.4).



Figure 3.4. Mean proportion of eggs laid in control and test cups in choice tests with fresh habitat soil versus sterile soil or distilled water. Error bars present the 95% confidence intervals of the means. Multiple comparisons of treatments based on the generalized linear model parameter estimates: treatments with same letter are not significantly different at 0.05 level.

3.4.2. Anopheles gambiae s.s. females do not show a preference for larval habitat water containg microorganisms as compared with sterile water

3.4.2.1. Proportion of females responding to water samples

Gravid *An. gambiae s.s.* did not show any preference for either of the water substrates tested in either of the tests, however, a slight preference for distilled water was observed when compared with sterile habitat water (Figure 3.5)





3.4.2.2 Proportion of eggs laid in water substrates

Equal proportions of eggs were laid in sterile habitat water and fresh habitat water. A slight preference for fresh habitat water was seen when offered in comparison with distilled water. This difference was significant using the non-parametric test for paired samples but not when the distribution was compared with the baseline with a generalized linear model (Figure. 3.6).



Figure 3.6. Mean proportion of eggs laid in control and test cups in choice tests with fresh habitat water versus sterile habitat water or distilled water. Error bars present the 95% confidence intervals of the means. Multiple comparisons of treatments based on the generalized linear model parameter estimates: treatments with same letter are not significantly different at 0.05 level.

3.4.3. The absence of volatile chemicals in the headspace of soil samples autoclaved in PE bags is associated with the avoidance of this substrate for oviposition

Results presented below for the chemical headspace of substrates tested in the soil bioassays are based on one round of bioassays only due to the loss of all Tenax samples that were injected through auto-injection in a faulty GC-MS. Figure 3.7 shows the chromatograms of the duplicate SPME collections taken from fresh habitat soil, soil autoclaved in PE bags, soil autoclaved in glass and distilled water. The most conspicuous result from this comparison is the absence of volatiles released from the soil autoclaved in PE bags, which is in stark contrast to all other samples.



Figure 3.7. Chromatograms of volatiles profiles collected with SPME from soil substrates: A. Habitat soil, B. Soil autoclaved in PE bags, C. Soil autoclaved in glass flasks, D. Distilled water. All substrates are presented with two separate samples.

The headspace of fresh soil contained 32 compounds of which 18 were unique to the sample (i.e. there were not identified in any other sample), another six compounds were shared only with the soil sample autoclaved in glass and four with distilled water. Only four compounds were detected from soil autoclaved in PE bags and these compounds were present in all the other substrates. Their retention time and mass spectra suggest that they were probably contaminants from the GC column. It therefore appears that

autoclaving in PE bags removed all compound released from the fresh soil. In contrast autoclaving soil in glass flasks increased the number of detectable volatiles. Seventy-three compounds were collected in the headspace above soil autoclaved in glass flask; 58 of these were unique to the sample. Eighteen compounds were detected from the headspace of distilled water, eight of them were also detected from fresh and glass autoclaved soil, eight others were unique to the sample. These differences in headspace were not associated with any behavioural differences. Only the absence of volatiles from the headspace of soil autoclaved in PE bags corresponds to a strong shift in the oviposition behaviour of gravid females (Figure 3.3 and 3.4).

4.3.4. Headspace analysis of water substrates

Headspace analysis was implemented for three rounds of habitat water bioassays. In total, 286 compounds were integrated of which half (144) were only detected in a single round. For comparison of substrates only compounds that were present in at least two of the three rounds were included in the analysis. Comparisons of the retention parameters of the chromatograms (Figure 3.8) showed large similarities in the chemical profiles of fresh habitat water, sterile habitat water and distilled water. Seventy volatile chemicals were detected in the headspace of fresh habitat water and 49 (70%) were still present when the water was micro-filtered. Fresh habitat water also shared 48 (69%) volatiles with distilled water. All three substrates had 40 compounds (57%) in common. Micro-filtration of habitat water increased the number of volatile chemicals released from the headspace; a total of 99 volatile chemicals were integrated of which 35 were unique for the micro-filtered habitat water.

Removing microorganisms from the habitat water might or might not have been responsible for the 21 volatile chemicals that were removed from the headspace of fresh habitat water by micro-filtration, however their removal did not lead to a significantly reduced oviposition response.



Time (minutes)

Figure 3.8. Chromatograms of volatiles collected by dynamic headspace collections on Tenax traps from aquous oviposition substrates: A. Habitat water, B. Sterile habitat water, C. Distilled water. Every chromatogram is an independent replicate.

PCA analysis reveals that volatiles released from the oviposition substrates can explain 70% of the variability observed in the distribution of the samples. It also shows that volatiles can be used to differentiate between habitat water, sterile water and distilled water (Figure 3.9.1). In addition, the diversity plot shows that there is not a large variation between individual replicates and confirms that even though chemicals present in only one replicate were removed from the analysis consistently more chemicals were detected in sterile water samples.



Figure 3.9.1. Principal Component Analysis (PCA) plot of volatile profiles of water oviposition substrates: Fresh habitat water (Habita1,2,3), Sterile water (Steril 1,2,3) and Distilled water (Distil 1,2,3).



Figure 3.9.2. Diversity diagram of volatile chemicals. Circle sizes and labels indicate the numbers of volatiles chemicals detected in each sample. Distance between the circles approximates the similarity between chemical compositions.

3.5 Discussion

The presence of living microorganisms in soil and water from an *Anopheles* larval habitat did not increase the oviposition response of gravid *Anopheles gambiae s.s.* when compared with the same but sterilized substrate. The sterilization process affected the chemical composition of substrates and those changes influenced the oviposition response of gravid mosquitoes.

Sterile soil samples obtained by autoclaving in PE bags received significantly less eggs compared with any other substrate. In contrast, sterile samples produced by autoclaving in a glass flask received equal proportion of eggs as the fresh habitat soil. These differences in oviposition response illustrate the impact of the autoclaving process rather than the presence of microorganisms. Headspace analyses revealed that autoclaving in closed PE bags removed all detectable volatiles from the sample. On the other hand when autoclaving took place in open glass flasks the number of detectable volatiles increased possibly due to contamination from the autoclave or due to different breakdown products forming in the open flasks.

Given these results it is likely that in this study gravid mosquitoes orientate to substrates that display an array of chemicals, therefore preferences recorded towards fresh soil and distilled water when compared with PE bag soil may have been triggered by sole presence of chemical cues that indicate the existence of a habitat rather than its suitability. Since the bioassay utilised cannot distinguish between deterrent and repellent responses and knowing that only volatile chemicals could be detected with the methods used it cannot however be excluded that non-volatile chemicals functioning as deterrents were present in the soil samples autoclaved in PE bags.

Notably, the glass sterilized soil sample and the fresh soil sample had only a small proportion of volatiles in common yet the oviposition response did not differ. Furthermore, sterile distilled water was preferred by gravid females for oviposition over fresh habitat water. Whilst volatile chemical cues might have been involved in the oviposition site selection, these findings corroborate the conclusion that these volatiles are not produced in situ by life microorganisms.

In the case of water samples, mosquitoes did not exhibit any preferences for fresh or sterilised water. Analyses of the headspace of the substrates showed that they shared the majority of volatile chemicals identified from fresh habitat water. Sterilized habitat water however had consistently more compounds and it must be assumed that these were added in the process of micro-filtration. Nevertheless, these compounds did not affect the oviposition behaviour, nor did those that were removed from the sample through the process. This and the slight preference for distilled water shows that the presence of microorganisms was not used as oviposition cue by gravid *An. gambiae s.s.*.

The fact that distilled water had a similar volatile profile as the fresh habitat water may indicate that the volatile organic compounds released from distilled water are directly related with the source of the water used for distilling. Distilled water is used as a standard control in the majority of mosquito oviposition experiments and in similar experiments with other organisms (Huang *et al.* 2007; Otienoburu *et al.* 2007; Panigrahi *et al.* 2014) in the study of chemical ecology. Rarely is the source of distilled water are usually not presented creating the impression that distilled water does not contain any more cues than water vapour and that distilled water is a comparable medium between studies. The quality of distilled water depends however, on the quality of the raw water and the distilling process (GFL 2014). Hence the volatile profile of distilled water may

be highly variable between research centres or laboratories and even show high day-today variation.

The discrepancy between our findings and similar experiments previously published (Sumba *et al.* 2004) could be attributed to several factors. There is an intrinsic challenge when testing soil and water from a natural breeding site. Larval habitats are exposed to changing climate conditions and human activity that may affect the quality of a habitat over time. As previously shown (Herrera-Varela *et al.* 2014), gravid *An. gambiae s.l.* can distinguish between oviposition substrates with different water quality preferring those resembling a flourishing ecosystem with low organic matter content, low ammonium and an aerobic water column over those that emulate a habitat in decay. However, *An. gambiae s.s.* is an opportunist (Fillinger *et al.* 2004; Minakawa *et al.* 2005; Impoinvil *et al.* 2008) and when choices are rare, colonizes water that might under experimental conditions be less preferred (Awolola *et al.* 2007; Castro *et al.* 2010). Therefore it cannot be excluded that the habitat we collected water from was not optimal, even though it had a thriving early instar *Anopheles* larval population during the sampling period.

Differences in the abiotic and biotic characteristics of the habitats tested in the two studies might be responsible for the differences seen. Perhaps even more important might be the difficulty in replicating the sterilization process since the previous publication lacks a detailed protocol of the autoclaving method, which according to our results affects the volatile chemical headspace of the substrate and consequently the acceptability of the oviposition substrate by mosquitoes. Similarly, the source of distilled water was not reported and the headspace of samples not analyzed. In a scenario, where the autoclaving might have removed all the chemical volatiles and where distilled water was used with an equally limited chemical profile, it would have been shown that the fresh (volatile containing) soil would be preferred over the sterile (non-volatile containing) substrate, and when the two sterile (non-volatile containing) substrates would have been compared a 1:1 distribution of eggs would have been demonstrated as by Sumba et al (Sumba et al. 2004). Consequently, it is likely that in previous work volatile chemicals were responsible for the substrate selection but if they were produced in situ by live microorganism remains unproven. This might be supported by the fact that restoration of attractiveness of sterile substrates after inoculation with bacterial suspensions was not achieved (Sumba et al. 2004). Not only bacteria but all microorganisms are killed/removed by autoclaving and micro-filtration and one of the reasons why restoration was not achieved could have been that the oviposition cues were generated by other microbes. Aquatic ecosystems are composed of highly diverse groups of microbes including bacteria, microalgae, actinomycetes, fungi, and protozoa (Sigee 2005). Therefore it is not possibly to tell with this methodology if there is a particular group or the synergistic action of several organisms that are responsible for producing the oviposition cues if any (Huang *et al.* 2006a).

3.6 Conclusion

Previous reports that substrates containing microbes from vibrant larval habitats are preferred over the same substrates when sterilized cannot be confirmed. Elimination of live microorganisms from soil and water collected from a natural larval habitat does not necessarily influence the oviposition choices of gravid *An. gambiae s.s.* mosquitoes. Furthermore, there is no evidence that volatiles produced *in situ* by these microbes are involved in the oviposition choice. It was shown however that volatile profiles of oviposition substrates can be modified by sterilization and the avoidance of substrates without any volatile headspace suggest that volatile chemicals play a role in habitat selection. Chemicals that were removed from fresh habitat soil and water by sterilizing that might have been metabolites from live microorganisms did not affect the oviposition choice. The remaining volatile chemicals might have been produced by microbes and remained in the water or might have been derived from plants and other organic matter in the habitat. Further research is required to investigate if microorganisms are involved in habitat selection of *An. gambiae s.s.*.

Chapter 4 Oviposition site selection of *Anopheles gambiae sensu lato* in Rusinga Island, Western Kenya: A case-control approach



Manuela Herrera-Varela, Maria Ulbrich, Saskia Knillmann, Steve W. Lindsay, Jenny Lindh, Ulrike Fillinger London School of Hygiene & Tropical Medicine Keppel Street, London WC1E 7HT www.lshtm.ac.uk



T: +44(0)20 7299 4646 F: +44(0)20 7299 4656 E: resistry@lshtm.ac.uk



COVER SHEET FOR EACH 'RESEARCH PAPER' INCLUDED IN A RESEARCH THESIS

Please be aware that one cover sheet must be completed <u>for each</u> 'Research Paper' included in a thesis.					
1.	For a 'research paper' already published				
	1.1. Where was the work published?				
	1.2. When was the work published?				
	1.2.1. If the work was published prior to registration for your research degree, give a brief rationale for its inclusion				
	1.3. Was the work subject to academic peer review?				
	1.4. Have you retained the copyright for the work? Yes / No If yes, please attach evidence of retention.				
	If no, or if the work is being included in its published format, please attach evidence of permission				
	from copyright holder (publisher or other author) to include work				
2.	For a 'research paper' prepared for publication but not yet published				
	2.1. Where is the work intended to be published?				
	22. Please list the paper's authors in the intended authorship order Manuela Herrera-Varela, Maria Ulbrich, Saskia Knillmann, Steve W.				
	.Lindsay,Jenny.Lindh,Ulrike.Fillinger				
	2.3. Stage of publication – <u>Not yet submitted</u> / Submitted / Undergoing revision from peer reviewers' comments / In press				
3.	For multi-authored work, give full details of your role in the research included in the paper and in the preparation of the paper. (Attach a further sheet if necessary) I contributed significantly in the formulation and experimental design.				
	I developed all protocols and implemented the experiments except the				
	zooplankton identification and GC-MS analyses. I analysed the data and				
NA	wrote first draft of the manuscript. ME IN FULL (Block Capitals) MANUELA. HERRERA. VARELA.				
sт	UDENT ID NO. 272702				
CA	NDIDATE'S SIGNATURE Man Pol. Date 05/01/2015				
su	PERVISOR/SENIOR AUTHOR'S SIGNATURE (3 above)				

Improving health worldwide

www.lshtm.ac.uk

4.1 Abstract

Background: Gravid *Anopheles gambiae s.l.* make informed choices when looking for a place to lay eggs, however, the signals used by gravid females to discriminate between aquatic habitats remain unknown. Here we investigated physical, chemical and biological factors associated with oviposition of *An. gambiae s.l.* mosquitoes in Rusinga Island, Western Kenya.

Methods: A cross-sectional survey of all aquatic habitats was done during the long rainy season March to July 2012 to compare the characteristics of habitats colonised (cases) and not colonized (controls) by early instar *Anopheles* larvae. Biotic factors evaluated included zooplankton, invertebrate fauna and bacteria communities; abiotic factors included, physical water parameters, nutrients and volatile chemicals released from the water.

Results: The presence of early instar *Anopheles* larvae used as a proxy measure for oviposition was highly associated with high densities of late instar *Anopheles* larvae (p=0.002) and increasing turbidity (p=0.025). Aquatic habitats with turbidity > 200 NTU were over 80% likely to be colonized by *An. gambiae s.l.*. In habitats with turbidity < 200 NTU the odds of being selected by gravid females increased significantly with a unit increase of cladocerans of the family Moinidae (RR=7, 95% CI (4-11)) and emergent vegetation (RR=1.55, 95% CI (1.02-2.37)). Conversely, the odds were reduced with a unit increase in Naucoridae RR=0.13, 95% CI (0.09-0.20)) and fish (RR=0.33, 95% CI (0.22-0.50)). Chemical cues from natural habitats were highly diverse however, preliminary analyses showed that a group of hydrocarbons were linked with habitats colonized by early instar larvae. No evidence was found that bacteria communities were involved in habitat selection.

Conclusion: The relationship between environmental characteristics, biotic and abiotic factors that characterize natural oviposition sites of *Anopheles gambiae s.l.* in Rusinga Island, western Kenya are intricate. Further studies are required to investigate chemical cues released from vibrant larval habitats and their interaction with potential visual cues like turbidity investigated. Turbidity and volatile chemicals might be potentially exploited to attract and kill gravid females as a novel intervention for vector surveillance and control.

4.2 Background

The spatial distribution of Anopheles larvae in the environment depends initially on the oviposition choices of the gravid mosquito and subsequently on the survival of the larvae in the breeding sites (Bates 1949; Muirhead Thomson 1951; McCrae 1984; Minakawa et al. 1999). Traditionally, breeding sites containing Anopheles larvae have been characterized in order to determine the factors that regulate larvae abundances and to determine factors that could be used to predict the most productive mosquito habitats in order to design cost-effective vector control strategies targeting immature stages (Minakawa et al. 1999; Gimnig et al. 2001; Shililu et al. 2003; Minakawa, Sonye & Yan 2005; Mwangangi et al. 2007; Muturi et al. 2008). Consequently, these studies focus either on the late instar larvae as a proxy measure for adult productivity or do not distinguish between early and late instars. Frequently, it is cited that An. gambiae s.l. prefers to breed in temporary, shallow, sunlit, bare-edged pools and puddles (WHO 1978; Mereta et al. 2013), however, there are usually only two references cited that base their summary on a very limited set of studies (Muirhead Thomson 1951; Gillies & De Meillon 1968). These attributes alone failed to predict the most productive habitats that maintain malaria transmission throughout the year in many routine vector control programs and research studies (Minakawa et al. 1999; Killeen et al. 2006; Majambere et al. 2008).

Consequently, there has been a renewed interest in the larval ecology of afro-tropical malaria vectors over the past 15 years. Studies set out to identify and quantify additional physicochemical and biological factors that can regulate larvae abundance and distributions in natural settings (Fillinger *et al.* 2004; Majambere *et al.* 2008; Fillinger *et al.* 2009b; Mala & Irungu 2011; Ndenga *et al.* 2011; Gouagna *et al.* 2012; Gilbreath *et al.* 2013; Mereta *et al.* 2013). Although most of the studies claim the importance of environmental (i.e. pH, dissolved oxygen, water temperature, turbidity) and biological factors (i.e. emergent vegetation, algae, invertebrate fauna) in the survival of mosquito larvae, the strength and direction of these associations are often ambiguous (Mwangangi *et al.* 2007; Muturi *et al.* 2008; Fillinger *et al.* 2011; Mereta *et al.* 2013). As an example, it has been implied that the presence of carnivorous aquatic insects is always to the detriment of *Anopheles gambiae s.l.* larvae populations and therefore high densities of larvae are associated with small and temporary habitats where the risk of predation is reduced (Muturi *et al.* 2008; Gouagna *et al.* 2012; Mereta *et al.* 2013; Munga, Vulue &

Kweka 2013). However, this is not always the case. For example, increasing invertebrate diversity has been significantly associated with the most productive breeding sites in The Gambia (Fillinger *et al.* 2009b) and coleopterans of the Haliplidae family with high abundances of *Anopheles* larvae in rice ecosystems in Kenya (Muturi *et al.* 2008).

The impact of different environmental and biological factors on the oviposition site selection of gravid *Anopheles gambiae s.l.* has not been systematically explored under natural field conditions, which might in part be because of the difficulty to sample single eggs of *Anopheles* mosquitoes in the field and in part because although choices can be seen based on the presence or absence of larvae the mechanisms underlying those choices are often intelligible (Bates 1949). In the case of the members of the *Anopheles gambiae* species complex, very few field studies have been carried out to detect their oviposition preferences. Early in the 1950s Muirhead-Thompson established that gravid *An. gambiae s.l.* was not deterred from egg-laying in shaded habitats covered by a horizontal screen located above the surface of the habitat. Furthermore, he also observed that *An. gambiae s.l.* avoided laying eggs in brackish water collected from sub-littoral areas of Nigeria and Sierra Leone (Muirhead Thomson 1951). Apart from these studies all what we know about oviposition behaviour in *An. gambiae s.l.* has been drawn from laboratory experiments performed in small cage settings.

It has been hypothesized that oviposition behaviour alike host seeking is governed by an ample sort of physical and chemical cues that guide gravid females in the process of searching, selecting and laying of their eggs in a suitable aquatic habitat (Bentley & Day 1989; Clements 1999; Takken & Knols 1999). Caged Anopheles gambiae s.l. responds to physical cues like light contrast and brightness and have been shown under some circumstances to prefer laying eggs on dark backgrounds rather than in pale ones. Darkening the bottom of a dish could increase egg laying up to three fold (McCrae 1984; Huang et al. 2007). Furthermore, gravid females lay more eggs in muddy water and water from breeding sites than tap or distilled water in choice tests in small cages (McCrae 1984; Sumba et al. 2004; Huang et al. 2005). It has been suggested that preferences could be related to microorganisms present in the water or volatile organic compounds released from the water substrates (Sumba et al. 2004; Lindh et al. 2008). In the case of chemical cues it has been demonstrated that caged gravid females are receptive to water vapour (Okal et al. 2013), bacteria-derived odours (Sumba et al. 2004; Huang et al. 2006a; Lindh et al. 2008) and predator-released kairomones (Warburg et al. 2011). Whilst over 20 putative oviposition semiochemicals have been suggested in the literature (Blackwell & Johnson 2000; Lindh *et al.* 2008) there is only one report (Rinker *et al.* 2013) of two chemicals inducing a behavioural response in caged *An. gambiae s.s.* gravid females (one increasing and one decreasing the oviposition response). Although these controlled experiments have given important insights on *An. gambiae s.l.* oviposition preferences it remains to be proven if these responses can be extrapolated from the laboratory to the natural ecosystems where visual and chemical stimuli are likely to interact in a way that is unknown in the uncontrolled systems (Clements 1999).

To date all studies involving substrates from breeding sites (i.e. bacteria, water, mud) have been performed solely on samples collected from aquatic habitats containing larvae but no attempt has been made to compare natural habitat characteristics of habitats that are colonized by early instar *An. gambiae s.l.* larvae (as a proxy measure for recent oviposition events) with those that do not contain early instar larvae. More importantly, although bacteria and volatile chemicals have been implicated as being responsible for habitat choice under controlled conditions (Sumba et al 2004) bacteria and chemical profiles have never been analysed and compared for natural habitats to verify the hypothesis.

Here I test the following hypotheses:

- (1) Natural aquatic habitats without *Anopheles gambiae s.l.* larvae (controls) differ significantly from habitats that are well colonized by early instar larvae (cases) in their bacteria communities and in their profile of volatile chemicals released from the water.
- (2) Specific physical, chemical and biological characteristics of these habitats colonised by *Anopheles* larvae can be associated with the bacteria and chemical profiles and can assist in predicting habitat selection by gravid females.

To test these hypotheses I aimed to comprehensively characterize aquatic habitats with high abundance of early instar *Anopheles* larvae and aquatic habitats without early instar *Anopheles*. Specifically, I aimed to determine environmental attributes, water chemistry, vertebrate fauna, zooplankton, bacterial communities and chemical profiles.

4.3 Material and Methods

4.3.1. Study area

Larval habitat surveys were implemented on Rusinga Island, Lake Victoria, Western Kenya (0°35'–0°44' South; 34°11'–34°22' East; altitude 1,100 m) during the long rainy season from March to July 2012.

Rusinga is the second largest island in Lake Victoria. Since 1983 it has been connected to the mainland through an approximately 200 m long and 40 m wide causeway (Figure 4.1). It has an area of 42 km² and approximately 24,000 inhabitants. Fishing and small scale farming of maize, millet and animal husbandry are the main economic activities (Weckenbrock & Oldesloe 2005; Kaneko, Mushinzimana & Karama 2007).

Rusinga Island has a rocky and hilly terrain of volcanic origin with scarce vegetation cover. There are several seasonal rivers that contain water only during the rainy season so the lake is the main source of water for the human population and livestock. Two rainy seasons are typically described for the area, the main rainy season between March and June and the short rainy season between October and December (Opiyo *et al.* 2007). Malaria is endemic in the area but transmission intensity fluctuates seasonally having the main peak at the end of the long rainy season. Immature stages of mosquitoes have been found in a variety of natural and man-made breeding sites several of which occur near to human settlements (Fillinger *et al.* 2004; Mukabana *et al.* 2006). The three major African malaria vectors occur in the area; in the order of abundance these are *Anopheles arabiensis*, *Anopheles gambiae s.s.* and *Anopheles funestus* (Minakawa *et al.* 2012).



Figure 4.1. Study area A) Lake Victoria Region, East Africa; Yellow dot = Location of Rusinga Island, Kenya B) Map of Rusinga Island showing the 8 administrative zones and the distribution of habitats not colonized (controls=blue dots) and colonized by *Anopheles* larvae (cases=red dots).

4.3.2. Larval habitat mapping

In order to identify factors associated with the presence of early Anopheles larvae a casecontrol approach was used to compare biological, physical and chemical characteristics of aquatic habitats highly colonized by early instar Anopheles larvae (cases) with habitats without early instars (controls). Larval surveys were done three days a week from March to July. Every sampling day another location on the island was surveyed. In a previous study (Mukabana et al. 2006; Opiyo et al. 2007) Rusinga Island was divided into eight administrative zones (Figure 4.1 B.). Each zone was further divided in six subzones consisting of two villages and larval surveys were implemented regularly by local community members from each sub-zone (Malaria Surveillance Team (MST)). These community members were mobilized for this study to assist in mapping of all aquatic habitats per sub-zone per day. The sub-zones that were to be visited during one week were randomly selected from the list of all sub-zones a week prior to the surveys using a random-number generator. Each sub-zone was only visited once, all sub-zones had been surveyed at the end of the study. With help of the MST all aquatic habitats in a sub-zone were located in the morning and their position recorded using a Global Positioning System, GPS (GPS 12XL, Garmin, 15 meters accuracy, Schaffhausen - Switzerland). Every habitat received a unique identification number.

4.3.3. Sweep-net method for habitat sampling

Habitats were sampled using the sweep-net method (Silver 2008; Ndenga *et al.* 2011). This method was considered better than the more commonly used dipping method since it provides data on diversity and abundance (numbers per surface area) of the majority of aquatic invertebrates and is more effective in collecting early instars and pupae of mosquitoes since a larger surface area and volume of water is sampled in much shorter time (De Klerk & Wepener 2011). The sweep net was made of a cotton cloth, 30 cm wide, 15 cm high and 40 cm long fixed on a 150 cm long handle. In order to invest a similar collection effort in small and large habitats, the method was first calibrated by sampling twenty-nine habitats from three different subzones. Ten sweeps were taken from each habitat. The net was submerged at an angle of 45° at the margin of the habitat and the habitat swept 1 m in length. The content of every sweep was kept separately in a white tray and the number of early $(1^{st}$ and 2^{nd} instar) and late $(3^{rd}$ and 4^{th} instar) *Anopheles* larvae counted. The area of every habitat was measured and used to estimate the minimum sampling effort (number of sweeps) required per square meters until no

mosquito larva was caught in a sweep anymore. Two to three sweeps were sufficient to collect all larvae per square meter. Consequently, habitats $\leq 1m^2$ were swept three times. Two sweeps per square meter were done in habitats with an area between 1 and 20 m². When a habitat was bigger, a $20m^2$ section was purposely selected (highest probability of finding larvae) and 40 sweeps taken.

4.3.4. Selection of cases and controls

Every aquatic habitat identified during the mapping was measured for its size and sampled using the sweep-net method described above. The content of each sweep was emptied in a white tray and the number of early and late instar *Anopheles* and culicines were counted. Other invertebrates present in the net content were also counted and determined in order, suborder or family level as follow: Odonata (Zygoptera and Anysoptera), Ephemeroptera, Coleoptera (adult and larvae stages counted separately). Heteroptera (Notonectidae, Naucoridae, Nepidae). Fish and tadpoles were also recorded. After completing the count, all 4th instar *Anopheles* larvae where collected in ethanol for molecular identification of the members of the *An. gambiae* species complex using polymerase chain reactions PCR (Scott, Brogdon & Collins 1993). The remaining content of the trays was returned into the habitat.

A habitat was eligible to be a case if ≥ 20 early instar *Anopheles* larvae were sampled from a habitat. A habitat was eligible to be a control if no *Anopheles* larvae were collected from the habitat. Habitats with more than 1 and less than 20 early *Anopheles* larvae were designated as intermediate and were not eligible for random selection and further characterisation.

Once all the habitats of a subzone were surveyed, a maximum of two cases and two controls were randomly selected (lottery by drawing a slip of numbered paper) in order to carry out more intensive habitats surveys and to collect samples to analyze zooplankton, bacteria communities and volatile chemical profiles.

4.3.5. Characterization of cases and control habitats

Each aquatic habitat was classified into one of six habitat types: Swamp, puddle, fish pond, cemented-lined pit, burrow pit or drainage (Figure 4.2). These categories represent the diversity of aquatic habitats within the study area (Fillinger *et al.* 2004; Minakawa *et al.* 2012).



Figure 4.2. Common aquatic habitat types recorded on Rusinga Island. A) Swamp: Area along the lake shore where water is permanent to semi-permanent. Vegetation is often characterized by tall grasses (reeds) and/or floating plants. B) Puddle: Natural and shallow depression (less than 0.5 m deep) that collects rainwater. C) Fish pond: Large man-made pool (>1m deep, >5m long and wide) used for fish farming. D) Cement-lined pit: Pit serving as water reservoir in building sites. E) Borrow pits: Man-made holes in any ground (for taking soil, for getting stones, for building a pit latrine), that can collect rain water or be filled by ground water. F) Drainage: Long narrow excavation in the earth for carrying off excess water or sewage.

Data on size (perimeter), soil type (sand, loam, clay, artificial), water origin (rain, lake, ground), land cover (floodplain of the lake, agricultural fields, compound/bush), presence of floating vegetation (e.g. *Eichornia spp.*, *Lemna spp.*) and presence of algae film on the surface or any other debris were recorded for every habitat. The proportion of habitat covered with emergent vegetation on the surface and on the edge and the proportion of shade were visually estimated. Water depth was measured with a wooden meter at the centre of the habitat when possible and for larger habitats at several points and averaged. Distances to the nearest house and to the lake were measured using the GPS trekking function.

Conductivity, pH, dissolved oxygen and water temperature were recorded with a multimeter (Multi 340i, WTW Germany). Turbidity was measured with a turbidity meter (TURB 355IR, WTW Germany).

Habitat water was tested for ammonium (NH4+), carbonate hardness, total hardness, nitrate (NO3–), nitrite (NO2–), and phosphate (PO4 3–) content using Aquamerck® test kits from the compact laboratory for water testing (Aquamerck®No.111151, Germany).

Water samples for bacteria and chemical headspace analyses were collected as follows. First four sub-samples of water of approximately 350 ml were taken in different depths of the habitat using a standard dipper (350 ml dipper, Clarke Mosquito Control Products, USA), two on the ground and two on the surface ensuring that different sections of the habitat are represented (i.e. shade/no shade, vegetation/no vegetation). The sub-samples were sieved with a clean cotton cloth and mixed gently in a plastic basin that was washed several times before with habitat water. From the mixed sample, 100 ml of water were collected in two new sterile Falcon[™] type tubes (50 ml) to carry out DNA bacteria analysis; 250 ml of water were collect in wide mouth polypropylene bottles (250 ml) for collection of the chemical headspace (Agelopoulos & Pickett 1998) and 50 ml of water was taken in an amber polyethylene terephthalate (PTE) tube (50 ml) with a Teflon lid to determine the biological oxygen consumption (BOC) for every habitat. All samples were placed in a cooler box and transferred to the laboratory facilities at ICIPE, Thomas Odhiambo Campus (ICIPE-TOC) located 2-9 km from the sampling sites. Water samples for bacteria analyses were stored at -70°C freezer (C340 New Brunswick Scientific, USA) until use. Water samples for chemical headspace analyses were prepared for volatile trapping by adding 37.5 g of NaCl to each sample (Mozuraitis, Buda & Borg-Karlson 2010). The bottles were completely full and did not contain any air. They were tightly closed and sent to the Chemical Ecology Laboratory at ICIPE-Nairobi on the day of sampling and analyzed within 16 hours of sampling. BOC was estimated by subtracting the dissolved oxygen content measured in day 5 post sampling from dissolved oxygen content measured in day zero (sampling day).

Water samples for identification of zooplankton were taken according to the size of the habitat: 2 L for water bodies >10 m², 1 L for water bodies between 1-10 m² and 0.5 L for water bodies <1 m². Water was collected with a standard dipper (350 ml dipper, Clarke Mosquito Control Products, USA) from different spots of the habitat and passed through a sieve with a 50 μ m mesh size. Organisms in the sieve were washed with 70% ethanol into a sampling glass (20 ml). Samples were protected against UV radiation in a cooler 94

box and transported to the laboratory for further identification. Samples were stored at room temperature until the organisms were counted and classified under the microscope (Zeiss, Germany) to family level for Cladocera, Suborder for Copepoda and Class for Ostracoda (Edmondson 1959; Witty 2004).

4.3.6 Bacteria community analysis

DNA extraction, amplification and purification: Water sample (50 ml) duplicates were thawed at room temperature and centrifuged at 4000 g for 30 min at 6°C. The resulting pellet was transferred into a 1.5 ml eppendorf tube and the total nucleic acid was extracted using the protocol supplied with the DNeasy® Blood & Tissue Kit (Qiagen, Hilden - Germany). Crude DNA was used as a template to amplify the 16S rDNA region with universal bacteria primers 968f gc: (5' CGC CCG CCG CGC GCG GCG 1401r: (5' CGG TGT GTA CAA GAC CC 3'). DNA extracted from water samples was amplified using Ready-To-Go PCR beads (GE healthcare, Little Chalfont - United Kingdom) 1µl of each primer (10 pmol/µl), 1µl of DNA template and nuclease free water (Bioline, London, United Kingdom) were added to achieve a final reaction volume of 25µl. After an initial denaturation of double stranded DNA for 5 minutes at 94°C, the following protocol was used: denaturation at 94°C for 30 seconds, touchdown annealing 58-48°C (decreasing in 1°C /cycle) for 30 seconds, extension 72°C for 30 seconds ; 20 cycles consisting of denaturation 30 seconds at 94°C, annealing 30 seconds at 50°C, extension 30 seconds at 72°C; and final extension 72°C for 5 minutes. In order to concentrate the samples, two PCR reactions (each 25 µl) were carried out per sample, pooled and purified in a final volume of 10 µl using a MinElute® PCR Purification Kit (Qiagen, Hilden – Germany). PCR products were separated by electrophoresis in a 1.5% agarose gel stained by ethidium bromide. Amplicon sizes were determined by comparison to the molecular weight provided by Hyperladder[™] V (Bioline, London-United Kingdom).

Denaturing Gradient Gel Electrophoresis (DGGE): PCR products and DNA ladders were analyzed using a DcodeTM Universal Mutation Detection System (Bio-Rad, Hercules, CA - USA). The DNA fragments were separated on a polyacrylamide gel with 8% (wt/vol) acrylamide, containing a linear gradient of denaturant that ranges from 30% to 60% (with 100% denatured defined as 7M Urea plus 40% formamide). Approximately, 10 μ l of PCR product from each sample were loaded in a separate well of a DGGE gel. The gel ran at 70V for 16.5 h and 60°C. After completion of

electrophoresis, gels were incubated for 90 minutes shaking at 60 rpm in a staining solution containing 3X GelRed[™] in 0.1M NaCl. Digital photos were obtained immediately after staining in an InGenius LHR (Syngene, Cambridge, United Kingdom).

PCR products of cases and controls were grouped according to the habitat type and were run simultaneously on the same gel. HyperladderTM V (Bioline, London-United Kingdom) was run in parallel with the samples and was used as a reference lane to estimate molecular weights (MW) and to construct the intensity profile of each lane.

Analysis of DGGE gel images: Gel images were analyzed using Image LabTM software version 5.1(Bio-Rad Lab, Hercules, CA - USA) to calculate bacteria abundance and diversity of each aquatic habitat. Initially lanes and bands were detected automatically by the software, and then the sensitivity of each lane and additional bands were assessed and edited manually. Hyperladder V was selected as the reference lane and it was used by the software to calculate the molecular weights (positions) for each band. Band number two (300pb) in the hyperladder V was also selected as the reference band to calculate the relative quantity of each band. Data were exported to an Excel spreadsheet and sorted according to molecular weights. Bands with the same molecular weight were assigned a unique band number. Every analysis was done separately for every gel. Information regarding habitat type, habitat ID and habitat status (case/control) was also added in the database.

Each band was considered an operational taxonomic unit (OTU). Banding patterns of each gel were analyzed to assess bacterial species diversity as described by Ponnusamy et al. (Ponnusamy *et al.* 2008b).

Diversity of bacterial species: The relative quantity data were used to calculate Shannon-Weaver diversity indices (H'):

H'= -∑PiLogPi

ni = OTU intensity (relative quantity) for ith band, N = Summed intensities of all OTUs in a lane, Pi = Propotion of total diversity represented by the ith species (OTUs) Pi = ni/N

Evenness index (E) was estimated for the number of bacterial species in each lane as follow

S = Number of DGGE OTUs in each lane.

4.3.7. Chemical headspace analysis

Volatile organic compounds released from the habitat water were trapped by solid phase micro extraction (SPME). Trapping was done in parallel for cases and controls collected on the same date. In addition the chemical headspace was collected from a bottle containing distilled water, stored and transported the same way as the field samples and from an empty bottle that served as control for background volatiles.

Water samples were added into 500 ml conical flasks (Quickfit, England) which were covered with a double piece of aluminum foil. The aluminum foil cover was pierced with the needle of the SPME holder and the 65µm polydimethylsiloxane / divinylbenzene (PDMS-DVB) fiber (SupelcoTM, Bellefonte, PA, USA) exposed to the headspace above the sample. The SPME fibers were conditioned in the GC-injection port at 220°C for 5 minutes just before sampling. Volatiles were collected for 16 hours after which they were immediately analyzed by gas chromatography coupled to mass spectrometry (GC-MS).

Compounds trapped on SPME fibres were analysed on a GC-MS system comprising a 7890A GC (Agilent Technologies, Santa Clara, CA) fitted with a 30 m HP-5MS column (Agilent Technologies) with an inner diameter of 0.25 mm and 0.25 µm film thickness. The GC was coupled to a 5975C MS (Agilent Technologies) with electronic ionization at 70 eV and the ion source kept at 230°C and the quadropole at 150°C. Masses were scanned from 38-550. The GC injector was kept at 250°C in a splitless mode, helium with a flow of 1.2 ml/min was used as carrier gas. The oven temperature was held at 40°C for 3 minutes, then programmed to increase at 5°C/min to 260°C and maintained at this temperature for 3 minutes for a total running time of 50 minutes.

For the comparison of volatile chemical profiles from the headspaces of aquatic habitats, the retention parameters from the chromatograms were integrated using the Chem station integrator and auto-integration function in Chem Station software (MSD ChemStation E.02.01.1177). Mass spectra fragments were recorded manually for each compound integrated. Compounds were grouped according to retention time, MS fragments, and given a unique volatile identification number (ID). A database was

created with information about the abundance of each volatile (area of the peak) in the samples and used for analyses.

4.3.8 Data analyses

Generalized linear models (GLM) with a negative binomial distribution were used to estimate means and 95% confidence intervals for each factor measured in the cases and control groups. Factor that differed significantly between cases and controls were further included in a predictive GLM to evaluate their impact on the presence of early instar *Anopheles* larvae. Analyses were performed in SPSS statistical software version 20.

Principal component analyses (PCA) were used to explore possible associations of bacteria communities, chemical profiles and case and control habitats in reduced dimension plots. This analysis allows to visualize the data without constraint of an initial hypothesis concerning the relationships between bacteria, volatile chemicals and aquatic habitats either control or case.

Bacteria and chemical profiles were only analysed for 60 habitats which presented the extreme ends of the cases and controls in terms of early instar larval abundance. The 30 cases with the highest early instar larval abundance (>43 early instar larvae per m²) were selected for analyses. These were compared with 30 controls that were randomly selected (Random Sorter in Microsoft Excel) from the controls. Bacteria communities' analyses were carried out separately for every habitat type. In each analysis relative densities of OTUs were centred and standardized. For volatile chemical analyses data were centred and standardized by relative amount of volatile chemical. PCA was chosen in all ordination analyses given that all data were compositional and gradient lengths were less than three standard deviation units long. PCA was performed in CANOCO 5 for windows version 5 (Ter Braak & Šmilauer 2012).

4.4 Results

In total 219 habitats were sampled across the eight zones of Rusinga Island during the long rainy season of 2012. Of those 44 habitats were included in the analyses as controls and 72 as cases. One hundred and three intermediate habitats with more than 1 but less than 20 early *Anopheles* larvae were excluded from the analyses. All specimens that amplified during PCR mosquito identification (168/182) were *An. arabiensis*.

Presence of aquatic habitats colonized and not colonized by *Anopheles* larvae was strongly influenced by rainfall. At the onset of the rainy season aquatic habitats were

scarce and only a small fraction was positive for *Anopheles* larvae. In addition, habitats were colonized in low density which is evidenced by the high proportion of intermediate habitats found. As soon as the rains progressed the number of larval habitats increased and also the density of early instar larvae per habitat leaving very few habitats free of mosquito larvae during between early June and early July. The number of aquatic habitats without *Anopheles* larvae increased again at the end of July following a month without rain (Figure 4.3).



Figure 4.3. Frequency of occurrence of controls and cases during sampling dates and their relation with rainfall.

4.4.1 Differences in environmental and biological factors between control and case habitats

Initially, modelled means and 95% confidence intervals (CIs) were calculated for every factor measured during the habitat surveys and compared between control and case habitats. Ten characteristics differed significantly in their means between these two groups (Table 4.1) and were used to construct a predictive multivariate model that could explain the differences in mosquito colonization between the two groups. Out of ten factors included in the model only the abundance of late instar *Anopheles* larvae and turbidity remained significantly associated with the presence of early instar *Anopheles* larvae (Table 4.1).

Oviposition (as expressed by high numbers of early instar *Anopheles* in cases) was strongly and positively associated with the abundance of conspecific late instars. One unit increase in late instar larvae increased the odds of an aquatic habitat being a case four times (Table 4.1).

Factor	Me	ans	Odds ratio ^a	GLM
	(95%	o CI)	(95% CI)	P-value
	Controls	Cases		
Anopheles late/ m ²	0.24 (0.18-0.32)	7.17 (5.69-9.04)	4.078 (1.683-9.880)	0.002
Naucoridae/m ²	1.50 (1.12-2.02)	0.31 (0.25-0.39)	0.760 (0.300-1.926)	0.563
Coleoptera adults/m ²	1.14 (0.85-1.53)	2.32 (1.84-2.92)	1.227 (0.951-1.584)	0.116
Fish/m ²	1.19 (0.89-1.60)	0.31 (0.24-0.38)	0.882 (0.607-1.281)	0.509
Cyclopoida/L	74.8 (55.7-100)	189 (150-238)	0.998 (0.994-1.002)	0.407
Nauplius/L	280 (208-376)	620 (492-781)	1.000 (0.999-1001)	0.629
Moinidae/L	2.48 (1.85-3.34)	149 (118-187)	1.011 (0.981-1.042)	0.479
Turbidity (NTU)	56.2 (41.8-75.6)	205 (163-259)	1.005 (1.001-1.010)	0.025
Ammonium (mg/L)	0.20 (0.15-0.27)	0.06 (0.05-0.08)	0.312 (0.029-3.399)	0.339
Nitrite (mg/L) ^b	0.01 (0.01-0.02)	0.04 (0.03-0.04)	-	-

 Table 4.1 Differences of biological and environmental factors

 between control and case habitats

^aoutput of the multivariate GLM modeling the probability of a habitat being a case based on the listed explanatory variables ^bNitrite is a redundant parameter excluded from the model. Only 16% of the habitats had

^oNitrite is a redundant parameter excluded from the model. Only 16% of the habitats had a value different from zero for nitrites.

Turbidity was the only environmental factor associated with the presence of *Anopheles* mosquitoes, every unit (NTU) increase in turbidity augmented the probability of a habitat to be colonized by *Anopheles gambiae s.l.* by 0.4 % (Table 4.1). Exploratory data analysis (Figure 4.4) showed that if turbidity of a habitat was > 200 NTU the habitat was most likely a case (22 cases/26 habitats >200 NTU). Only four habitats measured >200 NTU were not colonised by mosquitoes; these water bodies had exceptionally high coverage of vegetation, one of them had a complete surface layer of floating duck weed (*Lemna* sp.). Consequently, the turbid surface of the water may have not been visible (or otherwise detectable) for the gravid females or the unfavourable environmental conditions might have overwritten the preference for high turbidity.

Ninety habitats exhibited turbidity < 200 NTU and of those 55% (50/90) were colonised by *Anopheles*.





Based on this results two major questions arose:

(1) What differences other than turbidity exist between habitats with < 200 NTU turbidity (henceforth called clear habitats) and habitats with >200 NTU turbidity (henceforth called turbid habitats) that are colonized by *Anopheles* mosquitoes (cases)?

(2) Are there any differences between clear habitat controls and clear habitat cases that might explain why these habitats have been chosen or not chosen for oviposition by *An*. *gambiae s.l.*?

To explore these questions the habitat data were divided in three groups according to turbidity levels: clear controls (n=40), clear cases (n=50) and turbid cases (n=22). The four control habitats with >200 NTU were excluded from the analysis.

4.4.2 Differences between clear and turbid case habitats

Clear and turbid case habitats were equally chosen for oviposition as expressed by the nearly identical abundance of early instar Anopheles larvae (22-23 early Anopheles/m²) in the two groups (Table 4.2). When comparing the explanatory variables for clear and turbid case habitats significant differences were found regarding invertebrate fauna composition, zooplankton composition and environmental factors. Turbid cases had twice as many late instar Anopheles larvae than clear cases. In addition, turbid cases were strongly associated with high densities of Cladocerans of the family Moinidae, copepods of the order Cyclopoida and Rotifera, which were rare in the clear cases. On the contrary, clear cases exhibited higher abundances of Odonata, Heteropterans of the family Notonectidae, and of cladocerans from the families Daphnidae, Chyoboridae and Macrothricidae, than turbid cases. These results may indicate that although both clear and turbid habitats were chosen by gravid Anopheles females to oviposit turbid habitats provided an additional advantage to the larvae increasing their survival perhaps due to lower density of predators or due to a mutualism with the organisms in the same trophic level i.e. cladocerans of the Moinidae family. Turbid cases were on average four times bigger in area than clear cases or controls. (Table 4.2). Turbid cases were also characterized by four times higher phosphate content than clear cases. Phosphate concentrations were highly correlated with turbidity (Spearman's rho 0.57, p<0.001).

All aquatic habitats on Rusinga Island irrespective of case or control were found within 100 to 300 meters from the next house and therefore blood hosts. However, clear cases were strongly associated with the lake, being never further away from the shore more than 200 meters, whilst turbid cases and controls could be found much further away from the lake (Table 4.2).

Turbid cases were found in all habitat types but being most common in the category of puddle/fish ponds. These habitats are constituted for abandoned fish ponds that keep rain water forming a puddle. Most of the turbid cases were located close to agricultural fields, filled with rain water and composed by loamy soil substrate. In contrast, the majority of clear cases were situated in the floodplains of the lake with equally distribution of habitats filled with rain or lake water and sand as primary substrate (Figure 4.5).

Table 4.2 Comparison of biological and environmental factors between clear (<200 NTU) control habitats, clear (<200 NTU) case habitats and turbid (>200 NTU) case habitats. Red indicates significant differences between clear habitats (controls versus cases) and blue indicates significant differences between clear and turbid cases.

	Mean (95% CI)			RR (95% CI), p (in reference to control <200NTU)	
Aquatic organisms*	control <200NTU	case <200NTU	case >200NTU	case <200NTU	case >200NTU
	N=40	N=50	N=22		
Anopheles early instars	0	22.2 (16.8-29.3)	23.1 (15.2-35.1)	p<0.001	p<0.001
Anopheles late instars	0.26 (0.19-0.35)	5.11 (3.87-6.74)	11.87 (7.82-18.02)	20.0 (13.1-30.2), p<0.001	46.3 (27.5-78.0), p<0.001
Ephemeroptera	2.65 (1.94-3.61)	3.93 (2.92-5.28)	0.46 (0.28-0.75)	1.48 (0.97-2.27), p=0.070	0.17 (0.10=0.31), p<0.001
Odonata	0.27 (0.20-0.37)	0.35 (0.27-0.47)	0.02 (0.01-0.03)	1.30 (0.85-1.96), p=0.220	0.08 (0.05-0.14), p<0.001
Notonectidae	7.24 (5.31-9.87)	7.64 (5.79-10.08)	0.74 (0.49-1.12)	1.06 (0.70-1.60), p=0.798	0.10 (0.06-0.17), p<0.001
Naucoridae	1.64 (1.21-2.24)	0.22 (0.17-0.29)	0.51 (0.34-0.78)	0.13 (0.09-0.20), p<0.001	0.31 (0.19-0.53), p<0.001
Corixidae & Nepidae	2.24 (1.65-3.03)	2.37 (1.79-3.12)	2.26 (1.55-3.58)	1.05 (0.70-1.60), p=0.803	1.05 (0.62-1.77), p=0.854
Coleoptera larvae	0.75 (0.55-1.02)	0.95 (0.72-1.25)	0.59 (0.39-0.89)	1.27 (0.84-1.93), p=0.255	0.78 (0.47-1.32), p=0.361
Coleoptera adults	1.23 (0.90-1.67)	2.52 (1.91-3.32)	1.86 (1.22-2.83)	2.05 (1.35-3.11), p=0.001	1.52 (0.90-2.55), p=0.117
Daphniidae	6.15 (4.40-8.59)	6.96 (5.17-9.36)	0	1.13 (0.72-1.77), p=0.590	p<0.001
Chydoridae	1.13 (0.73-1.72)	7.62 (5.67-10.23)	0	6.77 (4.03-11.37), p<0.001	p<0.001
Bosminidae	0.18 (0.08-0.39)	0	0	p<0.001	p<0.001
Sidiidae	9.60 (6.90-13.30)	0.06 (0.02-0.19)	0.22 (0.08-0.6)	0.01 (0.002-0.021), p<0.001	0.02 (0.01-0.07), p<0.001
Macrothricide	12.50 (9.06-17.25)	37.66 (28.44-49.87)	0.77 (0.41-1.46)	3.01 (1.97-4.62), p<0.001	0.06 (0.03-0.13), p<0.001
Haparcticoida	0.65 (0.40-1.07)	0.60 (0.38-0.94)	0.00	0.92 (0.47-1.80), p=0.815	p<0.001
Moinidae	2.45 (1.68-3.51)	17.28 (12.99-22.98)	448 (295-681)	7.13 (4.47-11.35), p<0.001	184 (105-322), p<0.001
Ostracoda	59.97 (43.70-82.30)	64.90 (49.08-85.81)	10.46 (6.75-16.19)	1.08 (0.71-1.65), p=714	0.17 (0.10-0.30), p<0.001
Cyclopoida	70.70 (51.74-96.60)	58.68 (44.37-77.61)	487 (320-7400	0.83 (0.54-1.26), p=0.383	5.88 (4.09-11.61), p<0.001
Naupilus	243 (178-332)	258 (195-340)	1444(951-2194)	1.06 (0.70-1.61), p=0.788	5.93 (3.52-9.99), p<0.001
Rotifera	2217 (1626-3023)	953 (722-1258)	1390 (915-2112)	0.43 (0.28-0.65), p<0.001	0.63 (0.37-1.06), p=0.079
Fishes	1.31 (0.96-1.79)	0.43 (0.33-0.57)	0.02 (0.01-0.03)	0.33 (0.22-0.50), p<0.001	0.01 (0.01-0.02), p<0.001
WATER CHEMISTRY & E	NVIRONMENTAL I	FACTORS			
Turbidity (NTU)	32 (23-44)	35.14 (27-47)	593 (390-901)	1.11 (0.73-1.69), p=0.643	65 (11.05-31.48), p<0.001
Phosphates (mg/L)	0.63 (0.35-0.90)	0.60 (0.35-0.84)	2.25 (1.88-2.62)	0.97 (0.67-1.40), p=876	5.08 (3.21-8.04), p<0.001
conductivity (mS/sec)	366 (268-499)	466 (353-615)	620 (408-942)	1.28 (0.84-1.93), p=0.252	1.70 (1.01-2.85), p=0.047
рН	8.08 (7.86-8.30)	8.12 (7.93-8.32)	8.54 (8.25-8.84)	1.04 (0.78-1.41), p=753	1.59 (1.10-2.30), p=0.013
Nitrates mg/L)	14.37 (10.43-19.81)	15.60 (11.72-20.76)	14.32 (9.29-22.06)	1.09 (0.71-0.67), p=0.709	0.99 (0.58-1.70), p=0.988
Dissolved oxigen (ppm)	5.90 (1.01-4.22)	7.38 (1.11-5.49)	6.91 (1.58-4.42)	1.25 (0.80-1.96), p=0.326	1.17 (0.66-1.05), p=0.580
Total hardness (mmol/L)	1.50 (1.15-1.84)	1.67 (1.35-1.98)	1.47 (1.01-1.94)	1.19 (0.76-1.90), p=0.463	0.98 (0.55-1.76), p=0.953
Carbonate hardness (mmol/I	5.55 (3.96-7.77)	5.86 (4.34-7.91)	7.00 (4.48-10.94)	1.06 (0.67-1.66), p=0.813	1.26 (0.72-2.21), p=0.416
Habitat size (m ²)	6.60 (4.70-9.20)	6.50 (1.00-9.00)	25.60 (16.70-40.00)	0.99 (0.64-1.55), p=0.981	3.89 (2.26-6.67), p<0.001
Habitat shaded (%)	26 (19-35)	17 (12-22)	13 (8-19)	0.64 (0.42-0.99), p=0.043	0.49 (0.29-0.83), p=0.009
Edge grass cover (%)	47 (34-64)	66 (50-88)	52 (34-80)	1.42 (0.93-2.16), p=0.103	1.12 (0.66-1.89), p=0.677
Surface grass cover (%)	24 (18-33)	37 (28-50)	18 (12-28)	1.55 (1.02-2.37), p=0.042	0.76 (0.44-1.30), p=0.320
Distance to next house (m)	127 (93-173)	158 (120-209)	211 (139-322)	1.25 (0.82-1.89), p=0.300	1.67 (0.99-2.81), p=0.054
Distance to the lake (m)	318 (233-434)	148 (112-195)	378 (249-574)	0.46 (0.31-0.70), p<0.001	1.18 (0.71-2.00), p=0.517

* means for insects and fishes are per square metre, means for zooplankton are per litre

32 (24-45)

water depth (cm)

RR are based on univariate modelling of the single explanatory factor where means are compared.

20 (13-30)

23 (17-31)

0.71 (0.46-1.08), p=0.114 0.61 (0.36-1.04), p=0.069



Figure 4.5. Distribution of environmental factors evaluated visually in clear control habitats (< 200 NTU), clear cases (< 200 NTU) and turbid cases (> 200 NTU). A) Habitat types, B) Grass presence in habitat including surface and edge, C) Dominant land cover type, D) Habitat water origin, E) Habitat soil type.

4.4.3 Differences between clear control and clear case habitats

Comparing the explanatory variables for clear control and clear case habitats a number of significant differences were found regarding invertebrate fauna composition, zooplankton composition and environmental factors (Table 4.2, Figure 4.5). The probability of a clear habitat becoming a case increased significantly with a unit increase of a late instar *Anopheles* larva (RR=20, 95% CI (13-30)), of cladocerans of the family Moinidae (RR=7, 95% CI (4-11)), of Chydoridae (RR=6, 95% CI (4-11)) and of Macrothricidae (RR=3, 95% CI (2-15)). Conversely, the probability of being colonized was drastically reduced with every unit increase of rotifers (RR=0.43, 95% CI (0.28-0.65)), of members of the Naucoridae family (RR=0.13, 95% CI (0.09-0.20)) and of fish (RR=0.33, 95% CI (0.22-0.50)). There were no differences between clear controls and clear cases in the density of other invertebrate predators like Odonata, Notonectidae, Corixidae, Nepidae and Coleoptera larvae; Coleoptera adults were even positively associated with cases (Table 4.2).

Grass covering some part of the water surface was significantly associated with oviposition in clear habitats. Clear cases had on average a higher percentage of the habitat covered by tufts of grass than clear controls (RR=1.55, 95% CI (1.02-2.37)). Notably, turbid case habitats did not differ in their grass coverage from controls. Grass cover in an otherwise translucent habitat might signal better protection for the offspring to the gravid female. Furthermore, for a clear habitat to be a case it had to be less than 200 meters away from the lake shore (Table 4.2) possibly indicating that the habitat is less likely to dry up than relatively small habitats further away from the lake or signalling a better water quality based on the fact that lake and ground water constantly replenishes these habitats.

4.4.4 Bacteria community analyses

DGGE analyses of 16S RNA gene PCR products were obtained for 60 water samples distributed in four habitat types: swamps, puddles, cemented lined pits and burrow pits. In each profile each band equalling an operational taxonomic unit (OTU) was assumed to represent a unique phylotype, therefore the richness of bacteria groups was reflected in the number of DGGE-DNA bands. Likewise, the intensity of a band was intended to reflect the relative abundance of that bacteria group in the sample.

Diverse DNA banding patterns were found in water samples collected from swamps (9-22 bacterial species, n=15), puddles (10-28 bacterial species, n=14), cemented lined pits (4-22 bacterial species, n=16), and burrow pits (13-22 bacterial species, n=15) (Figure 4.6.; Table 4.3)

4.4.5 Chemical headspace analyses

GC-MS analyses of headspace samples from 60 habitats lead to the detection of 556 compounds. There was a very high variability between habitats in terms of the numbers of compounds detected and amount released. The number of compounds ranged between 3-71 for a single habitat. The majority of compounds were rare with 338 out of the 556 compounds detected only once. For analysing the chemical profiles of control and case habitats, a new database was generated to include only those compounds that were detected in > 5 habitats. Consequently, the list of compounds reduced to 46.

The total relative amount of volatiles released from the headspaces of clear controls and clear cases was similar (p=0.131) whilst the total amount of volatiles released by turbid cases was significantly lower (p=0.033) compared with the amount released by clear habitats (Figure 4.7).

(A) 16S rDNA-DGGE profiles

(B) PCA

(C) Diversity diagram



Figure 4.6. Analysis of bacteria communities from control and case habitats grouped in four different habitat types. A) 16S rDNA-DGGE profiles, every column represent an aquatic habitat and every band an operational taxonomic unit. Case and control habitats are separated by the reference (Hyperladder[™] V (Bioline, London-UK)). B) Principal Component analyses plots; arrows illustrate every operational taxonomic unit detected, and the length of the arrow is associated with the amount of variation explained for that operational taxonomic unit in the
sample. C) Diversity diagrams; circle sizes and labels indicate the numbers of operational taxonomic units.

Gel	Lane	No. OTUS (S)	Diversity index (H')	Evenness (H'/LogS)	Gel	Lane	No. OTUS (S)	Diversity index (H')	Evenness (H'/LogS)
Gel A	1	14	0.63	0.55	Gel C	1	18	0.80	0.64
Gel A	2	9	0.86	0.90	Gel C	2	5	0.28	0.41
Gel A	3	21	1.06	0.80	Gel C	3	13	0.69	0.62
Gel A	4	14	0.99	0.87	Gel C	4	15	0.83	0.71
Gel A	5	12	0.91	0.84	Gel C	5	8	0.80	0.88
Gel A	6	9	0.73	0.77	Gel C	6	15	0.84	0.72
Gel A	7	14	1.00	0.87	Gel C	7	19	1.07	0.84
Gel A	8	9	0.70	0.74	Gel C	8	22	1.04	0.77
Gel A	9	15	0.98	0.84	Gel C	9	20	1.00	0.77
Gel A	10	18	1.01	0.80	Gel C	10	18	0.99	0.79
Gel A	11	22	1.12	0.83	Gel C	11	4	0.50	0.83
Gel A	12	19	0.96	0.75	Gel C	12	13	0.93	0.84
Gel A	13	16	0.91	0.76	Gel C	13	10	0.67	0.67
Gel A	14	14	0.86	0.75	Gel C	14	14	0.65	0.56
Gel A	15	18	0.99	0.79	Gel C	15	12	0.76	0.70
Gel B	1	25	1.08	0.77	Gel C	16	9	0.81	0.85
Gel B	2	26	1.18	0.83	Gel D	1	16	0.08	0.07
Gel B	3	23	0.82	0.60	Gel D	2	14	0.90	0.78
Gel B	4	28	1.25	0.86	Gel D	3	13	0.92	0.83
Gel B	5	21	1.13	0.85	Gel D	4	19	1.06	0.83
Gel B	6	21	1.05	0.80	Gel D	5	18	1.02	0.82
Gel B	7	19	1.16	0.90	Gel D	6	22	1.05	0.78
Gel B	8	24	1.05	0.76	Gel D	7	17	0.97	0.79
Gel B	9	19	1.08	0.85	Gel D	8	20	1.01	0.78
Gel B	10	22	1.12	0.83	Gel D	9	13	0.92	0.83
Gel B	11	10	0.78	0.78	Gel D	10	18	1.07	0.86
Gel B	12	23	1.03	0.75	Gel D	11	19	0.93	0.73
Gel B	13	21	1.10	0.83	Gel D	12	20	1.16	0.89
Gel B	14	19	0.79	0.61	Gel D	13	19	0.91	0.71
					Gel D	14	19	1.09	0.85
					Gel D	15	14	0.93	0.81

Table. 4.3. Detailed analysis of banding patterns in 16S rDNA-DGGE profiles,Diversity and Evenness indexes

Gel A = Swamps, Gel B= Puddles, Gel C= Cemented pits, Gel D = Burrow pits. Shaded

cells correspond to habitats colonized by An. gambiae s.l. larvae (cases)



Figure 4.7. Box-and-Whisker plot showing median amount and interquartile range of the volatiles released (sum of relative amount) by clear controls (<200 NTU), clear cases (<200 NTU) and turbid cases (>200 NTU).

Principal component analysis of volatile chemicals detected in the three turbidity treatments (pooled data from all habitats in a group) revealed that most of the variation in the data (82%) was explained by the first two components which were related to the turbidity. This analysis suggests a small number of compounds as tentative markers for turbid cases (Figure 4.8). In addition, a number of compounds were common to both clear and turbid cases and few that were associated with clear cases. A tentative identification of these compounds based on the NIST library is presented in Table 4.4.



PCA1 (86 %)

Figure 4.8. Principal Component Analysis (PCA) biplot describing the chemical profile of the three treatment groups. Blue circles highlight chemicals more strongly associated with cases whilst red circle highlights chemicals characteristic for controls.

A large number of compounds describe the control habitats in the biplot. Interestingly, when comparing the number of control habitats with the number of case habitats that released these compounds, only four were found twice as frequently in controls than in cases. All other compounds were either equally frequently detected in controls or cases or even more frequently in cases. The amount of these chemicals released from control habitats was however, on average nine times higher per habitat (1,719,890; 95% CI 1,177,211-2,262,569) than the amount released from case habitats (196,689; 95% CI 184,869-208,510).

Habitat	Chemical	NIST hit name	%	Functional group
	ID		Quality	
Cases < 200	c110	1-Phenyl-1-butene; Benzene, 2-	90	Aromatic/
NTU		ethenyl-1,4-dimethyl-; Azulene,		Hydrocarbon
		1,2,3,3a-tetrahydro-		
	c118	Benzene, (1-methyl-1-propenyl)-,	90	Monoterpenoid,
		(E)-; 1H-Indene, 2,3-dihydro-4-		cyclic /Aldehyde
		methyl-; Benzene, 1-ethenyl-3-		
		ethyl-		
	c172	1-Cyclohexene-1-carboxaldehyde,	95	Aromatic
		2,6,6-trimethyl-		
	c457	Pyrene, hexadecahydro-; 5(1H)-	70	Aliphatic
		Azulenone, 2,4,6,7,8,8a-hexahydro-		
		3,8-dimethyl-4-(1-		
~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~		methylethylidene)-, (8S-cis)-		
Cases > 200 NTU	c60	Cyclohexanone, 2,2,6-trimethyl-	92	Ketone, cyclic
	c108	4-Decanone;	27	Aliphatic/
				Ketone
	c20	Hexanal, 2-ethyl-; 2-Heptanone, 6-	68	Aliphatic
		methyl-		
Cases (both				
clear and turbid)	c157	2-Decanone	95	Ketone
	c207	Tridecane	95	Aliphatic/
				Hydrocarbon
	c 1	Triethylamine	76	Unidentified
	c36	2,3-Octanedione	25	Unidentified

Table 4.4 Tentative compound identifications based on NIST library hits

4.5 Discussion

Our study emphasizes the complex interaction between biological, environmental and chemical factors in natural aquatic habitats along the shores of Lake Victoria, western Kenya, colonized and not colonized by early instar *Anopheles* larvae. Whilst differences between control and case habitats existed, we did not find a defined set of predictors that could explain all or at least the majority of cases. High turbidity >200 NTU was the only environmental factor that was strongly associated with cases. If a habitat was highly turbid, it was a case. Only one third of all case habitats were highly turbid. Clear cases were not as easily explained by the variables measured. Nevertheless, some risk factors were identified; clear cases were positively associated with higher grass coverage than clear controls, and were negatively associated with the abundance of creeping water bugs of the family Naucoridae and fish. These predictors though were not as strong as high turbidity. Some habitats without grass, containing Naucoridae and fish were still

colonized by early instar larvae. There was a marked difference in the zooplankton communities between clear controls, clear cases and turbid cases were always associated with a higher late instar *Anopheles* abundance.

Based on our results we have to reject the hypothesis that natural aquatic habitats without *Anopheles gambiae s.l.* larvae (controls) differ significantly from habitats that are well colonized by early instar larvae (cases) in their bacteria communities. We did not find any consistent differences between control and case habitats or between clear controls, clear cases and turbid cases. Bacteria profiles could not be associated with any environmental or biological factors. We have however, some indication that cases and control habitats differ in their chemical profile of the water headspace. We identified a small set of compounds that were strongly associated with cases, whilst a larger number was associated with controls. Compounds characteristic for controls were not more frequent in controls but the amount released was nearly an order of magnitude higher in controls as in cases. It was not possible to relate the chemical profiles of habitats to the environmental and biological parameters.

An. arabiensis was the predominant species of *An. gambiae* complex recorded in the main rainy season during this study. Although *An. gambiae s.s.* and *An. arabiensis* have been historically reported as sympatric species in Rusinga Island (Minakawa *et al.* 1999) *An. gambiae* s.s. was not detected in the present work. It is likely that similar to other places in western Kenya, decline of populations of *An. gambiae* s.s. is a consequence of intense indoor control interventions like ITNs (Bayoh *et al.* 2010). Furthermore, *An. arabiensis* and *An. gambiae* s.s. have been shown to share similar breeding habitats in the region (Minakawa *et al.* 1999; Gimnig *et al.* 2001; Minakawa *et al.* 2012) thus it is expected that both species would use similar oviposition cues to select an aquatic habitat to oviposit.

The potential role of habitat turbidity for oviposition site selection

Water turbidity results from suspended organic and inorganic particles in the water column and, it is defined "as an expression of the optical properties of a sample that causes light rays to be scattered and absorbed rather than transmitted in straight lines through the samples" (ASTM 2000). Particles such as clay and silt, finely divided organic matter, plankton and microorganisms contribute to turbidity (Paaijmans *et al.* 2008). Turbidity may affect the diversity and abundance of organisms living in aquatic ecosystems in various ways and it is not surprising that it has been positively correlated

with presence of *Anopheles* larvae in the past (Gimnig *et al.* 2001; Ye-Ebiyo *et al.* 2003; Mala & Irungu 2011).

It has been proposed that turbidity could influence immature stages of mosquitoes in three ways; First, altering their distribution given that turbidity might be used as a visual cue for gravid females to located breeding habitats, although this assumption is based in the information available about preference of *An. gambiae s.s.* for highly contrasted substrates between clear and dark backgrounds (McCrae 1984; Huang *et al.* 2007) there is not up to date information about how *An. gambiae s.l.* detect turbidity in the natural ecosystems. It can be speculated that turbid habitats can be detected via horizontal polarized light emitted from the water source which could reaches its highest point near sundown when mosquitoes might initiate flight in search for a breeding habitat (Kriska *et al.* 2009). So far the use of polarotaxis in larval habitat search in the Culicidae family has only been reported for the container-breeder mosquito *Aedes aegypti*. In its case however, polarized light was used as an attractive oviposition cue only in the absence of semiochemicals. (Bernath, Horvath & Meyer-Rochow 2012).

Second, a preference for turbid water can be explained as being advantageous for the offspring as a higher turbidity may decrease the probability of the larvae to be seen by its predators. Evidence for this approach is presented in this study, where turbid and clear habitats presented equal density of predators and yet turbid habitat presented double density of *Anopheles* larvae in comparison with clear habitats. In particular, it is argued that this mechanism could be important for visual predators like fish for which turbid water decreases its predation efficacy (Johannesen, Dunn & Morrell 2014).

Third, particles that contribute to turbidity may also interfere with larval feeding. In principle, high turbidity could prevent light from entering the water column and interfere with the growth of photosynthetic organisms i.e. algae and bacteria, affecting the availability of food for mosquito larvae; which in turn can slow down the rate of development affecting mosquito nutrient acquisition. On the other hand, proliferation of algae and bacteria can increase food availability raising the population density of mosquitoes (Ye-Ebiyo *et al.* 2003).

Strong correlation between oviposition and conspecific late instar abundance Presence of late instar *Anopheles* larvae did not deter gravid females from laying eggs in habitats previously colonized by conspecifics as it has been suggested in other studies (Koenraadt *et al.* 2003; Sharma 2012). This observation brings out the question about how larvae can be detected by gravid females and what are the larvae representing for gravid mosquitoes. It has been suggested that *An. gambiae* s.l. larvae could produce semiochemicals that are density-dependent. In low densities (< 5 larvae/100 ml) females could be attract to oviposit in the same larval habitat but in high densities (>50 larvae/100 ml) gravid females are repelled (Munga *et al.* 2006; Sumba *et al.* 2008). Presence of conspecifics could also give indications about the suitability of the habitats like the presence of nutrients content, water quality and could be the reason why mosquitoes have been reported ovipositing in water from breeding sites previously colonized by *Anopheles* larvae (McCrae 1984; Sumba *et al.* 2004; Otienoburu *et al.* 2007).

The role of predators in habitat selection – oviposition versus survival and its relation to turbidity. Densities of micro invertebrates often reported as predators of mosquito larvae (Odonata, Coleoptera larvae and adults, Notonectidae) did not differ between habitats colonized and not colonized by *An. gambiae s.l.* with the exception of members of the Naucoridae family that were more abundant in control habitats. This could be an indication that gravid *An. gambiae* did not detect predators when selecting an oviposition site. Contrary previous studies have suggested that *An. gambiae* select aquatic habitats with low predation pressure (Munga *et al.* 2006; Sumba *et al.* 2008). According with our data turbid cases had lower density of predators and higher density of late instar larvae in comparison with clear cases with higher density of predators and less late instar larvae whilst their average early instar density was exactly the same. Thus, we hypothesize that predators play a role in larval survival of *An. gambiae* s.l.

Creeping water bugs of Naucoridae family were the only micro invertebrate associated with the absence of early instar *An. gambiae s.l.* larvae. Naucoridae are recognized as voracious predators in stream tropical ecosystems, and even though mosquito larvae are counted between their preys; they can hunt almost any other organisms of minor size. In Europe the most common specie *IIyocoris cimicoides* has a feeding rate of > 20 mosquito larvae/day while their nymphs can consume as many as 35 larvae of *Aedes vexans*/day (Najera, Gonzalez-Silva & Alonso 2011). Although this insect group seems of the major importance in the regulation of other insect population in natural aquatic ecosystems little is known about how they might interact with malaria vectors larvae (Mbogho 2012). It is possible that *An. gambiae s.l.* like other species of mosquito had developed avoidance for a specific predators (Blaustein, Blaustein & Chase 2005;

Silberbush & Blaustein 2008) however, this need to be further explored in more controlled environments like microcosm or open field settings. It is clearly important to protect predators when controlling immature vector stages in the aquatic habitats since predators contribute to the control. However, the exclusive use of predators for controlling mosquito larvae is likely not successful as supported by the here presented data; even in the presence of a diverse predator community late instar anopheles larvae were abundant.

Bare habitats versus habitats with emergent vegetation/grass – the role of grass in clear habitats. Our results shown that there is a positive association between emergent vegetation and clear habitats that contained *An. gambiae s.l.* larvae, however, this association disappeared in turbid habitats that also contained early instar larvae. This evidence might be an indication that in turbid habitats the vegetation cover is an irrelevant cue for oviposition and the other way around. Likely grass and turbidity are detected by the gravid females as safety signals. Grass can confer refuge to otherwise exposed offspring in clear habitats and turbidity can reduce the probability of the larvae to be detected by visual predators like fish. This observation might explain some of the contradictory reports about *An gambiae s.l.* preferring habitats free of vegetation (Gimnig *et al.* 2001; Kenea, Balkew & Gebre-Michael 2011) (many of the turbid habitats, highly colonised are free of vegetation) and reports of positive association of tufts of grass and *Anopheles* larvae (Mwangangi *et al.* 2007; Fillinger *et al.* 2009b) which might always been observed when the habitats sampled contained a large proportion of habitats with low turbidity.

Distinct zooplankton communities in control and case habitats – **the role of competitors.** Controphic species of mosquitoe larvae particularly zooplankton was abundant in cases and control habitats and seems not to prevent *An. gambiae s.l.* colonization. Contrary, in the present study gravid females of *An. gambiae s.s.* preferred to lay eggs in aquatic habitats where high densities of members of Moinidae family were present. This is a positive association rarely reported for organisms in the same trophic level of mosquito larvae. Although there is limited information about this particular cladoceran groups in the tropics (WHO 1999) it has been suggested that zooplankton can be positively associated with mosquito larvae by consuming bacteria that are pathogenic to mosquitoes larvae or reducing predation on mosquito larvae serving as alternative prey (Blaustein & Chase 2007). In this study, competitors were not associated with negative effects in the population dynamic of early instar larvae. However, it should be

noted that the role of competition in transient aquatic habitats could be determined by other factors not studied here. It has been hypothesized that in ephemeral aquatic bodies' competition is a function of hydroperiod length suggesting that competition is less likely to be important in habitats of short hydroperiod because densities of competitors are unlikely to be high and resources are unlikely to be reduced. Whether mosquito larvae are benefited or harmed by the presence of the controphic species depends on which species is a better competitor for resources and which is more susceptible to predators (Blaustein and chase 2007).

Chemical profile analyses suggest that chemicals might be involved in habitat selection but no evidence was found to confirm or reject that these might be produced by bacteria. Diverse bacteria communities were identified in all aquatic habitat types investigated. No differences between habitats with and without early instar Anopheles were however detected. These findings are in agreement with a recent report of bacteria communities from domestic water storage containers with and without Ae. *aegypti* in Thailand; where diversity of bacterial communities did not differ between containers and therefore no bacteria group was associated with larvae presence (Tanner & de Savigny 2008). These results confirm our previous work suggesting that microbial communities from larval habitats are not associated directly with oviposition behaviour in An. gambiae s.l. In spite of the highly complex chemical profiles of natural water bodies data exploration suggests that some organic chemicals are associated with prolific oviposition sites whether turbid or not. Importantly, habitats without larvae were characterized by relatively more compounds and maybe more importantly of a higher amount of specific volatiles released from controls as compared to the amount of the same volatile released from cases. The standardized experiments and field observations confirmed that An. gambiae s.l selected oviposition sites through a complex interaction of volatiles organic compounds and visual cues.

4.6 Conclusion

The relationship between environmental characteristics, biotic and abiotic factors that characterize natural oviposition sites of *Anopheles gambiae s.l.* in Rusinga Island, western Kenya are complex. Further studies are required to investigate chemical cues released from vibrant larval habitats and their interaction with potential visual cues like turbidity investigated. Turbidity and volatile chemicals might be potentially exploited to attract and kill gravid females as a novel intervention for vector surveillance and control.

Chapter 5 Synthesis

Understanding the ecology of gravid *An. gambiae s.l.* is a prerequisite for the development of interventions against malaria vectors. Factors that guide gravid females foraging for oviposition sites might be manipulated to attract and kill adult mosquitoes or used as markers to target prolific larval habitats with larvicides. This study investigated whether *An. gambiae s.l* make informed choices when selecting oviposition sites and explored physical, chemical and biological parameters associated with these choices. Using dual-choice egg-count bioassays it was demonstrated that gravid *An. gambiae s.l.* discriminate between potential oviposition substrates using volatile chemical cues. Field studies revealed intricate mosquito colonization patterns that could be partially explained by the turbidity of water bodies. This study could not confirm that microbes in general or specific bacteria communities are associated with the selection of aquatic habitats by gravid females.

5.1 Key findings

5.1.1. Gravid *An. gambiae s.l.* females select sites to oviposit using volatile organic compounds and turbidity

This study found evidence that gravid An. gambiae s.l. make informed choices when selecting an egg-laying site. Firstly, the mosquitoes consistently discriminated between contrasting infusions in standardized experiments in the field and laboratory. When provided with a choice of rabbit food pellet infusions and lake water the mosquitoes avoided the infusion and laid eggs in the lake water. As the pellet infusion aged it became increasingly less likely that mosquitoes would lay eggs in it. In contrast to this, gravid mosquitoes preferred laying eggs in aging soil infusion instead of lake water. This preference for soil infusion did not depend on the visual appearance of the infusions demonstrating that volatile organic compounds dominated visual cues within that range. The volatile organic compounds that were responsible for the preference and avoidance of the organic infusions were not investigated in detail within the scope of this thesis. However, this work was continued in collaboration with colleagues in parallel ((Okal et al. 2013) (Appendix B), Okal et al. 2015 under review (Appendix C), Lindh et al 2015 under review (Appendix D),) and suggests that the avoided chemical cues released from the highly organic and decomposing pellet infusion were bacteria metabolites (p-cresol, skatol, indol), whilst the only attractive cue to date identified for the soil infusion in addition to water vapour (cedrol) is likely plant derived (Okal et al 2014, Okal et al 2015, Lindh et al 2015; Appendices C-D). Secondly, the distribution of first instar An. gambiae s.l. larvae in the field was non-random. Aquatic water bodies with turbidity measures greater than 200 NTU were with over 80% certainty colonized highly by early and late instar An. gambiae s.l. larvae. Turbid habitats interestingly released less volatile organic compounds than non-turbid habitats although a small set of chemicals associated specifically with these habitats were identified and justify further investigation. Turbidity is likely a strong visual cue at a longer range than chemical cues that increases the probability of a gravid female finding the habitat in the early evening. Visual cues aiding the orientation towards a potential habitat have been shown before in cage and semi-field settings (Huang et al. 2007; Dugassa et al. 2014). In spite of the highly complex chemical profiles of natural water bodies data exploration suggests that some organic chemicals are associated with prolific oviposition sites whether turbid or not. Importantly, habitats without larvae were characterized by relatively more compounds and and maybe more importantly of a higher amount of specific volatiles released from controls as compared to the amount of the same volatile released from cases. The standardized experiments and field observations confirmed that An. gambiae s.l selected oviposition sites through a complex interaction of volatiles organic compounds and visual cues.

5.1.2. The oviposition choices of gravid *An. gambiae s.l.* are not associated with the microbial community of oviposition substrates from vibrant breeding sites

In contrast to some earlier reports, it could not be confirmed that gravid malaria vectors show preferences for soil or water collected from well colonized natural larval habitats over distilled water in standardized cage tests. Removing microbes from the natural substrates did not alter this response to the two substrates. Thus this work did not add evidence to the assumption that oviposition cues used by gravid An. gambiae s.l. to select (prefer) a habitat over the other are majorly produced *in situ* by microbes in the habitat. Whilst it cannot be excluded that volatile chemicals were involved in the selection of sites and that they might have been produced originally by microbes, the removal of microbes did not alter the chemical profile of the substrates to affect oviposition. Natural oviposition sites exhibited a large variability in bacteria communities without discernible differences in groups of bacteria between sites with and without An. gambiae s.l. larvae. Likewise, there were no differences in bacteria diversity between habitat There was neither association between types. an biological/environmental factors and bacteria communities nor between the three turbidity groups (clear controls, clear cases, turbid cases) and bacteria communities.

Therefore while there is sufficient evidence that volatile organic compounds could contribute to oviposition site selection in *An. gambiae s.l.* there is no evidence that these are produced by bacteria. Other microbes like algae and fungi were not investigated during this field study and their role in natural habitat selection remains unclear, however, the sterilizing techniques used in the laboratory experiment removed all microbes from the sample and no evidence was found that could justify investigating these groups.

5.1.3. Conspecific late instar larvae, competitors and predators in natural aquatic habitats do not prevent gravid *An. gambiae s.l.* from laving eggs in these habitats

In the present study clear and turbid habitats colonized by early instar An. gambiae s.l. were significantly associated with high abundance of late instar An. gambiae s.l. High late instars in habitats selected for oviposition seems to be an indication of increased survival in these habitats probably related with other habitat characteristics like quality of the water and nutrient content that gravid females may perceive when looking for a site to lay eggs. The association between conspecific larvae and oviposition has been controversially discussed in published work. On the one hand some hypothesize that gravid females avoid oviposition in habitats with abundant late instars due to the risk of competition and the early instars being eaten by late instars (Koenraadt et al. 2003; Munga et al. 2006; Sharma 2012). On the other hand, it has been speculated that conspecific larvae produce semiochemicals (Sumba et al. 2008) to guide gravid females to the oviposition sites. This study clearly demonstrates that early and late instar are strongly associated in natural habitats providing evidence that gravid Anopheles gambiae s.l. do not avoid laying eggs when large numbers of conspecifics are present. This might warrant further investigations if late instar larvae produce semiochemicals or if the observation is associated with better survival in these habitats. Zooplankton communities regarded as competitors of mosquito larvae (Blaustein & Chase 2007) are plentiful in habitats with and without early instar An. gambiae s.l. larvae and there is a strong indication that certain taxonomic groups are associated with habitats where mosquito larvae are present. Gravid An. gambiae s.l. preferred to lay eggs in aquatic habitats with high densities of members of the Moinidae family. This is a positive association rarely reported for organisms in the same trophic level of mosquito larvae. Although there is limited information about this particular cladoceran group in the tropics it has been suggested that zooplankton can be positively associated with larvae by consuming bacteria that are pathogenic to mosquito larvae or reducing predation pressure when serving as alternative prey (Blaustein & Chase 2007). Nevertheless, none of these hypotheses have been tested in *An. gambiae s.l.*. To my knowledge this is the first study where zooplankton from transient fresh water ecosystems was identified and related to the abundance of mosquito larvae in Kenya. The data does not suggest that zooplankton organisms compete with *Anopheles* larvae and therefore reduce larval abundance or oviposition and therefore does not present a viable option for malaria vector control as suggested by some; at least not in the naturally occurring densities.

Densities of micro-invertebrates often reported as predators of mosquitoes larvae (Odonata, Coleoptera larvae and adults, Notonectidae) did not differ between habitats colonized and not colonized by early instar An. gambiae s.l. indicating that gravid females did not detect and respond to predation risk when selecting a natural oviposition site. The only family of predators that might warrant further investigation are the Naucoridae. Members of this family were significantly more abundant in habitats without larvae. If this has to do with the detection and avoidance of these voracious predators by gravid females or whether the absence of Naucoridae from the cases has to do with other underlying habitat characteristics needs still to be proven - Based on the data, it is much more likely that predators played a role in larval survival than in oviposition site selection; this is supported by the relation between densities of late instar larvae and predators. Turbid cases with few predators had two fold more late instar An. gambiae s.l. than clear cases with a higher density of predators whilst their average early instar density was exactly the same. Predation is a vital interaction in the regulation of population dynamics and community structure in any ecosystem and mosquito larval habitats are no exception (Blaustein 1999).

5.2 Limitation of the study

This study demonstrates that volatile organic chemicals and turbidity are involved in the regulation of the oviposition site choices of *An. gambiae s.l.*, however, by no means should it be concluded that these are the only cues involved in oviposition site selection. The presented work has generated the first extensive insight into the oviposition site selection of *Anopheles gambiae s.l.* and highlighted a large number of open questions still to be investigated and also the limitations of the work that was carried out.

The findings for this study are valid for the geographical area where this research was implemented. The extent to which such findings can be generalized needs to be further explored. There is indication from a recent study that cues for oviposition in *An*. *gambiae s.l.* could vary between geographical locations (Ogbunugafor & Sumba 2008).

For this reason, it is important to implement oviposition studies in different environments with dissimilar topography and climate. The evidence of this study, though rigorously gathered, must be interpreted with caution when describing oviposition in geographically separated populations of *An. gambiae s.l.*.

For lack of a direct way of estimating the oviposition rate of *An. gambiae s.l.* in the field, early instar larvae in natural habitats were used as a proxy for oviposition preferences and therefore aquatic water bodies were classified as case or control depending on presence or absence of these immature stages. Larvae first appear in breeding sites when eggs eclose two to three days after oviposition. Natural water bodies in the tropics are complex and dynamic environments changing quickly over time. Therefore, it cannot be excluded that the bacteria communities and chemical profiles experienced by the gravid female whilst laying eggs were not exactly the same as those collected and analysed at the day of early instar sampling.

Furthermore, the presence of larvae is also a function of other factors including the hatch rate of eggs or the relative survival of larvae. Nonetheless, until a direct method of detecting actual oviposition in natural ecosystems is found, first-instar larvae remains the most direct indicator for this behaviour. In order to analyse the chemical headspace and bacteria communities exactly on the day when oviposition occurs it would be necessary to revisit the aquatic habitat on a daily basis and collect samples and information on colonisation. This would be extremely difficult, time consuming and costly for investigating oviposition behaviour under field conditions however might be explored under more standardized conditions with artificial ponds to generate more insight on the speed and extend of change over time.

The approach taken to contrast and identify bacteria communities and volatile chemicals in natural *An. gambiae s.l.* larval habitats was very challenging with currently available tools. The complexity of the chemical profiles of natural water bodies necessitates the collection of a large numbers of samples in order to detect general patterns. Unfortunately, comparing mass spectral results from these samples can only be done manually and resulted in an extremely difficult and time consuming task; one that could be conceivably permeated with human error. However, given that this is a pioneer study in the identification of chemical headspace from natural aquatic habitats the results obtained here are valuable and can serve as a starting point for future work. The bacteria communities were analysed using DGGE, a method that could be implemented without highly specialized equipment and could therefore be done in a research field station. Furthermore, this method allows for bands of OTUs in the gel to be cut and to be identified if any of the OTUs would have been of specific interest. However, this technique is especially sensitive to human expertise in the process of gel making and consequently the reproducibility of results is a difficult endeavour (Nocker, Burr & Camper 2007). Most importantly, comparisons of bacteria communities could only be made for habitats loaded on the same gel but not inbetween gels. It was therefore not possible to implement an analyses with all data included. However, the sub-set analyses did not provide any evidence that would suggest that an analysis of the entire data set would have resulted in any significant associations.

5.3. Future work

A large number of new research questions resulted from the here presented findings that might be worth perusing for the development of new vector control strategies targeting the gravid malaria vectors and the most preferred larval habitats.

The soil infusion tested in chapter 2 was found to be preferred by gravid females for oviposition, however, it is important to screen other soil samples to see if the observed response is a response common for all soil infusions prepared under standard conditions or, which is more likely, if there are significant differences depending on the source and characteristics of the soil.

No evidence was found that bacteria communities were associated with habitat selection in the field. When investigating the oviposition response to highly decomposed organic matter presented by rabbit food pellets it is highly likely that the chemical cues that led to the avoidance of this substrate were indeed produced by bacteria. The question arises if bacteria produced volatiles might only be involved in avoidance of habitats (which might also be supported by the field observation, that controls released the same volatile compounds as cases but frequently in a much larger amount) but not in preferential selection of habitats. Furthermore, it would be necessary to explore other microbial groups like algae and fungi, in addition to vegetation present in the aquatic habitats in order to detect the potential source of attractive semiochemicals for egg-laying.

The high probability of wild *An. gambiae s.l.* mosquitoes laying eggs in turbid habitats suggests that mosquitoes use turbidity as a visual cue. Thus there would be value in studying this in a standardize way evaluating how mosquitoes detect turbidity. There is strong evidence that water insects orientate to a given polarized light field and that one

of the highest points where polarized light can be detected is at dusk precisely the time of the day were mosquitoes are foraging for an oviposition site (Bernath, Gal & Horvath 2004; Bernath, Horvath & Meyer-Rochow 2012). Studies evaluating the responses of *An. gambiae s.l.* to polarized light emitted from turbid substrates and its relation with oviposition would aid a better understanding of the cues used by gravid females and therefore pave the way for the development of novel sampling techniques. Most importantly, it is important to study how visual and chemical cues interact under natural conditions in order to design effective attract and kill strategies.

The relationship between the absence of *Anopheles gambiae s.l.* larvae and the presence of Naucoridae in natural aquatic habitats noticed in this study requires further examination to investigate if the predators can be detected by the gravid female and deter her from egg-laying. Furthermore, the role of turbidity in predation success needs further investigation. Do predatory micro-invertebrates avoid colonizing highly turbid habitats due to reduced visibility in the water column and does this protect the vector's offspring?

Biological and environmental factors in a given habitat change over time and likely affect the oviposition behaviour in time. A longitudinal study following a small group of aquatic habitats across the rainy season on Rusinga Island could be used to confirm the observations from the case control study and further elucidate if habitat preferences change over time or are strongly associated with specific habitats throughout.

5.4 General conclusions

It has been widely acknowledged that current vector control interventions in sub-Saharan Africa are insufficient to achieve malaria elimination since residual transmission will be maintained by exophilic and insecticide resistant vectors. In order to target malaria vectors outdoors a better understanding of their outdoor behaviour is needed. This thesis presents pioneering work investigating the oviposition site selection in *Anopheles gambiae sensu lato*, the major malaria vector in sub-Saharan Africa under controlled conditions and in field settings in Western Kenya to identify if this vector species selects habitats based on specific cues and to explore if such cues can be identified and used to improve larval source management practices and to develop novel strategies for monitoring and control of gravid females.

Results from experimental laboratory and semi-field studies and from observational field studies provided evidence that a gravid *An. gambiae s.l.* female selects a suitable habitat for oviposition using chemical cues from water bodies. It was shown that natural infusions can be used to manipulate the oviposition behaviour of *An. gambiae s.l.*. Soil infusions have the potential to be used to bait gravid traps for the collection of *An. gambiae s.l.* ((Herrera-Varela *et al.* 2014)/ Appendix A), although further work must be implemented to elucidate whether the observed preference was based on the specific soil type tested or whether similar responses can be achieved with any soil. In contrast, infusions routinely used in gravid traps for the monitoring of *Culex* and *Aedes* disease vectors, i.e., fermented hay infusions, rabbit food pellet (Lewis 1974; Lampman & Novak 1996; Jackson *et al.* 2005b), were strongly avoided by *An. gambiae s.l.*

Wild and caged *An. gambiae s.l.* females discriminate between potential aquatic habitats for oviposition based on habitat characteristics and experimental laboratory tests as well as the observational case-control study in the field confirmed that these choices benefit the survival of the offspring. Experience during the larval stage (rearing water characteristics) did not influence the adult's choice of oviposition substrate.

It was demonstrated that the choice of habitat is mediated by chemical cues based on both preference and avoidance. Based on this ground-breaking work, some chemical cues have been consequently been identified (Appendix C) as semiochemicals of oviposition. It was shown that the soil infusion contained at least one attractant that mediated the oviposition response of gravid females over several metres (Appendix D). Whilst further work is required, this work lays the foundation for the developed of 'push-pull' or 'attract and kill' strategies to improve malaria vector monitoring and control.

Previous reports that substrates containing microbes from vibrant larval habitats are preferred over the same substrates when sterilized were not confirmed. Elimination of live microorganisms from soil and water collected from a natural larval habitat does not necessarily influence the oviposition choices of gravid vectors. No evidence was found that volatiles produced *in situ* by these microbes are involved in the oviposition choice. Nevertheless, volatile profiles of oviposition substrates can be modified by sterilization and it was shown that substrates without any volatile headspace were avoided supporting the conclusion from the soil infusion experiments that volatile chemicals play a role in habitat selection. These findings were confirmed by the field study and based on these results it cannot be recommended to continue to invest in investigations of bacteria communities associated with preferred malaria vector habitats (but possibly with those that are avoided). Fungi and algae might be a potential source of attractive chemical cues, although the experimental work sterilizing substrates did not provide any evidence for that. Based on the results it is concluded, that rather than studying the microbial community, more time and effort should be invested in the chemical analyses of the headspaces of preferred habitats and infusions to identify individual chemical compounds and blends that could be used in traps.

The relationship between environmental characteristics, biotic and abiotic factors that characterize natural oviposition sites of *Anopheles gambiae* on the shores of Lake Victoria in western Kenya are intricate. The only factor that allowed prediction of a case with high probability was turbidity of the habitat >200 NTU. Whilst risk factors associated with selection and avoidance of habitats in the field were found, these were insufficient to guide larval source management operations targeting only habitats selected by gravid females. There might however be value in exploring experimentally or with a mathematical modelling approach what impact on malaria transmission might be achieved if only turbid habitats would be targeted for larval control since these habitats supported the highest survival of the immature stages and might therefore be the most productive sources of malaria vectors. The role of turbidity is likely visual and if further explored might provide an additional cue to be integrated in novel trapping

strategies combining chemical and visual cues to attract and kill malaria vectors in an

integrated vector management approach.

6. References

- Agelopoulos, N.G. & Pickett, J.A. (1998) Headspace Analysis in chemical ecology: Effects of different sampling methods on ratios of volatile compounds present in headspace samples. Chemical Ecology, 24, 1161-1172.
- Allan, S.A. & Kline, D.L. (1995) Evaluation of organic infusions and synthetic compounds mediating oviposition in Aedes albopictus and Aedes aegypti (Diptera: Culicidae). J Chem Ecol, 21, 1847-1860.
- Allan, S.A. & Kline, D.L. (2004) Evaluation of various attributes of gravid female traps for collection of Culex in Florida. Vector Ecology, 286-294.
- Awolola, T.S., Oduola, A.O., Obansa, J.B., Chukwurar, N.J. & Unyimadu, J.P. (2007) Anopheles gambiae s.s. breeding in polluted water bodies in urban Lagos, southwestern Nigeria. J Vector Borne Dis, 44, 241-244.
- Balestrino, F., Soliban, S.M., Gilles, J., Oliva, C. & Benedict, M.Q. (2010) Ovipositional behavior in the context of mass rearing of Anopheles arabiensis. J Am Mosq Control Assoc, 26, 365-372.
- Balkwill, D.L. & Casida, L.E. (1979) Attachment to autoclaved soil of bacterial cells from pure cultures of soil isolates. Appl Environ Microbiol, 37, 1031-1037.
- Barbosa, R.M., Regis, L., Vasconcelos, R. & Leal, W.S. (2010) Culex mosquitoes (Diptera: Culicidae) egg laying in traps loaded with *Bacillus thuringiensis* variety israelensis and baited with skatole. J Med Entomol, 47, 345-348.
- Bates, M. (1940) Oviposition experiments with anopheline mosquitoes. Am J Trop Med Hyg, 20, 569-583.
- Bates, M. (1949) The natural history of mosquitoes. The Macmillan Company New York
- Bayoh, M.N., Mathias, D.K., Odiere, M.R., Mutuku, F.M., Kamau, L., Gimnig, J.E., Vulule, J.M., Hawley, W.A., Hamel, M.J. & Walker, E.D. (2010) Anopheles gambiae: historical population decline associated with regional distribution of insecticide-treated bed nets in western Nyanza Province, Kenya. Malar J, 9, 62.
- Beehler, J.W., Millar, J.G. & Mulla, M.S. (1992) Protein hydrolysate solutions and skatole mediating oviposition behavior of *Culex quinquefasciatus*. J Chem Ecol, 38-42.
- Beehler, J.W., Millar, J.G. & Mulla, M.S. (1994) Field evaluation of synthetic compounds mediating oviposition in Culex mosquitoes (Diptera: Culicidae). J Chem Ecol, 20, 281-291.
- Bentley, M.D. & Day, J.F. (1989) Chemical ecology and behavioral aspects of mosquito oviposition. Annu Rev Entomol, 34, 401-421.
- Bentley, M.D., McDaniel, I.N., Yatagai, M., Lee, H.P. & Maynard, R. (1979) p-Cresol: an oviposition attractant of Aedes triseriatus. Environ Entomol, 8, 206-209.
- Benzon, G.L., Apperson, C.S. & Clay, W. (1988) Factors affecting oviposition site preference by Toxorhynchites splendens in the laboratory. J Am Mosq Control Assoc, 4, 20-22.
- Bernath, B., Gal, J. & Horvath, G. (2004) Why is it worth flying at dusk for aquatic insects? Polarotactic water detection is easiest at low solar elevations. J Exp Biol, 207, 755-765.
- Bernath, B., Horvath, G. & Meyer-Rochow, V.B. (2012) Polarotaxis in egg-laying vellow fever mosquitoes Aedes (Stegomyia) aegypti is masked due to infochemicals. J Insect Physiol, **58,** 1000-1006.
- Bertani, G. (2004) Lysogeny at mid-twentieth century: P1, P2 and other experimental systems. J. Bacteriol., 186, 595-600.
- Blackwell, A. & Johnson, S.N. (2000) Electrophysiological investigation of larval water and potential oviposition chemo-attractants for Anopheles gambiae s.s. Ann Trop Med Parasitol, 94, 389-398.
- Blaustein, L. (1999) Oviposition site selection in Response to risk of predation: Evidence from aquatic Habitats and consequences for population dynamics and community structure. Ecology, 441-456.

- Blaustein, L., Blaustein, J. & Chase, J.M. (2005) Chemical detection of the predator *Notonecta irrorata* by ovipositing *Culex* mosquitoes. *Vector Ecology*, **30**, 299-300.
- Blaustein, L. & Chase, J.M. (2007) Interactions Between Mosquito Larvae and Species that Share the Same Trophic Level. *Entomol*, **52**, 489-507.
- Bostanian, N. & Racette, G. (2001) Attract and kil, an effective technique to manage apple maggot, *Rhagoletis pomonella* (Diptera:Tehpritidae) in high density Quebec apple orchards. *Phytoprotection*, **82**, 25-34.
- Brown, R.B. Soil Texture. http://edis.ifas.ufl.edu/pdffiles/SS/SS16900.pdf.
- Burkett-Cadena, N.D. & Mullen, G.R. (2007) Field comparison of Bermuda-hay infusion to infusions of emergent aquatic vegetation for collecting female mosquitoes. *J Am Mosq Control Assoc*, 23, 117-123.
- Carey, A.F., Wang, G., Su, C.Y., Zwiebel, L.J. & Carlson, J.R. (2010) Odorant reception in the malaria mosquito *Anopheles gambiae*. *Nature*, **464**, 66-71.
- Castro, M.C., Kanamori, S., Kannady, K., Mkude, S., Killeen, G.F. & Fillinger, U. (2010) The importance of drains for the larval development of lymphatic filariasis and malaria vectors in Dar es Salaam, United Republic of Tanzania. *PLoS Negl Trop Dis*, **4**, e693.
- Charmillot, P.J., Hofer, D. & Pasquier, D. (2000) Attract and kill: a new method for control of the codling moth Cydia pomonella. *Entomologia Experimentalis et Applicata*, **94**, 211-216.
- Chen, H., Fillinger, U. & Yan, G. (2006) Oviposition behavior of female *Anopheles gambiae* in western Kenya inferred from microsatellite markers. *Am J Trop Med Hyg*, **75**, 246-250.
- Clements, A.N. (1999) *The biology of mosquitoes. Volume 2. Sensory reception and behaviour.* CABI Publishing, Wallingford.
- Colton, Y.M., Chadee, D.D. & Severson, D.W. (2003) Natural skip oviposition of the mosquito *Aedes aegypti* indicated by codominant genetic markers. *Med Vet Entomol*, **17**, 195-204.
- Cook, S.M., Khan, Z.R. & Pickett, J.A. (2007) The use of push-pull strategies in integrated pest management. *Annu Rev Entomol*, **52**, 375-400.
- Cunha, A., Almeida, A., Coelho, F.J.R.C., Gomes, N.C.M., Oliveira, V. & Santos, A.L. (2010) *Current research, technology and education topics in applied microbiology and microbial biotechnology*. Formatex Research Center.
- de França, S.M., Oliveira Breda, M., Badji, C.A. & Vargas de Oliveira, J. (2013) The Use of Behavioral Manipulation Techniques On Synthetic Insecticides Optimization. *Insecticides - Development of Safer and More Effective Technologies* (ed. P.S. Trdan), pp. 177-188. InTech.
- De Klerk, A. & Wepener, V. (2011) The influence of biotope and sampling method on the assessment of the invertebrate community structure in endorheic reed pans in South Africa. *African Journal of Aquatic Science*, **36**, 67-74.
- Dethier, V.G., Barton, B.L. & Smith, C.N. (1960) The designation of chemicals in terms of the responses they elicit from insects. *J. Econ. Entomol.*, **53**, 134-136.
- Dicke, M. & Sabelis, M.W. (1988) Infochemical terminology: Based on cost-benefit analysis rather than origin of compounds? . *Functional Ecol*, **2**, 131-139.
- Dugassa, S., Lindh, J.M., Torr, S.J., Lindsay, S.W. & Fillinger, U. (2014) Evaluation of the influence of electric nets on the behaviour of oviposition site seeking Anopheles gambiae s.s. *Parasit Vectors*, 7, 272.
- Edmondson, W.T. (1959) *Freshwater Biology*, 2nd edn. John Wiley & Sons, Inc., University of Washington, Seattle, USA.
- El-Sayed, A.M., Suckling, D.M., Wearing, C.H. & Byers, J.A. (2006) Potential of mass trapping for long-term pest management and eradication of invasive species. *J Econ Entomol*, **99**, 1550-1564.
- Ferguson, H.M., Dornhaus, A., Beeche, A., Borgemeister, C., Gottlieb, M., Mulla, M.S., Gimnig, J.E., Fish, D. & Killeen, G.F. (2010) Ecology: a prerequisite for malaria elimination and eradication. *PLoS Med*, **7**, e1000303.
- Fillinger, U., Kannady, K., William, G., Vanek, M.J., Dongus, S., Nyika, D., Geissbuhler, Y., Chaki, P.P., Govella, N.J., Mathenge, E.M., Singer, B.H., Mshinda, H., Lindsay, S.W., Tanner, M., Mtasiwa, D., de Castro, M.C. & Killeen, G.F. (2008) A tool box for operational mosquito larval control: preliminary results and early lessons from the Urban Malaria Control Programme in Dar es Salaam, Tanzania. *Malar J*, **7**, 20.

- Fillinger, U., Knols, B.G. & Becker, N. (2003) Efficacy and efficiency of new Bacillus thuringiensis var israelensis and Bacillus sphaericus formulations against Afrotropical anophelines in Western Kenya. Trop Med Int Health, 8, 37-47.
- Fillinger, U. & Lindsay, S.W. (2011) Larval source management for malaria control in Africa: myths and reality. *Malar J*, **10**, 353.
- Fillinger, U., Ndenga, B., Githeko, A. & Lindsay, S.W. (2009a) Integrated malaria vector control with microbial larvicides and insecticide-treated nets in western Kenya: a controlled trial. *Bull World Health Organ.*, 87, 655-665.
- Fillinger, U., Sombroek, H., Majambere, S., van Loon, E., Takken, W. & Lindsay, S.W. (2009b) Identifying the most productive breeding sites for malaria mosquitoes in The Gambia. *Malar J*, 8, 62.
- Fillinger, U., Sonye, G., Killeen, G.F., Knols, B.G. & Becker, N. (2004) The practical importance of permanent and semipermanent habitats for controlling aquatic stages of *Anopheles gambiae sensu lato* mosquitoes: operational observations from a rural town in western Kenya. *Trop Med Int Health*, 9, 1274-1289.
- Foster, S.P. & Harris, M.O. (1997) Behavioral manipulation methods for insect pestmanagement. *Annu Rev Entomol*, **42**, 123-146.
- Ganesan, K., Mendki, M.J., Suryanarayana, M.V.S., Prakash, S. & Malhotra, R.C. (2006) Studies of *Aedes aegypti* (Diptera: Culicidae) ovipositional responses to newly identified semiochemicals from conspecific eggs. *Aust. J. Entomol.*, 45, 75-80.
- Gerhardt, R.W. (1959) The influence of soil fermentation on oviposition site selection by mosquitoes. *Mosq News*, **19**, 151-155.
- GFL, G.f.L.m. (2014) Glass Water Still for single distillation <u>http://www.gfl.de/cfscripts/main_produkt_detail.cfm</u>.
- Gilbreath, T.M., 3rd, Kweka, E.J., Afrane, Y.A., Githeko, A.K. & Yan, G. (2013) Evaluating larval mosquito resource partitioning in western Kenya using stable isotopes of carbon and nitrogen. *Parasit Vectors*, **6**, 353.
- Gillies, M.T. (1958) A modified technique for the age-grading of populations of *Anopheles* gambiae. Ann Trop Med Parasitol, **52**, 261-273.
- Gillies, M.T. & Coetzee, M. (1987) A supplement to the anophelinae of Africa South of the Sahara (Afrotropical Region). *Johannesburg: South African Institute for Medical Research*.
- Gillies, M.T. & De Meillon, B. (1968) The anophelinae of Africa South of the Sahara. Publications of the South African Institute of Medical Research, Johannesburg . 54 p.
- Gimnig, J.E., Ombok, M., Kamau, L. & Hawley, W.A. (2001) Characteristics of larval Anopheline (Diptera: Culicidae) habitats in western Kenya. J Med Entomol, 38, 282-288.
- Gjullin, C.M., Johnson, J.O. & Plapp, T.W. (1965) The effect of odors released by various waters on the oviposition sites selected by two species of Culex. *Mosq News*, **25**, 268–271.
- GMAP, G.M.A.P. (2008) The Global Malaria Action Plan: For a malaria free world <u>http://www.rbm.who.int/gmap/gmap.pdf</u>. Roll Back Malaria Partnership, World Health Organization, WHO Geneva.
- Goddard, L.B., Roth, A.E., Reisen, W.K. & Scott, T.W. (2002) Vector competence of California mosquitoes for West Nile virus. *Emerg Infect Dis*, 8, 1385-1391.
- Gouagna, L.C., Rakotondranary, M., Boyer, S., Lemperiere, G., Dehecq, J.S. & Fontenille, D. (2012) Abiotic and biotic factors associated with the presence of Anopheles arabiensis immatures and their abundance in naturally occurring and manmade aquatic habitats. *Parasit Vectors*, **5**, 96.
- Gu, W. & Novak, R.J. (2005) Habitat-based modeling of impacts of mosquito larval interventions on entomological inoculation rates, incidence, and prevalence of malaria. *Am J Trop Med Hyg*, **73**, 546-552.
- Gu, W., Regens, J.L., Beier, J.C. & Novak, R.J. (2006) Source reduction of mosquito larval habitats has unexpected consequences on malaria transmission. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, **103**, 17560-17563.
- Gu, W., Utzinger, J. & Novak, R.J. (2008) Habitat-based larval interventions: a new perspective for malaria control. *Am J Trop Med Hyg*, **78**, 2-6.

- Haeger, J. & Provost, M. (1964) The laboratory colonization of Opifex. *Bull World Health Organ*, **31**, 451-452.
- Hancock, G.L.R. (1930) Some records of Uganda mosquitoes and oecological associations of their larvae. *Bull. Soc. Entomol. Egypte*, **1**, 38-56.
- Harbach, R.E. (2013) The Phylogeny and Classification of Anopheles. *Anopheles mosquitoes New insights into malaria vectors* (ed. P.S. Manguin).
- Hassanali, A., Herren, H., Khan, Z.R., Pickett, J.A. & Woodcock, C.M. (2008) Integrated pest management: the push-pull approach for controlling insect pests and weeds of cereals, and its potential for other agricultural systems including animal husbandry. *Philos Trans R Soc Lond B Biol Sci*, **363**, 611-621.
- Hasselschwert, D. & Rockett, C.L. (1988) Bacteria as ovipositional attractant for *Aedes Aegypti* (Diptera:Culicidae). *Great Lakes Entomol*, **21**, 163-168.
- Hazard, E.I., Mayer, M.S. & Savage, K.E. (1967) Attraction and oviposition stimulation of gravid female mosquitoes by bacteria isolated from hay infusions. *Mosq News*, 27, 133-136.
- Herrera-Varela, M., Lindh, J., Lindsay, S.W. & Fillinger, U. (2014) Habitat discrimination by gravid Anopheles gambiae sensu lato a push-pull system. *Malar J*, **13**, 133.
- Holstein, M.H. (1954) *Biology of Anopheles gambiae: Research in French West Africa*. World Health Organization (Geneva).
- Huang, J., Miller, J.R., Chen, S.C., Vulule, J.M. & Walker, E.D. (2006a) Anopheles gambiae (Diptera: Culicidae) oviposition in response to agarose media and cultured bacterial volatiles. J Med Entomol, 43, 498-504.
- Huang, J., Walker, E.D., Giroux, P.Y., Vulule, J. & Miller, J.R. (2005) Ovipositional site selection by *Anopheles gambiae*: influences of substrate moisture and texture. *Med Vet Entomol*, **19**, 442-450.
- Huang, J., Walker, E.D., Otienoburu, P.E., Amimo, F., Vulule, J. & Miller, J.R. (2006b) Laboratory tests of oviposition by the African malaria mosquito, *Anopheles gambiae*, on dark soil as influenced by presence or absence of vegetation. *Malar J*, 5, 88.
- Huang, J., Walker, E.D., Vulule, J. & Miller, J.R. (2007) The influence of darkness and visual contrast on oviposition by *Anopheles gambiae* in moist and dry substrates. *Physiol Entomol*, **32**, 34-40
- Hwang, Y., Schultz, G.W., Axelrod, H., Kramer, W.L. & Mulla, M.S. (1982) Ovipositional repellency of fatty acids and their derivatives against *Culex* and *Aedes* mosquitoes *Environ Entomol*, **11**, 223-226.
- Hwang, Y.S., Kramer, W.L. & Mulla, M.S. (1980) Oviposition attractants and repellents of mosquitoes. *Chemical Ecology*, 6, 71-80.
- Ikeshoji, T. (1966) Attractant and stimulant factors for oviposition of Culex pipiens fatigans in natural breeding-sites. *Bull World Health Organ*, **35**, 905-912.
- Ikeshoji, T., Saito, K. & Yano, A. (1975) Bacterial production of the ovipositional attractants for mosquitoes on fatty acid substrates. *Appl. Entomol. Zool.*, **10**, 239-242.
- Imbahale, S.S., Githeko, A., Mukabana, W.R. & Takken, W. (2012) Integrated mosquito larval source management reduces larval numbers in two highland villages in western Kenya. *BMC Public Health*, **12**, 362.
- Impoinvil, D.E., Keating, J., Mbogo, C.M., Potts, M.D., Chowdhury, R.R. & Beier, J.C. (2008) Abundance of immature Anopheles and culicines (Diptera: Culicidae) in different water body types in the urban environment of Malindi, Kenya. J Vector Ecol, 33, 107-116.
- Isoe, J., Beehler, J.W., Millar, J.G. & Mulla, M.S. (1995) Oviposition responses of *Culex tarsalis* and *Culex quinquefasciatus* to aged Bermuda grass infusions. *J Am Mosq Control Assoc*, 11, 39-44.
- Isoe, J. & Millar, J.G. (1995) Characterization of factors mediating oviposition site choice by *Culex tarsalis. J Am Mosq Control Assoc,* **11**, 21-28.
- Isoe, J., Millar, J.G. & Beehler, J.W. (1995) Bioassays for *Culex* (Diptera: Culicidae) mosquito oviposition attractants and stimulants. *J Med Entomol*, **32**, 475-483.

- Jackson, B.T., Paulson, S.L., Youngman, R.R., Scheffel, S.L. & Belinda, H. (2005a) Oviposition preferences of *Culex restuans* and *Culex pipiens* (Diptera: Culicidae) for selected infusions in oviposition traps and gravid traps. *J Am Mosq Control Assoc*, **21**, 360-365.
- Jackson, B.T., Paulson, S.L., Youngman, R.R., Scheffel, S.L. & Hawkins, B. (2005b) Oviposition preferences of Culex restuans and Culex pipiens (Diptera: Culicidae) for selected infusions in oviposition traps and gravid traps. J Am Mosq Control Assoc, 21, 360-365.
- Johannesen, A., Dunn, A.M. & Morrell, L.J. (2014) Prey aggregation is an effective olfactory predator avoidance strategy. *PeerJ*, **2**, e408.
- Kaneko, S., Mushinzimana, E. & Karama, M. (2007) Demographic Surveillance System (DSS) in Suba District, Kenya. *Tropical Medicine and Health*, 35, 37-40.
- Kantele, A. & Jokiranta, T.S. (2011) Review of cases with the emerging fifth human malaria parasite, Plasmodium knowlesi. *Clin Infect Dis*, **52**, 1356-1362.
- Kaur, J.S., Lai, Y.L. & Giger, A.D. (2003) Learning and memory in the mosquito *Aedes aegypti* shown by conditioning against oviposition deterrence. *Med Vet Entomol*, **17**, 457-460.
- Kenea, O., Balkew, M. & Gebre-Michael, T. (2011) Environmental factors associated with larval habitats of anopheline mosquitoes (Diptera: Culicidae) in irrigation and major drainage areas in the middle course of the Rift Valley, central Ethiopia. J Vector Borne Dis, 48, 85-92.
- Kennedy, J. (1942) On water-finding and oviposition by captive mosquitoes. *Bull Entomol Res*, **32**, 279-301.
- Killeen, G.F. (2014) Characterizing, controlling and eliminating residual malaria transmission. *Malar J*, **13**, 330.
- Killeen, G.F., Tanner, M., Mukabana, W.R., Kalongolela, M.S., Kannady, K., Lindsay, S.W., Fillinger, U. & de Castro, M.C. (2006) Habitat targeting for controlling aquatic stages of malaria vectors in Africa. *Am J Trop Med Hyg*, **74**, 517-518; author reply 519-520.
- Knols, B.G., Njiru, B.N., Mathenge, E.M., Mukabana, W.R., Beier, J.C. & Killeen, G.F. (2002) MalariaSphere: a greenhouse-enclosed simulation of a natural *Anopheles gambiae* (Diptera: Culicidae) ecosystem in western Kenya. *Malar J*, **1**, 19.
- Koenraadt, C.J., Paaijmans, K.P., Githeko, A.K., Knols, B.G. & Takken, W. (2003) Egg hatching, larval movement and larval survival of the malaria vector *Anopheles gambiae* in desiccating habitats. *Malar J*, **2**, 20.
- Kramer, W.L. & Mulla, M.S. (1979) Oviposition attractants and repellents of mosquitoes: oviposition responses of *Culex* mosquitoes to organic infusions. *Environ Entomol*, 8, 1111-1117.
- Kriska, G., Bernath, B., Farkas, R. & Horvath, G. (2009) Degrees of polarization of reflected light eliciting polarotaxis in dragonflies (Odonata), mayflies (Ephemeroptera) and tabanid flies (Tabanidae). J Insect Physiol, 55, 1167-1173.
- Kudom, A.A., Mensah, B.A. & Agyemang, T.K. (2012) Characterization of mosquito larval habitats and assessment of insecticide-resistance status of *Anopheles gambiae senso lato* in urban areas in southwestern Ghana. *J Vector Ecol*, **37**, 77-82.
- Kweka, E.J., Owino, E.A., Mwang'onde, B.J., Mahande, A.M., Nyindo, M. & Mosha, F. (2011) The role of cow urine in the oviposition site preference of culicine and *Anopheles* mosquitoes. *Parasit Vectors*, 4, 184.
- Kweka, E.J., Zhou, G., Munga, S., Lee, M.C., Atieli, H.E., Nyindo, M., Githeko, A.K. & Yan, G. (2012) Anopheline larval habitats seasonality and species distribution: a prerequisite for effective targeted larval habitats control programmes. *PLoS One*, 7, e52084.
- Laird, M. (1988) The natural history of larval mosquito habitats. Academic Press, London.
- Lampman, R.L. & Novak, R.J. (1996) Oviposition preferences of *Culex pipiens* and *Culex restuans* for infusion-baited traps. J Am Mosq Control Assoc, **12**, 23-32.
- Laurence, B.R. & Pickett, J.A. (1982) erythro-6-Acetoxy-5-hexadecanolide, the major component of a mosquito oviposition attractant pheromone. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun., 0, 59-60.
- Lengeler, C. (2004) Insecticide-treated bed nets and curtains for preventing malaria. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev*, CD000363.

- Lewis, L.F., Clark, T.B., O'Grady, J.J., Christenson, D.M. (1974) Collecting ovigerous *Culex pipiens quinquefasciatus* Say near favorable resting sites with louvered traps baited with infusions of alfalfa pellets. **34**, 436-439.
- Lindh, J.M., Kannaste, A., Knols, B.G., Faye, I. & Borg-Karlson, A.K. (2008) Oviposition responses of *Anopheles gambiae* s.s. (Diptera: Culicidae) and identification of volatiles from bacteria-containing solutions. *J Med Entomol*, **45**, 1039-1049.
- Logan, J.G. & Birkett, M.A. (2007) Semiochemicals for biting fly control: their identification and exploitation. *Pest Manag Sci*, **63**, 647-657.
- Lyimo, E.O. & Takken, W. (1993) Effects of adult body size on fecundity and the pre-gravid rate of *Anopheles gambiae* females in Tanzania. *Med Vet Entomol*, **7**, 328-332.
- Macan, T.T. (1961) Factors that limit the range of freshwater animals. *Biol Rev Camb Philos Soc*, **36**, 151-198.
- Majambere, S., Fillinger, U., Sayer, D.R., Green, C. & Lindsay, S.W. (2008) Spatial distribution of mosquito larvae and the potential for targeted larval control in The Gambia. *Am J Trop Med Hyg*, **79**, 19-27.
- Mala, A.O. & Irungu, L.W. (2011) Factors influencing differential larval habitat productivity of Anopheles gambiae complex mosquitoes in a western Kenyan village. J Vector Borne Dis, 48, 52-57.
- Maw, M.G. (1970) Capric acid as a larvicide and an oviposition stimulant for mosquitoes. *Nature*, **227**, 1154-1155.
- Mboera, L.E., Takken, W., Mdira, K.Y. & Pickett, J.A. (2000) Sampling gravid *Culex quinquefasciatus* (Diptera: Culicidae) in Tanzania with traps baited with synthetic oviposition pheromone and grass infusions. *J Med Entomol*, **37**, 172-176.
- Mboera, L.E.G., Mdira, K.Y., Salum, F.M., Takken, W. & Pickett, J.A. (1999) Influence of synthetic oviposition pheromone and volatiles from soakage pits and grass infusions upon oviposition site-selection of *Culex* mosquitoes in Tanzania. *J Chem Ecol*, **25**, 1855-1865.
- Mbogho, A.Y. (2012) Taxonomic composition and distribution of saucer bugs (Heteroptera: Nepomorpha: Naucoridae) of Tanzania. Master of Science, University of Missouri -Columbia
- McCall, P.J. & Cameron, M.M. (1995) Oviposition pheromones in insect vectors. *Parasitol Today*, **11**, 352-355.
- McCall, P.J. & Eaton, G. (2001) Olfactory memory in the mosquito *Culex quinquefasciatus*. *Med Vet Entomol*, **15**, 197-203.
- McCrae, A.W. (1984) Oviposition by African malaria vector mosquitoes II. Effects of site tone, water type and conspecific immatures on target selection by freshwater *Anopheles gambiae* Giles, sensu lato. *Ann Trop Med Parasitol*, **78**, 307-318.
- Mclver, S.B. (1982) Sensilla of mosquitoes (Diptera: Culicidae). J. Med. Entomol, 19, 489-535.
- McPhatter, L.P. & Debboun, M. (2009) Attractiveness of botanical infusions to ovipositing *Culex quinquefasciatus, Cx. nigripalpus*, and *Cx. erraticus* in San Antonio, Texas. J Am Mosq Control Assoc, 25, 508-510.
- Mendki, M.J., Ganesan, K., Prakash, S., Suryanarayana, M.V.S., Malhotra, R.C., Rao, K.M. & Vaidyanathaswamy, R. (2000) Heneicosane: an oviposition-attractant pheromone of larval origin in *Aedes aegypti* mosquito. *Curr Sci*, **78**, 1295-1296.
- Mereta, S.T., Yewhalaw, D., Boets, P., Ahmed, A., Duchateau, L., Speybroeck, N., Vanwambeke, S.O., Legesse, W., De Meester, L. & Goethals, P.L. (2013) Physicochemical and biological characterization of anopheline mosquito larval habitats (Diptera: Culicidae): implications for malaria control. *Parasit Vectors*, 6, 320.
- Millar, J.G., Chaney, J.D., Beehler, J.W. & Mulla, M.S. (1994) Interaction of the *Culex quinquefasciatus* egg raft pheromone with a natural chemical associated with oviposition sites. *J Am Mosq Control Assoc*, **10**, 374-379.
- Millar, J.G., Chaney, J.D. & Mulla, M.S. (1992) Identification of oviposition attractants for *Culex quinquefasciatus* from fermented Bermuda grass infusions. J Am Mosq Control Assoc, 8, 11-17.
- Minakawa, N., Dida, G.O., Sonye, G.O., Futami, K. & Njenga, S.M. (2012) Malaria vectors in Lake Victoria and adjacent habitats in Western Kenya. *PLoS One*, **7**, e32725.

- Minakawa, N., Munga, S., Atieli, F., Mushinzimana, E., Zhou, G., Githeko, A.K. & Yan, G. (2005) Spatial distribution of anopheline larval habitats in Western Kenyan highlands: effects of land cover types and topography. *Am J Trop Med Hyg*, **73**, 157-165.
- Minakawa, N., Mutero, C.M., Githure, J.I., Beier, J.C. & Yan, G. (1999) Spatial distribution and habitat characterization of anopheline mosquito larvae in Western Kenya. *Am J Trop Med Hyg*, **61**, 1010-1016.
- Minakawa, N., Sonye, G. & Yan, G. (2005) Relationships between occurrence of Anopheles gambiae s.l. (Diptera: Culicidae) and size and stability of larval habitats. J Med Entomol, 42, 295-300.
- Morris, D.W. (2003) Toward an ecological synthesis: a case for habitat selection. *Oecologia*, **136**, 1-13.
- Mozuraitis, R., Buda, V. & Borg-Karlson, A.K. (2010) Optimization of solid-phase microextraction sampling for analysis of volatile compounds emitted from oestrous urine of mares. *Z Naturforsch C*, **65**, 127-133.
- Muirhead-Thomson, R.C. (1940a) Studies on the behaviour of *Anopheles minimus*. Part I. The selection of the breeding place and the influence of light and shade. *J. Malaria Inst. India*, **3**, 265-294.
- Muirhead-Thomson, R.C. (1940b) Studies on the behaviour of *Anopheles minimus*. Part II. The influence of water movement on the selection of the breeding place. *J. Malaria Inst. India*, **3**, 295-322.
- Muirhead-Thomson, R.C. (1945) Studies on the breeding places and control of *Anopheles* gambiae and *A. gambiae var. melas* in coastal districts of Sierra Leone. *Bull. Entomol. Res.*, **38**, 527-558.
- Muirhead-Thomson, R.C. (1951) Studies on salt-water and fresh-water *Anopheles gambiae* on the east african coast. *Bull Entomol Res*, **41**, 487-502.
- Muirhead Thomson, R.C. (1951) Mosquito behaviour in relation to malaria transmission and control in the tropics. Edward Arnold & Co, London.
- Mukabana, W.R., Kannady, K., Kiama, G.M., Ijumba, J.N., Mathenge, E.M., Kiche, I., Nkwengulila, G., Mboera, L., Mtasiwa, D., Yamagata, Y., van Schayk, I., Knols, B.G., Lindsay, S.W., Caldas de Castro, M., Mshinda, H., Tanner, M., Fillinger, U. & Killeen, G.F. (2006) Ecologists can enable communities to implement malaria vector control in Africa. *Malar J*, 5, 9.
- Munga, S., Minakawa, N., Zhou, G., Barrack, O.O., Githeko, A.K. & Yan, G. (2006) Effects of larval competitors and predators on oviposition site selection of *Anopheles gambiae* sensu stricto. *J Med Entomol*, **43**, 221-224.
- Munga, S., Vulule, J. & Kweka, E.J. (2013) Response of *Anopheles gambiae s.l.* (Diptera: Culicidae) to larval habitat age in western Kenya highlands. *Parasit Vectors*, **6**, 13.
- Munga, S., Yakob, L., Mushinzimana, E., Zhou, G., Ouna, T., Minakawa, N., Githeko, A. & Yan, G. (2009) Land use and land cover changes and spatiotemporal dynamics of anopheline larval habitats during a four-year period in a highland community of Africa. *Am J Trop Med Hyg*, **81**, 1079-1084.
- Mutuku, F.M., Bayoh, M.N., Gimnig, J.E., Vulule, J.M., Kamau, L., Walker, E.D., Kabiru, E. & Hawley, W.A. (2006) Pupal habitat productivity of *Anopheles gambiae* complex mosquitoes in a rural village in western Kenya. *Am J Trop Med Hyg*, **74**, 54-61.
- Muturi, E.J., Mwangangi, J., Shililu, J., Jacob, B.G., Mbogo, C., Githure, J. & Novak, R.J. (2008) Environmental factors associated with the distribution of Anopheles arabiensis and Culex quinquefasciatus in a rice agro-ecosystem in Mwea, Kenya. *J Vector Ecol*, **33**, 56-63.
- Mwangangi, J.M., Mbogo, C.M., Muturi, E.J., Nzovu, J.G., Githure, J.I., Yan, G., Minakawa, N., Novak, R. & Beier, J.C. (2007) Spatial distribution and habitat characterisation of Anopheles larvae along the Kenyan coast. *J Vector Borne Dis*, **44**, 44-51.
- Najera, J.A. (2001) Malaria control: achievements, problems and strategies. *Parassitologia*, **43**, 1-89.
- Najera, J.A., Gonzalez-Silva, M. & Alonso, P.L. (2011) Some lessons for the future from the Global Malaria Eradication Programme (1955-1969). *PLoS Med*, **8**, e1000412.

- Ndenga, B.A., Simbauni, J.A., Mbugi, J.P., Githeko, A.K. & Fillinger, U. (2011) Productivity of malaria vectors from different habitat types in the western Kenya highlands. *PLoS*, **6**, e19473.
- Nguyen, T.T., Su, T. & Mulla, M.S. (1999) Bacteria and mosquito abundance in microcosms enriched with organic matter and treated with a *Bacillus thuringiensis* subsp. *israelensis* formulation. *J Vector Ecol*, **24**, 191-201.
- Nocker, A., Burr, M. & Camper, A.K. (2007) Genotypic microbial community profiling: a critical technical review. *Microb Ecol*, **54**, 276-289.
- O'Gower, A.K. (1963) Environmental stimuli and the oviposition behaviour of Aedes aegypti var. queenslandis Theobald (Diptera, Culicidae). *Animal Behaviour*, **11**, 189-197.
- Obermayr, U., Ruther, J., Bernier, U., Rose, A. & Geier, M. (2012) Laboratory evaluation techniques to investigate the spatial potential of repellents for push and pull mosquito control systems. *J Med Entomol*, **49**, 1387-1397.
- Ogbunugafor, C.B. & Sumba, L. (2008) Behavioral evidence for the existence of a regionspecific oviposition cue in *Anopheles gambiae* s.s. *J Vector Ecol*, **33**, 321-324.
- Okal, M.N., Francis, B., Herrera-Varela, M., Fillinger, U. & Lindsay, S.W. (2013) Water vapour is a pre-oviposition attractant for the malaria vector *Anopheles gambiae sensu stricto*. *Malar J*, **12**, 365.
- Okiro, E.A., Hay, S.I., Gikandi, P.W., Sharif, S.K., Noor, A.M., Peshu, N., Marsh, K. & Snow, R.W. (2007) The decline in paediatric malaria admissions on the coast of Kenya. *Malar J*, **6**, 151.
- Opiyo, P., Mukabana, W.R., Kiche, I., Mathenge, E., Killeen, G.F. & Fillinger, U. (2007) An exploratory study of community factors relevant for participatory malaria control on Rusinga Island, western Kenya. *Malar J*, **6**, 48.
- Otienoburu, P.E., Bayoh, N., Gimnig, J., Huang, J., Walker, E.D., Otieno, M.F., Vulule, J. & Miller, J.R. (2007) *Anopheles gambiae* (Diptera: Culicidae) oviposition as influenced by type of water infused into black and red soils of western Kenya. *Tropical Insect Science*, **27**, 2-5.
- Oyewole, I.O., Awolola, T.S., Ibidapo, C.A., Oduola, A.O., Okwa, O.O. & Obansa, J.A. (2007) Behaviour and population dynamics of the major anopheline vectors in a malaria endemic area in southern Nigeria. *J Vector Borne Dis*, **44**, 56-64.
- Paaijmans, K.P., Takken, W., Githeko, A.K. & Jacobs, A.F. (2008) The effect of water turbidity on the near-surface water temperature of larval habitats of the malaria mosquito *Anopheles gambiae. Int J Biometeorol*, **52**, 747-753.
- Palmer, R. (2002) Classification and ecological status of aquatic ecosystems in the eastern Caprivi, Namibia. Ministry of Agriculture, Water and Rural Development, Windhoek.
- Panigrahi, S.K., Barik, T.K., Mohanty, S. & Tripathy, N.K. (2014) Laboratory Evaluation of Oviposition Behavior of Field Collected Aedes Mosquitoes. *Journal of Insects*, **2014**, 8.
- Paolillo, D.J. (1984) Obtaining a sterilized soil for the growth of *Onoclea* gametophytes *New Phytologist*, **97**, 621-628.
- Pavlovich, S.G. & Rockett, C.L. (2000) Color, bacteria, and mosquito eggs as ovipositional attractants for Aedes aegypti and Aedes albopictus (Diptera: Culicidae). *Great Lakes entomologist.*, **33**, 141-153.
- Pinault, L.L. & Hunter, F.F. (2012) Malaria in highlands of Ecuador since 1900. *Emerg Infect Dis*, **18**, 615-622.
- Pluess, B., Tanser, F.C., Lengeler, C. & Sharp, B.L. (2010) Indoor residual spraying for preventing malaria. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev*, CD006657.
- Ponnusamy, L., Boroczky, K., Wesson, D.M., Schal, C. & Apperson, C.S. (2011) Bacteria stimulate hatching of yellow fever mosquito eggs. *PLoS One*, **6**, e24409.
- Ponnusamy, L., Wesson, D.M., Arellano, C., Schal, C. & Apperson, C.S. (2010a) Species composition of bacterial communities influences attraction of mosquitoes to experimental plant infusions. *Microb Ecol*, **59**, 158-173.
- Ponnusamy, L., Xu, N., Boroczky, K., Wesson, D.M., Abu Ayyash, L., Schal, C. & Apperson, C.S. (2010b) Oviposition responses of the mosquitoes *Aedes aegypti* and *Aedes albopictus* to experimental plant infusions in laboratory bioassays. *J Chem Ecol*, 36, 709-719.

Ponnusamy, L., Xu, N., Nojima, S., Wesson, D.M., Schal, C. & Apperson, C.S. (2008a) Identification of bacteria and bacteria-associated chemical cues that mediate oviposition site preferences by *Aedes aegypti. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, **105**, 9262-9267.

- Ponnusamy, L., Xu, N., Stav, G., Wesson, D.M., Schal, C. & Apperson, C.S. (2008b) Diversity of bacterial communities in container habitats of mosquitoes. *Microb Ecol*, **56**, 593-603.
- Poonam, S., Paily, K.P. & Balaraman, K. (2002) Oviposition attractancy of bacterial culture filtrates: response of Culex quinquefasciatus. *Mem Inst Oswaldo Cruz*, **97**, 359-362.
- Protopopoff, N., Van Bortel, W., Marcotty, T., Van Herp, M., Maes, P., Baza, D., D'Alessandro, U. & Coosemans, M. (2007) Spatial targeted vector control in the highlands of Burundi and its impact on malaria transmission. *Malar J*, 6, 158.
- R Development Core Team (2011) R: A language and environment for statistical computing. . pp. <u>http://www.R-project.org/</u>. R Foundation for statistical Computing., Vienna, Austria.
- Ranson, H., Abdallah, H., Badolo, A., Guelbeogo, W.M., Kerah-Hinzoumbe, C., Yangalbe-Kalnone, E., Sagnon, N., Simard, F. & Coetzee, M. (2009) Insecticide resistance in Anopheles gambiae: data from the first year of a multi-country study highlight the extent of the problem. *Malar J*, 8, 299.
- Ranson, H., N'Guessan, R., Lines, J., Moiroux, N., Nkuni, Z. & Corbel, V. (2011) Pyrethroid resistance in African anopheline mosquitoes: what are the implications for malaria control? *Trends Parasitol*, 27, 91-98.
- Rasgon, J.L. (2012) Wolbachia induces male-specific mortality in the mosquito *Culex pipiens* (LIN strain). *PLoS One*, **7**, e30381.
- Razavi-darbar, S. & Lakzian, A. (2007) Evaluation of chemical and biological consequences of soil sterilization methods. *Caspian Journal of Environmental Sciences*, **5**, 87-91.
- Reddy, M.R., Overgaard, H.J., Abaga, S., Reddy, V.P., Caccone, A., Kiszewski, A.E. & Slotman, M.A. (2011) Outdoor host seeking behaviour of Anopheles gambiae mosquitoes following initiation of malaria vector control on Bioko Island, Equatorial Guinea. *Malar J*, **10**, 184.
- Refsnider, J.M. & Janzen, F.J. (2010) Putting eggs in one basket: ecological and evolutionary hypotheses for variation in oviposition-site choice. *Annu Rev Ecol Evol Syst*, **41**, 39-57.
- Reiter, P. (1983) A portable battery-powered trap for collecting gravid *Culex* mosquitoes. *Mosq News*, **43**, 496-498.
- Reiter, P. (1986) Gravid Mosquito Trap P462 Trap. J Am Mosq Control Assoc, 43, 496.
- Rejmankova, E., Higashi, R., Grieco, J., Achee, N. & Roberts, D. (2005) Volatile substances from larval habitats mediate species-specific oviposition in *Anopheles* mosquitoes. J Med Entomol, 42, 95-103.
- Riehle, M.M., Guelbeogo, W.M., Gneme, A., Eiglmeier, K., Holm, I., Bischoff, E., Garnier, T., Snyder, G.M., Li, X., Markianos, K., Sagnon, N. & Vernick, K.D. (2011) A cryptic subgroup of Anopheles gambiae is highly susceptible to human malaria parasites. *Science*, 331, 596-598.
- Rinker, D.C., Pitts, R.J., Zhou, X., Suh, E., Rokas, A. & Zwiebel, L.J. (2013) Blood mealinduced changes to antennal transcriptome profiles reveal shifts in odor sensitivities in Anopheles gambiae. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, **110**, 8260-8265.
- Ruppel, R.E., Setty, K.E. & Wu, M. (2004) Decomposition rates of *Typha spp*. in northern freshwater wetlands over a stream–marsh–peatland gradient. *Scientia Discipulorum*, 1, 26-37.
- Salazar, F.V., Achee, N.L., Grieco, J.P., Prabaripai, A., Eisen, L., Shah, P. & Chareonviriyaphap, T. (2012) Evaluation of a peridomestic mosquito trap for integration into an Aedes aegypti (Diptera: Culicidae) push-pull control strategy. J Vector Ecol, 37, 8-19.
- Santana, A.L., Roque, R.A. & Eiras, A.E. (2006) Characteristics of grass infusions as oviposition attractants to *Aedes* (Stegomyia) (Diptera: Culicidae). *J Med Entomol*, **43**, 214-220.
- Sardelis, M.R., Turell, M.J., Dohm, D.J. & O'Guinn, M.L. (2001) Vector competence of selected North American Culex and Coquillettidia mosquitoes for West Nile virus. *Emerg Infect Dis*, **7**, 1018-1022.
- Scott, J.A., Brogdon, W.G. & Collins, F.H. (1993) Identification of single specimens of the Anopheles gambiae complex by the polymerase chain reaction. Am J Trop Med Hyg, 49, 520-529.

- Seenivasagan, T., Sharma, K.R., Ganesan, K. & Prakash, S. (2010) Electrophysiological, flight orientation and oviposition responses of three species of mosquito vectors to hexadecyl pentanoate: residual oviposition repellent activity. *J Med Entomol*, **47**, 329-337.
- Seenivasagan, T., Sharma, K.R. & Prakash, S. (2012) Electroantennogram, flight orientation and oviposition responses of *Anopheles stephensi* and *Aedes aegypti* to a fatty acid esterpropyl octadecanoate. *Acta Trop*, **124**, 54-61.
- Seenivasagan, T., Sharma, K.R., Sekhar, K., Ganesan, K., Prakash, S. & Vijayaraghavan, R. (2009) Electroantennogram, flight orientation, and oviposition responses of *Aedes* aegypti to the oviposition pheromone n-heneicosane. *Parasitol Res*, **104**, 827-833.
- Sharma, K.R., Seenivasagan, T., Rao, A.N., Ganesan, K., Agarwal, O.P., Malhotra, R.C. & Prakash, S. (2008) Oviposition responses of Aedes aegypti and Aedes albopictus to certain fatty acid esters. *Parasitol Res*, **103**, 1065-1073.
- Sharma, K.R., Seenivasagan, T., Rao, A.N., Ganesan, K., Agrawal, O.P. & Prakash, S. (2009) Mediation of oviposition responses in the malaria mosquito *Anopheles stephensi* Liston by certain fatty acid esters. *Parasitol Res*, **104**, 281-286.
- Sharma, V.P. (2012) Battling malaria iceberg incorporating strategic reforms in achieving Millennium Development Goals & malaria elimination in India. *Indian J Med Res*, 136, 907-925.
- Shililu, J., Ghebremeskel, T., Seulu, F., Mengistu, S., Fekadu, H., Zerom, M., Ghebregziabiher, A., Sintasath, D., Bretas, G., Mbogo, C., Githure, J., Brantly, E., Novak, R. & Beier, J.C. (2003) Larval habitat diversity and ecology of anopheline larvae in Eritrea. *J Med Entomol*, 40, 921-929.
- Sigee, D.C. (2005) Fresh water microbiology: Biodiversity and dynamic interactions of microorganisms in the aquatic environment. John Wiley & Sons Ltd.
- Silberbush, A. & Blaustein, L. (2008) Oviposition habitat selection by a mosquito in response to a predator: are predator-released kairomones air-borne cues? *J Vector Ecol*, **33**, 208-211.
- Silberbush, A., Markman, S., Lewinsohn, E., Bar, E., Cohen, J.E. & Blaustein, L. (2010) Predator-released hydrocarbons repel oviposition by a mosquito. *Ecol Lett*, **13**, 1129-1138.
- Silver, J.B. (2008) Mosquito Ecology: Field Sampling Methods. London: Springer., 1499 pp.
- Sinka, M.E., Bangs, M.J., Manguin, S., Rubio-Palis, Y., Chareonviriyaphap, T., Coetzee, M., Mbogo, C.M., Hemingway, J., Patil, A.P., Temperley, W.H., Gething, P.W., Kabaria, C.W., Burkot, T.R., Harbach, R.E. & Hay, S.I. (2012) A global map of dominant malaria vectors. *Parasit Vectors*, **5**, 69.
- Siriporn, P. & Mayura, S. (2012) The effects of herbal essential oils on the oviposition-deterrent and ovicidal activities of *Aedes aegypti* (Linn.), *Anopheles dirus* (Peyton and Harrison) and *Culex quinquefasciatus* (Say). *Trop Biomed*, **29**, 138-150.
- Steiner, L. (1952) Methyl eugenol as an attractant for oriental fruit fly. J. Econ. Entomol., 45, 241-248.
- Su, C.Y., Menuz, K. & Carlson, J.R. (2009) Olfactory perception: receptors, cells, and circuits. *Cell*, **139**, 45-59.
- Sumba, L.A., Guda, T.O., Deng, A.L., Hassanali, A., Beier, J.C. & Knols, B.G.J. (2004) Mediation of oviposition site selection in the African malaria mosquito Anopheles gambiae (Diptera: Culicidae) by semiochemicals of microbial origin. Int J Trop Insect Sci, 24, 260-265.
- Sumba, L.A., Ogbunugafor, C.B., Deng, A.L. & Hassanali, A. (2008) Regulation of oviposition in *Anopheles gambiae s.s.*: role of inter- and intra-specific signals. *J Chem Ecol*, **34**, 1430-1436.
- Symes, C.B. (1940) Malaria in Nairobi. East Afr Med J, 17.
- Takken, W. & Knols, B.G. (1999) Odor-mediated behavior of Afrotropical malaria mosquitoes. *Annu Rev Entomol*, **44**, 131-157.
- Tanner, M. & de Savigny, D. (2008) Malaria eradication back on the table. *Bull World Health Organ*, **86**, 82.
- Tennyson, S., Ravindran, K.J., Eapen, A. & William, S.J. (2012) Effect of Ageratum houstonianum Mill. (Asteraceae) leaf extracts on the oviposition activity of Anopheles stephensi, Aedes aegypti and Culex quinquefasciatus (Diptera: Culicidae). Parasitol Res, 111, 2295-2299.

- Ter Braak, C.J.F. & Šmilauer, P. (2012) Canoco reference manual and user's guide: software for ordination, version 5.0. Microcomputer Power, Ithaca, USA.
- Tirados, I., Costantini, C., Gibson, G. & Torr, S.J. (2006) Blood-feeding behaviour of the malarial mosquito Anopheles arabiensis: implications for vector control. *Med Vet Entomol*, **20**, 425-437.
- Trexler, J.D., Apperson, C.S., Gemeno, C., Perich, M.J., Carlson, D. & Schal, C. (2003a) Field and laboratory evaluations of potential oviposition attractants for *Aedes albopictus* (Diptera: Culicidae). J Am Mosq Control Assoc, **19**, 228-234.
- Trexler, J.D., Apperson, C.S. & Schal, C. (1998) Laboratory and field evaluations of oviposition responses of *Aedes albopictus* and *Aedes triseriatus* (Diptera: Culicidae) to oak leaf infusions. *J Med Entomol*, **35**, 967-976.
- Trexler, J.D., Apperson, C.S., Zurek, L., Gemeno, C., Schal, C., Kaufman, M., Walker, E., Watson, D.W. & Wallace, L. (2003b) Role of bacteria in mediating the oviposition responses of Aedes albopictus (Diptera: Culicidae). *J Med Entomol*, **40**, 841-848.
- Turell, M.J., Sardelis, M.R., Dohm, D.J. & O'Guinn, M.L. (2001) Potential North American vectors of West Nile virus. *Ann N Y Acad Sci*, **951**, 317-324.
- Tusting, L.S., Thwing, J., Sinclair, D., Fillinger, U., Gimnig, J., Bonner, K.E., Bottomley, C. & Lindsay, S.W. (2013) Mosquito larval source management for controlling malaria. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev*, 8, Cd008923.
- Wallis, R.C. (1954) A study of oviposition activity of mosquitoes. Am J Hyg, 60, 135-168.
- Warburg, A., Faiman, R., Shtern, A., Silberbush, A., Markman, S., Cohen, J.E. & Blaustein, L. (2011) Oviposition habitat selection by Anopheles gambiae in response to chemical cues by Notonecta maculata. J Vector Ecol, 36, 421-425.
- Watson, M. (1913) Mosquito reduction and the consequent eradication of malaria. *Transactions* of the Royal Society of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene, **7**, 59-70.
- Weckenbrock, P. & Oldesloe, B. (2005) Livelihoods, vulnerability and the risk of malaria on Rusinga Island, Kenya. Magister Artium der Philologischen, Albert-Ludwigs-Universität
- White, N.J., Pukrittayakamee, S., Hien, T.T., Faiz, M.A., Mokuolu, O.A. & Dondorp, A.M. (2014) Malaria. *Lancet*, **383**, 723-735.
- Whiting, D., Card, A., Wilson, C. & Reeder, J. Estimating soil texture: Sand, silt or clay? . http://www.ext.colostate.edu/mg/gardennotes/214.html
- WHO (1957) Expert committee on Malaria, Sixth report WHO Technical Report Series, Number 129 Geneva: WHO
- WHO (1959) The World Health Organization program to rid the world of malaria. *Am J Nurs*, **59**, 1402-1408.
- WHO (1978) Malaria control strategy WHA31.45. World Heald Organization, Geneva: Switzerland
- WHO (1999) Roll Back Malaria (RBM). World Health Organization Geneva: Switzerland.
- WHO (2000) The African Summit on Roll Back Malaria, Abuja, Nigeria, April 25 2000. World Health Organization, Geneva : Switzerland.
- WHO (2014) World Malaria Report 2014. World Health Organization Geneva: Switzerland.
- Witty, L.M. (2004) *Practical guide to identifying freshwater crustacean zooplankton* 2nd edn. Cooperative Freshwater Ecology Unit Ontario, Canada.
- Ye-Ebiyo, Y., Pollack, R.J., Kiszewski, A. & Spielman, A. (2003) Enhancement of development of larval *Anopheles arabiensis* by proximity to flowering maize (Zea mays) in turbid water and when crowded. *Am J Trop Med Hyg*, **68**, 748-752.
- Zhang, L.Y. & Lei, C.L. (2008) Evaluation of sticky ovitraps for the surveillance of *Aedes* (Stegomyia) *albopictus* (Skuse) and the screening of oviposition attractants from organic infusions. *Ann Trop Med Parasitol*, **102**, 399-407.

7 Appendices

Appendix A.

Herrera-Varela et al. 2014

Herrera-Varela et al. Malaria Journal 2014, 13:133 http://www.malariajournal.com/content/13/1/138

RESEARCH



Open Access

Habitat discrimination by gravid Anopheles gambiae sensu lato – a push-pull system

Manuela Herrera-Varela^{1,2}, Jenny Lindh³, Steven W Lindsay⁴ and Ulrike Fillinger^{1,2*}

Abstract

Background: The non-random distribution of anopheline larvae in natural habitats suggests that gravid females discriminate between habitats of different quality. Whilst physical and chemical cues used by Culex and Aedes vector mosquitoes for selecting an oviposition site have been extensively studied, those for Anopheles remain poorly explored. Here the habitat selection by Anopheles gambiae sensu lato (s.l.), the principal African malaria vector, was investigated when presented with a choice of two infusions made from rabbit food pellets, or soil.

Methods: Natural colonization and larval survival was evaluated in artificial ponds filled randomly with either infusion. Dual-choice, egg-count bioassays evaluated the responses of caged gravid females to (1) two- to six-day old infusions versus lake water; (2) autoclaved versus non-autoclaved soil infusions; and assessed (3) the olfactory memory of gravid females conditioned in pellet infusion as larvae.

Results: Wild Anopheles exclusively colonized ponds with soil infusion and avoided those with pellet infusion. When the individual infusions were tested in comparison with lake water, caged An. gamblae sensu stricto (s.s.) showed a dose response; females increasingly avoided the pellet infusion with increasing infusion age (six-day versus lake water: odds ratio (OR) 0.22; 95% confidence interval (C) 0.1-0.5) and showed increasing preference to lay eggs as soil infusion age increased (six-day versus lake water: OR 2.1; 95% Cl 1.4-3.3). Larvae survived in soil infusions equally well as in lake water but died in pellet infusions. Anopheles gamblae s.s. preferred to lay eggs in the non-autoclaved soil (OR 2.6; 95% Cl 1.8-3.7) compared with autoclaved soil. There was no change in the avoidance of pellet infusion by individuals reared in the infusion compared with those reared in lake water.

Conclusion: Wild and caged An gamblae s.l. females discriminate between potential aquatic habitats for oviposition. These choices benefit the survival of the offspring. Although the study was not designed to distinguish between stimuli that acted over a distance or on contact, it could be demonstrated that the choice of habitat is mediated by chemical cues based on both preference and avoidance. These cues, if identified, might be developed for 'push-pull' strategies to improve malaria vector monitoring and control.

Keywords: Oviposition site selection, Anopheles gamblae, Natural infusion, Olfactory memory

Background

Selection of suitable oviposition sites is a critical step in the life history of mosquitoes [1]. This is a process whereby individuals select and occupy a non-random set of aquatic habitats. Habitat selection is of major importance for the interpretation of spatial and temporal distributions of populations, and for understanding intra and

* Correspondence: ufflinger@inbitalicipe.org *Department of Diseases: Control, London School of Hygiene and Tropical

Medicine, London, UK International Centre for Insect Ph Ochiambo Campus, Mbita, Kenya e for Insect Physiology and Ecology (icipe) Thomas

Full list of author information is available at the end of the article



inter-specific relations that influence the abundance of individuals [2,3]. Organisms without any parental care are likely to choose habitats based on a set of innate or learned cues in order to maximize the survival and fitness of their offspring [2,4].

Mosquitoes utilize a wide range of aquatic niches for oviposition, including natural ponds, puddles, stream fringes, marshes, tree-holes and plant axils, man-made pits, drains, rice fields, and containers [5]. Field studies have shown that mosquitoes are discriminating in selecting sites for egg deposition [6,7] and that oviposition choices made by gravid females are a key factor in

© 2014 Henera-Varela et al; Iconsee BioWed Central Ltd. This is an Open Access article distributed under the sense of the Greative Common's Attribution License (http://asativecommons.org/licensee/by/40), which permits unreatrical use, distribution; and operoduction in any medium; provided the original work is properly credited. The Greative Commons Public Domain Dedication waiser (http://creativecommons.org/public/comain/zeo/10/) applies to the data made available in this atticle, unless otherwise stated

determining larval distribution [8-11]. Although different species are found in the same type of habitat, oviposition site selectivity is considerably species specific [12]. Immature stages of Anopheles gambiae sensu lato (s.l.), the major malaria vector in sub-Saharan Africa, are typically described as inhabiting very small, temporary sunlit pools and puddles without vegetation [13-16]. However, reviews of the literature and recent research on larval ecology have shown that this is a gross oversimplification of the wide range of habitats colonized by this spe cies [17-19], a fact recognized over half a century ago by Holstein who reviewed the 'extraordinary diversity of the breeding places' of An. gambiae s.l [19]. Numerous studies have described how the presence of An. gambiae s.l. larvae [17,20-23] and the capacity of individual habitats for generating adult mosquitoes [6,8,17,24,25] differs markedly over space and time, yet these surveys failed to reveal any risk factors that could consistently predict sites preferred by An. gambiae s.l. [17,20-23]. This might lead to the conclusion that this species randomly deposits its eggs in a large range of habitats and that the heterogeneous distribution of larvae results from the survival of larvae in the aquatic habitat [9,10] rather than the adults' choice.

Surprisingly, fully gravid malaria vectors looking for suitable larval habitats have been grossly understudied [26]. Compared to the wealth of knowledge of the physical and chemical factors used by gravid culicine for selecting an oviposition site [27-40] those potentially used by the world's most deadly malaria vector remain almost unexplored. Whereas many publications recognize that the distribution of larvae between seemingly suitable aquatic habitats is probably due to the choice of the gravid female [6,8,24,41-43] and that this choice probably impacts on the fitness of her offspring, there is little empirical evidence to support these assertions. Most recent research has evaluated the characteristics of aquatic habitats associated with the presence and absence of larvae [15,21,44-46] but the understanding of the behaviour of gravid female An. gambiae s.l when searching for an oviposition site remains, at best, sketchy [8,41,47-53].

Laboratory studies demonstrated that physical conditions of the aquatic habitats influence oviposition site selection in *An. gumbiae* s.l., with females preferring dark backgrounds to pale ones, muddy water to clear water and fully hydrated substrates [8,41,50,54]. Turbidity has been suggested as an important physical cue for oviposition behaviour in *An. gambiae* s.l. although the evidence for this is contradictory [55,56].

Even less is known about the chemical cues and their interaction with physical factors. Water vapour is itself an attractant to gravid mosquitoes [57]. It has been shown that gravid An. gambiae sl. are sensitive to bacteria-derived odours [47,53,58] which have been associated with increased [47,53] and reduced [58] egg numbers compared to sterile media in cage bioassays. Whilst over 20 putative oviposition semiochemicals have been suggested in the literature, based on the analyses of bacteria- or habitat-derived volatile chemicals and electro-antennogram studies [53,59], there is only one report [60] of two chemicals inducing a behavioural response in gravid females (one increasing and one decreasing the oviposition response).

Here the oviposition behaviour of An. gambiae sl was explored to test the hypotheses that a gravid An. gambiae sl female evaluates the suitability of a habitat using chemical cues from water bodies that oviposition choices made by a gravid female benefit the offspring and that this choice cannot be modified by experience in one generation.

Habitat selection by gravid An. gambiae sl. was tested by presenting a choice of two infusions; one made with soil from an area where natural habitats occur frequently, and one made with rabbit food pellets. Rabbit food pellets are frequently used as diet for mosquito larvae in insectaries [61,62] and infusions made of grass, hay and other plant material, including rabbit food pellets have shown to be attractive to a range of mosquito species and have been used in gravid traps [63-66]. The aim was to explore whether Anopheles gambiae sl. might also be drawn to this infusion.

Natural colonization and larval survival was evaluated in artificial ponds filled randomly with either infusion. As a consequence of the field observations, two-choice, egg-count bioassays were used to explore pattern of oviposition seen in the field. Experiments were designed to address the following questions: 1) Do gravid An. gambiae s.L females discriminate between different habitats when searching for an oviposition site? 2) Does the oviposition choice benefit the survival of their offspring? 3) Are gravid females guided by preference (attractants/ stimulants) or avoidance (repellents/deterrents)? 4) Are oviposition choices likely to be based on chemical cues? and, 5) Is the choice made by a gravid female influenced by her olfactory memory of her larval habitat?

Methods

Study site

Experiments were carried out at the International Centre for Insect Physiology and Ecology (icipe), Mbita, on the shores of Lake Victoria, Western Kenya (geographic coordinates 0'26'06.19" South; 34'12'53.13" East; altitude 1,137 m above sea level). Mbita has a typical tropical climate; temperatures oscillate between 18-28°C and there is annual rainfall of 1,436 mm (based on data from icipe meteorological station for 2010–2012). Two rainy seasons occur annually, the long rainy season between March and June and the short rainy season between October and December. Malaria is endemic in the area and transmitted by three vectors, which are in order of their abundance: Anopheles anabiensis, Anopheles gambiae sensu stricto (s.s.) and Anopheles funestus [67].

Mosquitoes

Open-field trials were conducted with wild anopheline and culicine females that oviposited in tubs of water sunk into the ground. These were colonized within three days. Laboratory experiments were carried out with insectary-reared An. gambiae s.s. (Mbita strain) supplied by icipe's insectary and reared following standard operating procedures. Briefly, larvae were reared in round plastic tubs (diameter 0.6 m) filled with water from Lake Victoria and fed Tetramin' fish food twice daily. Larvae were collected randomly from several tubs on the day of experiment. Gravid mosquitoes were prepared by selecting 300 female and 300 male mosquitoes, two to three days old, from their rearing cages at 12.00 and keeping them in 30 × 30 × 30 cm netting cages at 25-28°C and 68-75% relative humidity. To avoid mosquito desiccation, cotton towels (folded to 25×12 cm) were saturated with lake water and placed over the cages. Mosquitoes were starved of sugar for seven hours before blood feeding and allowed to feed on a human arm for 15 min at 19.00 on the same day. After feeding, mosquitoes were provided with 6% glucose solution ad libitum. This procedure was repeated 24 hours later. After the first blood meal unfed female mosquitoes were removed from the cages. Fed female mosquitoes were kept together with males for two days after the second blood meal before using them in an experiment (i e, females four to five days after first blood meal). In the afternoon (16.30) of the day of an experiment 45-100 (depending on experiment and availability) visually presumed gravid females, that is with an enlarged, pale white abdomen, were selected from the holding cage. A small percentage of these mosquitoes were probably not gravid because most females needed two blood meals to reach full gravidity and some never reach full gravidity even after three feeds [68,69]. Whilst two meals were provided it cannot be guaranteed that two meals were taken by all females. This might be the reason that not all mosquitoes exposed to oviposition medium in experiments laid eggs (responded), therefore the number of responders was smaller than the number tested. Non-responders were excluded from the analyses.

Experimental procedures

Do gravid Anopheles gambiae sensu lato females discriminate between different habitats when searching for an oviposition site?

To explore natural colonization of habitats by wild mosquitoes, 20 artificial habitats were created by implanting 20 plastic tubs (40 cm diameter, 20 cm deep) into an open-sunlit field during the long rainy season in May 2011. The tubs were placed in four lines of five tubs each 4 m apart [70]. Two different substrates were randomly offered in the artificial habitats. Half of the tubs (ten) received 30 g of rabbit food pellets (Scooby' rabbit and rodent food, Nairobi) containing hay and grains from maize, wheat, barley, cotton, sunflower, soya bean meal, and traces of molasses, vitamins and minerals. The remaining half of the tubs (ten) received 2 kg of dry soil taken from a field at icipe. Soil texture was characterized as a silty clay loam according to the US Department of Agriculture (USDA) texture triangle [71] using the detergent method [72] to separate and quantify soil mineral particles of different size. A volume of 15 l of lake water pumped from Lake Victoria, was added to each tub and the water level was held constant by adding water to the 15 l mark daily. The two treatments are henceforth referred to as pellet and soil infusion. To study the oviposition response of wild mosquitoes the tubs were monitored daily between 08.00 and 10.00 by dipping five times per tub with a standard dipper (350 ml). Two different dippers were used for the two treatments to avoid contamination. Four dips were taken from the edge of the tubs and one from the middle. The content of each dip was emptied into a white plastic bowl and all early instars (first and second stage larvae) counted and recorded for both culicine and anopheline mosquitoes. All larvae and the water were returned to the respective tub. The tubs were followed for 16 days. Ponds were searched for pupae and collected daily to prevent any emergence of potential disease vectors. Pupae were allowed to emerge in cages in the laboratory and any anophelines emerging identified to species using morphological keys [13,73] and for specimens of the An. gambiae complex using the ribosomal DNA-polymerase chain reaction (PCR) method to distinguish between the two local species of the complex An. gambiae s.s. and An. arabiensis [74].

Does the oviposition choice benefit the survival of their offspring?

Larval survival was assessed by introducing individual, insectary-reared, first instar An. gambiae s.s. larvae in infusions collected from the tubs set up in the field. Infusion samples were taken after one, six, 11, and 16 days. One-hundred ml of infusion was collected from each of the ten tubs per treatment and pooled per treatment (soil or pellet infusion) in a plastic bottle. Lake water was used as a control. First instars were introduced in 100 ml plastic cups containing 50 ml of pellet infusion, soil infusion or lake water. Twenty larvae were exposed individually per treatment and collection day. Larvae were fed every second day with finely ground Tetramin* Baby fish food. Food was provided with a blunt toothpick that was first wetted in lake water and then dipped quickly, not more than 1 mm deep into the ground food, and then dipped onto the surface of the test water. Larval development was monitored daily and the time of death or time to pupation and emergence recorded. This experiment was implemented under ambient conditions in a semi-field system (80 sq m) with screened walls and a glass roof [75].

Are gravid females guided by preferences or avoidance?

Based on the analysis of the field data a series of twochoice, egg-count bioassays were designed to investigate if the response of wild gravid females observed in the field was based on avoidance or preference of an infusion or both.

Gravid females were selected from insectary cages and transferred individually to 30×30×30 cm cages. In each cage two glass cups (Pyrex*, 100 ml, 70 mm diameter), surrounded by tightly fitting aluminium cylinders, so that mosquitoes could see only the water surface, were filled with 100 ml of either the control or test medium and placed in diagonal corners of the cage. Prior to use, cups and cylinders were cleaned with detergent, then autoclaved and kept in an oven at 200°C for at least two hours. The position of oviposition cups containing the test medium was alternated between adjacent cages to control for possible position effect. The placement of the first test cup was randomly allocated for one of the four cage corners in the first cage. Subsequent test cups were rotated in the next possible corners in a clockwise direction relative to the position of the preceding cup. One control cup was added in each cage diagonal to the test cup to complete a two-choice set up. The experiments were carried out in makeshift sheds (Figure 1) that exposed the mosquitoes to ambient light, temperature and relative humidity but protected the cages from rain.

Two sets of experiments were carried out consecutively (Table 1, Set 1 and 2). In the first set oviposition choice was evaluated for two-, four- and six-day old pellet infusions compared with lake water. In the second set, the oviposition choice was evaluated for two, four and six-day old soil infusions compared with lake water. In both sets of experiments internal controls were used to validate the two-choice experiment. Here equal numbers of cages were set up where both cups in a cage contained lake water and were labelled randomly as control and test cup, assuming that gravid females lay eggs in both cups in an equal proportion.

Infusions were prepared in a similar way as for the field tests. Fifteen I of lake water were either incubated with 30 g of pellets to prepare a pellet infusion or incubated with 2 kg of soil to prepare a soil infusion. Infusions were prepared in a plastic tub (40 cm diameter 20 cm depth) six days, four days and two days before the day of experiment in order to test all ages in parallel. Tubs were covered with mosquito netting and kept in makeshift sheds at ambient conditions but protected from rain. Experiments were implemented over three to nine rounds depending on the availability of gravid females and the response rate per round (Table 1) with fresh batches of infusions and different batches of mosquitoes for every round. On the day of experiment infusions were sieved through a clean piece of cotton cloth to remove large debris remaining from the pellets or soil

Fifteen to 25 replicate cages per treatment were set up per round. A single gravid female was introduced per cage at 17.30. The next morning between 08.00 and 09.00 the absence or presence and the number of eggs was recorded for the control and test cup in each cage.

Turbidity, conductivity, dissolved oxygen, and pH were measured in five cups per treatment in four different batches of pellet, soil infusions and lake water using a turbidity meter (TURB 3551R, WTW Germany) and a



Figure 1 Location of egg-count bioassays. (A) Sheds (10 m long × 5 m wide × 2.8 m high) with walls made of med mats and a noot made of translucent comgated polycarbonate sheets. (B) Interior of a shed. In each shed two tables hold up to 25 standard cages each, allowing 40 cm of space between adjacent cages.

Dual-choice cage,	т	reatments	Noof	Total no of females responding	
egg-count bloassays	Control	Test	rounds	for all rounds (total number set up)	
Set 1: Pellet Infusions	Lake water	Lake water		66 (75)	
	Lake water	2-day old pellet infusion	-	64 (75)	
	Lake water	4-day old pellet infusion	3	67 (75)	
	Lake water	6-day old pellet infusion		68 (75)	
Set 2; Soll infusions	Lake water	Lake water		153 (225)	
	Lake water	2-day old soil infusion		161 (225)	
	Lake water	4-day old soil infusion	9	160 (225)	
	Lake water	6-day old soil infusion		171 (225)	
Set 3; Vision versus olfaction	Lake water	Lake water		186 (220)	
in soil infusions	Lake water	6-day old soil infusion		150 (220)	
	Lake water	Autoclaved 6-day old soll Infusion	12	157 (220)	
	Autoclaved 6-day old soil infusion	6-day old soil infusion		169 (220)	
Set 4: Offactory memory – pellet	Lake water reared An.	gam biae females			
Infusions	Lake water	6 day old pellet infusion	1	31 (45)	
	Pellet infusion reared	An. gambiae females			
	Lake water	6-day old pellet infusion	1	37 (45)	

Table 1 Summary details of dual-choice, egg-count bioassays to evaluate oviposition choices in Anopheles gambiae sensu stricto

multimeter (Multi 340i, WTW, Germany). In addition one batch of pellet, soil infusion and lake water was tested for ammonium (NH_4+), carbonate hardness, total hardness, nitrate (NO_3), nitrite (NO_2), and phosphate (PO_4^-) content using Aquamerck* test kits from the compact laboratory for water testing (Aquamerck* No.111151, Germany).

Are oviposition choices likely to be based on chemical cues?

Soil infusions differed strongly in colour and turbidity from lake water. To assess if the oviposition response observed was based on visual or chemical cues, a third set of dual-choice, egg-count bioassays were implemented with six-day old soil infusions (Table 1, Set 3) comparing the relative attractiveness of autoclaved and non-autoclaved infusion [47,76]. The experiment followed the same experimental procedures as described above. After filtering the infusion through a cloth on the day of experiment, the infusion was split in two equal volumes and half autoclaved at 120°C for 20 min to kill bacteria potentially involved in releasing oviposition semiochemicals [47,77] and to reduce the amount of volatile chemicals from the solution whilst maintaining the colour and turbidity of the infusion. After autoclaving, the infusion was left to cool to ambient temperature before setting up the cage bioassays. The oviposition choice of individual gravid females was evaluated for sixday old soil infusion versus lake water, autoclaved sixday old soil infusion versus lake water and for autoclaved versus non-autoclaved six-day old infusion. An equal number of cages were set up where both cups in a cage contained lake water and were randomly labelled as control and test cup.

In order to confirm that autoclaving sterilized the infusion, samples (1 ml) of both infusions were taken during each experimental round for bacterial cultures. Samples were serially diluted (ten-fold) two times in distilled water. After dilution, 100 µl of each of the ×1 (undiluted), ×10⁻¹ and ×10⁻² dilutions was spread separately onto the surface of duplicate Lysogeny Broth (LB) agarplates (LB Lennox-Fisher Scientific) [78]. Plates were incubated overnight at 30°C and the presence of colonies recorded.

The same physical and chemical parameters were measured for the autoclaved infusion as described above for the non-autoclaved pellet and soil infusions.

Is the choice of the gravid female influenced by her olfactory memory of her larval habitat?

A fourth set of experiments (Table 1, Set 4) was designed to assess the possibility that a gravid female's choice for an oviposition site might be influenced by her olfactory memory of her larval habitat, as has been suggested for culicine species [4,79]. To test this, approximately 2,000 An. gambiae s.s. eggs were dispensed in 1.5 l of two-day old pellet infusion and another 2,000 eggs in lake water and reared under the same conditions to the adult stage. The infusion and lake water in the rearing pans was replaced every two days with fresh two-day old infusion or lake water until all surviving larvae pupated. Larvae were fed with Tetramin* fish food twice daily following routine insectary procedures. Pupae were collected in a cup with 100 ml of rearing water and placed in 30×30×30 cm cages for emergence. Gravid females for cage bioassays were obtained as described above.

Dual-choice cage bioassays were carried out in parallel with gravid An. gambiae s.s. reared in the infusion and gravid An. gambiae s.s. reared in lake water. A single mosquito was offered a choice between six-day old pellet infusion or lake water. Forty-five replicates were set up in parallel for both treatment groups as described above.

Sample size considerations

The sample size (number of responders) in the four sets of cage experiments differed for a number of reasons. Due to adverse climate conditions affecting the mosquito supply during the pellet infusion bioassays, the production of colony-reared mosquitoes was low. Nevertheless, two-sample comparison of proportions power calculation showed that 66 responders in each arm in the pellet infusion bioassays (Table 1, Set 1) was sufficient to detect a 23% increase or decrease in the proportion of eggs laid in the treatment compared to the lake water only experiment with 80% power at the 5% level of significance. The effect of the pellet infusion observed on oviposition response was much stronger than 23%. In the soil infusion experiments (Table 1, Set 2 and Set 3), a minimum of 150 responders in each arm was analysed. This was sufficient to detect a 15% increase or decrease in the proportion of eggs laid in the treatment as compared to the lake water only experiment at the same power and significance level. This level of accuracy was deemed appropriate for investigating significant behavioural cues affecting the oviposition choice. The evaluation of olfactory memory required the mosquitoes to be reared in pellet infusion where larval mortality was nearly 98%. Therefore, only 45 females could be tested, out of which only 31 and 37 responded in the two arms (Table 1, Set 4). The hypothesis for this experiment was that the preference of gravid females could be changed and therefore at least double the proportion of eggs laid in pellet infusion by infusion-reared females as compared to the lake water-reared females. With 31 responders in each arm the experiment was powered (80%) to detect a change in the proportion of 35%.

Statistical analyses

All data were analysed in R statistical software version 2.13.1 [80]. The one sample proportion test function was used to estimate the 95% confidence intervals (CI) for the proportion of larvae surviving in pellet infusion, soil infusion and lake water. Pupation time of larvae exposed to different treatments was calculated using the following formula: (A×1) + (B×2) + (C×3)...(G×10)/Total number of pupae collected, where A, B, C...G are the number of pupae collected on day 1, 2, 3 to 10. Dualchoice, egg-count bioassays were analysed using generalized linear models (glm-function) with a guasibinomial distribution fitted to account for the overdispersion. In the first three sets of experiments the proportion of eggs laid in test cups in the cages with equal treatments (lake water in both cups) were compared with the proportion of eggs laid in test cups in cages with two different treatments. It was hypothesized that gravid females presented with an identical treatment lay in both cups in an approximately equal proportion (p = 0.5). The statistical analysis aimed to reveal if the test treatment of interest (e g, infusions of different age) received an increased or decreased proportion of the total number of eggs laid as compared to the lake water only treatment. Therefore, the treatment choice (e g, lake water only cages, cages with infusion versus lake water) and the round of experiment were included as fixed factors to analyse their impact on the outcome (proportion of eggs laid in test cup). A similar analysis was used for the fourth set of experiments to compare the proportion of eggs laid in test cups (pellet infusion) by gravid females that were reared in hay infusion during their larval development, compared to the proportion of eggs laid in test cups by gravid females that were reared in lake water. The mean proportion of eggs laid in test cups in different treatments and their 95% CIs were calculated as the exponential of the parameter estimates for models with no intercept included. Similarly, multiple comparisons of treatments were calculated based on the model parameter estimates.

Results

Gravid Anopheles gambiae sensu lato females discriminate between habitats when searching for an oviposition site

Mosquitoes oviposited in the artificial ponds shortly after they had been set up since early instar larvae were found from day 3 and larvae hatch approximately 24– 48 hours after eggs are laid. Ponds with pellet infusion were colonized exclusively and in high densities by culicine mosquitoes. Not a single *Anopheles* larva was detected over the 16-day observation period. In sharp contrast, early *Anopheles* instar were consistently found from day 3 to day 16 in the soil infusion ponds (Figure 2). Based on the pattern of larval abundance,



peak oviposition occurred six to ten days after setting up the ponds. Anopheles nearly always occurred in higher densities than culicines. Anopheles larval densities are naturally relatively low in the study area, with approximately one to three larvae/dip in natural habitats [17]. In the present study an average of ten (95% CI 5–18) early instar larvae/dip was recorded, indicating that the soil infusion ponds were a highly favourable habitat.

All pupae collected from the artificial habitats belonged to the An. gambiae complex. PCR-based species analysis revealed that nearly all the wild An. gambiae s.L were An. arabiensis (98%, 49/50).

The female's oviposition choice benefits the survival of her offspring

Anopheles gambiae s.s. larvae survived equally well in soil infusion and lake water irrespective of the age of the infusion. In contrast, larvae placed in pellet infusion only survived in the one-day old infusion in similar numbers but survival was reduced by over 60% (p < 0.001) in pellet infusions six days and older compared to lake water or soil infusions of the same age (Figure 3). Mean pupation time for survivors did not significantly differ between treatments or ages of the infusion and was on average 7.5 days (95% CI 6.6-8.3).

Gravid female Anopheles gambiae sensu stricto show avoidances and preferences when selecting an oviposition site

Figure 4 shows the median response rate of the gravid females to the test cup in pellet infusion and soil infusion experiments. An approximately equal proportion of females laid eggs in test and control cups when an equal choice of lake water was provided. Fewer females laid their eggs in pellet infusion as it aged, whilst for soil infusion the opposite was the case with an increasing proportion of females laying eggs in soil infusion as it aged.




Similar results were seen for the proportions of eggs laid although the distribution of eggs between the two equal choices of lake water was slightly skewed (Figure 5, Set 1, lake water control cup 0.45 (95% CI 0.34-0.56) wersus lake water test cup 0.55 (95% CI 0.44-0.66)) though not significantly different from 0.5. The distribution of eggs between lake water and two-day old pellet infusion did not significantly differ from the distribution between the two cups with lake water only. However, pellet water became unattractive from day 4 (Figure 5, Set 1). It was 6.7 times less likely for an egg to be laid in the test cup in the treatments that contained six-day old pellet infusion versus lake water than it was when both cups contained lake water. During the experiment with soil infusions a similarly skewed distribution in the proportion of eggs laid in the two cups with lake water was observed due to chance alone. (Figure 5, Set 2). In contrast to the pellet infusion, larger proportions of eggs were laid in the test cups with increasing age of the soil infusion. An egg was more than twice as likely to be laid in the test cup in the treatments that contained six-day old soil infusions compared with lake water than it was when both cups contained lake water (Figure 5, Set 2).



On average individual females laid 63 eggs (95% CI 60-65) (Figure 5) irrespective of the experiment and treatment. Notably, 18% (95% CI 11-26%) of gravid females laid eggs in both cups provided in a cage, a behaviour known as skip oviposition in other mosquito species [81] but rarely reported for *An. gambiae s.s.* [82]. The average number of eggs laid by skip-ovipositing females and by females that chose only a single cup was similar. Whilst the percentage of skip-ovipositing females was similar in all treatments with two equal lake water choices and in all soil infusion treatments, this behaviour was affected by the pellet infusion. Only a few *An. gambiae ss.* females skip-oviposited in the four- and six-dav old pellet infusion treatments (6%, 95% CI 3-9%).

Pellet and soil infusions differed in key physical and chemical parameters. All pellet infusions had a strong smell to the human nose, were more or less transparent and had a slightly green colour but differed little in appearance compared with lake water in the oviposition cups. Correspondingly, turbidity levels were low. In contrast, soil infusions did not have any smell to the human nose, were light brown in colour and turbid, providing a strong visual contrast to the lake water. Pellet infusions were also characterized by relatively high conductivity, low pH and oxygen deprivation. In contrast the soil infusions' conductivity was approximately half that of pellet infusions, was saturated with dissolved oxygen and had a higher pH (Table 2). The variability of these measures between infusions of different incubation times within a treatment group was relatively low and does not appear to explain the differences in the behavioural responses. The only factor that changed over time was turbidity in

the soil infusion and notably the most preferred six-day old infusion was less turbid than the others.

The increased carbon and total hardness of the pellet infusion corresponded with the increased conductivity levels and the high ammonium and phosphate levels compared with the soil infusion (Table 2).

Chemical cues from the infusions are responsible for the oviposition choice in cage bioassays

Since soil infusions differed in appearance from the lake water, an additional set of experiments was carried out to evaluate whether the attractiveness of this infusion was due to visual cues. Cage experiments with two equal choices of lake water confirmed an equal distribution of eggs between control and test cup. Notably, when gravid females had a choice between lake water and autoclaved soil infusion, the lake water was preferred. The oviposition preference for six-day old soil infusion compared with lake water was also confirmed in this set of experiments with nearly identical odds ratios as before of 2.2. The preference for the six-day old infusion was corroborated when given a choice between autoclaved and nonautoclaved infusions of similar colour and turbidity (Figure 5, Set 3).

Results from this set of experiments suggest that chemical cues are involved in the oviposition responses observed. If the preference for the six-day old soil infusion over lake water was based on turbidity and/or colour of the infusion alone, a similar response in the choice tests with autoclaved *versus* non-autoclaved infusion should have been seen as in the choice tests with lake water *versus* autoclaved infusion. Due to the slight

Table 2 Phy	ysical and	chemical p	pro	perties of	pellet	and	soil	infusions	
-------------	------------	------------	-----	------------	--------	-----	------	-----------	--

		Ovipos	ition substrate	es in choice e	operiments						
Lake	Pellet in fusions			Soil infusions							
water	2 days	4 days	6 days	2 days	4 days	6 days	Auto-daved				
1	22	17	25	222	97	73	137				
(06-1.4)	(20-23)	(14-19)	(20-29)	(197-248)	(92-102)	(61-84)	(108-166)				
107	477	553	543	173	207	237	266				
(105-110)	(462-491)	(547-599)	(532-555)	(171-176)	(208-212)	(233-242)	(258-274)				
4	03	0.7	0.3	53	6	63	48				
(27-53)	(0.21-1.4)	(09-1.4)	(02-0.4)	(50-5.6)	(57-63)	(60-6.6)	(4.6-5.1)				
81	63	67	7.4	7.7	7.9	8	89				
(79-81)	62-63)	(65-6.9)	(73-7.5)	(76-7.7)	(78-7.9)	(79-8.0)	(8.8-8.9)				
0			5			0	0				
10			10			10	10				
0			0			0.025	0.025				
0			3			1.5	1.5				
0.1			39			2,7	2,5				
0.1			1.5			0.7	0.7				
	Lake water 1 (05-1.4) 107 (105-110) 4 (27-5.3) 81 (79-81) 0 10 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	Lake water 2 days 1 22 (06-1.4) (20-23) 107 477 (105-110) (462-491) 4 0.3 (27-5.3) (0.21-1.4) 8.1 6.3 (79-8.1) (52-6.3) 0 0 10 0 0 0 0.1 0.1	Lake Pellet infusion water 2 days 4 days 1 22 17 (06-1.4) (20-23) (14-19) 107 477 553 (105-110) (462-491) (547-539) 4 0.3 0.7 (27-5.3) (0.21-1.4) (0.29-1.4) 8.1 6.3 6.7 (79-8.1) (6.2-6.3) (65-6.5) 0 0 0 0.1 0.1 0.1	Lake water Pellet in fusions 2 days 4 days 6 days 1 22 17 25 (06-1.4) (20-23) (14-19) (20-29) 107 477 553 543 (105-110) (462-497) (547-599) (532-555) 4 0.3 0.7 0.3 (27-5.3) (021-1.4) (09-1.4) (02-0.4) 8.1 6.3 6.7 7.4 (79-8.1) (62-6.3) (65-6.9) (73-7.5) 0 5 10 10 0 0 3 3 3 3 10 10 3 3 3 0.1 3 3 3 3 0.1 10 3 3 3	Ovigosition substrates in choice en water Lake water Pellet infusions 2 days 2 days <th< td=""><td>Oviposition substrates in choice experiments Lake water Pellet infusions Soil i 1 2 days 4 days 6 days 2 days 4 days 1 22 17 25 222 97 (06=1.4) (20=23) (14=19) (20=29) (197=248) (92=102) 107 477 553 543 173 207 (105=110) (462=491) (547=599) (532=555) (171=176) (208=212) 4 0.3 0.7 0.3 5.3 6 (27=5.3) (0.21=1.4) (09=1.4) (02=0.4) (50=5.6) (57=6.3) 8.1 6.3 6.7 7.4 7.7 7.9 (79=8.1) (6.2=6.3) (65=6.5) (73=7.5) (76=7.7) (78=7.9) 0 5 10 10 0 0 0 3 3 3 3 3 0.1 3.9 0.1 3.9 0.1 1.5 <td>Oviposition substates in choice experiments Velice infusions Soil infusions value Pellet infusions 2 days 4 days 6 days 2 days 4 days 6 days 1 22 17 25 222 97 73 (06=1.4) (20-23) (14–19) (20-29) (197–248) (92–102) (61–84) 107 477 553 543 173 207 237 (105–110) (462–491) (547–539) (532–555) (171–176) (208–212) (23–242) 4 0.3 0.7 0.3 5.3 6 6.3 (27–5.3) (0.21–1.4) (029–1.4) (02–0.4) (50–5.6) (55–5.6) (55–5.6) 6 81 6.3 6.7 7.4 7.7 7.9 8 (79–8.1) (62–6.3) (65–6.9) (73–7.5) (78–7.7) (78–7.9) (79–8.0) 0 0 0 0.025 0 10 10<!--</td--></td></td></th<>	Oviposition substrates in choice experiments Lake water Pellet infusions Soil i 1 2 days 4 days 6 days 2 days 4 days 1 22 17 25 222 97 (06=1.4) (20=23) (14=19) (20=29) (197=248) (92=102) 107 477 553 543 173 207 (105=110) (462=491) (547=599) (532=555) (171=176) (208=212) 4 0.3 0.7 0.3 5.3 6 (27=5.3) (0.21=1.4) (09=1.4) (02=0.4) (50=5.6) (57=6.3) 8.1 6.3 6.7 7.4 7.7 7.9 (79=8.1) (6.2=6.3) (65=6.5) (73=7.5) (76=7.7) (78=7.9) 0 5 10 10 0 0 0 3 3 3 3 3 0.1 3.9 0.1 3.9 0.1 1.5 <td>Oviposition substates in choice experiments Velice infusions Soil infusions value Pellet infusions 2 days 4 days 6 days 2 days 4 days 6 days 1 22 17 25 222 97 73 (06=1.4) (20-23) (14–19) (20-29) (197–248) (92–102) (61–84) 107 477 553 543 173 207 237 (105–110) (462–491) (547–539) (532–555) (171–176) (208–212) (23–242) 4 0.3 0.7 0.3 5.3 6 6.3 (27–5.3) (0.21–1.4) (029–1.4) (02–0.4) (50–5.6) (55–5.6) (55–5.6) 6 81 6.3 6.7 7.4 7.7 7.9 8 (79–8.1) (62–6.3) (65–6.9) (73–7.5) (78–7.7) (78–7.9) (79–8.0) 0 0 0 0.025 0 10 10<!--</td--></td>	Oviposition substates in choice experiments Velice infusions Soil infusions value Pellet infusions 2 days 4 days 6 days 2 days 4 days 6 days 1 22 17 25 222 97 73 (06=1.4) (20-23) (14–19) (20-29) (197–248) (92–102) (61–84) 107 477 553 543 173 207 237 (105–110) (462–491) (547–539) (532–555) (171–176) (208–212) (23–242) 4 0.3 0.7 0.3 5.3 6 6.3 (27–5.3) (0.21–1.4) (029–1.4) (02–0.4) (50–5.6) (55–5.6) (55–5.6) 6 81 6.3 6.7 7.4 7.7 7.9 8 (79–8.1) (62–6.3) (65–6.9) (73–7.5) (78–7.7) (78–7.9) (79–8.0) 0 0 0 0.025 0 10 10 </td				

avoidance of the autoclaved infusion the odds of finding an egg in the non-autoclaved six- day old infusion should have been approximately 1.3 (decreased choice for autoclaved infusion by 30% or increased choice of fresh infusion by 30%). Nevertheless, the remaining odds of 2.2 can only be explained by chemical cues being either involved in attracting the female from a short distance or stimulating the female to lay eggs on contact with water. Physical and chemical water parameters were similar for autoclaved and non-autoclaved soil infusions. Bacteria cultures from autoclaved infusions confirmed that samples did not contain any bacteria that could grow on LB plates as opposed to the non-autoclaved infusion where colonies of at least three different morphologies were observed.

The oviposition choice of the gravid female is not

influenced by her olfactory memory of her larval habitat Rearing An. gambiae s.s. in two- to four-day old pellet infusion did not alter their oviposition response towards the infusion (p = 0.392). Gravid females reared in lake water and gravid females reared in pellet infusion show an equally strong avoidance of the six-day old pellet infusion provided in choice experiments (Figure 6, Set 4).

Discussion

The results confirm that wild and caged An. gumbiae s.l. females discriminate (defined as recognition and understanding of the difference between two things [83]) between potential aquatic habitats for oviposition and make clear choices when presented with contrasting oviposition media. These choices benefit the survival of the offspring. Although the experimental design does not allow a conclusion whether the stimuli acted over a distance (attractants and repellents [84]) or on contact with the oviposition medium (stimulants and deterrents [85]), it could be demonstrated that the choice of breeding site is guided by both avoidance and preference. However, the exclusive way in which the artificial ponds were chosen in the field, where they were set up relatively



close to each other, suggest that these characteristics were detected by both culicines and anophelines from a distance rather than on contact.

Muddy water has previously been suggested to increase oviposition response of gravid An. gambiae s.s. in cages when offered together with clear water [41], however in this study cage experiments could not confirm this observation. The difference in turbidity between lake water and infusions cannot explain the avoidance and preference observed at short range in the cages. Two-day and six-day old pellet infusions did not differ in their turbidity but significantly differed in the oviposition response they received. Similarly, all soil infusions should have elicited equally strong responses from gravid females if turbidity was an important oviposition cue at short range. On the contrary, the six-day old soil infusion remained equally preferred for oviposition when tested against a turbid and autoclaved infusion than when tested against clear lake water. The results suggest that chemical and not visual cues were responsible for the responses observed in the cage experiments. The previously published preference of muddy water [41] may have been based on chemical cues associated with the muddy water which was taken from a natural habitat. However the possibility that visual cues played a role in the selection of oviposition sites by wild mosquitoes in field experiments especially when searching for water bodies from a distance cannot be entirely excluded.

It is likely that the chemical cues used by mosquitoes to avoid pellet infusions and to prefer soil infusions were at least partly of microbial origin, which is supported by the lack of attraction to the autoclaved soil infusion compared to clear lake water. It is most likely that the observed oviposition choices as well as the larval survival were rooted in the water quality of the habitat and consequently the associated micro-organisms and chemicals in the water. The physical and chemical water parameters measured for the two infusions suggest that they represented aquatic habitats in different stages of decay. Contrary to the expectation at the onset of the experiment, pellet infusions created with increasing age a habitat type in a severe state of decomposition. High ammonia and phosphate levels are characteristic of recently in undated organic material [86]. The odour of the pellet infusion is associated with fermentation of organic material by facultative and anaerobic bacteria. This leads to depletion of the oxygen supply and a decrease in pH as a result of accumulation of organic acids in the water [87-89]. The soil infusion had the characteristics of a less nutrient-rich habitat containing relatively little organic matter. This limits the removal of oxygen by aerobic heterotrophic micro-organisms and hence the water column will stay aerobic [89].

Anaerobic fermentation products of organic matter have been previously shown to be highly attractive to a number of gravid culicine species such as *Culex stigmatosoma* (formerly *peus*) [87], *Culex quinquefasciatus* [33,65,90-92], *Culex pipiens* [64], *Aedes aegypti* [77,93] and *Aedes albopictus* [94,95]. These infusions have been associated with a range of bacteria such as *Aerobacter aerogenes*, *Psaudomona aeruginosa*, *Bacillus cereus* [96-98] and volatile chemicals produced by them including 4- methylphenol, 3-methylindole, carboxylic acids and methyl esters [33,39,99,100]. It is likely that similar factors were responsible for the strong repellent/deterrent effect on gravid *An. gambiae s.l.* females.

Most stagnant water bodies will show increasing signs of decomposition over time but the speed and extent of this will depend largely on habitat quality [101]. Therefore, it is argued that habitat age or permanence alone is not a good predictor for the oviposition response of An. gambiae s.l. as has been suggested [45]. For example, the content and input of organic matter, source of water and frequency of fresh water inflow will affect the composition of the biotic community and chemical and physical characteristics of an aquatic habitat [86,89,101]. This might explain why in some environments semi-permanent and permanent habitats are just as well colonized as temporary habitats traditionally thought to be the preferred An. gambiae s.l. habitats [13,17,67]. Habitats made of pellet infusion were avoided by Anopheles from an early habitat age, whilst interestingly, the highest preference of the soil infusion was recorded on day 6 in the laboratory and between day 6 and 10 in the field after the habitats were well established, contradicting the idea that An. gambiae sl. is a pioneer species colonizing temporary habitats immediately after their occurrence [13].

Typically, it is reported that An. gambiae s.l., although largely a generalist, is not found in heavily polluted waters [19,102]. Han cock [103] further observed that An. gambiae s.l. avoided water with a low pH when it was also accompanied with high organic matter content. Addition of freshly cut vegetation (i e, grass cuttings) to aquatic habitats has also been shown to prevent the larval development of An. gambiae s.l [16]. The results from the experiments with pellet infusions support these observations. On the other hand, there have been recent reports of An. gambiae s.l. colonizing polluted habitats especially in urban areas [104-106]. Clearly, the degree of avoidance or acceptance of a polluted habitat by An. gambiae s.l. depends on the extent and nature of pollution [19]. Results show that two-day old pellet infusions were not rejected by Anopheles and even four-day old infusions still received a considerable proportion of the oviposition responses despite their adverse water characteristics. This supports the idea that An. gambiae s.l has a very high tolerance level of what they accept as oviposition sites, especially in the absence of better alternatives in close vicinity as is often the case in urban environments and in contrast to the here presented field experiment where good habitats were offered right next to the unfavoured on es.

Importantly, An. gambiae s.l appears to have an innate propensity to avoid specific chemical cues that were emitted from the pellet infusion. Rearing An. gambiae s. s from egg to pupae in this infusion did not alter this behaviour. Gravid females that had experienced the pellet infusion during larval development avoided the infusion for oviposition as much as the females that had no prior experience of it. This suggests that the environment in which An. gambiae s.s. develop as larvae does not determine the preferred oviposition site when they return to lay eggs. This is in contrast to published work on Cx. quinquefasciatus where it was demonstrated that rearing the larvae in an infusion made from guinea-pig faeces cancelled their innate preference for a hay infusion [4].

The cage bioassays with individual gravid females allowed a number of interesting observations that are rarely reported since the majority of studies with An. gambiae s.s. are done with groups of mosquitoes where the actual number of females laying per cage is unknown [41]. The occurrence of skip-oviposition in gravid An. sambiae s.s. and how this is affected by chemical cues was demonstrated. Furthermore, the design revealed that the mean number of eggs laid per female in a cage was similar irrespective of the experiment and treatment; only the distribution between cups differed when two different choices were presented. This indicates that gravid females did not retain their eggs in the presence of an unfavoured substrate when they were offered a suitable alternative choice. It also shows that the preferred soil infusion did not stimulate individual females to lay more eggs than they would do in lake water. Testing individual females also excludes potential aggregation effects. Whilst from the field experiments it might have been possible that gravid females selected habitats that already received eggs from conspecific females, cage bioassays with individual females showed the same avoidance and preference behavjour as observed in the field, confirming that conspecifics alone cannot explain the observed choice.

The potential involvement of microbial activity in breaking down organic matter and producing semiochemicals that impact on the oviposition responses of gravid An gambiae s.s. was deduced partly by the lack of attraction of An gambiae s.s. to a sterile soil infusion. However, this must be interpreted with caution since autoclaving the infusion might not only have killed the microbes but affected the chemistry of the resulting infusion, possibly altering the response of gravid mosquitoes by chemical changes rather than biological changes [77].

Batch-to-batch variations were recorded in the response of gravid mosquitoes to the infusions, resulting, for example, in some rounds showing a high preference and other rounds only a moderate preference for the soil infusion. This variation can be attributed to differences in the quality and amounts of odorants released from the infusions and stochastic events. Fresh infusions were prepared for every test round with different batches of pellets and soil. Especially, for the soil it is highly likely that there were differences in the soil condition as well as differences in the species composition of the microbial community associated with the natural materials over time. It has been shown previously that natural infusions can be an inconsistent source of odorants for oviposition site-seeking mosquitoes and therefore every batch needs to be verified to be behaviourally active before it can be used for subsequent experiments [77]. Ideally, if infochemicals were to be used for monitoring and/or controlling gravid malaria vectors, specific chemically defined oviposition cues would be preferred over natural infusions to ensure a consistent response in gravid females either pushing them away from human population [107,108] or pulling them towards a gravid trap [38,109].

Whilst the observed avoidance behaviour towards the organically rich pellet infusion was strong and in the same range as reported for other species in response to unfavourable chemical cues [107,108,110], the observed preference in the cages for the soil infusion was relatively weak and it is questionable whether it could compete with other suitable habitats from a larger distance. Nevertheless, consistent response derived from over 150 replicates in two experiments likely represents a genuine effect. Further investigations are in progress to characterize the bacteria communities associated with the infusions and the volatile chemicals emitted from the infusions and detected by gravid An. gambiae s.s. using gas-chromatography coupled to mass-spectrometry and coupled gas chromatographyelectroantennogram detection.

It must be cautioned that not all soils and all rabbit food pellets will lead to the same physical and chemical parameters as the infusions presented here. Therefore the two infusions of this study only serve as specific examples for two highly contrasting media. Further work is needed to screen other soil samples to see if the observed response is a response common for all soil infusions prepared under standard conditions and if the same bacteria and chemical profiles can be detected, or, which is more likely, that there are significant differences depending on the source of the soil.

Conclusion

This work illustrates that a gravid An. gambiae s.l female selects a suitable habitat for oviposition using chemical cues from water bodies. It furthermore emphasizes that

natural infusions can be used to manipulate the oviposition behaviour of An. gambiae s.l.. Soil infusions have the potential to be used to bait gravid traps for the collection of An. gambiae s.L. although further work must be implemented to elucidate whether the observed preference was based on the specific soil type tested or whether similar responses can be achieved with any soil. The low An. gambiae s.l. catching efficacy reported for gravid traps operationally used for Culex and Aedes monitoring might partly be explained by the infusions routinely used in these traps, i e, fermented hay infusions, rabbit food pellet and cow manure infusions [64-112]. The identification of the chemicals responsible for the preference of the soil infusion might be exploited to bait gravid traps specifically for the collection of An. gambiae sl.

Competing interests

The authors declare that they have no competing interests.

s' contributio

UF, J., MH-V and SWL conceived the idea for this research and developed the experimental design, MHV developed all protocols and implemented the experiments. MH-V and UF analysed the data and wrote the first draft of the manuscript. All authors contributed to the final draft, read and approved the manuscript.

Acknowledgements We thank David Alia, Bisha Obudho and Benard Oyembe for providing mosquitoes for this study and Paul Ouma, Bizabeth Masinde, Gregory Masinde and Rose Atleno for their technical support. We also extend our atitude to Benedict Orindi for statistical advice. MHV was supported the Colombian Department of Science, Technology and Innovation (COLCENCIAS) through the Scholarship programme ³Francisco lose de Caldas". This project received funding from the National Institute of Health (NH) through grant no. R014/082537.

Author details

¹Department of Disesses Control, London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine, London, UK. ²International Centre for Insect Physiology and Ecology (dpc)-Thomas Odhiambo Campus, Mbita, Kenya. "Royal Institute of Technology, Stockholm, Sweden. "School of Biological and Biomedical Sciences, Durham University, Durham, UK.

Received: 5 February 2014 Accepted: 27 March 2014 Published: 2 April 2014

- Refinition JM, Janzen FJ: Putting eggs in one basket: ecological and evolutionary hypotheses for variation in oviposition site choice. Annu Rev Rejmankova E, Higashi R, Grieco J, Achee N, Roberts D: Volutile substances
- from lanval habitats mediate species specific ov/position in Anopheles mosquitoes. J Med Entomol 2005, 42:95–103. Moris DW: Toward an ecological synthesis: a case for habitat selection.
- More Lon 1001, 136:1–13. McCall PJ, Eaton G: Offactory memory in the mesquito Culex
- a.
- quinquelasciatus. Med Ver Entornol 2001, 1 S 197–203. Laird M: The natural history of larval mosquito habitats. London: Academic
- Press; 1988. Multhead-7 ad-Thomson RC: Studies on the breeding places and control of Anopheles gambiae and A. gambiae var. melas in coastal districts of
- Steria Leone. Bull Entornol Res 1945, 38:527–558. Macan TT: Factors that limit the range of freshwater animals. Biol Rev Camb Philos Soc 1961, 36:151–198.
- Bates M: Oviposition experiments with anopheline mosquitoes. Am J Trop
- Med Hig 1940, 20:569-583.

- Multhead-Thomson RC Studies on the behaviour of Anopheles minimus. 0 Part I. The selection of the breeding place and the influence of light and shade. *J Malar Inst India* 1940, 3:265–294. Multhead-Thomson RG. Studies on the behaviour of Angoheles minimus.
- 10 Part II. The influence of water movement on the selection of the breeding place. *J Malar ist India* 1940, 3:295–322. Walls RC A study of oviposition activity of mosquitoes. *Am J Hyg* 1954,
- 11. 60:135-168
- 12 Bentley MD, Day JF: Chemical ecology and behavioral aspects of mosquito eviposition. Annu Rev Entomol 1989, 34:401-421.
- Gilles MT, De Mellon B. The Anophelinae of Africa South of the Sahara. Johannesburg Publications of the South African Institute of Medical Research; 196854. 13
- 14 Multhead Thomson RC Mosaulto Behaviour in Belation to Malaria
- Transmission and Control in the Tropics London: Edward Amidi & Co. 1951. Gimnig JE, Ombok M, Kamau L, Hawley WA: Characteristics of larval eline (Diptera: Culicidae) habitats in western Kenya. J Med Entornol Anoph 2001 38282-288
- Minakawa N, Sonye G, Yan G: Relationships between occurrence d Anopheles gambiae 51. (Diptora: Culicidae) and size and stability of larval habitats. J Med Entomol 2005, 42:295-300. Filinger U, Sonye G, Rileen GF, Khols BG, Becler N: The practical
- Importance of permanent and semipermanent habitats for controlling aquatic stages of Anopheles gambite sense into mosquitases operatione observations from a rural town in western Kenya. Trop Med Int Health 2004, 9:1274–1289.
- 18. Filinger U. Lindsay SW: Larval source management for malarla control in Africa: myths and reality. Malor J 2011, 10353.
- 10 Holstein MH: Biology of Anopheles gambiae Research in French West Africa. World Health Organization (Geneva) 1954. Majambere S, Filinger U, Sayer DR, Green C, Lindsay SW: Spatial 20
- distribution of mosquito larvae and the potential for targeted larval control in The Gambia. Am J Trop Med Hyg 2008, 79:19–27. Filinger U, Sombroek H, Majambere S, van Loon E, Takken W, Lindsay SW. 21 Ident Bying the most productive breading sites for malaria mosquitoes in The Gambia. Malar J 2009, 8:52.
- Munga S, Yakob L, Mushinzimara E, Zhou G, Ouna T, Minalawa N, Githeko 22 A, Yan G Land use and land cover changes and spatiotemporal dynamics of anopheline larval habitats during a four-year period in a
- highland community of Africa. Am J Trop Med Hyg 2009, 81:1079–1084. Ndenga BA, Simbauni JA, Mbugi JP, Githeko AK, Filinger U: Product Mity 23 of malaria vectors from different habitat types in the western Kenve
- highlands. PLoS2011, Ge19473. Multhead Thomson RC: Studies on salt-water and fresh-wate 74 Anopheles gambiae on the east african coast. Bull Entomol Res 1051 41-487-502
- 25 Mutuku FM, Bayoh MN, Gimnig JE, Vulule JM, Kamau L, Walker ED, Kabiru E, Hawley WA: Pupal habitat productivity of Anopheles gambiae complex osquitoes in a rural vilage in western Kenya. Am J Trop Med Hyg 2006, 74:54-61
- 26 Ferguson HM, Domhaus A, Beeche A, Borgemeister C, Gottlieb M, Mulla MS, Gimig JE, Fish D, Kilken GF: Ecology: a prerequisite for mataria elimination and eradication. *RciS Med* 2010, 7e 1000303. Laurence BR, Rcixtt JA: erythro-6-Acetoxy-5-hexadecanolide, the major
- 27. component of a mosquito ovposition attractant pheromone. J Chem Soc Chem Commun 1982, 0:59–60.
- Beehier JW, Millar JG, Mulla MS: Protein hydrolysates and associated
- bacterial contaminants as oviposition attractants for the mosquito Culex quinquefasciatus. Mail Ver Entomol 1994, 8381–885. Beehier W, Milar IS, Mula MS: Feid evaluation of synthetic compounds media ting oviposition in Culex mosquitous (Diptere: Culicidae). J Chem Eco/ 1994, 20:281-291.
- Isce J, Benher JW, Millar JS, Mulla MS: Oviposition responses of Culex 30 tarsalis and Culex quinquelasciatus to aged Bernuda grass infusions. J Am Mosq Control Assoc 1995, 11:39-44.
- Ison I, Milar JG: Chara cherization of factors mediating oviposition site choice by Culex tassals. J Am Mosq Control Assoc 1995, 11:21–28. 31.
- Milar JG, Chanoy JD, Beehler JW, Mulla MS: Interaction of the Culex quinquefacciatus egg raft phenomene with a natural chemical associated with oviposition sites. J Am Mosq Control Assoc 1994, 10:374-379

- 33. Millar JG, Charey JD, Mala MS: Identification of oviposition attractants
- for Culex quinquefasciatus from fermente d Bermuda grass infusion: J Am Mosq Control Assoc 1992, 8:11–17. Bentley MD, McDaniel IN, Yatacai M, Lee HP, Mayrard R: p-Gresol 34
- an ov/position attractant of Aedes triseriatus. Environ Entornol 1979, 8:206-209.
- Hwang Y, Schultz GW, Axelrod H, Kramer WL, Mulla MS: Ovipositional Hinding J, Janasa GM, Johnson T, Jinnin TH, Malin HJ. Sel postalation repetitionary of fatty acids and their derivatives against Curiex and Aedes mosquiboes. Environ Entornol 1982, 11:223–226. Mendki MJ, Ganesan K, Pakash S, Suryanarayana MVS, Malhotra RC, Rao KM, 36
- Valdyanthawamy R. Heneicosane: an oviposition-attactant phenomene of lavail origin in Andes orgypt mosquito. Curr Sci 2000, 78:1295–1296. Ganesan K, Mendik MJ, Suryanarayana MKS, Pakash S, Malhotra RC. Studies
- of Aedes aegypti (Diptera: Culicidae) ovipositional responses to newly identified semiochemicals from conspecific eggs. Aust J Entomol 2006 4575-80
- Servivasgan T, Sharma KR, Selhar K, Ganesan K, Pralash S, Mjayangha van R: Bectroanternogram, flight orientration, and oviposition responses of Andes augptit to the oviposition pheromone n-heneicosane. Parasito Res 2000, 104:27-233. 38
- and, reveal value Ponrusamy L, Xu N, Nojma S, Wesson DM, Schal C, Apperson CS: Identification of bacteria and bacteria-a sociated chemical cues that mediate ov/position site preferences by Aedes argypti. Proc Natl Acad Sci 30 USA 2008, 105-9262-9267
- Ponrusamy L, Weson DM, Arelano C, Schal C, Apperson (5: Species composition of bacterial communities influences attraction of mosquitoes to experiment al plant infusions. Microb Etcl 2010, 59:158-173.
- McCrae AV: Ovigosition by African mataria vector mosquitoes IL Bfloct of site tone, water type and conspecific immatures on target selection by freshwater Anopheles gambiae Glies, sensu lato. Ann Trop Med Parasitol
- 984, 78:307-318 Kennedy E On water-finding and oviposition by captive mosquitoes
- Bull Entornal Res 1942, 32279-301. Gu W, Regens JL, Beier X, Novak RE Source reduction of mosquito brval habitats has unexpected consequences on mahrla transmission. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2006, 103:17560–17563.
- Gouagna LC, Relotondranary M, Boyer S, Lemperiere G, Dehecq JS, Fonterille D: Abiotic and biotic factors associated with the presence of Anopheles arabiersis immatures and their abundance in naturally
- Andpress introduces infinitations and start advantation in international occurring and mannada aquatic habitats. Provid Vectors 2012, 596. Munga S, Vulue J, Kivela EJ. Response of Anopheles gambiae sJ. (Dipterez Culicidae) to larval habitat age in western Kenya highlands. Provid Vectors 2013.6:13
- Kwela El, Zhou G, Munga S, Lee MC, Atleli HE, Nyindo M, Githeko AK, Yan G: Anopheline larval habitats seasonality and species distribution: a usite for effective targeted larval habitats control programmes.
- Ros One 2012, 7:e5:2084. Sumba LA, Guda TQ, Deng AL, Hasanali A, Brier JC, Knols BGE Mediation 47. of oviposition site selection in the African malaria mosquito Anophelis gambiae (Diptera: Culicidae) by semiochemicals of microbial origin. Int J Trop Insect Sci 2004, 242:60–265.
- Sumba LA, Ogbunugshir CB, Deng AL, Hassanali A: Regulation of ovlposition in Anopheles gambiae ssa role of inter- and intra-sp signals. J Chem Ecol 2008, 341:430–1436. d intra-specific
- Huang J, Welkor ED, Vulue J, Millor IR The influence of darkness and visual contrast on oviposition by Anopheles gambiae in moist and dry substrates. Physiol Entornol 2001, 3234-40. 40.
- Huang J, Welker ED, Groux PY, Vidule J, Miller JF: Ovjpoditional site selection by Anopheles gambiae influences of substrate moisture texture. Med Vet Entomol 2005, 19:442–450. 50
- Huang J, Walker ED, Ottenoburu PE, Amimo F, Vulule J, Miller JR Laboratory tests of oviposition by the African materia mosquito, Anopheks gambize, on dark soil as influenced by presence or absence of vegetation. Malar J 51 2006.5.88
- Kwela El, Owino EA, Mwang'onde BJ, Mahande AM, Nyindo M, Mosha F. The role of cow units in the oviposition site preference of culicine and Anopheles mosquitoes. Parasit Vectors 2011, 4:184.
- Linch M, Kamaze A, Khois BG, Faye I, Borg-Karlson AK. Oxposition re-sponses of Anophelis gambiae s.s. (Diptera: Cullcidae) and identification of volatiles from lacteria-containing solutions. J Med Entomol 2008, 451039-1049

- 54. Balestrino F, Soliban SM, Gilles J, Oliva C, Benedict MQ, Ovipositional behavior in the context of mass reading of Anophelis andbimsis. J Am Most Control Assoc 2010, 26:365–372. Paaljmans KP, Takken W, Githelio AK, Jacobs AF. The effect of water
- 55 Lutikity on the near-sufface water temperature of lavel habitats of the malarla mosquite Anopheles gambles. Int J Biometeorol 2008, 52:047–753. Ye-Esiyo Y, Polack RJ, Kazewski A, Spielman A: Enhancement of
- 96 development of larval Anophelis anabiensis by proximity to flowering make (Zea mays) in turbid water and when crowded. Am J Trop Med Hyg 2003, 687 48-752
- 2003, 682/48–752. Okal MN, Francis B, Herrera-Varela M, Filinger U, Lindsay SW. Water vapour is a pre-oxiposition attract ant for the malaria vector Anophelis gombine 57 Gia m, Francis, namoavana m, Francis, Coursey See waard vap is a pre-oxposition attractant for the maiatia vector Anophelis gomb sensu stricto. Molar J 2013, 12:365. Huang J, Miller JR, Chen SC, Vulule JM, Walker ED: Anopheles gombine
- 58 (Diptera: Culicidae) eviposition in response to agarose media and cultured bacterial volutiles. J Med Entomol 2006, 43498-504.
- Backwell A, Johnson SN Bectrephysiological investigation of larval water 90 and potential oviposition chemo-attractants for Anopheles gambles is Ann Top Med Parashol 2000, 94:389-308. Rriker DC, Pitts RJ, Zhou X, Suh E, Rokas A, Zwiebel LL: Blood meal-induced
- 60
- Holin DC, Humm, Lindon A, and Holandy Charlos I. Lindon A. Hummenson and the analysis of the sensitiv-tides in Anopholes gambies. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 2013, 110:82:60–8265. Hanger J, Provost M. The laboratory colonization of Opflex. Bull World. 61. Health Organ 1964, 31:451-452.
- Risgon I.: Wolbachia induces maie-specific mortality in the mosquito Culex pipiers (LIN strain). PLoS One 2012, 7::30381. 62
- 63 Nouven TT, Su T, Mula MS: Bacteria and mosquito abundance in Ingly in the second sec
- Jackson BT, Paulson SL, Youngman RR, Scheffel SL, Belinda H. Ovlposition preferences of Culex restuars and Culex pipiers (Diptera: Culicidae) for selected infusions in ovlposition traps and gravid traps. *J Am Mosq* 64 Control Assoc 2005, 21:960-365.
- McPhatter LP, Debboun M: Attractive ness of betanical infusions to ovipositing Culex quinquefasciatus, Cx nigripalpus, and Cx. enaticus in 65. San Antonio, Texas, J Am Mosa Contol Assoc 2009, 25:508-510.
- Sain Antonio, Foxo, J. Am Anag Conton Assoc. 2004, 25:08–510. Silver JB. Mosquito Ecology: Reid Sampling Methods. London: Springer; 2008. Minalewa N, Dida GO, Sonye GO, Futami K, Njenga SM. Malarla vectors in Lake 66
- Victoria and adjacent habitats in Western Kenya, PLoS One 2012, 7e32725. 68
- Glies MT. A modified technique for the age-grading of populations of Anopheles gambiae. Am Trap Met Parastol 1958, 52261–273. Lyimo EQ, Takken W: Effects of adult body size on fecundity and the 60 re-gravid rate of Anopheles gambiae females in Tanzania. Med Va nomol 1993, 7:328–332.
- Filinger U, Knois BG, Bedver N: Efficacy and efficiency of new Bacillus 70. thuringiens's var israelensis and Bacilus spharericus formulations against Afrotropical anopholines in Western Kenya. Trop Med Int Health 2003, 8 37-47
- Brown RB Soil texture, http://edisitis.ufl.edu/adfiles/55/5516900.pdf Whiting D, Card A, Wison C, Reeder J: Estimating soil texture: sand, sit or day? http://www.est.colostate.edu/mg/gardennates/214html. 72
- Glies MT, Coetze M: A supplement to the anaphelinae of Africa South of the Sahara (Afottopical Region). Johanneburg South African Institute for Medical Research; 1987. 73
- Scott JA, Broadon VG, Collins FH Identification of single specimens of the Anopheles gambize complex by the polymense chain reaction. Am J Trop Med Hyg 1903, 40:520–529. 74
- Kindi BG Njiru BN, Mathong EM, Mukatana WR, Beier JC, Kileen GF. MalataSphere: a greenhouse-enclosed simulation of a natural Anophelas gambiae (Diptera: Culicidae) ecosystem in westem Kenya. Maiar J 2002, 1:19. 75.
- 76
- Ponnusamy L, Boroczły K, Wisson DM, Schal C, Apperson CS. Baderia stimulate hashing of yolkow laver mozquito eggs. FLoS Cine 2011, 6:c3440. Ponnusamy L, Xu N, Boroczły K, Wesson DM, Abu Ayach L, Schal C, Appeson CS. Ovlposition responses of the mocquitoes Aedes *aegypti* and 77. Adds albopicities to experimental plant influsions in laboratory bicascays. *J Chem Etti* 2010, 36709–719. Bertari G Lysogeny at mid-twentieth century: PI, P2 and other experi-
- 78. mental systems. J Boderio/ 2004, 186:595-600
- Kur /S, Lai /L, Gger AD: Learning and memory in the mosquito Aedes aegyptishown by conditioning against oviposition deterrence. Med Ver 79 Entomo/ 2003, 17457-460

- Page 14 of 15
- 81 Development Core Team R R: A language and environment for statistical computing .pp. http://www.R.project.org/. Vienna, Austria: R. Foundation for statistical Computing. 2011 http://www.R.project.org/. Cotton YM, Chadee DD, Severson DW: Natural skip oviposition of the
- 81 China M, Charles Legypti Indicated by codominant genetic markets. Med Vet Entomol 2003, 17:195–204.
 Chen H, Filinger U, Yan G Oviposition behavior of female Anopheles
- 82 gambiae in western Kenya inferred from microsateliite markers. Am J Trop Med Hyg 2006, 75:246–250. Oxbrd-Octionaries Discriminate [Def.2]. http://oefortidictionaries.com/
- 83
- Control can be an experimental part of the property of the pr 94
- 85 I see J, Miller JG, Beehier JW: Bioassays for Culer (Diptera: Culicidae) mosquite evipesition attractants and stimulants. J Met Enternol 19 32475-483
- Palmer R. Classification and ecological status of aquatic ecosystems in the eastern Caprivi, Namibia: Windhoele Ministry of Agriculture, Water and Rural 86 Development; 2002.
- 97 Gerhardt RW: The influence of soil fermentation on oviposition site selection by mosquitoes. Mosq News 1959, 19:151–155. Curha A, Almeida A, Coeho F.RC, Gomes NCM, Oliveira V, Santos AL:
- Current Risearch, Technology and Education Topics in Applied Microbiology and Microbial Bistechnology. Bajadoz Formatex Research Center, 2010. Sigee DC-Fresh water mizrobiology biodiversity and dynamic interactions of 80
- microorganisms in the aquatic environment. England: John Wiley & Sons Ltd; 2005. 90
- Burkett Cadena ND, Mullen GR: Field comparison of Bermuda-hay infusion to infusions of emergent aquatic vegetation for collecting female mosguiltoes. J Am Mosq Control Assoc 2007, 23:117–123. Moora LEG, Mdira KY, Salum F.M. Takken W, Pickett JA: Influence of **01**
- synthetic oviposition pheromone and volatiles from soakage pits and grass infusions upon oviposition site-selection of Culex morquitoes in Tanzania, J Chem Ecol 1999, 25:18:55-1865. 92
- Kramer WL, Mula MS: Ovigosition attractants and repailents of moguitoes explosition patractants and repailents of indusions. Environ Entomol 1970, 8:1111–1117.
- Santana AL, Roque RA, Eras AE: Characteristics of grass infusions as oviposition attractants to Aedes (Stegornyla) (Diptera: Gulicidae). J Med QR. Entomo/ 2006, 43:214-220
- Entrono and Address and Address and Statistics of sticky ovitraps for the surveillance of Aedes (Stegamyla) albopictus (Stuss) and the screening of oviposition attractants from organic infusions. Ann Trop Med Parasitol 2008, 102-309-417
- exter JD, Apperson CS, Schall C Laboratory and field evaluations of oc. oviposition responses of Aedes albopidus and Aedes triseristus (Diptera: Culicidae) to cak leaf infusions. J Med Entornol 1998, 35:967–976.
- Hazard E, Mayer MS, Savage KE Attraction and oviposition stimulation of gravid female mosquitoes by bacteria isolated from hay influions. Mosq News 1967, 22:133–136.
- lieshoji T, Sato K, Yano A: Bacterial production of the ovipositional 97 attractants for mosquitces on fatty acid substrates. Appl Entornol Zool 1975.10:239-242.
- Hasselschwert D, Rockett CL: Bacteria as ovipositional attractant for Aedes 08 Aegypti (Diptera:Culicidae). Great Lakes Entomol 1988, 21:163-168.
- Allan SA, Khine DL: Bealuation of organic influsions and synthetic compounds mediating ov/position in Aedes abopictus and Aedes aegypti (Diptenz Culicidae). J Chem Ecol 1995, 21:1847–1860. 92
- Trexter JD, Apperson CS, Gemeno C, Perich MJ, Carlson D, Schal C: Field 100. and laboratory evaluations of potential oviposition attractants for Aedes albopictus (Diptera: Culicidae). J Am Mosq Control Assoc 2003, 19:228-234
- 101. Ruppel RE, Setty KE, Wu M: Decomposition rates of Typha spp. in northern freshwater wetlands over a stream-marsh-peatland gradient Sci Discipulorum 2004, 1:26-37.
- 102. Symes CB: Malaria in Nairobi, East Afr Med J 1940, 17:332-355
- Hancock GLR Some records of Uganda mosquitoes and oecolo associations of their larvae. Bull Soc Entomol Egypte 1930, 1:38–51 104. Castro MC, Kanamori S, Kannady K, Miude S, Killeen GF, Fillinger U: The
- Importance of drains for the larval development of lymphotic fillulisis and malaria vectors in Dares Salaam, United Republic of Tanzania. PLoS Nigl Pop Db 2010 4x693

Herrera-Varela et al. Malaria Journal 2014, 13:133 http://www.malariajournal.com/content/13/1/138

- 105. Kudom AA, Monsh BA, Agyemang TK: Characterization of mosquito larval habitats and assessment of insecticide-resistance status of Anopheles gambias senso lato in urban areas in southwestern Ghana, J Vector Ecol 2012, 3727-82.
- 106. Awoldia TS, Oduola AO, Obansa JB, Chukwurar NJ, Unvimadu JP: Anopheles
- uto
- Mind S J Hu.
 Anopheles S, Deboding In politikad water bodies in urban Lagos, southwestern Nigeria. J Victor Rome Dis 2007, 44:241–244.
 Senivasigan T, Shama RR, Ganesan K, Riskah S: Electrophysiclogical, flight orientation and ovipodition responses of three species of morguito vectors to hexadexpl pentanoate: residual oviposition repelient activity. J Med Enton 2010, 47:220–337.
 Stripom P, Mayura S. The effects of herbal essential discon the oviposition-determent and ovicidal activities of Aedes acgypti (Linn.). Anopheles drus (Peyton and Hamison) and Curke quinquefasciatus (Say). Trop Biomed 2012, 29:138–150.
 Senivasigan T, Shama KR, Pakash S: Electroantemogram, flight orientation and oviposition repenses of Anopheles stephenia and Aedes acgypti to a fatty acid ester-propyl octadecanoate. Acto Trop 2012, 12:454–61.
 Tennyson S, Bavindran KI, Espen A, William SE Effect of Agentum
- 110. Tennyson S, Ravindran KJ, Eapen A, William SJ: Effect of Agenatum haustoriarum MIL (Astaracea) fail estra cis on the oviposition activity of Anopholis sephensi, Antes acyyst and Cake quinqueleadatus (Diptora: Cuickaba), Prantol Re: 2012, 111:2255-2209. 111. Lewis LF, Clark TB, O'Grady LI, Christenson DM: Collecting ovigenous Cuies
- Lewis D, Carlo L, O'Carlo J, Limitation T, Die Concerning data with lowered pipelines quarticularities Say near fin-workle resulting data with lowered traps baited with influences of afafa pellots. *Marg News* 1974, 34436-439.
 Lampman RL, Novek RI: Oviposition preferences of Culex pipelins and Culex restaurs for influence-baited traps. *J Am Neuro* Control Assoc 1996,
- 12:23-32

doi:10.1186/1475-2875-13-133

uos non inter (H2+W2+12+12+13) Cite this article as: Henera-Varela et al: Habitat discrimination by gravid Anopholis gambiae sensulato – a push-pull system. Malaris Journal 2014 13:133.

Submit your next manuscript to BioMed Central and take full advantage of:

- Convenient online submission
- Thorough peer review
- No space constraints or color figure charges
- Immediate publication on acceptance
- Inclusion In PubMed, CAS, Scopus and Google Scholar Research which is freely available for redistribution

Submit your manuscript at www.biomedcentral.com/submit

BloMed Central

Appendix B.

Okal et al. 2013

Okal et al. Malaria Journal 2013, 12:365 http://www.malaria.journal.com/content/12/1/365



RESEARCH

Open Access

Water vapour is a pre-oviposition attractant for the malaria vector Anopheles gambiae sensu stricto

Michael N Okal^{1,2}, Benjamin Francis², Manuela Herrera-Varela^{1,2}, Ulrike Fillinger^{1,2*} and Steven W Lindsay^{2,3}

Abstract

Background: To date no semiochemicals affecting the pre-oviposition behaviour of the malaria vector Anopheles gamblae sensu lato have been described. Water vapour must be the major chemical signal emanating from a potential larval habitat, and although one might expect that gravid An. gamblae sl. detect and respond to water vapour in their search for an aquatic habitat, this has never been experimentally confirmed for this species. This study aimed to investigate the role of relative humidity or water vapour as a general cue for inducing gravid An. gamblae sensu stricto to make orientated movements towards the source.

Methods: Three experiments were carried out with insectary-reared An. gambiae s.s. One with unfed females and two with gravid females during their peak oviposition time in the early evening. First, unfed females and gravid females were tested separately in still air where a humidity difference was established between opposite ends of a WHO bioassay tube and mosquitoes released individually in the centre of the tube. Movement of mosquitoes to either low or high humidity was recorded. Additionally, gravid mosquitoes were released into a larger air-flow olfactometer and responses measured towards collection chambers that contained cups filled with water or empty cups.

Results: Unfed females equally dispersed in the small bloassay tubes to a reas of high and low humidity (mean 50% (95% confidence interval (C) 38-62%). In contrast, gravid females were 24 times (95% Cl 1.3-4.7) more likely to move towards high humidity than unfed females. The results were even more pronounced in the alifow offactometer. Gravid females were 10.6 times (95% Cl 5.4-20.8) more likely to enter the chamber with water than a dry chamber.

Conclusions: Water vapour is a strong pre-oviposition attractant to gravid An. gambiae ss. in still and moving air and is likely to be a general cue used by mosquitoes for locating aquatic habitats.

Keywords: Anopheles gambiae, Oviposition, Water vapour, Gravid mosquitoes

Background

Anopheles gambiae sensu stricto and Anopheles arabiensis are the two major vectors of malaria in Africa. Their primary larval habitats are commonly described as small, temporary, open, sunlit pools [1,2], yet this is a gross oversimplification of the types of habitat actually colonized by these mosquitoes [3]. In reality, immature stages of both species can be found in an enormous diversity of aquatic habitats and it has been difficult to characterize these sites with precision [4-7]. Semi-permanent water bodies are frequently as productive or even more productive over time than the small rain-filled puddles that are often only

Correspondence: ufilinger@mbitalcipe.org

¹idpe-Thomas Odhiambo Campus, Mbita, Kenya ¹Disease Control Department, London School of Hygiene & Tropical Medicine, London, UK Full Bc d'author Information is available at the end of the article

Full list of author information is available at the end of the article



abundant during the rainy season [5-7]. Nearly every type of water accumulation, apart from excessively polluted smelly water, may contain anopheline larvae [3-5,8-11]. The presence of larvae in a water body is thought to be the result of a combination of the egg-laying choice of gravid females that deposit their eggs in water and the survival of larvae in those habitats [12], although the cues that guide the gravid female's choice are not well understood.

The attractiveness of field sites may be due to general characteristics and cues such as their relative position in relation to the resting site of gravid females, visual cues from these sites and the presence of water vapour plumes, as well as more habitat-specific chemical cues released from water bodies serving as semiochemicals which indicate the suitability of an aquatic habitat [1,13,14]. Although some putative semiochemicals have been suggested based

© 2013 Okai et al, keense Boolket Genral List. This is an open access article distributed under the terms of the Greatee Commons: Attribution License (http://create/ecommons.org/licenses.by/20), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and sproduction in any molitary provide it the original work's properly dired. on coupled gas chromatography-electroantennogram detection [15-17], to date, no semiochemical has been confirmed to affect the behaviour of gravid *An. gambiae s.l*. Water vapour must be presumed to be the major chemical signal emanating from a potential larval habitat and although one might expect that gravid *An. gambiae s.l*. detect and respond to water vapour in their search for an aquatic habitat, this has never been experimentally confirmed for this species.

The present study set out to investigate the role of water vapour in the pre-ovipositional behaviour of *An. gambiae ss.* which results in arrival at potential oviposition sites [14]. Two separate choice tests were used in the first test the response of unfed and gravid *An. gambiae ss.* were compared using still air in cages connected to WHO bioassay tubes, in the second test gravid female responses were tested using moving air in a newly designed airflow olfactometer. In both systems *An. gambiae ss.* were provided with a choice of moving towards an area of low or high humidity without visual cues or access to the water source.

Methods

Study site

The study was carried out at the International Centre of Insect Physiology and Ecology, Thomas Odhiambo Campus (icipe-TOC), Mbita, on the shores of Lake Victoria, Kenya (0° 26' 0619" S, 34° 12' 53.13"E; 1,137 m above sea level). This area is characterized by an equatorial tropical climate with an average minimum temperature of 16°C and an average maximum temperature of 28°C. The area experiences two rainy seasons the long rainy season between March and June and the short rainy season between October and December. The average annual rainfall for 2010-2012 was 1,436 mm (icipe-TOC meteorological station).

Mosquitoes

Insectary-reared An. gambiae s.s. (Mbita strain) were used for all experiments. Five-days-old females were selected 30 minutes prior to the experiment from insectary colony cages where they had been kept in groups of approximately 300 males and 300 females in 30 × 30 × 30 cm netting cages and provided with 6% glucose solution ad libitum. These females never had a bloodmeal and are therefore referred to as unfed females. Gravid mosquitoes were prepared by transferring 150 female and 150 male mosquitoes, aged two days old, in 30 × 30 × 30 cm netting cages and provided with 6% glucose solution ad libitum at 25-28°C and a relative humidity between 68-75%. Saturated cotton towels, 50 × 25 cm in area, were folded and placed over the cages to avoid mosquito desiccation. Mosquitoes were starved from sugar for seven hours and allowed to feed on a rabbit for 15 minutes on day two and three post-emergence and rested for a further two days before use. Thus five-daysold gravid females were used for experiments.

Water

For all experiments, piped non-chlorinated water pumped from Lake Victoria was used. The water was passed slowly through a locally made sand charcoal gravel filter for purification. Briefly, two 50 L buckets were placed on top of each other. The lower bucket's lid contained a hole and the upper bucket's floor was perforated with small holes for the filtered water to pass through to the lower bucket. The upper bucket contained three layers of gravel, activated charcoal and sand. Tap water was poured into the top of the upper bucket and run slowly through the layers. The aim was to remove large and small particles from the water including the majority of algae and bacteria. The punfied water is referred to as 'filtered tap water'.

In the two bioassays described below it is hypothesized that the tap water was attractive solely because of the presence of water vapour rather than because the water contained an attractive semiochemical. This assumption is based on a preliminary experiment, that was implemented comparing the oviposition response of $A\pi$ gambiae s.s. to filtered tap water and double-distilled water. A description of the experiment and results can be found in Additional file 1. Gravid females did not have a significant preference for either filtered tap water or distilled water.

WHO-tube bioassays

Choice tests were carried out in the laboratory under ambient conditions. Natural moonlight came from a window located 2 m from the set-up. For each choice test, three WHO bioassay tubes, each 12 cm long [18] were connected together with open/close gates between the inner and outer tubes. The two outer tubes were inserted for approximately 6 cm into small mosquito cages measuring 15×15×15 cm. Cages were wrapped in commercially available kitchen cling-film (Figure 1). In one cage, 25 ml of silica gel desiccating crystals were spread evenly over the bottom of the cage, with dry filter paper covering the crystals. In the other cage, there were no desiccating crystals and the filter paper was dampened with 25 ml of filtered tap water. A 15×15 cm wire screen was fixed 5 cm above the bottom of the cages to prevent mosquitoes from making direct contact with the substrates. There were eight identical set-ups, arranged along a table 10 cm apart, with the high and low humidity ends being alternated between each set of tubes. In the first of these eight set-ups, data loggers (Tinytag, TV4500) were placed in the two cages to record the relative humidity. A single An. gambiae s.s. (Mbita strain) was placed in the middle tube at around 18.00 with the gates opened by 2 mm (not too wide to let the mosquito through) allowing some



exchange of air within the central tube and the connected cages before the gates were completely opened at 18.30 allowing the mosquito to move freely from the tubes into the cages. This experiment was implemented with unfed and gravid females of the same age. At 19.00 the position of each mosquito either in the middle tube or in one of the two cages was recorded. The gates were closed at 21.30 and mosquitoes again counted in each cage or middle tube. The time period for observation was chosen based on preliminary experiments that have shown that out of 120 individual gravid females tested (5 round × 20 females) 95% (114/120) of the local insectary-reared An. gambiae s.s. (Mbita strain) laid all their eggs before 21.30, which is similar to the time reported for the same strain previously [19]. Experiments were done with eight mosquitoes each evening on nine occasions with unfed females and with gravid females (total 72 per physiological stage). During the experiment with unfed females four escaped when manipulating the gates and were excluded from the analyses, similarly when implementing the experiment with gravid females six females were found dead in the middle tube and were excluded from the analysis, therefore a total of 68 unfed and 66 gravid An. gambiae s.s. were tested. This sample size was sufficient to detect a 33% increase in the attractiveness of humid air (i e. 66.5% collected in the humid air cage compared with the 50% null hypothesis) at the 5% level of significance and 80% power (inference of a proportion compared to the null proportion [20]).

Airflow olfactometer bioassays

Three dual port airflow olfactometers were used to study the responses of gravid An gambiae ss to filtered tap water (Figure 2). Each tunnel measured $40 \times 100 \times 30$ cm and was made from polymethyl methacrylate sheets. Each tunnel was partitioned into three compartments: one large compartment for releasing the mosquitoes and two identical trapping chambers ($20 \times 20 \times 30$ cm each). Two fans (diameter 8 cm, 6 V computer casing fans (Molex, China)) drew air through the trapping chambers into the release compartment at 0.48 m/s. Batches of 100 gravid An. gambiae s.s. females were introduced at 18.20 by inserting a 10×10×10 cm cage into the underside of the release compartment. At the same time the fans were switched on. Mosquitoes acclimated for 10 minutes and were then released by carefully opening the cage at 18.30. Mosquitoes were able to fly through a transparent polyvinyl chloride funnel into a trapping chamber. Alternative trapping chambers of each tunnel were baited with either an empty 70 mm diameter glass cup (Pyrex*) or with the same type of cup filled with 100 ml of filtered tap water. Prior to any experiment glass cups were autoclaved and heated after wards in an oven at 200°C for at least two hours to rid them of possible odorant contamination and bacteria. Mosquitoes trapped in the chambers and those that remained in the release compartment were counted at 08.00 the following morning. Experiments were done in complete darkness, at ambient conditions (27-28°C, 60-70% relative humidity) in a room without a window.

Responses of gravid An. gambiae s.s. were compared for three different treatments in an olfactometer: (1) both chambers contained dry cups, (2) both chambers contained cups filled with water, and (3) one chamber contained a dry cup (control) and the other a cup with water (test). In all cases cups were randomly allocated as 'control' or 'test' (even if the same treatments were provided) to the two chambers to help facilitate the analysis.

Each treatment was replicated 24 times (the 'test' cup of each treatment was located in each of the chambers of each of the three olfactometers four times) in order to estimate the variability in responses so that sample size calculations could be done. Power calculations were based on the formula from Hayes and Bennett [21] for comparing proportions of clustered data. When gravid females were provided with identical treatments in both chambers, 24 replicates resulted in a similar proportion in each



chamber (p1 = 0.5). The variability of the nightly catches was used to calculate the coefficient of variation (ratio of standard deviation/mean), which was high at 0.33. Assuming that out of 100 mosquitoes released, 80 respond by entering one or the other collection chamber, 24 replicates in each arm (p1 and p2) can detect an increase or decrease in the catch rate of 20% (p2 = 0.7) with 90% power at a 5% significance level. Data loggers (Tinytag, TV4500) were placed in the two collection chambers and the release compartment for three nights in each of the three treatments to measure relative humidity.

Statistical analysis

Data were analysed using generalized linear models comparing the mean proportion of female mosquitoes responding to the test cage or the test compartment. Responses of non-fed and gravid females towards the humid cage were compared in WHO-tube bioassays. Odds ratios were calculated in reference to the response of non-gravid females. In the airflow olfactometer bioassays responses of gravid females towards the three different experimental treatments (dry-dry, water-water, dry-water) were compared. Odds ratios were calculated in reference to the wetwet comparison (equal treatments). The experimental treatments, the olfactometer (A, B, C) and the collection chamber (left, right) were entered as fixed factors to estimate their impact on the outcome. Since the data were highly over-dispersed, quasibinominal distributions were used. Mean proportions per treatment and their 95% CIs were calculated using the parameter estimates of the models by removing the intercept from the models. All analyses were done with R statistical software version 2.14.2 [22].

Results

WHO-tube bioassays

At the time when the gates of the WHO tubes were completely opened mean relative humidity differed by around 12% between high and low humidity cages. Humidity slowly decreased in the low cage and increased in the high humidity cage over the next two hours and the difference reached a maximum of approximately 44% at 20.00, with a mean relative humidity of 54% (95% CI 53-56%) in low and 97% (95% CI 95-99%) in high humidity cages (Figure 3). Average temperatures during the experiments ranged between 27 and 28°C. Conditions were similar in both experiments with unfed and gravid females.

At 19.00, half an hour after the gates were opened, 60% of the non-fed mosquitoes and 72% of the gravid mosquitoes remained in the middle tube; 29% of the unfed mosquitoes moved to the low and 11% to the high humidity cages. Gravid females had moved only in small and similar proportions to the low and high humidity cages (Figure 4).

Unfed females showed no preference for any of the two conditions provided (Table 1, Figure 4). When gates were closed at 21.30 half of the unfed females had moved in the



high humidity cage and the other half either remained in the middle tube (9%) or moved into the low humidity cage (41%). In contrast, gravid females were 2.4 times more likely to move to the high humidity cage than unfed females (Table 1). All gravid females had moved out of the middle tube at 21.30 and on average 71% of them had moved into the high humidity cage.

Airflow olfactometer bioassays

Differences in relative humidity between areas with and without water were lower in the airflow olfactometer experiments than in the cage experiments. Relative humidity was on average 20% higher in chambers that contained water than in areas that did not (collection chamber and/ or release compartment). Nightly relative humidity in collection chambers containing water was 91% (95% CI 90-92%), the average relative humidity in dry release compartments or dry chambers was 71% (95% CI 69-72%). Table 1 The mean percentage of gravid Anopheles gambiae s.s. attracted to the test cage in the WHO-tube bioassays and to the test compartment in the airflow olfactometer bioassays

Experimental treatment	Mean percentage (%) in test (95% CI)*	Odds ratio (95% CI)	P
Response towards hig bioassays at 21.30	h humidity cage (test)	in WHO-tube	
Non-fed females	50 (38-62)	1	
Gravid females	71 (59-81)	2,4 (1,3-4,7)	0.018
Airflow olfactometer b three experimental tre	ioassays with gravid A atments	n. gambiae s.s.	in
Wet (control) vs. wet (te:t)	56 (48-64)	1	
Dry (control) vs. dry (test)	50 (29-71)	0.8 (03-1.9)	0.998
Dry (control) vs. wet (test)	93 (88-96)	10.6 (5.4-20.8)	< 0.001
CI - confidence interval.			

*based on model parameter estimates

The temperature did not differ between collection chambers and release compartments irrespective of the treatments and was on average 27.7°C (95% CI 27.2-27.9°C) during the 24 nights of experiments.

High responses of gravid females were recorded in the experimental treatments that presented water in either one or both collection chambers of the difactometer (median of 69-83%, n = 100 per difactometer/experimental unit). In contrast, when no stimulus was provided only a median of 9% of the mosquitoes responded by flying upwind in any of the two chambers whilst the rest remained in the release compartment (Figure 5).

When presented with an identical treatment the gravid females approached both collection chambers in equal proportion (estimated ratio 1:1) whilst on average 93% of the gravid females chose the chamber with water (estimated ratio 1:11), when the other was dry (Table 1) irrespective of whether the test cup was presented in the





left or right collection chamber and irrespective of which of the three olfactometers was used for the test (both factors were not significantly related to the outcome).

Discussion

Here evidence is presented that gravid An. gambiae s.s. move from lower humidity towards higher humidity. This has been shown at short distances of 15-20 cm in still air and along an air stream of moving water vapour towards an area of higher humidity at longer distances of about 60 cm. Whilst one cannot be certain that gravid females are attracted to water vapour, since they could be repelled from drier areas, it is more likely that attractiveness of water vapour was responsible for the strong results observed since the relative humidity in the low humidity test areas was close to 60% and above, which is similar to the relative humidity of their resting places [23,24]. This is supported by the results with unfed females, which did not show any preference for moving into the higher humidity cage compared to the lower humidity cage. Nevertheless, it has been shown with all physiological stages that individuals can orientate to water vapour plumes or humidity differences much in the same way that a mosquito locates a host [25]. Early studies indicated that in Aedes aegypti humidity receptors were present on the antennae of females [26]. In Anopheles atroparvus the hygroreceptors were located on the distal segments of the antennae bearing most of the grooved pegs [27]. Recent studies with An gambiae s.s. have confirmed that more than half the grooved pegs on the antennae increase their firing rate in the presence of water vapour and that some respond to low humidity, suggesting that these receptors play a role in humidity perception [28]. Whilst it has been shown that humidity is important for the survival of mosquitoes [29], a clear difference in the behaviour of unfed and gravid females was demonstrated in the presented WHO tube experiments. The strong responses observed in gravid mosquitoes towards moving to areas of very high humidity is likely to increase the reproductive success of females, since they are more likely to find an aquatic habitat that might serve as a potential oviposition site, and would therefore be an adaptive trait selected for in nature.

In the tube bioassay, only a small number of gravid mosquitoes left the central holding tube immediately after the gates were opened. This might indicate that mosquitoes remained static long enough for detecting the humidity differences and direction before moving, especially since the difference in humidity was only around 12% at the time when the gates were opened and no airflow was created. However, at the end of the peak oviposition period 2.4 times more mosquitoes had moved into the humid cage than the drier one whilst the response of unfed females was similar towards the two treatments.

The attraction of water vapour is demonstrated clearly with free-flying mosquitoes in airflow olfactometers. Here seven to eight times more gravid mosquitoes were found in the collection chambers when one or both chambers contain water than when both were dry. Furthermore, when given a choice between one chamber containing water and one that is dry, 11 times more gravid females were collected in the chamber with water. The upwind flight was probably stimulated by moist air. It is most likely that the greater attractiveness of water vapour in a wind tunnel than in the tubes was a result of moving moist air in the tunnel compared with the relatively still air in the tubes. Whilst the evidence presented here shows the attraction of water vapour over relatively short distances, previously published work provides support that water vapour might attract females over several metres. Dugassa et al. demonstrated that when gravid An. gambiae s.s. females were released into a large screened semi-field system the attractiveness of a reflecting surface was increased by 60% when presented close to water compared with when it was presented without water [30]. In this case females travelled at least 5 m from the release point to the site where they were collected. Anopheles gambiae is highly sensitive to subtle changes in moisture as seen when selecting moist sites for ovipositing [31].

It cannot be totally excluded that chemicals other than water were released from the tap water in the experiments described in this paper, since water purification with charcoal-sand filters does not completely sterilize the water or remove all chemicals. Nevertheless, the observed attraction was very strong, especially in the airflow olfactometers. If this was based on semiochemicals released from the tap water, an effect should have been observed to larger degree in the preliminary experiments comparing tap

water with double-distilled water. However, in these experiments only a very slight and insignificant preference for the tap water was recorded (Additional file 1).

The present work supports the conclusion made by Kennedy that 'water vapour emanating from a surface plays an important part in evoking pre-ovipository responses in mosquitoes (An. atroparvus, Ae. aegypti and Culex molestus)' [32]. He also recognized the importance of moist air currents to activate movement and help with orientation which 'very probably play an important part in water-finding in the field'. Such conditions existed in the olfactometer experiments. The question arises if and how gravid mosquitoes might use water vapour to navigate through the landscape. The pattern of water vapour across the savanna can be highly heterogeneous, shaped by the local climate, topography, vegetation, soil characteristics and presence and extent of water bodies [33]. The authors are not aware of research that has been conducted that describes the distribution, movement and concentration of water vapour at dusk in the savanna regions of tropical Africa at less than one metre above the ground; the environment encountered by gravid An. gambiae searching for a water body in which to lay their eggs. Such research is likely to provide further insights into the pre-oviposition behaviour of this important vector.

Water vapour is likely to be a general attractant for all mosquito species whatever their physiological status and it should not be considered the only attractive compound guiding gravid An. gambiae s.s. to an oviposition site. Water apour has been shown to attract host-seeking mosquitoes [13] and indoor-resting mosquitoes [34]. For host-seeking mosquitoes water vapour can indicate a human host, and for resting mosquitoes it provides an environment where the insect is less likely to dehydrate and die, so increasing its chances of survival. Nevertheless, the results presented here clearly show a difference between the responses of unfed and gravid females towards water vapour suggesting that it is an important cue for a gravid mosquito locating a potential water body, though it clearly cannot be the only one. If it was the only cue mosquitoes would accumulate in large bodies of water like lakes, rivers and seas, habitats inimical to their survival. Water vapour is likely to work in a synergistic manner with visual cues possibly over a longer range [35] and with semiochemicals attracting and repelling gravid An. gambiae mosquitoes over short distances [14,15,36,37].

Conclusion

Gravid malaria vectors need to find suitable water bodies for their aquatic life stages to develop. Water consistently evaporates from aquatic habitats making water vapour probably the major chemical signal emanating from a potential larval habitat. This study demonstrates that gravid An gambiae s.s. move into a reas of high humidity or along airstreams of water vapour at the time of night they are actively seeking a site to lay their eggs, implicating water vapour as an important pre-oviposition attractant. More research is needed to address: (1) how water vapour is distributed over the landscape, (2) whether it assists gravid females in locating potential aquatic habitats over longer distances, and, (3) how it interacts with other preoviposition cues, either visual or chemical.

Additional file

Additional file 1: Cage bioassays comparing the oviposition response of Anophelis gomblar s.s. to fittered tay water and distilled water in two choice experiments. The document presents the background, methods and results of the experiment.

ompeting interests te authors have declared that they have no competing interests.

SWL UF, MO, MH, conceived the idea for this research, SWL, BF and MH. experimental design and implemented the offactometer bioassays. MH contributed the additional data comparing distilled water with tap water. MD and UF analysed the data and BF, SWL and UF collated the first manuscript draft. All authors contributed to the final draft read and approved the manuscript.

Acknowledgements We would like to thank David Alla, Peter Ongele and Jackton Arija from the Insectary at kipe-TOC, Molta for providing mosquitoes for experiments, Lb Masinde, Paul Ouma, Rose Emelta, Greg Masinde for technical astictance. We thank knny Linch and Steve Teerforvaluable comments on the study design. This project was funded through a National Institute of Health (NH) gene no. ROL 40825-37 supporting the Ovi-ART project (Oviposition of An. gambine Atmactants, Residual Larvicides and Traps). BF received travel support from the LSHTM. SWL indexed support from the Research and Policy for Interdious Disease Dynamics (RAPIDD) Program of the Science and Technology Directory, Department of Homeland Security and Fogarty International Center, National Institutes of Health

Author details

icize-Thomas Odhiambo Campus, Mbita, Kenya, ²Disease Control epartment, London School of Hygiene & Tropical Medicine, London, UK chool of Biological and Biomedical Sciences, Durham University, Durham, UK.

Received: 10 July 2013 Ac capted: 24 September 2013 Published: 11 October 2013

References

- Multhead-Thomson RC: Mosquito behaviour in relation to maiata transmission and control in the tropics. London: Edward Amold & Co.; 1951. Gilles MT, De Meillon B. The Anophelinae of Africa South of the Sahara 5
- (Ethiopian Zoogeographical Region). Volume 54. 2nd arthlion. South African Institute for Medical Research: Johannesburg; 1968.
- Holstein MH Blobgy of Anopheles gambiae. Geneva: World Health Organization: 1954
- Majambere S, Filinger U, Sayer DR, Green C, Lindsay SW. Spatial distribution of mosquito larvae and the potential for targeted larval control in the Gambia Am J Top Med Hig 2008, 79:19-27
- Filinger U, Sorve G, Kileen GF, Knols BGI, Bocker N. The practical importance of permanent and semipermanent habitats for controlling aquatic stages of Anopheles gambiae sensu lato mosquitoes: operatio observations from a rural town in western Kenya. Trop Med Int Health 2004 9:1274-1289

- 6 Filinger U. Sombrook H. Malambere S. van Loon E. Takken W. Lindsav SW. identifying the most productive breading sites for malaria mosquitoes in The Gambia. *Malar J* 2009, 8:52.
- Ndenga BA, Simbauni JA, Mbugi JP, Githeko AK, Filinger U: ProductMity of 7 malarla vectors from different habitat types in the Western Kenya Highlands. PLoS ONE 2011, 6:e19473.
- Sattler MA, Mtasiwa D, Kiama M, Premiji Z, Tanner M, Killeen GF, Lengeler C: 8 Habitat characterization and spatial distribution of Anopheles sp. mosquito larvae in Dar es Salaam (Fanzania) during an extended dry period. Malar J 2005, 4:4.
- Machault V, Gadaga L, Wondks C, Jarjaval F, Bouzid S, Sokhna C, Lacaux JP, Trape JF, Rogier C, Paglis F: Highly focused anopheline breeding sites and malarla transmission in Dakar. *Malar J* 2009, 8:138. 9
- Chinery Wil: Effects of ecological changes in the malaria vector Anopheles funestas and the Anopheles gambiae complex of mosquitoes in Accra, Ghana. J Trop Med Hyg 1984, 87:95–81. 10
- Avdida TS, Odulok AO, Ohana JB, Chulwuar NJ, Unyimadu P: Anopheles gambie s.s. breeding in politated water hodies in urban Lagos, southwestem Nigeria. J Victor Borne Dis 2007, 44:241–244. Multhood Thomson RC Studies on the breeding places and control of 11
- 12
- Anopheles gambiae and A. gambiae var. melas in coastal districts of Sierra Laone. Bull Entomol Res 1945, 36:185–252. Clements AN: The biology of mosquitoes Volume 2: Sensory reception and 13
- behaviour Volume 2. Walingford CRBI Publishing 1990. Bentley MD, Day F: Chemical ecology and behavioral-aspects of mosquito ovjposition. Annu Rev Entomol 1989, 34:401–421. 14.
- Interpretation of the second secon I Med Entornal 2008, 45:1039-1049.
- Backwell A, Johnson SN Electrophysiological investigation of larval water and potential ovigosition chemoattractants for Angoheles gambiae sensu stricto, Ann Tiop Med Parasitol 2000, 94:389-398.
- Qu YT, van Loon JI, Taklen W, Mejorink J, Smid HM: Offactory coding in anternal neurors of the malarla mosquito, Anopheles gambiae. 17 Chem Senses 2006; 31845-863
- 18 WHO: Guidelines for treting mosquito aduitidates for indoor residual spraying and treatment of mosquito nets. 3rd edition. Geneva: WHO; 2006. WHO/CDS/ WHOPES/GCDPP/2006
- Vero Expecting auxilia. Sumba LA, Oloth K, Deng AL, Githure J, Kncis B, Beier J, Hassanali A: Daily oxplosition patterns of the African mataria mosquito Anophelis gambiae Giles (Diptera: Culicidae) on different types of aqueous substrates. 19 J Circadian Rhythms 2004, 26. Inference for a single proportion: comparing to a known proportion. http://
- 20 www.statubc.ca/~rollin/stats/ssize/b1.html
- www.statubccay-rollinytatis/saty/sintmi.
 Hayes RJ, Bornett S, Simple sample site calculation for cluster-randomized trials. Int J Epidimiol 1999, 28:310–326.
 R Dovelopment Core Toam: R A language and environment for statistical computing Woma, Austria: R Foundation for Statistical Computing; 2011. ISBN 3-900051-07-0 [http://www.R-projectorg/ji
 Clayemi IK, Daniami G, Isah B, Odieyemi CM, A CU, Mustapha OM: Indicer
- Colymnic continues of the policipal market of the continues of the matching of the policipal market of the control of the cont
- Orient Cutation (Conserved) (Conserved)
- Takken W, Knols BGI: Odor-mediated behavior of atrotopical malaria macquitoses. Annu Rie Entornol 1999, 44:131–157. Rahm U: Die Funktion der Antennen, Palpen und Tarsen von Aedes 25
- 26
- eqgptil. beim Aufsuchen des Wirtes. Rer Suite Zon 1958, 65279–702. Ismail IAH. Sense organs in the antennae of Anopheles mazulgennis atroparvus and their possible function in relation to the attraction of
- and provide an active postable real-body metabolic or an instruction of female moving the to man. Area Top 1961, 191–58. van den Brook IVF, den Otter CE Odeur sensitivity of anternal elfactory cells underlying grooved pags of Anophrefix gemeiners. and An.
- quadriannukatus. Entomol Exp. Appl 2000, 96:167–175. Bayoh MN Studies on the development and survival of Anopheles gambiae sensu stricto at various temperatures and relative humidities. Biological and 29 Bornedical Sciences: University of Durham; 2001.

- 30. Dugasta S, Lindh JM, Torr SJ, Oyleke F, Lindsay SW, Fillinger U: Bectric nets and sticky materials for analysing oviposition behaviour of gravi malaria vectors. *Malar J* 2012, 11:378.
- Huang J, Walker ED, Groux PY, Vulue JM, Miller JR: Ovipositional site selection by Anophekis gambiae: influences of substrate moisture and texture. Med Vet Entornol 2005, 19:442–450. 31
- 32 Kernedy ± On water-finding and oviposition by captive mosquitoes. Bull Entomol Res 1942, 32279–301.
- Bull Entomol Rei 1942, 322 79–301. Berlinger I, Hader I, Hutley LB, Leuning R, Amdt SK, Amiri R, Bannehr L, Cemusak LA, Grover S, Hensley C, Hodding D, Isaac P, Jamali H, Kanniah K, Livedoy S, Nohininger B, Kyaw The Paw U, Sea W, Stratem D, Tapper N, Wolmmann R, Wood S, Zogelon S. Speciale avariane patternes of energy and carbon integrated a cross the landscape. B Am Meteorol Soc 2011, 33 921457-1485
- 9(2) 467–1485. Kitby M: Why does Anopholes andbiens's predominate over An. gambiae sersu sittob in hot and arid conditions? University of Durham Biological and Biomedical Sciences; 2005. 34
- Bernith B, Horvath G, Meyer-Rochow VB Polarotaxis in egg-laying yellow 35 fever mosquit ces Aedes (Stegomyld) aegypti is masked due to infochemicals. J Inset Physiol 2012, 58:1000–1005.
- 36 Sumba LA, Guda TO, Deng AL, Hasanali A, Bsier JC, Knots BGE Mediation of oviposition site selection in the African makeria mosquito. Anopholes gambiae (Diptera: Culticidae) by semiochemicate of microbial origin. Int J They Inters 5ci 2004, 242:60–205.
- Reparations E, Hogshi R, Grieco J, Achee N, Roberts D. Volatile substances from larval habitats mediate species-specific ov/position in Anopheles mosquitoes. J Med Entomol 2005, 42:95–103. 37

doi:10.1186/1475-2875-12-365 Cite this article as: Ciol or d: Water vapour is a pre-oviposition attra dant for the malaria vector Anopheles gambiae sensu stricto. Malaria Journal 2013 12365.

Submit your next manuscript to BioMed Central and take full advantage of:

- Convenient online submission
- Thorough peer review
- No space constraints or color figure charges
- nediate publication on acceptance
- Inclusion in PubMed, CAS, Scopus and Google Scholar
- Research which is freely available for redistribution

bmit your manuscript at ww.biomedcentral.com/submit

BloMed Central

Appendix C.

Okal et al. 2015 Article under review in PlosOne

Analyzing chemical attraction of gravid *Anopheles* gambiae sensu stricto with modified BG-Sentinel traps

Michael N. Okal^{1, 2*}, Manuela Herrera-Varela^{1, 2}, Paul Ouma², Baldwyn Torto², Steven W. Lindsay³, Jenny M. Lindh⁴, Ulrike Fillinger^{1, 2}

 ¹Disease Control Department, London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine, Keppel Street, London WC1E 7HT, UK
 ²International Centre of Insect Physiology and Ecology, P.O. Box 30772-00100, Nairobi, Kenya
 ³School of Biological and Biomedical Sciences, Science Laboratories, Durham University, Durham, DH1 3LE, UK
 ⁴Royal Institute of Technology, Stockholm S-100 44, Sweden

Email addresses: Michael N. Okal* - <u>okal.mike@gmail.com</u>, Paul Ouma -<u>pauloumas@yahoo.co.uk</u>, Manuela Herrera-Varela - <u>manuelahv82@gmail.com</u>, Baldwyn Torto -<u>btorto@icipe.org</u>, Jenny M. Lindh - <u>jenlindh@kth.se</u>, Steven W. Lindsay -<u>s.w.linday@durham.ac.uk</u>, Ulrike Fillinger - <u>ufillinger@mbita.icipe.org</u> *Corresponding author

Abstract

Background: Insight into the oviposition behaviour of malaria vectors in Africa could lead to strategies that target gravid mosquitoes for monitoring and control. However, cues that guide gravid females to these sites are not well understood. This study aimed to develop a bioassay system that can be used to analyse chemical attraction of gravid *Anopheles gambiae sensu stricto*.

Methods: BG-Sentine I^{TM} mosquito traps that utilize convection currents to release odorants were modified to contain aqueous substrates. Two-choice tests were implemented within an 80 m² screened semi-field system where 200 gravid females were released per experimental night. Choices tested were (1) distilled versus distilled water (baseline) and (2) distilled water versus soil infusion. To study the effect of salting-out of volatile chemicals from the aqueous solutions, we also implemented tests with 150g/1 NaC1 added.

Results: When both traps contained distilled water, 45% (95% confidence interval (CI) 33 – 57%) of all released mosquitoes were trapped. The proportion increased to 84% (95% CI 73 – 91%) when traps contained soil infusions. In choice tests, a gravid female was twice as likely to be trapped in the test trap with soil infusion as in the trap with distilled water (odds ratio (OR) 1.8, 95% CI 1.3 – 2.6). Furthermore, the attraction of gravid females towards the test trap with infusion more than tripled (OR 3.4, 95% CI 2.4 – 4.8) when salt was added to the substrates.

Conclusion: Minor modifications of the BG-SentinelTM mosquito traps turned it into a powerful bioassay tool for evaluating the orientation of gravid mosquitoes to putative oviposition substrates using olfaction. We provide evidence that gravid *An. gambiae s.s.* are attracted to and can be baited with odorants and water vapour over several meters.

Introduction

Malaria still causes considerable human morbidity and mortality in spite of concerted control efforts that have resulted in its steady decline in the last decade [1]. Effective interventions need to be scaled up [2] and new approaches added to the armamentarium for controlling the disease and its vectors [3,4]. The two frontline interventions for controlling malaria vectors in Africa, long-lasting insecticidal nets (LLINs) and indoor residual spraying (IRS), have exploited the indoor resting and host-seeking behaviour and the susceptibility of vectors to insecticides. These led to a major reduction of 29% in malaria cases worldwide [2] justifying efforts to scale up LLINs and IRS. However, because of the growing problem of insecticide resistance [5,6,7], changing vector behaviour [4,8,9,10] and increasing importance of outdoor-biting vector populations [4] the effectiveness of these may be compromised and additional strategies required.

Mass trapping of gravid mosquitoes using synthetic attractant baits offers an exciting possibility for an ecofriendly, sustainable complementary strategy for monitoring and controlling disease vectors. Such strategies target mosquitoes that rest and bite both indoors and outdoors irrespective of their state of insecticide resistance. Extensive behavioural and chemical ecology studies on host-seeking members of the *Anopheles* gambiae species complex (including *Anopheles gambiae sensu stricto* (s.s.) and *Anopheles arabiensis*) which are the primary vectors of malaria in sub-Saharan Africa, have led to considerable progress towards identification of odorants from skin emanations of humans and other primary blood meal hosts [11,12] and host plants [13]. These volatiles have been incorporated into baits and tested in traps [13,14]. In contrast, very little is known about the cues that gravid females of these species use to find and orientate towards an aquatic habitat to lay their eggs. Whilst a range of physical and chemical cues associated with the aquatic habitat have been suggested [15,16,17,18,19] empirical evidence is scarce and restricted to cage and electrophysiological studies not least due to the lack of appropriate bioassay tools. Malaria vectors bite human hosts for vertebrate blood that they require for ovarian development. The malaria parasite (*Plasmodium sp.*) inadvertently imbibed with a blood meal will require at least eight days to

malaria parasite (*Plasmodium sp.*) inadvertently imbibed with a blood meal will require at least eight days to complete the sexual stage within the mosquito [20,21]. In theory, this period is punctuated by two or more oviposition cycles; a period when gravid mosquitoes look for suitable breeding sites, lay eggs and recommence the search for new hosts to bite for blood [22]. Targeting gravid vectors while they forage for aquatic habitats for their offspring would thus conceivably provide an effective approach to prevent the ultimate infective bites of parous mosquitoes and reduce overall vector population densities. Relevant oviposition cues that malaria vectors use to detect, find and evaluate potential breeding sites could be identified and

exploited in various attract and kill strategies by luring them either into traps or to insecticides [23].

Laboratory evidence shows that gravid females of the *An. gambiae* complex discriminate between different oviposition substrates. They are able to detect substrates with different levels of moisture and relative humidity [24,25] and the presence or absence of bacteria [15,26,27]. A recent study demonstrated that at short-range gravid *An. gambiae s.s.* can avoid or select substrates using olfactory cues [28]. In another comparable laboratory study one synthetic odorant, 2-propylphenol was shown to increase the egg-laying rate of *An. gambiae s.s.* in cage tests [29]. However, to the best of our knowledge there is no published evidence to date that gravid females of the *An. gambiae* complex orient towards a suitable aquatic habitat over a distance of several metres using attractant chemical cues.

The aim of the present study was to developed a simple bioassay for measuring olfactory orientation of gravid *An. gambiae s.s.* in the semi-field and evaluated the response of gravid mosquitoes to soil infusions previously described [28] to increase the egg-laying rate of these species in small experimental cages.

Materials and methods

Study site

The study was done between March 2013 and February 2014 (time of sunset between 18.30 h and 19.00 h) at the International Centre of Insect Physiology and Ecology, Thomas Odhiambo Campus (icipe – TOC) at Mbita on the shores of Lake Victoria in western Kenya (0° 26' 06.19" S, 34° 12' 5313" E; altitude 1,137 m above sea label). This area is characterised by a tropical climate with temperatures ranging between a mean minimum of 16°C and a mean maximum of 28°C and two rainy seasons each year between March and June and October and December.

Mosquito preparation

The Mbita strain of *An. gambiae s.s.* reared at the icipe -TOC mosquito insectaries was used for all experiments. Temperature and relative humidity in the insectary varied between $25-28^{\circ}$ C and $68-75^{\circ}$. About 300 female mosquitoes held in a $30\times30\times30$ cm netting cage with an equal number of males of a similar age were provided with two blood-meals on two consecutive nights from a human arm. Mosquitoes were starved for six hours before the blood-meal, which was offered for 15 min at 19:00 h. Mosquitoes that remained unfed after the first blood meal were removed from the cage. A piece of cotton (50×25 cm) saturated with distilled water and positioned on top of the cage ensured that mosquitoes remained hydrated throughout oogenesis. Mosquitoes were left unattended for two days after the second blood meal except for changing the 6% glucose solution provided as energy source and saturating the cotton on the cage with water twice a day. Gravid mosquitoes were selected through visual inspection on the third day. Females were presumed gravid when they had an opaque and pale distended abdomen.

Two-choice experiments

Two-choice experiments were implemented under semi-field conditions (i.e. ambient temperature, humidity, light conditions) in a large netting-screened (black fibre glass gauze 1.7x1.5 mm) structure; 6.8 m wide and 10.8 m long (semi-field system; Figure 1). A netting ceiling was stretched across the cage 2.4 m above the ground (176.3 m³). The floor was covered with sand to a depth of 50 cm. The rectangular floor plan of the semi-field system provided for four possible trap positions. Each position was arbitrarily set in each corner 1.4 m from the nearest adjoining walls (Figure 1). Sites along the shorter walls that received approximately the same proportion of mosquitoes in preliminary tests (data not shown) were paired up (site 2 + 3and site 1 + 4; Figure 1). The pair and the position of the control (trap A) and test treatment (trap B) were randomly assigned for every night of an experiment. Two hundred gravid An. gambiae s.s. mosquitoes were released into the semi-field system at 17:30 h near the opposite shorter wall of the greenhouse, 9 m away from the two traps. Previous cage experiments [25] showed that the local mosquito strain has its peak oviposition time early in the evening before 21:30 h. To assess the proportion of gravid females that respond within this period the trapping chambers of the traps were changed at 21:30 h and the second pair retrieved at 08:00 h. This allowed tallying of the number of mosquitoes that were trapped with each treatment before 21:30 h and between 21:30 – 08:00 h. Each experiment was carried out on 12 nights based on previous sample size considerations [30] so that trap A and B were in each possible location three times. With this sample size an increment of 20% in the trap rate could be detected with 80% power at the 5% significance level.

Modification of the Biogents (BG)-SentineI[™] mosquito trap into a gravid mosquito trap

We chose to modify and test the commercially available BG-SentineITM mosquito trap (Biogents, Regensburg, Germany). This is an odour-baited trap that was originally designed for mass trapping of host-seeking virus vectors like Aedes aegypti and Aedes albopictus using a chemical lure based on human body emanations [31,32]. One of the advantages of the trap is its size which is large enough to incorporate additional attractants such as fragrant substances, small living animals, worn clothing, animal hairs, light and heat sources' [33]. The trap consists of a collapsible, white fabric container with white gauze covering its opening. The trap is 36 cm in diameter and 40 cm high. In the middle of the gauze cover air is sucked into the trap through a black catch pipe by an electrical fan placed at its end. This draws approaching mosquitoes into a catch bag. Consequently, the air exits the trap through the gauze, generating ascending currents. The aim here was to include attractive oviposition media in the trap and to evaluate its catching efficiency under semi-field conditions. All oviposition sites of *Anopheles* mosquitoes are aquatic (or at least water saturated) and recent wind tunnel experiments suggested that water vapour is an important oviposition attractant for gravid An. gambiae s.s. [25]. Consequently, the BG-Sentinel was modified to hold 4 L of aqueous test substrates by inserting a tightly-fitting black plastic bucket (Pride, Mombasa, Kenya) 34 cm high and 30 cm inner diameter into the white fabric container. Since An. gambiae s.s. mosquitoes rarely oviposit in container-type habitats, the entire trap was dug into the ground leaving only 1 cm of it above ground (Figure 2).

Assessing the catching efficacy of the modified BG-Sentinel gravid mosquito trap

To evaluate if and how effectively gravid *An. gambiae s.s.* are attracted to oviposition substrates contained in the traps and to generate a baseline for comparison, an experiment was carried out where mosquitoes were presented with two traps with identical substrates. Both traps (trap A and B) were filled with 4 L of distilled water (Buyimpex Agencies LTD, Kenya), with the position of the traps allocated randomly.

Analysing the response of gravid *Anopheles gambiae s.s.* to 6-day old soil infusions

Recently, a positive oviposition response of gravid An. gambiae s.s. to a six-day old soil infusion made from water mixed with soil taken from a natural breeding site located at icipe-TOC was demonstrated in cage egg-count experiments and chemical cues suggested as the reason for this response [28]. However, egg-count experiments do not provide information on the nature of these chemical cues, which could either be volatile and attract mosquitoes from a distance or could be less volatile and act as contact stimulants [26,34]. Here, the same soil was used to prepare infusions in the same way as before [28] and tested with the BG-Sentinel gravid mosquito trap. The silty clay loam top soil was dug from the same location as described by Herrera-Varela et al. [28] within the icipe-TOC compound and sun-dried for 24 hours. Three litres of dry soil were thoroughly mixed with 15 L of distilled water in a 20 L plastic tub and left undisturbed at ambient conditions, but protected from rain for six days except for daily water top-up to compensate for loss through evaporation. Throughout the six days the tub was covered with mosquito netting. Just before the experiments the infusion was filtered through a cotton cloth to remove large soil particles and small debris. Exactly four litres of the soil infusion were compared to an equal volume of distilled water in choice experiments in the semi-field system. Fresh batches of infusions and distilled water were used for every experimental night.

Testing of the impact of salting-out of volatile chemicals from infusions on gravid female attraction to traps

Laboratory studies have shown that the addition of inorganic salts to aquaous solutions can lead to a higher release of volatile organic compounds into the headspace of the solution, an effect that is known as salting-out [35,36,37,38,39,40,41]. For instance, Mozuraitis et al. [42] showed that the amount of volatiles detected in the headspace from oestrous urine of mares increased eight times when the urine sample was saturated with salt compared to samples without salt. Here we aimed at testing whether we could increase the attractiveness of the soil infusion by adding sodium chloride (NaCl). Following published data on salt concentrations [42], we implemented a preliminary experiment were we slowly added 45g of NaCl to 300 ml of soil infusion (150g/L) in a glass beaker and stirred to dissolve at room temperature. At this concentration small amounts of undissolved salt were observed to settle at the bottom of the beaker. Hence, for choice experiments, we added 150 g NaCl per litre of the test substrates (600

g/4 L) and stirred to dissolve 10 - 20 min before the onset of experiments at 17:30 h. Two experiments were implemented. First, choice tests were done with distilled water versus soil infusion, both with NaCl. Second, the attractiveness of soil infusion without NaCl was tested against soil infusion with NaCl.

Data analysis

Data were analysed with generalised linear models with a binomial distribution and logit link function fitted to compare the probability of gravid An. gambiae s.s. being (1) collected in the test trap (trap B) compared with the total caught in both traps (trap A + trap B) to show substrate preference; (2) collected in both traps out of the mosquitoes released (response rate); and (3) collected in both traps before 21.30 h out of the mosquitoes collected during the night (early responders). The underlying hypothesis of a choice bioassay is that when two equal choices are presented the response towards these choices is similar with odds of success of 1:1 (baseline or control). We expect that if an oviposition cue is presented that is either preferred or avoided by gravid females we will see a statistically significant diversion from the baseline. Consequently, the assay with two equal treatments served as reference. Initially, the trap location and the pair (wall) were included as fixed factors in the model to test for main effects and interactions. Since there were no significant associations with the outcome, these variables were excluded from the final models. The mean proportions of mosquitoes trapped in each treatment and their corresponding 95% confidence intervals (CI) were calculated as the exponential of the parameter estimates for models with no intercept included. Data analyses were done with R statistical software version 3.00 with various functions contributed from the packages MASS, effects, epicalc, multcomp, lme4, gee, aod [43].

Ethics statement

Ethical approval for this study was obtained from the Kenya Medical Research Institute's Ethical Review Committee (Protocol no. 422).

Results

The modified BG-Sentinel gravid mosquito trap is an effective tool for analysing oviposition attraction of malaria vectors under semifield conditions

When two traps baited with distilled water were provided in choice tests, 45% of the released mosquitoes were recovered. Importantly, trap A and B caught equal proportions of the mosquitoes, which validates the experimental design. Only about one third of all mosquitoes were trapped before 21:30 h (Figure 3, Table 1).

Soil infusions contain odorants that attract gravid *Anopheles* gambiae s.s.

Gravid mosquitoes were twice as likely to be trapped in BG-sentinel gravid mosquito traps when the test trap (trap B) contained soil infusion as when the test trap contained distilled water in the bioassays with two equal choices. Moreover, adding NaCl increased the attractiveness of the infusion; females were 3.5 times more likely to choose the infusion than distilled water. In direct comparisons of soil infusion with NaCl to soil infusions without NaCl, gravid females were nearly two times more likely to be collected in the trap containing the infusion with salt (Figure 3, Table 1).

The presence of attractive odorants in the semi-field system increases the response rate of gravid *Anopheles gambiae s.s.*

When salt-saturated infusions were present in one of the traps it was 3.7-6.8 times more likely for a mosquito to respond and be collected in either trap than when only distilled water was presented in both traps (Figure 3, Table 1).

Odorant cues from soil infusions prompt early oviposition site seeking in *Anopheles gambiae s.s.*

The presence of soil-infusion odorants doubled the proportion of mosquitoes that responded before 21.30 h (Figure 3, Table 1).

Discussion

Minor modifications of the commercially available BG-Sentinel mosquito trap turned this trap into a powerful bioassay tool for evaluating the orientation of gravid mosquitoes to putative oviposition substrates using olfaction. The modified traps excluded any possible contact stimuli or visual cues (e.g. light reflections from water) from the test substrates and showed a strong discrimination effect enabling the detection of small differences ($\geq 20\%$) in the proportion of gravid mosquitoes attracted to one of two competing substrates (odorant blends). The BG-Sentinel mosquito trap is simple to set up and allows for rapid replacement of collection bags making it possible to evaluate the response of gravid mosquitoes at different periods during the night.

With this system we provide the first evidence that gravid females of the major malaria vector *An. gambiae s.s.* can use attractive odorant cues over at least nine metres to locate and choose between potential oviposition sites. Many studies have suggested the involvement of chemical cues in the selection of breeding sites [15,16,26,28]. However, all of these studies were egg-count bioassays done in small cages $(30 \times 30 \times 30 \text{ cm})$ with gravid mosquitoes released directly over test substrates. Consequently, none of the studies were able to prove attraction or describe an attractant defined as cues that draws insects towards substrates [44,45], or discount

stimulation. We show that odorants from the soil infusions reported by Herrera-Varela et al. [28] attract gravid *An. gambiae s.s.*. Furthermore, our results show that oviposition attraction to odorant chemicals is affected by the strengths of the cue, as shown from the salting-out experiments. This observation is important if one wanted to use odour-baited traps for the surveillance or control of gravid mosquitoes since this suggests that olfactory cues can be manipulated to attract and mass trap gravid malaria vectors.

This study confirms earlier laboratory findings that gravid *An. gambiae s.s.* use water vapour to locate breeding sites [25]. Previous studies were done in small, closed laboratory systems, free of external odorants with standardized water vapour and artificial moisture gradients [24,25]. With the bioassay, where both traps contained distilled water only, we provide evidence that malaria vectors use water vapour to orientate to substrates in more natural and fairly complex chemical spaces over larger distances. It is likely that water vapour is a general selective cue, but provides no information about the quality of the habitat which might be the reason for the observed slow and low response of gravid females. In the complex chemical space of natural ecosystems it is unlikely that a species with such a highly developed olfactory apparatus should evolve to employ water vapour as the major cue for selecting favourable water bodies. Water vapour and moisture most likely indicate the presence of water bodies while chemical odorants enable mosquitoes to assess the suitability of this potential niche.

Based on our findings we hypothesise that the soil infusions we tested contained at least one odorant that prompted habitat searching in gravid *An. gambiae s.s.*. The odorant bouquet of soil infusions evidently compelled passive gravid *An. gambiae s.s.* mosquitoes to fly towards the potential oviposition sites, especially when the infusions were saturated with salt. This was in contrast to the response when only distilled water was provided. A similar response has been shown for host-seeking mosquitoes when exposed to carbon dioxide which triggers long-range directed host seeking flight in otherwise inactive females of the *An. gambiae* complex [46]. In nature such an odorant or collection of odorants would shorten the period for foraging for suitable aquatic sites by gravid mosquitoes. Gravid mosquitoes would use less energy and reduce the risk for mortality that is likely associated with prolonged habitat search and altogether improve the odds for successful breeding.

This is the first study to exploit the principle of salting-out volatile chemicals to demonstrate the potential use of NaCl in behavioural bioassays to manipulate the odour profile of organic infusions. We show that adding NaCl to soil infusions increased the attraction of gravid *An. gambiae s.s.* to soil infusions two-fold and the response rate three-fold. This adds proof that *An. gambiae s.s.* respond to chemical cues in soil infusion. Whilst it can not be excluded that the addition of salt affected the microbial organisms in the soil infusion and therefore changed the chemical composition of the volatile headspace, the increase in attractiveness of the already highly attractive soil infusion suggests that it is more likely that the addition of salt led to an increased release of already present attractive odours. Numerous studies using a wide range of inorganic salts have shown that these increase the concentration of volatile organic compounds (VOC) in the headspace above the salt containing solution [35,36,37,38,39,40,41,42]. The presence of salt decreases the solubility of the VOCs which are pushed into the headspace. This

effect is commonly known as the salting-out effect and can be quantified by the Setschenow constant [39,47] which most frequently is positive (salting-out) but can also be negative (salting-in) [48,49]. In preliminary studies (Lindh JM, personal communication) aimed at optimizing the collection of volatiles in the headspace above water from mosquito breeding sites, which should be similar in chemical composition to the soil infusion studied here, addition of NaCl increased the amount detected of the majority of the compounds and pushed many previously undetected organic compounds above the detection limit. This theoretically represents an inexpensive advancement of harnessing NaCl saturated natural infusions to produce relatively inexpensive baits for gravid malaria mosquitoes for use in gravid traps. However, at very high concentrations, NaCl will corrode and quickly destroy metallic parts in the traps. More work might be useful to evaluate if smaller amounts of NaCl can still improve the odour plume and reduce the damage on the traps.

The high efficiency of BG-Sentinel gravid mosquito traps baited with NaCl saturated soil infusions in collecting gravid *An. gambiae s.s.* suggests their potential use in the field as an odour-baited gravid trap. The trap does not damage specimens, making it ideal for sampling wild mosquito populations in studies that require intact specimens or requires mosquitoes to be captured alive. The trap has been the subject of many explorative evaluations with host-seeking mosquitoes [50,51] proving its versatility and effectiveness. This study now shows that with only small modifications it has potential for collecting gravid mosquitoes too. If it can be exploited in ecological studies or in vector control programmes needs to be evaluated in the field.

Conclusion

In summary we (1) describe an efficient bioassay tool and potential new odour-baited trap for gravid females of the *An. gambiae* species complex; (2) provide evidence for the strong involvement of olfaction in the location and selection of potential breeding sites by *An. gambiae s.s.*; and (3) describe the compulsive response of gravid females to attractive chemical cues. Research needs now to be invested in analysing the volatile chemical headspace of the attractive soil infusion to identify attractant semiochemicals for oviposition in *An. gambiae* s.s..

Acknowledgements

We thank Benard Oyembe, Elisha Obudho and David Alila of icipe-TOC, Mbita for maintaining colonies of mosquitoes used for these experiments and Elizabeth Masinde, Rose Atieno, Gregory Masinde and Joel Odero for technical assistance.

Author contributions

MNO, UF, MH, JML, BT and SWL conceived the idea for this research and jointly developed the experimental designs. MNO developed all protocols and implemented the experiments

together with PO. MNO and UF analysed the data and drafted the manuscript. SWL, BT, JML, MH and PO contributed to the final draft, read and approved the manuscript.

References

1. Nyarango PM, Gebremeskel T, Mebrahtu G, Mufunda J, Abdulmumini U, et al. (2006) A steep decline of malaria morbidity and mortality trends in Eritrea between 2000 and 2004: the effect of combination of control methods. Malar J 5: 33.

2. WHO (2013) World Malaria Report. Geneva: WHO Press. 255 p.

 Cotter C, Sturrock HJ, Hsiang MS, Liu J, Phillips AA, et al. (2013) The changing epidemiology of malaria elimination: new strategies for new challenges. Lancet 382: 900-911.
 Russell TL, Govella NJ, Azizi S, Drakeley CJ, Kachur SP, et al. (2011) Increased proportions of outdoor feeding among residual malaria vector populations following increased use of insecticide-treated nets in rural Tanzania. Malar J 10: 80.

5. Chandre F, Darriet F, Manguin S, Brengues C, Carnevale P, et al. (1999) Pyrethroid cross resistance spectrum among populations of *Anopheles gambiae s.s.* from Cote d'Ivoire. J Am Mosq Control Assoc 15: 53-59.

6. Chandre F, Darrier F, Manga L, Akogbeto M, Faye O, et al. (1999) Status of pyrethroid resistance in *Anopheles gambiae sensu lato*. Bull World Health Organ 77: 230-234.

7. Ranson H, N'Guessan R, Lines J, Moiroux N, Nkuni Z, et al. (2011) Pyrethroid resistance in African anopheline mosquitoes: what are the implications for malaria control? Trends Parasitol 27:91-98.

8. Riehle MM, Guelbeogo WM, Gneme A, Eiglmeier K, Holm I, et al. (2011) A cryptic subgroup of *Anopheles gambiae* is highly susceptible to human malaria parasites. Science 331: 596-598.

9. Sougoufara S, Diedhiou SM, Doucoure S, Diagne N, Sembene PM, et al. (2014) Biting by *Anopheles funestus* in broad daylight after use of long-lasting insecticidal nets: a new challenge to malaria elimination. Malar J 13: 125.

10. Gatton ML, Chitnis N, Churcher T, Donnelly MJ, Ghani AC, et al. (2013) The importance of mosquito behavioural adaptations to malaria control in Africa. Evolution 67: 1218-1230.

11. Meijerink J, Brack MAH, Brack AA, Adam W, Dekker T, et al. (2000) Identification of olfactory stimulants for *Anopheles gambiae* from human sweat samples. J Chem Ecol 26: 1367-1382.

12. Braks MAH, Meijerink J, Takken W (2001) The response of the malaria mosquito, *Anopheles gambiae*, to two components of human sweat, ammonia and L-lactic acid, in an olfactometer. Physiol Entomol 26: 142-148.

13. Nyasembe VO, Tchouassi DP, Kirwa HK, Foster WA, Teal PE, et al. (2014) Development and assessment of plant-based synthetic odor baits for surveillance and control of malaria vectors. PLoS One 9: e89818.

14. Okumu FO, Killeen GF, Ogoma S, Biswaro L, Smallegange RC, et al. (2010) Development and field evaluation of a synthetic mosquito lure that is more attractive than humans. PLoS One 5: e8951.

15. Lindh JM, Kannaste A, Knols BG, Faye I, Borg-Karlson AK (2008) Oviposition responses of *Anopheles gambiae s.s.* (Diptera: Culicidae) and identification of volatiles from bacteria-containing solutions. J Med Entomol 45: 1039-1049.

16. Blackwell A, Johnson SN (2000) Electrophysiological investigation of larval water and potential oviposition chemo-attractants for *Anopheles gambiae s.s.* Ann Trop Med Parasitol 94: 389-398.

17. Huang J, Walker ED, Vulule J, Miller JR (2007) The influence of darkness and visual contrast on oviposition by *Anopheles gambiae* in moist and dry substrates. Physiol Entomol 32: 34-40.

18. Huang J, Walker ED, Otienoburu PE, Amimo F, Vulule J, et al. (2006) Laboratory tests of oviposition by the African malaria mosquito, *Anopheles gambiae*, on dark soil as influenced by presence or absence of vegetation. Malar J 5: 88.

19. Otienoburu PE, Bayoh N, Gimnig J, Huang J, Walker ED, et al. (2007) *Anopheles gambiae* (Diptera: Culicidae) oviposition as influenced by type of water infused into black and red soils of western Kenya. Trop Insect Sci 27: 2-5.

20. Florens L, Washburn MP, Raine JD, Anthony RM, Grainger M, et al. (2002) A proteomic view of the Plasmodium falciparum life cycle. Nature 419: 520-526.

21. Barillas-Mury C, Kumar S (2005) Plasmodium–mosquito interactions: a tale of dangerous liaisons. Cell Microbiol 7: 1539-1545.

22. Bentley MD, Day JF (1989) Chemical ecology and behavioral aspects of mosquito oviposition. Annu Rev Entomol 34: 401-421.

23. Ferguson HM, Dornhaus A, Beeche A, Borgemeister C, Gottlieb M, et al. (2010) Ecology: a prerequisite for malaria elimination and eradication. PLoS Med 7: e1000303.

24. Huang J, Walker ED, Giroux PY, Vulule J, Miller JR (2005) Ovipositional site selection by *Anopheles gambiae*: influences of substrate moisture and texture. Med Vet Entomol 19: 442-450.
25. Okal M, Francis B, Herrera-Varela M, Fillinger U, Lindsay S (2013) Water vapour is a pre-oviposition attractant for the malaria vector *Anopheles gambiae sensu stricto*. Malar J 12: 365.

26. Sumba LA, Guda TO, Deng AL, Hassanali A, Beier JC, et al. (2004) Mediation of oviposition site selection in the African malaria mosquito *Anopheles gambiae* (Diptera: Culicidae) by semiochemicals of microbial origin. Int J Trop Insect Sci 24: 260-265.

27. Huang J, Miller JR, Chen SC, Vulule JM, Walker ED (2006) *Anopheles gambiae* (Diptera: Culicidae) oviposition in response to agarose media and cultured bacterial volatiles. J Med Entomol 43: 498-504.

28. Herrera-Varela M, Lindh J, Lindsay SW, Fillinger U (2014) Habitat discrimination by gravid *Anopheles gambiae sensu lato* - a push-pull system. Malar J 13: 133.

29. Rinker DC, Pitts RJ, Zhou X, Suh E, Rokas A, et al. (2013) Blood meal-induced changes to antennal transcriptome profiles reveal shifts in odor sensitivities in *Anopheles gambiae*. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 110: 8260-8265.

30. Dugassa S, Lindh J, Torr S, Lindsay S, Fillinger U (2014) Evaluation of the influence of electric nets on the behaviour of oviposition site seeking *Anopheles gambiae s.s.*. Parasit Vectors 7: e272.

31. Eiras ÁE, Rose A, Geier M (2004) New tools for monitoring gravid females of the mosquitoes *Aedes aegypti* and *Aedes albopictus* (Diptera: Culicidae), vectors of dengue and other arboviral diseases. Int J Med Microbiol 38: 51-52.

32. Maciel-de-Freitas R, Eiras AE, Lourenco-de-Oliveira R (2006) Field evaluation of effectiveness of the BG-Sentinel, a new trap for capturing adult *Aedes aegypti* (Diptera: Culicidae). Memórias do Instituto Oswaldo Cruz 101: 321-325.

33. Biogents (2014) The BG-Sentinel: Biogents' mosquito trap for researchers. Available: <u>http://www.bg-sentinel.com/</u>. Accessed 21 November 2014.

34. Isoe J, Millar JG, Beehler JW (1995) Bioassays for *Culex* (Diptera: Culicidae) mosquito oviposition attractants and stimulants. J Med Entomol 32: 475-483.

35. Alonso M, Castellanos M, Besalú E, Sanchez JM (2012) A headspace needle-trap method for the analysis of volatile organic compounds in whole blood. J Chromatogr A 1252: 23-30.

36. Buchholz K, Pawilszyn J (1994) Optimization of solid-phase microextraction conditions for determination of phenols. Anal Chem 66: 160-167.

37. Friant SL, Suffet IH (1979) Interactive effects of temperature, salt concentration, and pH on head space analysis for isolating volatile trace organics in aqueous environmental samples. Anal Chem 51: 2167-2172.

38. Gorgenyi M, Dewulf J, Van Langenhove H, Heberger K (2006) Aqueous salting-out effect of inorganic cations and anions on non-electrolytes. Chemosphere 65: 802-810.

39. Morrison TJ (1944) The salting-out effect. Trans Faraday Soc 40: 43-48.

40. Nakamura S, Daishima S (2005) Simultaneous determination of 22 volatile organic compounds, methyl-tert-butyl ether, 1,4-dioxane, 2-methylisoborneol and geosmin in water by headspace solid phase microextraction-gas chromatography-mass spectrometry. Anal Chim Acta 548: 79-85.

41. Xie W-H, Shiu W-Y, Mackay D (1997) A review of the effect of salts on the solubility of organic compounds in seawater. Marine Environmental Research 44: 429-444.

42. Mozuraitis R, Buda V, Borg-Karlson AK (2010) Optimization of solid-phase microextraction sampling for analysis of volatile compounds emitted from oestrous urine of mares. Z Naturforch C 65: 127-133.

43. R Team (2011) R: A language and environment for statistical computing. Vienna, Austria.: R Foundation for Statistical computing.

44. Dethier VG, Browne LB, Smith CN (1960) The designation of chemicals in terms of the responses they elicit from insects. J Econ Entomol 53: 134-136.

45. Miller JR, Siegert PY, Amimo FA, Walker ED (2009) Designation of chemicals in terms of the locomotor responses they elicit from insects: an update of Dethier et al. (1960). J Econ Entomol 102: 2056-2060.

46. Gillies MT (1980) The role of carbon dioxide in host-finding by mosquitoes: a review. Bull Entomol Res 70: 525 - 532.

47. Setschenow J (1889) Ueber die Konstitution der Salzloesungen auf Grund ihres Verhaltens zu Kohlensaeure Z Phys Chem 4: 117-128.

48. Ni N, Yalkowsky SH (2003) Prediction of Setschenow constants. Int J Pharm 254: 167-172. 49. Yizhak M (2013) Prediction of salting-out and salting-in constants. J Mol Liq 177: 7-10.

50. Schmied WH, Takken W, Killeen GF, Knols BG, Smallegange RC (2008) Evaluation of two counterflow traps for testing behaviour-mediating compounds for the malaria vector *Anopheles gambiae s.s.* under semi-field conditions in Tanzania. Malar J 7: 230.

51. Gama RA, Silva IMd, Geier M, Eiras AE (2013) Development of the BG-Malaria trap as an alternative to human-landing catches for the capture of *Anopheles darlingi*. Memórias do Instituto Oswaldo Cruz 108: 763-771.

Figure legends

Figure 1: Semi-field system (A) and schematic diagram of trap and release sites (B). Trap positions are shown in circles and mosquito release points in triangles. Colour codes show corresponding trap positions and mosquito release points.

Figure 2: Modification and set-up of BG-Sentinel trap. (A) Interior showing bucket for holding aqueous solutions, (B) Complete trap (C) Cross-section of modified Biogents (BG)-Sentinel gravid mosquito trap.

Figure 3: Explanatory data analyses of oviposition response of *Anopheles gambiae sensu stricto* **to test substrates.** Box-and-whisker plots indicating the median value by the central horizontal line and the lower and upper quartiles by corresponding ends of the box. The whiskers show the range of the data. Dots show outlying values. (A) Proportion of females responding to the test substrate (INF =soil infusion, INFsalt=soil infusion with NaCl) compared to distilled water controls (DW=distilled water, DWsalt=distilled water with NaCl) in choice tests; (B) Response rate of the females released (N=200); (C) Response of mosquitoes before 21:30h out of the females trapped per night.

 Table1: Oviposition response of gravid Anopheles gambiae sensu stricto to substrates in two-choice tests. Generalized linear model outputs.

osition substrates		Mean proportion	Odds ratio	p-value
rol (trap A)	Test (trap B)	(95% CI)	(95% CI)	
ortion of gravid fe	males trapped in test (t	rap B) in two choice experi	ments of the females t	rapped
led water	Distilled water	0.50 (0.43 – 0.57)	1	
led water	Infusion	0.64(0.58-0.70)	1.8 (1.3 – 2.6)	0.004
led water + NaCl	Infusion + NaCl	0.77(0.72 - 0.81)	3.4 (2.4 – 4.8)	< 0.001
ion	Infusion+ NaCl	0.67(0.60 - 0.69)	1.8 (1.3 – 2.5)	0.001
onse rate of release	ed gravid females durin	g experiments with differen	nt substrate combinati	ions
led-Distilled		0.45(0.33 - 0.57)	1	
led-Infusion		0.51 (0.39 - 0.63)	1.3 (0.6 – 2.5)	0.438
led+NaCl - Infusio	n+NaCl	0.74(0.63 - 0.84)	3.7 (1.8 – 7.5)	< 0.001
ion - Infusion+NaC	1	0.84 (0.73 – 0.91)	6.8 (3.1 – 15.0)	< 0.001
onse of gravid fem	ales before 21:30 h of the	he females trapped during t	he night (early respon	nde rs)
led-Distilled		0.36(0.28 - 0.45)	1	
led-Infusion		0.56(0.46 - 0.67)	1.59 (1.11 – 2.29)	0.003
led+NaCl-Infusion	n+NaCl	0.66(0.58 - 0.74)	1.92 (1.38 – 2.68)	< 0.001
ion - Infusion+NaC	1	0.64 (0.54 – 0.73)	1.76 (1.29 – 2.44)	0.001



Figure 1.



Figure 2.



Test substrates in control and test traps



Lindh et al. 2015 Article submitted to PNAS

Discovery of an odor bait for gravid malaria vector mosquitoes of the Anopheles gambiae species complex

Jenny Lindh^{a,1,2}, Michael N. Okal^{b,c,1}, Manuela Herrera-Varela^{b,c}, Anna-Karin Borg-Karlson^a, Baldwyn Torto^b, Steven W. Lindsay^d, Ulrike Fillinger^{b,}

^a Department of Chemistry, Royal Institute of Technology, SE-100 44 Stockholm, Sweden ^b Behavioural and Chemical Ecology Department, International Centre of Insect Physiology and Ecology, 00100 Nairobi, Kenya ^c Disease Control Department, London School of Hygiene & Tropical Medicine, London WC1E 7HT, UK ^d School of Biological & Biomedical Sciences, Durham University, Durham DH1 3LE, UK

Submitted to Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America

New strategies are needed to manage malaria vector mosquitoes that resist insectiddes and bite outdoors. Here we explore the first steps to develop an 'attract and kill' strategy targeting gravid females by identifying and evaluating oviposition attractants for An. gambiae s.l.. Previously, we found that lake water infused for six days with soil from a natural oviposition site in western Kenya doubled the chances of eggs being laid by gravid An. gambiae s.s. females compared to lake water alone. In this study we combine gas-chromatography coupled to mass-spectrometry (GC-MS) and cage and field bloassays to identify an oviposition attractant form this soil infusion. Analysis of the GC-MS data revealed a group of putative semiochemicals of which one, identified as cedrol, occurred in >50% of natural aquatic habitats in western Kenya. When applied to water, twice as many gravid females were attracted to cedrol-treated water than to water alone in two choice cage bioassays (odds ratio (OR) 1.84; 95% confidence Interval (CI) 1.16-2.91) and in free-flying experiments conducted in large-screened cages (OR 1.92: 95% CI 1.63-2.27). When tested in the field, traps baited with cedrol collected three times more wild malaria vectors than traps containing only water. Cedrol is the first oviposition balt Identified for gravid An. gambiae s.l.. This finding paves the way for developing new 'attract and kill strategies' for malaria control.

malaria | Anopheles gambiae s.l. | attract and kill | oviposition attractant | cedrol

Significance Statement

In Africa a child dies every minute from malaria. Mosquitoes of the Anopheles gambiae species complex are among the most efficient vectors of malaria on the planet and are responsible for most of these deaths. Vector control is the most important tool to prevent transmission. However, current interventions only target vectors within houses at night. While these interventions remain effective, a significant gap remains in addressing the residual transmission that occurs outside the protection of indoorbased interventions. It has been recently highlighted that additional tools that target outdoor mosquito populations are urgently needed. Our findings pave the way for the development of novel 'attract and kill' strategies targeting gravid females outdoors.

Introduction

Mosquitoes of the Anopheles gambiae species complex (Anopheles cambiae sensu lato (s.l.)) including Anopheles cambiae sensu stricto (s.s.) and Anopheles arabiensis are among the most efficient vectors of malaria on the planet and are responsible for most deaths from this disease in sub-Saharan Africa (1). The most effective way to prevent malaria is vector control. The interventions used today to reduce vector numbers primarily target hostseeking mosquitoes indoors (2, 3). While these interventions are effective, increasing evidence suggests that malaria elimination is not achievable by these methods alone since residual malaria transmission is maintained by vectors that feed and rest outdoors or feed on animal hosts (4). The development of an efficient attract and kill strategy for oviposition site seeking females could be a one of the novel vector control tools that are urgently called for (5, 6).

To date, there has been little research investigating how An. ambiae s.l. females find and choose oviposition sites. It is known that water vapor helps to guide them (7, 8), however, in nature many aquatic sites remain uncolonized suggesting that some are more attractive to gravid females than others (9-11). Although a number of chemicals have been proposed as oviposition semio-chemicals for An. gambiae s.s. (12-14), none of these have been shown to attract gravid females over a larger distance (more than a few cm) in laboratory, semi-field or field settings.

Recently, we found that lake water infused for six days with soil from a natural ovinosition site in western Kenva doubled the chances of eggs being laid by gravid females in two choice egg count cage bioassays compared to lake water alone. This preference was lost when the infusion was autoclaved (15) sug-gesting that volatile chemicals, rather than visual cues attracted mosquitoes to breeding sites. Here we analyzed the volatiles re-leased from autoclaved and unmodified soil infusions and the lake water utilized as control in the bioassays. Multivariate analysis revealed a number of putative semiochemicals of which one was selected for evaluation in (1) egg-count cage bioassays to confirm preferential egg-laying, (2) large semi-field systems with free-flying females to test for attraction over large distances and (3) under natural field conditions. Through these experiments we describe the discovery of the first oviposition bait for gravid An. cambiae s.L.

Significance

In Africa a child dies every minute from malaria. Mosquitoes of the Anopheles gamblae species complex are among the most efficient vectors of malaria on the planet and are responsible for most of these deaths. Vector control is the most imporfor most of these deaths. Vector control is the most impor-tant tool to prevent transmission. However, current interven-tions only target vectors within houses at night. While these interventions remain effective, a significant gap remains in addressing the residual transmission that occurs outside the protection of indoor-based interventions. It has been recently highlighted that additional tools that target outdoor mosquito populations are urgently needed. Our findings pave the way for the development of novel attract and kills strategies tar-geting gravid females outdoors.

Reserved for Publication Footnotes

75

PNAS | Issue Date | Volume | Issue Number | 1-??

35







Fig. 2. Experimental set up. (A) Cage bioassays with individual gravid females under ambient conditions in makeshift huts; (B) Modified BG sentinel traps in a semi-field system; (C) Field set up of square of electrocuting nets (up) and OxiART gravid trap (down).

Results

Identification of putative oviposition semiochemicals. Volatile chemicals released from autoclaved and unmodified soil infusions as well as the control lake water were sampled in parallel to behavioral assays and analyzed by gas-chromatography coupled with mass-spectrometry (GC-MS, Fig 1, SFig. 1). Exploration

2 www.pnas.org --- --



Fig. 3. Mean percent of gravid Anopheles gambiae responding to control and test treatments in choice experiments. (A) Cage bioassays with soil infusions of increasing incubation time and comparison of autoclaved versus non-autoclaved infusion. The data from Herrera-Varela et al. 2014 (15) have been re-analyzed for this figure to show the percent of females responding. These data present the background for the current study. Headspace collections for identification of volatile chemicals were implemented for autoclaved and non-autoclaved six-day old soil infusions in parallel to these behavioral assays. (B) Cage bloassays with cedrol-treated lake water in increasing concentrations. (C) Semi-field evaluation of response off free-flying gravid females to cedrol-baited traps.

of the GC-MS data using principal component analysis (PCA) indicated similarities within the replicates of the sample types but different chemical profiles between the treatments (Fig. 1). Four compounds (IDs 51, 263, 276 and 283) grouped closely with the unmodified soil samples in the PCA. GC-MS data containing volatiles collected above samples from natural aquatic habitats situated along the shores of Lake Victoria in western Kenya were screened for these four compounds; ID 276 was detected in 62 of the 116 samples whereas none of the other three compounds (IDs 51, 263, 283) were found. This compound (ID 276) was identified as cedrol by comparison of mass spectral data to the NIST08 library and an authentic standard (+-cedrol, ≥99.0% sum of enantiomers, Sigma). Cedrol was present in all the soil infusion samples investigated (n=14 for unmodified and auto-claved combined) and the amount was three times as high in unmodified soil infusions (mean 15.8 ng, 95% CIs = 9.36-22.2) compared to autoclaved infusions (mean 5.7 ng, 95% CIs= 4.6-6.7). In contrast, it was only detected in two out of seven lake water samples (mean in those two samples: 4.2 ng, 95% CIs=3.8-45)

Cedrol attracts laboratory-reared gravid Anopheles gambiae females. A series of experiments was carried out in the laboratory and semi-field with insectary-reared An. gambiae s.s. to determine whether gravid females responded to cedrol (Fig. 2 and 3). The cage bioassays demonstrated a dose-response of gravid females with increasing concentrations of cedrol increasing the probabil-ity of a female laying her eggs in the test solution. Interestingly, the dose-response matched the previously observed results for the soil infusions of increasing incubation time when compared to lake water (Fig. 3A and 3B).

Since these egg-count cage bioassays cannot distinguish be-tween contact stimulants and long-range attractants (16) we im-plemented experiments in a large (174 m3) semi-field system using modified BG-Sentinel traps (Fig. 2B). These traps allowed us to assess the relative attractiveness of volatiles released from the trap, without the influence of visual cues or contact stimu-lants; it prevented mosquitoes from seeing or accessing the test substrate. The experiments confirmed that cedrol was attractive

Footline Author

	Rate Ratio (95% confidence interval)						
	Anopheles	Anopheles funestus	Anopheles	Aedes sp.	Culex sp.		
. .	arabiensis	5.5.	coustant				
ireatme	nt						
Control	1	1	1	1	1		
Test	3.3 (1.4-7.9)	2.6 (0.97-6.96)	0.5 (0.3-0.8)	0.4 (0.3-0.6)	0.8 (0.7-0.9)		
Trap							
BG	1	1	1	1	1		
OviART	5.2 (0.9-30.9)	6.3 (1.6-25.4)	. e.	. e.	1.1 (0.5-2.3)		
E-nets	10.0 (5.6-18.0)	12.4 (2.9-52.5)	12.9 (5.0-32.6)	3.5 (1.3-9.1)	8.7 (5.0-15.1)		

^a no mosquitoes trapped; factor excluded from model. Treatment: control= lake water, test= lake water with 5 ppm codrol. Traps: E-nets- squares of electrocuting nets (17), OvIART-OvIART gravid traps (18), BG- modified BG-Sentinel mosquito traps (19).



Estimated mean number of female mosquitoes per trap night Flg. 4. flected during the field trial. Error bars represent 95% confidence inter

with 69% (95% CI 66-71%) of released females collected in the treated trap (Fig. 3C). The response towards the cedrol-baited trap was consistent and high from night-to-night with very little variation. Furthermore, on average 89% (95% CI 84-92%) of released gravid mosquitoes were recollected during the choice experiment when a cedrol-baited trap was present. This was in sharp contrast (p<0.001) to the experiment where both traps contained lake water only in which only 34% (95% CI 29-38%) of all released females were recollected.

The peak oviposition time of our caged An. gambiae is between 19:00 and 21:30 h (8). In the semi-field experiment 68% (95% CI 57-78%) of the females were collected during this period, with 74% (95% CI 70-76%) choosing the cedrol-treated trap over the trap with lake water only. However, the response after 21.30 h was nearly balanced, with only a slightly higher proportion of females collected in the 5 ppm test trap (58%, CI 53-62%).

Volatile headspace collections from both bioassay systems confirmed that cedrol was released from the test substrates but not from the controls. Besides the cedrol peak, no consistent difference was observed in the chromatograms from test and control treatments hence, no breakdown products of cedrol were detected. Oviposition cups treated with 5 ppm cedrol released 8.7 ng/min (95% CIs 5.9-12.7 ng/min) and those treated with 10 ppm released 22.8 ng/min (95% CIs 18.0-29.0 ng/min) during the 12 hours of experiment. The release rate from the convection traps treated with 5 ppm cedrol was on average 8.0 ng/min (95% CIs 5.4-12.0 ng/min). Cedrol was released at consistent rates over

Footline Author

the 12 hour experimental period with no significant difference (p=0.293) between the peak oviposition time (19:00 - 21:30 h) and the rest of the night

Cedrol attracts wild malaria vectors. To test if cedrol also attracts gravid malaria vectors under natural field conditions we carried out a study at the end of the long rainy season in June 2014 in villages close to the shores of Lake Victoria in western Kenya. We used three types of collecting devices: squares of electrocuting nets (E-nets; (17), OviART gravid traps (18) and modified BG Sentinel mosquito traps (19). A total of 933 female mosquitoes were collected in 288 trap nights (12 traps per night for 24 nights); 91% were Culex species. Of the An. gambiae species complex, only An. anabiensis were collected in the field sites, representing 4% of the total catch. In addition, a small number (1%) of the malaria vector An. funestus sensu stricto were collected. Trap catches also included 2% of the secondary malaria vector An. coustani and 2% Aedes species. Traps baited with cedrol were 3.3 times (95% CIs 1.4 - 7.9) more likely to trap a female An. arabiensis than traps containing lake water only, irrespective of the trap type (Table 1, Fig. 4). However, the three traps performed differently under field conditions with more An. anabiensis females caught in devices that included visual water cues like the squares of electrocuting nets and the OviART gravid trap (Table 1). Whilst the overall number of An. anabiensis females collected per trap night was very low, collections of host-seeking females indoors with Centre of Disease Control (CDC) light traps and outdoors with cattle baited traps (CBT) at the same time confirmed that the overall population density of vectors was low during the study period. In CDC traps a mean of 0.73 (95% CI 0.28-1.90) and in CBT a mean of 2.1 (95% CI 1.1-4.0) females of the An. gambiae complex were collected per trap night; 96% of which were An. arabiensis, confirming the predominance of this sibling species in the field setting.

Interestingly, the data indicate that An. funestus might show a preference for cedrol-treated oviposition sites, however due to the small sample size this result is only of borderline significance (p=0.057, Table 1). On the contrary, An. coustani, Aedes species and the abundant Culex species preferred the untreated traps (Table 1).

Discussion

Our study describes the identification of the first oviposition attractant for malaria vectors of the An. gambiae species complex. Caged gravid females selected lake water treated with cedrol in preference to lake water without cedrol for laying their eggs. Furthermore, the odorant attracted colonized free-flying gravid mosquitoes in large semi-field structures and most importantly,

PNAS | Issue Date | Volume | Issue Number | 3

wild gravid mosquitoes. The attractiveness of cedrol was established in comparison to natural water from Lake Victoria which constitutes the majority of the natural, highly productive anopheline habitats in the study area (20) and which previously was found 'to be the most stimulatory water treatment [for Angambiae] uncovered to date' in egg-count cage bioassays (21). We considered this comparison more realistic than one using distilled water as a comparator, since it is an artificial water source that wild mosquitoes are unlikely to encounter. Our recently developed systems of analyzing oviposition responses in comparison to a baseline that provides two equal,

400

410

411 412

413

414

415

416

417

418

419

420

421

422

423

424

425

426

427

428

429

430

431

432

433

434

435

436

437

438

439

440

441

442

443

444

445

446

447

448

449

450

451

452

453

454

455

456

457

458

450

460

461

462

463

464

465

466

467

468

460

470

471

472

473 474

475

476

sponses in comparison to a baseline that provides two equal, untreated choices (15) and of measuring attraction of gravid mosquitoes to oviposition substrates with modified BG-Sentinel mosquito traps (19) allowed us to provide a detailed description of the behavior of gravid mosquitoes in response to odorants. Here we showed that cedrol not only increased the proportion of gravid females that were caught in the test trap out of the total number caught, but it also increased the proportion of mosquitoes released that responded. Furthermore, cedrol induced a fast response, with two third of gravid mosquitoes trapped by 21:30 h. It appears that *An. gambiae* have evolved to use attractive chemical cues not only to select oviposition sites but also to reduce the time taken seeking suitable sites.

Our field study was implemented in an area of low vector density as confirmed by the CDC light trap and cattle baited trap catches. Considering that only a proportion of mosquitoes that host seek obtain a sufficient amount of blood and survive long enough to become gravid, it was not unexpected that collections in gravid traps were an order of magnitude lower than catches in host-seeking traps. Despite low densities, it was three times more likely to trap An. arabiensis (the predominant species of the An. gambiae species complex in the study area) when the trap was cedrol-baited than when it only contained lake water. Previous observations show that the two sibling species An. arabiensis and An. gambiae s.s. share the same aquatic habitats (11, 22) and therefore it is not surprising that they appear to use the same odorants for orientation and selection of oviposition sites. The collections from the gravid traps also suggested that it is worth testing the attraction of the malaria vector An. funestus to cedrol since a slight preference for cedrol-treated traps was recorded. Finding a semiochemical or blend that could attract gravid females of the three most important vectors of malaria in Africa, An. gambiae, An. arabiensis and An. funestus would represent a tremendous breakthrough for the development of novel interventions. The fact that Anopheline mosquitoes could be caught irrespective of their low densities is promising for future development of a surveillance tool for these species using gravid trans baited with cedrol. Future work needs to be invested in testing cedrol under different eco-epidemiological conditions and in developing optimal traps that can be baited with synthetic odorants for routine use.

Our results show that the modified BG-Sentinel mosquito traps work extremely well under semi-field conditions but were less effective in the field. We hypothesize that visual cues interact with olfactory signals (23), explaining the better performance of traps with open water surfaces in our study. Further understanding of the interaction between visual and chemical cues and more effective traps will increase the possibility to efficiently lure vectors into the traps when competing with natural habitats.

Cedrol-treated lake water, attracted and trapped similar proportions of gravid females in the semi-field experiments as the soil infusions from which it was identified (19). To achieve this, a release rate of cedrol which was much higher than from the natural source was required. This might be because we used a single compound rather than a blend of odorants which would present the more natural situation for a mosquito. This has been extensively shown for host-seeking mosquitoes, where blends are

4 www.pnas.org ----

required for efficient attraction (24-26). Our analysis of the GC-MS data suggests another four putative semiochemicals, yet to be identified, may play a role in the attractiveness of the six day old soil infusion to gravid mosquitoes. Although in contrast to cedrol, none of these could be detected in the samples from natural oviposition sites in Kenya. 480

The ethanol-based cedrol formulation utilized here was released in consistent rates over the entire 12 hours trapping period 484 each night and does therefore not explain the nearly balanced response of gravid females to the traps in the semi-field experiment after 21.30 h. Less than one third of the collected mosquitoes were trapped after 21.30 h and we speculate that these were not fully gravid and therefore responded to high humidity. 489

490 Cedrol is best known for its presence in the essential oil 401 of conifers, especially in the genera Cupressus and Juniperus. However, it has been found in a large variety of plants includ-402 ing Sorshum (27), Artemisia (28), and swamp grasses of the genus Cyperus (29), which are all common in the study area. 493 494 405 Sesquiterpenes are also known metabolites of fungi and to some extent bacteria (30-32). We showed here that the amount of 496 497 cedrol released from a soil infusion was higher than from the same infusion that had been autoclaved and previously that the 498 oviposition preference increased with increasing incubation time 400 of the infusion (15). This suggests that the release of cedrol is associated with microbial activity possibly by metabolism of plant products. Finding the source of cedrol might further elucidate 500 501 502 503 why An. gambiae and An. arabiensis prefer to lay eggs in habitats 504 containing it and might help predict habitat selection and guide malaria vector control interventions. 505

506 In conclusion, our findings provide the first evidence that 507 gravid females of the An. gambiae complex use attractive chemical 508 cues when orienting towards a potential oviposition sites and that these cues can be exploited for trapping female malaria 509 510 vectors. The discovery of an odor bait provides prospects for novel 511 ecological studies and is an important step towards developing an 512 'attract and kill' strategy for gravid malaria vectors. This could 513 provide a novel tool in targeting residual malaria transmission in areas where current gold-standard indoor vector control interven-tions are applied at full coverage but are not enough to eliminate 514 515 malaria (4, 6). 516 517

Methods

Mosquito preparation. Laboratory and semi-field experiments were carried out with insectary-reared An. gambiae s.s. (Mbita strain) supplied by the mosquito insectaries at the international Centre of insect Physiology and Ecology-thomas Odhambo Campus (cipe-TOC), Mbita, western Kenya (0° 26' 06.19' South; 34° 12' 53.12' East; altitude 1149 m), and reared following 519 520 521 522 26'06.19' South; 34' 12'53.12' East, altitude 1149 m), and reared following standard operating procedures. Gravid mosquitoes were prepared by select-ing 300 female and 300 male mosquitoes, two to three days old, from their rearing cages at 12.00 h and keeping them in 30x30x30 cm netting cages at 25-28'C and 68-75% relative humidity. To avoid mosquito desiccation, folded cotton towels, saturated with tap water were placed over the cages. Mosquitoes were starved of sugar for seven hours before blood feeding and allowed to feed on a human arm for 15 minutes at 19.00 h. Afterwards unfid female mountines were termoved for the from the cages. Messuites were then 523 524 525 526 527 528 anowed to have the manufacture of the second 529 530 531 532 533 534

for two days after the second blood meal and used on the third day for experiments (i.e. four to five days after first blood meal). At 16:30 h on the day of an experiment visually presumed gravid females (enlarged, pale white abdomen) were selected from the holding cage (15). Velatile collections from soil infusions vere collected in parallal with behavioral cage bloasays. All the non-autoclaved infusions were prepared by mixing 15 L of lake water with 2 kg of soil sourced from a natural *Anopholes* breading strike infusions were sleved through class collected and sun-dried for one day prior to preparation of the Infusion. On the day of the experiment the infusions were sleved through class infusion was autoclaved at 120°C for 20 minutes and left to cool to ambient infusion was autoclaved at 120°C for 20 minutes and left to cool to ambient infusion was autoclaved at 120°C for 20 minutes and left to cool to ambient infusion was autoclaved at 120°C for 20 minutes and left to cool to ambient collections from 300 ml aliquots of the three sample types in 500 ml conical borosilicate glass Erlenmeyer flaks with 24/29 sockets (Quickfit@glassware). 540

Footline Author

518

Forty five grams of sodium chloride (NaCl, 299.8%, Sigma-Aldrich, Steinheim, Germany) were dissolved in all aqueous samples before volatile collections to improve the release of volatile chemicals (33, 34). E-flasks were fitted with gas wash bottle heads and charcoal-filtered air was pumped at 100 ml/mln through the linkt and drawn out at the same speed through the Tenax trap over 20 h after which the traps were stored at -70°C. Empty bottles sampled the same way served as control for background compounds. Volatiles were collected in parallel amount bottles. New york and durilletter of cell infisions collected in parallel empty bottles, lake water and duplicates of soil infusions (autoclaved and non-autoclaved). This was repeated over seven rounds. Analysis of soil infusion volatiles. The Tenax traps were thermally desorbed, GCMS data from the lake water and soil infusion samples were

compared to those of the empty bottle controls for each round. All peaks that were present in the samples (both duplicates for the soil samples) and that were present in the samples (both duplicates for the soil samples) and had a different retention time and/or mass spectra compared to the empty bottle control were manually integrated. Volatiles with a peak-area at least twice as big in the sample compared to the control were also included. The peak-area of the control was subtracted from the peak-area of the samplewhen a volatile was present in both chromatograms. The area of each integrated peak was normalized against the area of an external standard (heptylacetate, 35 ng, SAFC, Sigma-Aldrich, Steinheim, Germany) injected with each sample and Kovats retention indices (RI) calculated. Peaks with reliate 81 and mar reserts where other the same compound identification similar RI and mass spectra where given the same compound identification number (ID). Mass spectral data was compared to a MS library (NIST 2008) for tantative identification. The identity of ID 276 was confirmed using an authentic standard: (+)-cedrol, 299.0% sum of enantiomers, GC, optical

an authentic standard: (+)-cedrol, 299.0% sum of enantiomers, GC, optical activity op.³⁰ +10.5 ±1° (Sigma-Aldrich, Steinheim, Germany). Screening of volatile collection samples from field sites. Water samples were collected from 116 natural water bodies (puddles, pools, ponds, drains, swamps and pits) on Rusinga Island, western Kenya (0° 24' 33.06' South: 34' 10' 14.84' East, altitude 1377 m), during the long rainy season in 2012. Water samples were filtered into 250 ml wide-neck polypropylene botties (Thermo Scientific, UK) through a clean piece of cotion doth to remove large debris and transported in a cool box to the laboratory. The samples were transferred into 500 ml E-flasks. Volatiles in the headspace above the water samoles were collected on opolydimethylsilozane / dvimylbenzene diversioned into 500 ml E-flasks. Volatiles in the headspace above Were datastande into 500 mit 2-tasks. Volatins in the tradeptor above the water samples were collected on polydimethylsiloxane / dv/mylbenzene (PDMS/DVB) solid-phase microextraction (SPME) fibers (65µm Stable Flex™, Supelco, Bellefonte, PA, USA) for 20 hours. A bottle containing distilled water, stored, transported and sampled the same way as the field samples, served as control for background compounds. SPME-fibers were analyzed immediately after volatile collection. The GC-MS files where screened for the main ions of the four compounds closely associated with the unmodified the main loss of the four compounds closely associate with the unholdined soil infusion samples in the PCA (compound 105 51, 263, 276 (codrol) and 286). Only codrol was found. The amount of codrol in the field samples was often close to the detection limit of the volatile collection method. Hence, all samples with a peak containing two of the main mass spectra ions of codrol (95 and 150) at the retention time that matched codrol were scored as positive for the compound.

Dual-choice cage experiments to study substrate preferences. Exper-nts were done in previously described (15) make-shift sheds at icipe TOC (Fig. 2A). All exp riments were carried out at ambient conditions of TOC (Fig. 2A). All experiments were carried out at ambient conditions of temperature, humidity (mean daily temperature 27 ± 5°C, relative humidity 55 ± 10%) and light. Each cage had two glass cups (Pyrex®, 100 ml, 70 mm diameter) filled with 100 ml of either the control or test water. The control water was lake water pumped from Lake Victoria, stored in a settlement tank and drawn from a tap. The test water was the same water treated with the respective concentration of cedrol. The position of the test cups and provide the centre of the four centre of a centre of a centre. were randomly allocated to one of the four corners of a cage and alternated between adjacent cages to control for possible position effect. One control cup was added in each cage diagonal to the test cup to complete the two dhe pice set-up. Five treatments were tested in parallel: (1) two untreated cups (control) versus lake water treated with a series of a series of the water class (control) versus lake water treated with 2.5 parts per million (ppm) codrol (test); (3) control versus 5 ppm test; (4) control versus 10 ppm test; and (5) control versus 20 ppm test. Cage experiments were implemented over 15 rounds with fresh cadrol stock solution and different batches of mosquitoes for every round. Fifteen to 25 replicate cages per treatment were set up per round. A single gravid female was introduced per cage at 18:00 h. The next morning between 8.00 - 9.00 h the absence or presence, and the number of eggs was recorded for the control and test cup in each cage. Non-responders (mosquitoes that did not lay eggs) were removed from the analysis.

Free-flying gravid mosquito attraction experiments to study odor dis-crimination. Free-flight experiments designed to evaluate attraction (de-fined as the oriented movement of an insect to the source of a chemical cue from a distance of several meters (35)) were done in a screened semi-field structure (10.8 m long × 6.7 m wide × 2.4 m high) at Icipe-TOC, using modified BG-Sentinel mosquito traps (Biogents AG, Regensburg, Germany). The BG-Sentinel mosquito traps were sunk into the sand and a plastic container inserted to hold 4.5 L of aqueous solutions (Fig. 28, (19)). Two traps were Inserted to hold 4.5 L of aqueous solutions (hg. 28, (19)). We traps were set 1.5 m away from the shorter wall of the semi-field system so that they were 4.5 m apart and equidistant to the mosquito release point, 9.5 m away towards the opposite short wall. Treatments were randomly allocated to four possible corners in a randomized complete block design. Approximately 200 gravid mosquitoes were released per round over 12 rounds. Mosquitoes were introduced at 18:00 h, about 5 minutes after the BG-Sentinel traps were traps were

Footline Author

started. Gravid mosquitoes that oriented towards either trap were sucked into a catch bag in the trap. Catch bags were changed at 21.30 h and collected the next day between 8:00 – 9:00 h. Two treatments were tested: (1) two traps the next day between 8:00 – 9:00 h. Two treatments were tested: (1) two traps with 4.5 L lake water, this served as the reference group; (2) 4.5 L lake water (control) versus 4.5 L lake water with 5 ppm cedrol (test). Field assessment of trapping efficiency of wild mosquitoes with odor-baited gravid traps. Field work was implemented during the end of the long rainy season in June 2014 approximativaly 14 km south of Liopa-TOC In Kaugege location. Collecting gravid malaria vectors has never been done routinely and gravid traps have only been developed recently (18, 19, 36). Therefore, we used three types of traps (Fig. 28-C): E-nets, OviArt gravid traps and modified BG-Sentinel mosquito traps. The operating procedures for these devices have been published in detail elsewhere (17-19). These study sites in close vicinity to residential houses and within 200 m from the lake shores were selected. The sites were separated by between 70 and 500 m. In each site four locations were chosen 10 m apart from each other and 5 m from the nearest house. One out of the three sites was randomly selected to receive two E-nets and two OvIART gravid traps whils the remaining two sites roceived BG-Sentinel traps in all four locations. All trapping devices provided artificial oviposition sites filled with lake water; the BG-Sentinel trap contained 4.5 L whilst the sites filled with lake water; the BG-Santinel trap contained 4.5 L whilst the OvIART gravid trap and the square of E-nets contained 8L each. At each study site half of the traps (per type) were treated with 5 ppm of codrol whilst the other half remained untreated. Treatment location was allocated randomly other half remained untreated. Treatment location was allocated randomy in such a way that each location had received the test treatment twice during the test round (eight days). Cedrol treatment was done just before the traps were switched on at 17.00 h. Mosquitoes were collected from the traps in the morning at 6.00 h. All traps were freshly set up in the afternoon in the same position for eight days, then the location of the OxIART gravid traps and E-nats were relocated randomly to another study site. This was repeated twice the wave function and on the provided and the second secon Were morphologically identified to genus level and Anopholes mosquitoes to species level (39, 40). Molecular tools were used to identify members of the sibling species of the Anopholes gambiae complex and the Anopholes funestus complex following published procedures (41, 42).

Statistical analysis, GC-MS data were explored using principal compo-nent analysis (PCA) with supplementary variables. Only volatiles present in at least four out of the seven rounds for at least one of the sample types were included in the analysis. The datawas centered and standardized by volatiles prior to analysis with Conoco 5 (43).

Dual choice cage bioassays and attraction experiments with free-flying Dual choice cage bloassays and attraction experiments with free-tying mosquitoes in the semi-field were analyzed using generalized linear models with a quasibinomial distribution fitted to account for overdispersion in R statistical software version 2.13 (44). The proportion of responses (eggs laid by female) received by the test cups or test traps in the cages or semi-field systems, respectively, with equal treatments (lake water in both cupstraps) were compared with the proportion of responses received by the test cupstraps in cagesiami-field systems with two different treatments. It was hypothesized that gravid females presented with identical treatments are not deal with each cupstraps in a cages of the second seco was hypothesized that gravid temales presented with identical treatments respond to both cups/traps in an approximately equal proportion (p=0.5). The statistical analysis almed to reveal if the test treatment of interest (e.g. increasing concentration of cedrol) received an increased or decreased proportion off responses as compared to the lake water only treatment. Therefore, the treatment (e.g. lake water only cages, cages with cedrol versus lake water) and the round of experiment were included as fixed factors to analyze their impact on the outcome. Rounds were not significantly associated with the outcome in any of the experiments and therefore to analyze their impact on the outcome. Rounds were not significantly associated with the outcome in any of the experiments and therefore removed from the final models. Field data were analyzed using generalized estimating equations. Prior to the final analyze we tested if there were significant between-group variations in trap location and study area. Only study area varied significantly and was included in the final analyzes as repeated measure with an exchangeable correlation matrix. The data fitted a negative binomial distribution. Intractions were tested but no significant superchildren found All transport from the set of the set of the superchildren found. All transport means and their 95% if were included in the model as fixed factors. Interactions were tested but no significant superchildren found All transport means and their 95% if were perimeted were instead. associations found. All reported means and their 95% Os were estimated as the exponentials of the parameter estimates for models with no intercep timated Included

Supplemental Information. 5 be found with this article online. nental information. Supplemental experimental procedures can

Ethics. Ethical approval for this study was obtained from the Kenya Modical Res earch Institute's Ethical Review Committee (Protocol no. 363 and protocol pp 422)

Acknowledgement. We thank Benard Oyembe, Elisha Obudho and David Acknowledgement: We thank senare Oyembo, Elisna Ooutho and David Allia of /cipe-TOC, Mbita for maintaining colonies of mosquitoss used for experiments and Elizabeth Masinde, Paul Ouma, Xavier Cheseto, Rose Attiono, Gregory Masinde and Joel Odero for technical assistance. This project was funded through a National institute of Health (NIH) grant no. R01A1082537 supporting the OvIART project (Oviposition of Anopheles gambiae: Attractants, Residual Larvicides and Traps). The funders had no

PNAS | Issue Date | Volume | Issue Number | 5
- role in study design, data collection and interpretation, or the decision to submit the work for publication. . WHO (2013) World Malaria Report 2013.
 Plasas R, Tanser FC, Langsler C, & Sharp BL (2010) Indoor residual spraying for preventing malaria. Cochrane Database Syst Rev (4):CD006657. 58(7):1000-1006 Okuma FO, et al. (2010) Development and field evaluation of a synthetic mesquito lure that is more attractive than humans. *PLoS ONE* 5(1):e8951. more attractive than humani. *PLoS ONE* 5(1):20051.
 Mukabana WR, *et al.* (2012) A novel synthetic colorant blend for trapping of malaria and other African monquito spocies. *J Chem Ecol* 38(3):225-244.
 Braka MAH, Meisrink J, & Takken W (2001) The napone of the malaria monquito, *Angphele gandsas*, to be occeptorent of human sweat, ammonia and L-lactic acid, in an olfactornatur. *Physical Ensored* 25:142-148. Langlet C (2004) Inscribiolar transfer (spin-tooter).
 Langlet C (2004) Inscribiolar-transfer both and curtains for preventing malaria. Cochrane Database Syst Rev (2):CD000563.
 Killeen GF (2014) Characterizing, controlling and eliminating reaidual malaria transmission. Malar J 13:330. Ferguson HM, et al. (annual PLoS Med 7(8):e1000303. on HM, et al. (2010) Ecology: a prerequisite for malaria elimination and eradication. offactorester. *Protect Research* 24:142-148.
 Khwatenga II. (1999) Isolation, identification and biodivenity of air-borne organic volatile asemicohemicals for Cido parullar for Zaa mays Sorgham bioslor sueedlings. MSc (University of Nairobi Acoro Kanyatta Memorial Library).
 Mercke P, Crock J, Croteau R, & Brodeliau PE (1999) Cloning, expression, and characterization of epi-cedrol systemase, associatione cyclase from *Anomhum Baphys* 399(2):213-222.
 Oreney JA. Constant JA. Constant J. A. Constant J. A. Market P. Constant J. Acad. Biochem. Biophys 399(2):213-222. PLoS Med 1(8):e100383.
 6. Groulla NJ & Forgueon H (2012) Why Use of Interventions Targeting Outdoor Biting Masquitosa will be Necessary to Achieve Malaria Elimination. *Pront Physical* 3:199.
 7. Huang J, Walker ED, Giroux PY, Vulule J, & Miller JR (2005) Origonitional site selection by *Anophales gembate*: influences of substrate moisture and lexture. *Mal Via Encourd* 19(4):442- Okal MN, Feancis B, Herrera-Varela M, Fillinger U, & Linduay SW (2013) Water vapour is a pro-oviposition attractant for the malaria vector Anopheles gambias social social. Malar J 12:365. wore NO, Uman LA, Ogunwande IA, & Adeleke KA (2006) Constituents of rhinors ential oils of two types of O**gurus antesiatur L** grown in Nigeria J assess of ner 18(6):604 OL. Katano C, Horinouchi S, & Ohnishi Y (2011) Characterization of a novel scaquiterpene opelase involved in (+)-caryolan-1-ol biosynthesis in *Stopsonyces genus*. J Biol Chem 286(32):27980-27987. Filinger U, et al. (2009) Identifying the most productive breeding sites for malaria mesquite in The Gambia. Malar J 8. 9. 30. in The Gambia, Malar J & Gougan LC, et al. (2012) Abietic and bietic factors associated with the presence of Anopholor arabients immatures and their abundance in naturally occurring and man-made separtic habitats. *Parent Vectors* 5:56.

 Nderga PA, Simhami JA, Mbagi JP, Githeko AK, & Fillinger U (2011) Productivity of malaria vectors from different habitat types in the western Konya highlands. *PLoS ONE* 6(d):=19171. 26(32:27980-27987. Agges SA: Lopez-Gallego F, Hoye TR, & Schmidt-Dannert C (2008) Identification of acquitacpene synthesis from Notice punctiforms PCC 73102 and Notice ap. strain PCC 7120. *Research* 19(01):63084-6066. Kramer R & Abraham WR (2012) Volatile acquiterpenes from fangi what are they good 6(4)ce19473. for? Phytochem Rev 11(1):15-37. Backwell & Johnson SN (2000) Hectrophysiological invatigation of laveal water and potential ovipasition chemoattractants for Anopheles gambtas z.z. Ann Top Med Parastiol 94(4):389-398. furt Physicsham Rev 11(1):15-37. Morrison TJ (1944) The salting-out effect. *Trans Faraday Soc* 40:43-48. Morrison TJ (1944) The salting-out effect. *Trans Faraday Soc* 40:43-48. Morrison R, Bilds V, & Boog-Karlson AK (2010) Optimization of solid-phase microextrac-tion sampling for analysis of volatile compounds emitted from outrous urise of marea. Z *Natarforoch* C 65(1-2):127-133. Dathier VG, Boowne LB, & Smith CN (1960) The designation of chemicals in terms of the responses they elicit from insects. *J Econ Ensonol* 53(1):134-136. Harris C, *et al.* (2011) A simple and efficient tool for trapping gravid Anopheter at breeding size. *Pareat Vestors* 4:25. 33. u Lindh JM, Faye I, & Borg-Karlson AK (2008) Ovipcuition responses of Anopholes genetics xx. (Dipters: Culicidae) and identification of volatiles from bacteria containing solutions. Med Fr mol 45(6):1039-1049. Med Entored 55(5):1039-1049.
 Rinker DC, et al. (2013) Blood meal-induced changes to antennal transcriptome profiles reseal shifts in odor semilivities in Anapheter gambias. PMAS 110(20):8269-8265.
 Herrera-Narda M, Lindb J, Lindsay SW, & Fillinger U (2014) Habitat discrimination by gravid Anapheter gambias areas lators a push-pull system. Melar J 13:133.
 Isues J, Millar JG, & Boedhel JW (1995) Insusays for Caler (Dipters: Culicidae) mosquito origonistion attractants and stimulants. J Med Entored 32(4):475-483. 36. aites Pa nt Ke orr 4:125 Anton, Parada Vecano 4:12.
 Service MW (1993) Manuato Ecology - Reld Sampling Methods (Elasvier Applied Science, Landon) second ed. Ed. p 588.
 Trandon J, Contantini C, Cillmon G, & Torr SJ (2006) Blood-feeding behaviour of the mularial mesophic Anaphelos arabiteratic implications for vector control. Med Vis Ensonal 20(4):425-477. origonition attractants and atimulants. J Med Ensoned 32(4):473-483.
 17. Dugueas S, et al. (2012) Electric rota and nicky materials for analysing oviposition behaviour of gravid malaria vectors. Malar J 11:374.
 18. Dugueas S, et al. (2013) Development of a gravid trap for collecting live malaria vectors. Anapolae gravitas 21, 17:374.
 18. Dugueas S, et al. (2013) Development of a gravid trap for collecting live malaria vectors. Anapolae gravitas 21, 17:63 ONE 8(7):688948.
 19. Okai MN, et al. (2014) Water vapour interacts with velatile organic chemicals to activate and attract gravid Anophole gravidar symbols. The INST 600 NE 8(7):688948.
 19. Filinger U, Sonye G, Killeen GF, Kroh BG, & Bocher N (2004) The practical importance of permanent and samipermanent habitats for controlling squatic stages of Anophole gravitar same late messions comparison conversions from a rural tors in waterin Kaya. Torp Mal lan Health 9(12):1274-1289.
 20. Okienberg PH, et al. (2007) Anochede gravitar (Disters: Calicidae) origonition at practical stages of Anophole gravitarians. Gilica MT & De Meillen B (1968) The Anaphelmar of Africa wouth of the Sahara (Ethtopi 2009cographical region) (Publ. 54, South African Institute for Medical Rusearch, Johanne burg) 2nd edition Etd. mig) and conton rule.
 10. Gillian MT & Costrose M (1987) A napplement to the Anophelmas of Africa south of the Scharee (Afrotropical Rogion) (Pabl. 55, South African Institute for Medical Research, Johannaoburg).
 41. Sonti JA, Brogdon WG, & Collina FH (1993) Identification of single spociment of the Anopheles gentblese complex by the polymerase chain reaction. Am J Trop Med Hyg 49(4):523– 529. Jool.
 Koskensoer LL, Kamau L, Hunt RH, & Chetnee M (2002) A cocktail polymerase chain reaction away to identify mombers of the Anopheles fastense (Dipters: Culicidae) group. Am J Trop Med Hog (66):9304-811.
 Ter Henak CHF & Smilauser P (2012) Cances reference manual and user's guide: software for Okienoburu PFi, et al. (2007) Anopheler gemblar (Dipters: Calicidae) oviposition influenced by type of water influend into black and red soils of watern Kenya. In: J Trop In: Set 27(1):2-5.

 - Meradawa N, Dida GO, Senye GO, Futami K, & Njenga SM (2012) Malaria vactors in Lake Victoria and adjacent habitati in weatern Kenya. *PLoS ONE* '(2):s2725.
 Bernich R, Horwith C, & Maye-Hochow VB (2012) Pedaotania in egg-laying yellow fover menquitose. *Ander (Singemyte) eggpti* is masked due to infochemicala. *J Insect Physiol*

- ordination. (Microcomputer Power, Ithaca, USA), p.496. 44. R Core Team (2014) R: A Language and Environment ment for Statistical Computing url =
 - http://www.R-project.org/.).

753

##